[CHAPTER 619]

AN ACT

October 21, 1942 [H. R. 7378] [Public Law 753]

To provide revenue, and for other purposes.

Revenue Act of 1942.

Be it enacted by the Senate and House of Representatives of the United States of America in Congress assembled, That (a) Short TITLE.—This Act, divided into titles and sections according to the following Table of Contents, may be cited as the "Revenue Act of 1942":

TABLE OF CONTENTS

In the following table, a section number following the title of a section of this Act indicates the provision of the Internal Revenue Code to which such section of this Act makes the principal amendment.]

53 Stat., Part 1. 26 U. S. C.; 26 U. S. C., Supp. I.

Post. p. 802.

TITLE I—INDIVIDUAL AND CORPORATION INCOME TAXES

PART I-AMENDMENTS TO CHAPTER 1

Sec. 101. Taxable years to which amendments applicable.

Sec. 102. Normal tax on individuals (sec. 11). Sec. 103. Surtax on individuals (sec. 12 (b)).

Sec. 104. Optional tax on individuals with gross income from certain sources of \$3,000 or less (sec. 400).

Sec. 105. Tax on corporations (sec. 15).

Sec. 106. Tax on nonresident alien individuals (sec. 211).

Sec. 107. Tax on foreign corporations (sec. 231 (a)). Sec. 108. Withholding of tax at source (secs. 143 and 144).

Sec. 109. Treaty obligations.

Sec. 110. Transfers of life insurance contracts, etc. (sec. 22 (b) (2)).

Sec. 111. Income received from estates, etc., under gifts, bequests, etc. (sec. 22 (b) (3)).

Sec. 112. Amendments to conform Internal Revenue Code with Public Debt Act of 1941 (sec. 22 (b) (4)).

Sec. 113. Exclusion of pensions, annuities, etc., for disability resulting from military service (sec. 22 (b) (5)).

Sec. 114. Exclusion of income from discharge of indebtedness (sec. 22 (b) (9)).

Sec. 115. Improvements by lessee (sec. 22 (b)).

Sec. 116. Recovery of bad debts, prior taxes, and delinquency amounts (sec.

22 (b)). Sec. 117. Additional allowance for military and naval personnel (sec. 22 (b))

Sec. 118. Report requirement in connection with inventory methods (sec. 22 (d) (2) \int .

Sec. 119. Last-in first-out inventory (sec. 22 (d)).

Sec. 120. Alimony and separate maintenance payments (sec. 22).

Sec. 121. Non-trade or non-business deductions (sec. 23 (a)).

Sec. 122. Deduction allowable to purchasers for State and local retail sales taxes (sec. 23 (c)).

Sec. 123. Deduction for stock and bond losses on securities in affiliated corporations (sec. 23 (g)).
Sec. 124. Deduction for bad debts, etc. (sec. 23 (k)).
Sec. 125. Corporate contributions to United States, etc., or for charitable use outside United States deductible (sec. 23 (q)).

Sec. 126. Amortizable bond premium (sec. 23).

Sec. 127. Deduction for medical, dental, etc., expenses (sec. 23).

Sec. 128. Deduction of certain amounts paid to cooperative apartment corporation (sec. 23).

Sec. 129. Deduction denied if proceeds used to pay for insurance (sec. 24 (a)). Sec. 130. Taxes and other charges chargeable to capital account not deductible

but treated as capital items (sec. 24 (a)).

Sec. 131. Reduction of personal exemption and credit for dependents—requirement for return (sec. 25 (b) (1)).

Sec. 132. Computation of net operating loss credit and dividends paid credit

(sec. 26 (c) (1)).

Sec. 133. Credit for dividends paid on certain preferred stock (sec. 26).

Sec. 134. Income in respect of decedents (sec. 42 (a)).

Sec. 135. Returns for a period of less than twelve months (sec. 47).

Sec. 136. Declaration that return made under penalties for perjury in lieu of oath (sec. 51).

gaging in trade or business in certain cases (sec. 211 (b)). Sec. 168. Period for filing petition extended in certain cases (sec. 272 (a)).

Sec. 169. Statute of limitations on refunds and credits (sec. 322). Sec. 170. Regulated investment companies (Supplement Q).

Sec. 171. Amendments to Supplement R (sec. 371). Sec. 172. Temporary income tax on individuals.

PART II-PERSONAL HOLDING COMPANIES

Post, p. 894.

Sec. 181. Rates of personal holding company tax (sec. 500). Sec. 182. Exemption of certain corporations from personal holding company tax (sec. 501 (b)).

Sec. 183. Consolidated income (sec. 501 (c)).
Sec. 184. Computation of undistributed Subchapter A net income (sec. 504).
Sec. 185. Deficiency dividends of personal holding companies (sec. 506).

Sec. 186. Distributions by personal holding companies (sec. 115 (a)).

TITLE II—EXCESS PROFITS TAX

Post, p. 899.

PART I—EXCESS PROFITS TAX AMENDMENTS

Sec. 201. Taxable years to which amendments applicable. Sec. 202. Rate of excess profits tax (sec. 710 (a)).

Sec. 203. Certain fiscal year taxpayers (sec. 710 (a)).
Sec. 204. Two-year carry-back of unused excess profits credit (sec. 710 (c)).

Sec. 205. Computation of excess profits and invested capital of insurance companies (sec. 711 (a))

Sec. 206. Technical amendments made necessary by change in base for corporation tax (sec. 711 (a)).

Sec. 207. Capital gains and losses in the computation of excess profits net income (sec. 711 (a)).

- Sec. 208. Retroactive treatment of involuntary conversions as capital transactions (sec. 711 (a) (1)).
- Sec. 209. Nontaxable income from certain mining and timber operations (sec. 711 (a) (1)).
- Sec. 210. Net operating loss deduction adjustment (sec. 711 (a) (1)).
- Sec. 211. Credit for dividends received in computation of excess profits net income in connection with invested capital credit (sec. 711 (a) (2)).
- Sec. 212. Application of excess profits tax to certain foreign corporations (sec. 712 (b))
- Sec. 213. Excess profits net income placed on annual basis (sec. 711 (a) (3)).
- Interest on certain Federal obligations (sec. 713 (c))
- Sec. 215. Base period net income of lowest year in base period (sec. 713 (e) (1))
- Sec. 216. Capital reduction in case of members of controlled group (sec. 713 (g)).
- Sec. 217. Invested capital credit (sec. 714).
- Sec. 218. Basis of property paid in (sec. 718 (a) (2)).
- Sec. 219. Deficit in earnings and profits of another corporation (sec. 718).
- Sec. 220. Amortizable bond premium on certain Government obligations (sec. 720 (d)).
- Abnormalities in income in taxable period (sec. 721). Sec. 221.

- Sec. 221. Abnormalities in income in taxable period Sec. 222. Relief provisions (sec. 722).
 Sec. 223. Exempt corporations (sec. 727).
 Sec. 224. Excess profits tax returns (sec. 729 (b)).
 Sec. 225. Consolidated returns (sec. 730).
- Sec. 226. Exemption from tax of mining of certain strategic minerals (sec. 731). Sec. 227. Amendments to section 734.
- Sec. 228. Rules for income credit in connection with certain exchanges (Supplement A).
- Sec. 229. Termination of Supplement B. Sec. 230. Invested capital in connection with certain exchanges and liquidations (Chapter 2E).

Post, p. 936.

PART II-POST-WAR REFUND OF EXCESS PROFITS TAX

Sec. 250. Post-war refund of excess profits tax.

Post, p. 939.

TITLE III—CAPITAL STOCK AND DECLARED VALUE EXCESS PROFITS TAXES

- Sec. 301. Capital stock tax (sec. 1200).
- Sec. 302. Declared value excess profits tax (sec. 600)
- Sec. 303. Declared value excess profits tax for taxable years of less than twelve months (sec. 601).
- Sec. 304. Technical amendments made necessary by change in base for corporation tax (sec. 602).

Post, p. 941.

TITLE IV—ESTATE AND GIFT TAXES

PART I-ESTATE TAX

- Sec. 401. Estates to which amendments applicable.
- Sec. 402. Community interests (sec. 811 (e))
- Sec. 403. Powers of appointment (sec. 811 (f))
- Sec. 404. Proceeds of life insurance (sec. 811 (g)). Sec. 405. Deductions not allowable in excess of certain property of estate (sec. 812 (b))
- Sec. 406. Charitable pledges (sec. 812 (b)).
- Sec. 407. Deduction on account of property previously taxed (sec. 812 (c))
- Sec. 408. Deduction for disclaimed legacies passing to charities (sec. 812 (d)).
- Sec. 409. Denial of deduction on bequest to certain propaganda organizations (sec. 812 (d)).
- Sec. 410. Priority of credit for local death taxes (sec. 813 (a)).
- Sec. 411. Liability of certain transferees (sec. 827 (b)).
- Sec. 412. Exemption of estates of nonresidents not citizens (sec. 861 (a))
- Sec. 413. Period for filing petition extended in certain cases (sec. 871 (a)).
- Sec. 414. Specific exemption (sec. 935 (c)). Sec. 415. Overpayment found by Board (sec. 912).

Post, p. 951.

PART II—GIFT TAX

- Sec. 451. Gifts to which amendments applicable.
- Sec. 452. Powers of appointment (sec. 1000). Sec. 453. Gifts of community property (sec. 1000). Sec. 454. Exclusion from net gifts reduced (sec. 1003 (b)).
- Sec. 455. Specific exemption of gifts reduced (sec. 1004).

```
Sec. 456. Period for filing petition extended in certain cases (sec. 1012 (a)). Sec. 457. Overpayment found by Board (sec. 1027 (d)). Sec. 458. Definition of property in United States (sec. 1030 (b)).
```

TITLE V—AMENDMENTS TO PRIOR REVENUE ACTS AND MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS

```
Sec. 501. Additional credits for undistributed profits tax.
Sec. 502. Stamp tax on certain insurance policies (sec. 1804).
Sec. 503. Suit against collector bar in other suits (sec. 3772).
Sec. 504. Change of name of Board of Tax Appeals (sec. 1100).
Sec. 505. Requirement of filing notice of lien (sec. 3672).
Sec. 506. Miscellaneous amendments to stamp tax provisions (sec. 1801, etc.).
Sec. 507. Time for performing certain acts postponed by reason of war.
Sec. 508. Mitigation of effect of renegotiation of war contracts or disallowance of reimbursement.
Sec. 509. Amendment to the Public Salary Tax Act of 1939.
Sec. 510. Abolition of Board of Review and transfer of jurisdiction to Board of Tax Appeals.
```

Sec. 511. Definition of military or naval forces of the United States (sec. 3797 (a)).
Sec. 512. Joint Committee on Internal Revenue Taxation—Power to obtain data (Chap. 48).

TITLE VI—EXCISE TAXES

Post p. 970.

Post. p. 954.

```
Sec. 601. Effective date of this title.
Sec. 602. Distilled spirits (sec. 2800).
Sec. 603. Fermented malt liquors (sec. 3150).
Sec. 604. Wines (sec. 3030).
Sec. 605. Cigars and cigarettes (sec. 2000).
Sec. 606. Telephone, telegraph, etc. (sec. 3465).
Sec. 607. Photographic apparatus (sec. 3406 (a) (4)).
Sec. 608. Lubricating oils (sec. 3413).
Sec. 609. Transportation of persons (sec. 3469).
Sec. 610. Organs under contract before October 1, 1941 (sec. 3404 (d)). Sec. 611. Termination of certain excise taxes (sec. 3406 (a) (5), (7), (8),
               and (9)).
Sec. 612. Affixing of cigarette stamps in foreign countries (sec. 2112 (c)).
Sec. 613. Exemption of insignia, etc., used in connection with uniforms of the armed forces from jewelry tax (sec. 2400).
Sec. 614. Refrigerators, refrigerating apparatus, and air-conditioners (sec. 3405).
Sec. 615. Exemption of certain cash registers (sec. 3406 (a) (6)).
Sec. 616. Exempt transportation of oil by pipe line (sec. 3460)
Sec. 617. Coin-operated amusement and gaming devices (sec. 3267).
Sec. 618. Sale under chattel mortgage (sec. 2405 and sec. 3441).
Sec. 619. Repeal of certain provisions relating to mixed flour (Chapter 18, Chapter 27).
Sec. 620. Transportation of property.
Sec. 621. Exemption from processing tax of palm oil used in manufacture of
                iron or steel products (sec. 2477).
Sec. 622. Cabaret tax (sec. 1700 (e)).
Sec. 623. Sale and use of toilet preparations by beauty parlors, etc. (sec.
                2402 (b)).
```

TITLE VII—SOCIAL SECURITY TAXES

Post, p. 981.

Sec. 701. Automatic increase in 1943 rate not to apply (secs. 1400 and 1410).

TITLE VIII—RENEGOTIATION OF WAR CONTRACTS

Post, p. 982.

Sec. 801. Renegotiation of war contracts.

(b) ACT AMENDATORY OF INTERNAL REVENUE CODE.—Except as otherwise expressly provided, wherever in this Act an amendment is expressed in terms of an amendment to a chapter, subchapter, title, supplement, section, subsection, subdivision, paragraph, subparagraph, or clause, the reference shall be considered to be made to a provision of the Internal Revenue Code.

(c) Meaning of Terms Used.—Except as otherwise expressly provided, terms used in this Act shall have the same meaning as when used in the Internal Revenue Code.

53 Stat., Part 1. 26 U. S. C.; 26 U. S. O., Supp. I.

TITLE I—INDIVIDUAL AND CORPORATION INCOME TAXES

Part I—Amendments to Chapter 1

SEC. 101. TAXABLE YEARS TO WHICH AMENDMENTS APPLICABLE.

Except as otherwise expressly provided, the amendments made by this title shall be applicable only with respect to taxable years beginning after December 31, 1941.

SEC. 102. NORMAL TAX ON INDIVIDUALS.

53 Stat. 5. 26 U. S. C., Supp. I, § 11,

Section 11 is amended to read as follows:

"SEC. 11. NORMAL TAX ON INDIVIDUALS.

"There shall be levied, collected, and paid for each taxable year upon the net income of every individual a normal tax of 6 per centum of the amount of the net income in excess of the credits against net income provided in section 25. (For alternative tax, if gross income from certain sources is \$3,000 or less, see section 400)."

53 Stat. 17. 26 U. S. C. § 25; Supp. I, § 25. Post, pp. 811, 818, 825, 827, 828, 803.

SEC. 103. SURTAX ON INDIVIDUALS.

53 Stat. 5. 26 U. S. C., Supp. I, § 12 (b). Section 12 (b) is amended to read as follows:

"(b) RATES OF SURTAX.—There shall be levied, collected, and paid for each taxable year upon the surtax net income of every individual the surtax shown in the following table:

If the surtax net income is:	The surtax shall be:
Not over \$2,000	13% of the surtax net income.
Over \$2,000 but not over \$4,000	\$260, plus 16% of excess over \$2,000.
Over \$4,000 but not over \$6,000	\$580, plus 20% of excess over \$4,000.
Over \$6,000 but not over \$8,000	\$980, plus 24% of excess over \$6,000.
Over \$8,000 but not over \$10,000	\$1,460, plus 28% of excess over \$8,000.
Over \$10,000 but not over \$12,000	\$2,020, plus 32% of excess over \$10,000.
Over \$12,000 but not over \$14,000	\$2,660, plus 36% of excess over \$12,000.
Over \$14,000 but not over \$16,000	\$3,380, plus 40% of excess over \$14,000.
Over \$16,000 but not over \$18,000	\$4,180, plus 43% of excess over \$16,000.
Over \$18,000 but not over \$20,000	\$5,040, plus 46% of excess over \$18,000.
Over \$20,000 but not over \$22,000	\$5,960, plus 49% of excess over \$20,000.
Over \$22,000 but not over \$26,000	\$6,940, plus 52% of excess over \$22,000.
Over \$26,000 but not over \$32,000	\$9,020, plus 55% of excess over \$26,000.
Over \$32,000 but not over \$38,000	\$12,320, plus 58% of excess over \$32,000.
Over \$38,000 but not over \$44,000	\$15,800, plus 61% of excess over \$38,000.
Over \$44,000 but not over \$50,000	\$19,460, plus 63% of excess over \$44,000.
Over \$50,000 but not over \$60,000	\$23,240, plus 66% of excess over \$50,000.
Over \$60,000 but not over \$70,000	\$29,840, plus 69% of excess over \$60,000.
Over \$70,000 but not over \$80,000	\$36,740, plus 72% of excess over \$70,000.
Over \$80,000 but not over \$90,000	\$43,940, plus 75% of excess over \$80,000.
Over \$90,000 but not over \$100,000_	\$51,440, plus 77% of excess over \$90,000.

(b) Rules for Application of Section 400.—Section 401 is amended to read as follows:

Ante, p. 803. 55 Stat. 691. 26 U. S. C., Supp I,

"SEC. 401. RULES FOR APPLICATION OF SECTION 400.

"For the purposes of this supplement—

"(a) Definitions.—
"(1) 'Married person' means a married person living with

husband or wife on July 1 of the taxable year.

"(2) 'Dependent' means a person (other than husband or wife) dependent upon and receiving his chief support from the taxpayer on July 1 of the taxable year if on such date such dependent person is under eighteen years of age, or is incapable of self-support because mentally or physically defective, excluding as a dependent, in the case of a head of a family, one who would be excluded under section 25 (b) (2) (B). A payment to a wife which is includible under section 22 (k) or section 171 in the gross income of such wife shall not be considered a payment by her husband for the support of any dependent.

"(b) MARRIED AND NOT LIVING WITH HUSBAND OR WIFE.—An individual not a head of a family and not living with husband or wife on July 1 of the taxable year shall be treated as a single person."

(c) TAXPAYERS INELIGIBLE.—Section 404 is amended to read as follows:

"Married person."

"Dependent,"

55 Stat. 697. 26 U. S. C., Supp. I, § 25 (b) (2) (B). Post, pp. 816, 817.

55 Stat. 692. 26 U. S. C., Supp. I, § 404.

"SEC. 404. CERTAIN TAXPAYERS INELIGIBLE.

"This supplement shall not apply to a nonresident alien individual, to an estate or trust, to an individual filing a return for a period of less than twelve months or for any taxable year other than a calendar year, or to a married individual married and living with husband or wife at any time during the taxable year whose spouse files return and computes tax without regard to this supplement."

SEC. 105. TAX ON CORPORATIONS.

(a) NORMAL TAX.—

(1) Definition of Normal-Tax Net Income.—Section 13 (a) (2) (relating to the definition of corporation normal-tax

net income) is amended to read as follows:

"(2) NORMAL-TAX NET INCOME.—The term 'normal-tax net income' means the adjusted net income minus the credit for income subject to the tax imposed by Subchapter E of Chapter 2 provided in section 26 (e) and minus the credit for dividends received provided in section 26 (b)."

(2) ALTERNATIVE RATE.—Section 13 (b) (2) (relating to alter-

native normal-tax rate) is amended to read as follows:

"(2) Alternative tax (corporations with normal-tax net INCOME OVER \$25,000, BUT NOT OVER \$50,000).—A tax of \$4,250, plus 31 per centum of the amount of the normal-tax net income in excess of \$25,000."

(b) Surtax on Corporations.—Section 15 (relating to surtax on corporations) is amended to read as follows:

53 Stat. 863. 26 U. S. C. § 13 (a) (2).

"Normal-tax net in-

Post. p. 806. Post, p. 807.

53 Stat. 864. 26 U. S. C., Supp. I, § 13 (b) (2).

55 Stat. 693. 26 U. S. C., Supp. I, § 15.

"SEC. 15. SURTAX ON CORPORATIONS.

"(a) CORPORATION SURTAX NET INCOME.—For the purposes of this chapter, the term 'corporation surtax net income' means the net income minus the credit for income subject to the tax imposed by Subchapter E of Chapter 2 provided in section 26 (e) and minus the credit for dividends received provided in section 26 (b) (computed

Post, p. 806. Post. p. 807. Post, p. 830.

Post, pp. 838, 808, 861. 52 Stat. 71. 26 U. S. C. §§ 201-208. Post, pp. 821, 861, 867-875, 878.

55 Stat. 700. 26 U. S. C., Supp. I, § 23 (c) (1) (B).

40 Stat. 302, 1088; 42 Stat. 271; 48 Stat. 208, 770; 54 Stat. 975. 26 U. S. C. §§ 710-752; Supp. I, §§ 710-743. Post, p. 899.

55 Stat. 700.
26 U. S. O., Supp. I,
\$23 (e) (2).
53 Stat. 19.
26 U. S. C. \$26 (e), (f).
54 Stat. 975.
26 U. S. C. \$5 710752; Supp. I, \$\$ 710743.

Post, p. 899.
54 Stat. 975.
26 U. S. C. \$710 (b);
Supp. I, \$710 (b).

Post, pp. 900, 902.
54 Stat. 986, 938.
26 U. S. C. \$ 726;
Supp. I, \$ 721.

Post, pp. 912, 920,
918.

Post, p. 899.
54 Stat. 989.
26 U. S. C. § 729 (c),
(d).
Post, p. 921.
54 Stat. 987, 988.
25 U. S. C. §§ 725,
727.
Post, pp. 920, 908.
53 Stat. 19.
26 U. S. C. § 27;
Supp. I, § 27.
Post, p. 829.
53 Stat. 21.
26 U. S. C. § 28.
Post, p. 897.

by limiting such credit to 85 per centum of the net income reduced by the credit for income subject to the tax imposed by Subchapter E of Chapter 2 in lieu of 85 per centum of the adjusted net income so reduced), and minus, in the case of a public utility, the credit for dividends paid on its preferred stock provided in section 26 (h). For the purposes of this subsection dividends received on the preferred stock of a public utility shall be disregarded in computing the credit for dividends received provided in section 26 (b).

"(b) Imposition of Tax.—There shall be levied, collected, and paid for each taxable year upon the corporation surtax net income of every corporation (except a Western Hemisphere Trade Corporation as defined in section 109, and except a corporation subject to the tax imposed by section 231 (a), Supplement G, or Supplement Q), a

surtax as follows:

"(1) Surtax net incomes not over \$25,000.—Upon corporation surtax net incomes not over \$25,000, 10 per centum of the amount thereof.

"(2) Surtax net incomes over \$25,000 but not over \$50,000.— Upon corporation surtax net incomes over \$25,000, but not over \$50,000, \$2,500, plus 22 per centum of the amount of the corporation surtax net income over \$25,000.

"(3) Surtax net incomes over \$50,000.—Upon corporation surtax net incomes over \$50,000, 16 per centum of the corporation

surtax net income."

(c) Nondeductibility of Excess-Profits Tax.—

(1) Section 23 (c) (1) (B) (relating to taxes not deductible in computing net income) is amended to read as follows:

"(B) war-profits and excess-profits taxes imposed by Title II of the Revenue Act of 1917, Title III of the Revenue Act of 1918, Title III of the Revenue Act of 1921, section 216 of the National Industrial Recovery Act, section 702 of the Revenue Act of 1934, or Subchapter E of Chapter 2, or by any such provisions as amended or supplemented;".

(2) Section 23 (c) (2) (relating to special rules for deduction

of excess-profits tax) is repealed.

(d) CREDIT FOR ADJUSTED EXCESS-PROFITS NET INCOME.—Section 26 (e) and (f) (cross-references) are amended to read as follows:
"(e) INCOME SUBJECT TO EXCESS-PROFITS TAX.—In the case of any

"(e) Income Subject to Excess-Profits Tax.—In the case of any corporation subject to the tax imposed by Subchapter E of Chapter 2, an amount equal to its adjusted excess-profits net income (as defined in section 710 (b)). In the case of any corporation computing such tax under section 721 (relating to abnormalities in income in the taxable period), section 726 (relating to corporations completing contracts under the Merchant Marine Act of 1936), section 731 (relating to corporations engaged in mining strategic minerals), or section 736 (b) (relating to corporations with income from long-term contracts), the credit shall be the amount of which the tax imposed by such subchapter is 90 per centum. For the purpose of the preceding sentence the term 'tax imposed by Subchapter E of Chapter 2' means the tax computed without regard to the limitation provided in section 710 (a) (1) (B) (the 80 per centum limitation), without regard to the credit provided in section 729 (c) and (d) for foreign taxes paid, and without regard to the adjustments provided in section 734. This subsection shall not apply to any corporation exempt from such tax under section 725 or section 727.

"(f) DIVIDENDS PAID CREDIT.—For corporation dividends paid

credit, see section 27.

"(g) Consent Dividends Credit.—For corporation consent dividends credit, see section 28."

(e) Technical Amendments Made Necessary by Change in Base FOR CORPORATE TAX.-

(1) Credit for dividends received.—The first sentence of section 26 (b) is amended to read as follows: "85 per centum of the amount received as dividends from a domestic corporation which is subject to taxation under this chapter, but not in excess of 85 per centum of the adjusted net income reduced by the credit

for income subject to the tax imposed by Subchapter E of Chapter 2 provided in subsection (e)."

(2) Computation of Section 102 Net Income.—Section 102 (d) (1) (relating to the definition of section 102 net income) is amended by inserting at the end thereof the following new

subparagraph:

"(D) Income Subject to Excess-Profits Tax.—The credit for income subject to the tax imposed by Subchapter E of Chapter 2 provided in section 26 (e)."

(3) Computation of net operating loss deduction.—Section 122 (relating to net operating loss) is amended as follows:

(A) Subsection (a) is amended to read as follows:

"(a) Definition of Net Operating Loss.—As used in this section, the term 'net operating loss' means the excess of the deductions allowed by this chapter over the gross income, with the exceptions, additions, and limitations provided in subsection (d)."

(B) Subsection (c) is amended by striking out the parenthesis at the end thereof and inserting in lieu thereof the following: "and without the credit provided in section

26 (e)); (C) Subsection (d) is amended by striking out "exceptions and limitations" and inserting in lieu thereof "exceptions, additions, and limitations" and by inserting at the end thereof the following new paragraph:

"(6) There shall be allowed as a deduction the amount of tax

imposed by Subchapter E of Chapter 2 paid or accrued within

the taxable year, subject to the following rules-

'(A) No reduction in such tax shall be made by reason of the credit for income, war-profits, or excess-profits taxes paid to any foreign country or possession of the United States;

"(B) Such tax shall be computed without regard to the

adjustments provided in section 734; and

"(C) Such tax, in the case of a consolidated return for excess-profits tax purposes, shall be allocated to the members of the affiliated group under regulations prescribed by the Commissioner, with the approval of the Secretary."

53 Stat. 19. 26 U. S. C. § 26 (b).

Ante, p. 806.

53 Stat. 35. 26 U. S. C. § 102 (d) (1); Supp. I, § 102 (d) . Post, p. 836.

Ante, p. 806.

53 Stat. 867. 26 U. S. C. § 122. Post, pp. 844, 847, 848.

Infra.

Post, p. 848.

Ante. p. 806.

Post, p. 844.

54 Stat. 975. 26 U. S. C. §§ 710-752; Supp. I, §§ 710-743. Post, p. 899.

Post, p. 921.

SEC. 106. TAX ON NONRESIDENT ALIEN INDIVIDUALS.

(a) Tax in General.—Section 211 (a) (1) (A) (relating to tax on nonresident alien individuals not engaged in trade or business within the United States) is amended by striking out "27½ per centum" and inserting in lieu thereof "30 per centum". The amendments made by this subsection shall apply with respect to amounts received after the ninth day after the date of the enactment of this Act regardless of whether the taxable year of the recipient begins before January 1, 1942, or after December 31, 1941.

(b) Aggregate Receipts More Than \$15,400.—Section 211 (a) (2)

is amended to read as follows:

"(2) AGGREGATE MORE THAN \$15,400.—The tax imposed by paragraph (1) shall not apply to any individual if the aggregate amount received during the taxable year from the sources therein specified is more than \$15,400."

53 Stat. 75. 26 U. S. C., Supp. I, § 211 (a) (1) (A). Post, p. 861.

53 Stat. 75. 26 U. S. C., Supp. I, § 211 (a) (2).

53 Stat. 76. 26 U. S. C., Supp. I, § 211 (e). Post, p. 861. (c) TAX WHERE GROSS INCOME OF MORE THAN \$15,400.—Section 211 (c) (relating to tax on certain nonresident alien individuals) is amended by striking out "\$23,000" wherever occurring therein and inserting in lieu thereof "\$15,400"; and by striking out "27½ per centum" and inserting in lieu thereof "30 per centum". In the application of the amendments made by this subsection, the rate shall be 27½ per centum with respect to the period ending with the ninth day after the date of the enactment of this Act and shall be 30 per centum with respect to the period after such day.

SEC. 107. TAX ON FOREIGN CORPORATIONS.

53 Stat. 78. 26 U. S. C. § 231 (a); Supp. I, § 231 (a). Post. p. 861.

Section 231 (a) (relating to tax on nonresident foreign corporations) is amended by striking out "27½ per centum" and inserting in lieu thereof "30 per centum". The amendments made by this section shall apply with respect to amounts received after the ninth day after the date of the enactment of this Act regardless of whether the taxable year of the recipient begins before January 1, 1942, or after December 31, 1941.

SEC. 108. WITHHOLDING OF TAX AT SOURCE.

53 Stat. 60, 61, 62. 26 U.S. C. § 143 (a); Supp. I, §§ 143 (a), (b), 144. Post, pp. 860, 861.

53 Stat. 61. 26 U. S. C., Supp. I, § 143 (b). Post, p. 861.

Post, p. 860.

(a) Sections 143 (a) and (b) and 144 are amended by striking out "27½ per centum" wherever occurring therein and inserting in lieu thereof "30 per centum".

(b) Limitation on Rate of Withholding in Certain Cases.—Section 143 (b) is amended by inserting before the period at the end of the first sentence the following: ": Provided further, That the deduction and withholding in the case of interest on bonds, mortgages, or deeds of trust or other similar obligations of a corporation, within the provisions of subsection (a) (1) of this section were it not for the fact that the maturity date of such obligations has been extended on or after January 1, 1934, and the liability assumed by the debtor exceeds 27½ per centum of the interest, shall not exceed the rate of 27½ per centum per annum".

(c) Subsection (a) shall apply only with respect to the period beginning with the tenth day after the date of the enactment of this

Act.

SEC. 109. TREATY OBLIGATIONS.

No amendment made by this title shall apply in any case where its application would be contrary to any treaty obligation of the United States.

SEC. 110. TRANSFERS OF LIFE INSURANCE CONTRACTS, ETC.

Annuities, etc. 53 Stat. 10. 26 U. S. C. § 22 (b) (2). Post, pp. 818, 866. (a) PROCEEDS EXEMPT TO TRANSFEREE.—Section 22 (b) (2) (relating to annuities, etc.) is amended by inserting a period and the following new sentence before the semicolon at the end thereof: "The preceding sentence shall not apply in the case of such a transfer if such contract or interest therein has a basis for determining gain or loss in the hands of a transferee determined in whole or in part by reference to such basis of such contract or interest therein in the hands of the transferor".

(b) TAXABLE YEARS TO WHICH AMENDMENT APPLICABLE.—The amendment made by this section shall be applicable with respect to

taxable years beginning after December 31, 1940.

SEC. 111. INCOME RECEIVED FROM ESTATES, ETC., UNDER GIFTS, BEQUESTS, ETC.

(a) GIFT OF INCOME FROM PROPERTY NOT EXCLUDED FROM GROSS INCOME.—Section 22 (b) (3) (relating to exclusion of gifts, etc., from

gross income) is amended to read as follows:

"(3) GIFTS, BEQUESTS, DEVISES, AND INHERITANCES.—The value of property acquired by gift, bequest, devise, or inheritance. There shall not be excluded from gross income under this paragraph, the income from such property, or, in case the gift, bequest, devise, or inheritance is of income from property, the amount of such income. For the purposes of this paragraph, if, under the terms of the gift, bequest, devise, or inheritance, payment, crediting, or distribution thereof is to be made at intervals, to the extent that it is paid or credited or to be distributed out of income from property, it shall be considered a gift, bequest, devise, or inheritance of income from property;".

(b) DEDUCTION OF INCOME TO BE DISTRIBUTED CURRENTLY.—Sec-

tion 162 (b) (relating to deduction of income to be distributed cur-

rently) is amended to read as follows:

"(b) There shall be allowed as an additional deduction in computing the net income of the estate or trust the amount of the income of the estate or trust for its taxable year which is to be distributed currently by the fiduciary to the legatees, heirs, or beneficiaries, but the amount so allowed as a deduction shall be included in computing the net income of the legatees, heirs, or beneficiaries whether distributed to them or not. As used in this subsection, 'income which is to be distributed currently' includes income for the taxable year of the estate or trust which, within the taxable year, becomes payable to the legatee, heir, or beneficiary. Any amount allowed as a deduction under this paragraph shall not be allowed as a deduction under subsection (c) of this section in the same or any succeeding taxable

year;"

(c) TRUST INCOME INCLUDED IN INCOME OF BENEFICIARY, Etc.-Section 162 (relating to net income of estates or trusts) is amended by striking out the period at the end of subsection (c) and inserting in lieu thereof a semicolon and the following new subsection:

"(d) Rules for Application of Subsections (b) and (c).—For

the purposes of subsections (b) and (c)—
"(1) Amounts distributable out of income or corpus.—In cases where the amount paid, credited, or to be distributed can be paid, credited, or distributed out of other than income, the amount paid, credited, or to be distributed (except under a gift, bequest, devise, or inheritance not to be paid, credited, or distributed at intervals) during the taxable year of the estate or trust shall be considered as income of the estate or trust which is paid, credited, or to be distributed if the aggregate of such amounts so paid, credited, or to be distributed does not exceed the distributable income of the estate or trust for its taxable year. If the aggregate of such amounts so paid, credited, or to be distributed during the taxable year of the estate or trust in such cases exceeds the distributable income of the estate or trust for its taxable year, the amount so paid, credited, or to be distributed to any legatee, heir, or beneficiary shall be considered income of the estate or trust for its taxable year which is paid, credited, or to be distributed in an amount which bears the same ratio to the amount of such distributable income as the amount so paid, credited, or to be distributed to the legatee, heir, or beneficiary

53 Stat. 10. 26 U. S. C. § 22 (b) (3).

53 Stat. 66. 26 U. S. C. § 162 (b).

53 Stat. 67. 26 U. S. C. § 162 (c).

53 Stat. 66. 26 U. S. C. § 162. Supra.

"Distributable in-

bears to the aggregate of such amounts so paid, credited, or to be distributed to legatees, heirs, and beneficiaries for the taxable year of the estate or trust. For the purposes of this paragraph distributable income' means either (A) the net income of the estate or trust computed with the deductions allowed under subsections (b) and (c) in cases to which this paragraph does not apply, or (B) the income of the estate or trust minus the deductions provided in subsections (b) and (c) in cases to which this paragraph does not apply, whichever is the greater. In computing such distributable income the deductions under subsections (b) and (c) shall be determined without the application of paragraph (2).

"(2) Amounts distributable out of income of prior period-In cases, other than cases described in paragraph (1), if on a date more than 65 days after the beginning of the taxable year of the estate or trust, income of the estate or trust for any period becomes payable, the amount of such income shall be considered income of the estate or trust for its taxable year which is paid, credited, or to be distributed to the extent of the income of the estate or trust for such period, or if such period is a period of more than 12 months, the last 12 months thereof.

"(3) DISTRIBUTIONS IN FIRST 65 DAYS OF TAXABLE YEAR.—
"(A) General Rule.—If within the first 65 days of any taxable year of the estate or trust, income of the estate or trust, for a period beginning before the beginning of the taxable year, becomes payable, such income, to the extent of the income of the estate or trust for the part of such period not falling within the taxable year or, if such part is longer than 12 months, the last 12 months thereof, shall be considered, paid, credited, or to be distributed on the last day of the preceding taxable year. This subparagraph shall not apply with respect to any amount with respect to which subparagraph (B) applies.

(B) Payable Out of Income or Corpus.—If within the first 65 days of any taxable year of the estate or trust, an amount which can be paid at intervals out of other than income becomes payable, there shall be considered as paid, credited, or to be distributed on the last day of the preceding taxable year the part of such amount which bears the same ratio to such amount as the part of the interval not falling within the taxable year bears to the period of the interval. If the part of the interval not falling within the taxable year is a period of more than 12 months, the interval shall be considered to begin on the date 12 months before the end of the taxable year."

53 Stat. 67. 26 U. S. C. § 164.

(d) TECHNICAL AMENDMENT.—Section 164 (relating to different taxable years of estate or trust and beneficiary) is amended by striking out "beneficiary" and inserting in lieu thereof "legatee, heir, or beneficiary".

(e) TAXABLE YEARS TO WHICH AMENDMENTS APPLICABLE.—The amendments made by this section shall be applicable only with respect to taxable years beginning after December 31, 1941; except that in the case of income paid, credited or to be distributed or amounts paid, credited or to be distributed by an estate or trust the amendments made by this section shall be applicable only with respect to such income and such amounts paid, credited or to be distributed on or after the beginning of the first taxable year of the estate or trust, as the case may be, beginning after December 31, 1941.

SEC. 112. AMENDMENTS TO CONFORM INTERNAL REVENUE CODE WITH THE PUBLIC DEBT ACT OF 1941.

(a) Postal Savings Certificates.—Section 22 (b) (4) (relating to the exclusion of tax-free interest from gross income) is amended by inserting after the words "other than postal savings certificates of deposits" the following: "to the extent they represent deposits made before March 1, 1941".

(b) United States Obligations.—Section 25 (a) (1) is amended

to read as follows:

"(1) Interest on united states obligations.—The amount received as interest upon obligations of the United States, if such interest is included in gross income under section 22, and if, under the Act authorizing the issue of such obligations, as amended and supplemented, such interest is exempt from normal tax."

(c) The amendments made by this section shall be effective as of March 1, 1941.

55 Stat. 7. 31 U. S. C., Supp. I, §§ 742a-7576. Ante, p. 190. 53 Stat. 10. 26 U. S. C. § 22 (b)

53 Stat. 17. 26 U. S. C. § 25 (a) (1).

53 Stat. 9. 26 U. S. C. § 22. Ante, pp. 808, 809; post, pp. 812, 814, 816 818, 826, 830, 866; infra.

Effective date.

SEC. 113. EXCLUSION OF PENSIONS, ANNUITIES, ETC., FOR DISABIL-ITY RESULTING FROM MILITARY SERVICE.

Section 22 (b) (5) (relating to exclusions from gross income of compensation for injuries or sickness) is amended by inserting before the semicolon at the end thereof the following: ", and amounts received as a pension, annuity, or similar allowance for personal injuries or sickness resulting from active service in the armed forces of any country".

53 Stat. 10. 26 U. S. C. § 22 (b) Post, p. 826.

SEC. 114. EXCLUSION OF INCOME FROM DISCHARGE OF INDEBTED-NESS.

(a) GENERAL RULE.—Section 22 (b) (9) (relating to exclusion from gross income of corporate income derived from discharge of indebted-

ness) is amended to read as follows:

"(9) Income from discharge of indeptedness.—In the case of a corporation, the amount of any income of the taxpayer attributable to the discharge, within the taxable year, of any indebtedness of the taxpayer or for which the taxpayer is liable evidenced by a security (as hereinafter in this paragraph defined) if the taxpayer makes and files at the time of filing the return, in such manner as the Commissioner, with the approval of the Secretary, by regulations prescribes, its consent to the regulations prescribed under section 113 (b) (3) then in effect. In such case the amount of any income of the taxpayer attributable to any unamortized premium (computed as of the first day of the taxable year in which such discharge occurred) with respect to such indebtedness shall not be included in gross income and the amount of the deduction attributable to any unamortized discount (computed as of the first day of the taxable year in which such discharge occurred) with respect to such indebtedness shall not be allowed as a deduction. As used in this paragraph the term 'security' means any bond, debenture, note, or certificate, or other evidence of indebtedness, issued by any corporation. This paragraph shall not apply to any discharge occurring before the date of enactment of the Revenue Act of 1939, or in a taxable year beginning after December 31, 1945."

53 Stat. 875. 26 U. S. C. § 22 (b)

53 Stat. 875. 26 U. S. C. § 113 (b)

"Security."

53 Stat. 862.

53 Stat. 10. 26 U. S. C. § 22 (b). Ante, p. 811.

(b) RAILROAD CORPORATIONS—DISCHARGE OF INDEBTEDNESS IN CER-TAIN JUDICIAL PROCEEDINGS.—Section 22 (b) (relating to exclusions from gross income) is amended by inserting at the end thereof the

following new paragraph:

47 Stat. 1481. 11 U.S. C. § 205 (m).

47 Stat. 1474. 11 U. S. C. § 205

"(10) Income from discharge of indebtedness of a railroad corporation.—The amount of any income attributable to the discharge, within the taxable year, of any indebtedness of a railroad corporation, as defined in section 77m of the National Bankruptcy Act, as amended, to the extent that such income is deemed to have been realized by reason of a modification in or cancellation in whole or in part of such indebtedness pursuant to an order of a court in a receivership proceeding or in a proceeding under section 77 of the National Bankruptcy Act, as amended. In such case the amount of any income of the taxpayer attributable to any unamortized premium (computed as of the first day of the taxable year in which such discharge occurred) with respect to such indebtedness shall not be included in gross income and the amount of the deduction attributable to any unamortized discount (computed as of the first day of the taxable year in which such discharge occurred) with respect to such indebtedness shall not be Paragraph (9) shall not apply with allowed as a deduction. respect to any discharge of indebtedness to which this paragraph applies. This paragraph shall not apply to any discharge occurring in a taxable year beginning after December 31, 1945."

(c) TAXABLE YEARS TO WHICH AMENDMENT APPLICABLE.—The amendment made by subsection (b) shall be applicable to taxable

years beginning after December 31, 1939.

SEC. 115. IMPROVEMENTS BY LESSEE.

Supra.

53 Stat. 40. 26 U. S. C. § 113; Supp. I, § 113.

(a) Exclusion of Income From Lessee's Improvements.—Section 22 (b) (relating to exclusions from gross income) is amended by

adding at the end thereof the following new paragraph:

"(11) Improvements by lessee on lesson's property.—Income, other than rent, derived by a lessor of real property upon the termination of a lease, representing the value of such property attributable to buildings erected or other improvements made by the lessee."

(b) Basis of Real Property Upon Which Improvements Have BEEN MADE BY LESSEE.—Section 113 (relating to basis for determining gain or loss) is amended by adding at the end thereof the

following new subsection:

"(c) Property on Which Lessee Has Made Improvements.-Neither the basis nor the adjusted basis of any portion of real property shall, in the case of the lessor of such property, be increased or diminished on account of income derived by the lessor in respect of such property and excludible from gross income under section 22 (b) (11). If an amount representing any part of the value of real property attributable to buildings erected or other improvements made by a lessee in respect of such property was included in gross income of the lessor for any taxable year beginning before January 1, 1942, the basis of each portion of such property shall be properly adjusted for the amount so included in gross income."

SEC. 116. RECOVERY OF BAD DEBTS, PRIOR TAXES, AND DELIN-QUENCY AMOUNTS.

Supra.

Supra.

(a) Exclusion From Income.—Section 22 (b) (relating to exclusions from gross income) is amended by adding at the end thereof the following new paragraph:

"(12) RECOVERY OF BAD DEBTS, PRIOR TAXES, AND DELINQUENCY AMOUNTS.—Income attributable to the recovery during the tax-

able year of a bad debt, prior tax, or delinquency amount, to the extent of the amount of the recovery exclusion with respect to such debt, tax, or amount. For the purposes of this paragraph:

"(A) Definition of Bad Debt.—The term 'bad debt' means a debt on account of worthlessness or partial worthlessness of which a deduction was allowed for a prior taxable year.

"(B) Definition of Prior Tax.—The term 'prior tax' means a tax on account of which a deduction or credit was

allowed for a prior taxable year.

"(C) Definition of Delinquency Amount.—The term 'delinquency amount' means an amount paid or accrued on account of which a deduction or credit was allowed for a prior taxable year and which is attributable to failure to file return with respect to a tax, or pay a tax, within the time required by the law under which the tax is imposed, or to failure to file return with respect to a tax or pay a tax.

"(D) Definition of Recovery Exclusion.—The term recovery exclusion', with respect to a bad debt, prior tax, or delinquency amount, means the amount, determined in accordance with regulations prescribed by the Commissioner with the approval of the Secretary, of the deductions or credits allowed, on account of such bad debt, prior tax, or delinquency amount, which did not result in a reduction of the taxpayer's tax under this chapter (not including the tax under section 102) or corresponding provisions of prior revenue laws, reduced by the amount excludible in previous taxable years with respect to such debt, tax, or amount under

this paragraph.

"(E) Special Rules in Case of Section 102 Tax and Personal Holding Company Tax.—In the application of subparagraphs (A), (B), (C), and (D) in determining the tax under section 102 or Subapter A of Chapter 2, a recovery exclusion allowed for the purposes of Chapter 1 shall be allowed for the purpose of such section or subchapter whether or not the bad debt, prior tax, or delinquency amount resulted in a reduction of the section 102 tax or Subchapter A tax for the prior taxable year; and in the case of a bad debt, prior tax, or delinquency amount not allowable as a deduction or credit for the prior taxable year under Chapter 1 (except section 102) but allowable for the same taxable year under such section or subchapter a recovery exclusion shall be allowable for the purposes of such section or subchapter if such bad debt, prior tax, or delinquency amount did not result in a reduction of the tax under such section 102 or such Subchapter A. As used in this subparagraph references to Chapter 1, section 102, and Subchapter A in the case of taxable years not subject to the Internal Revenue Code, shall be held to be made to corresponding provisions of prior revenue Acts."

(b) Effective Date of Amendments Under the Internal REVENUE CODE.—The amendments made by this section shall be applicable with respect to taxable years beginning after December 31,

1938.

(c) Under Prior Revenue Acts.—For the purposes of the Revenue Act of 1938 or any prior revenue Act, the amendments made to the Internal Revenue Code by subsection (a) of this section shall be effective as if they were a part of each such revenue Act on the date of its enactment.

"Bad debt."

"Prior tax."

''Delinquency amount."

"Recovery exclusion."

53 Stat. 35. 26 U. S. C. § 102; Supp. I, § 102. Ante, p. 807; post, pp. 835, 836.

53 Stat. 104.
26 U. S. C. §§ 500511; Supp. I, §§ 500,
504, 506.
Post, pp. 829, 835,
846, 894-896, 898.
53 Stat. 4.
26 U. S. C. §§ 1396; Supp. I, ch. 1.
Ante, p. 802.

52 Stat. 447.

SEC. 117. ADDITIONAL ALLOWANCE FOR MILITARY AND NAVAL PER-

Ante, p. 812.

Section 22 (b) (relating to exclusions from gross income) is amended by adding at the end thereof the following new paragraph: "(13) ADDITIONAL ALLOWANCE FOR MILITARY AND NAVAL PERsonnel.—So much of the amount received, before the termination of the present war as proclaimed by the President, by personnel below the grade of commissioned officer in the military or naval forces of the United States as salary or compensation in any form from the United States for active service in such forces during such war, as does not exceed \$250 in the case of a single person and \$300 in the case of a married person or head of a family. The determination, for the purposes of this paragraph, of the taxpayer's status in the armed forces and his family status shall be made as of the end of the taxable year."

SEC. 118. REPORT REQUIREMENT IN CONNECTION WITH INVENTORY METHODS.

53 Stat. 877. 26 U. S. C. § 22 (d) (2) (B).

(a) Section 22 (d) (2) (B) (relating to report requirement in connection with using certain inventory methods) is amended to read as follows:

"(B) Only if the taxpayer establishes to the satisfaction of the Commissioner that the taxpayer has used no procedure other than that specified in subparagraphs (B) and (C) of paragraph (1) in inventorying such goods to ascertain the income, profit, or loss of the first taxable year for which the method described in paragraph (1) is to be used, for the purpose of a report or statement covering such taxable year (i) to shareholders, partners, or other proprietors, or to beneficiaries, or (ii) for credit purposes."

53 Stat. 877. 26 U. S. C. § 22 (d) (5) (B).

(b) Section 22 (d) (5) (B) (relating to requirement to continue reports in connection with certain inventory methods) is amended to read as follows:

"(B) The Commissioner determines that the taxpayer has used for any such subsequent taxable year some procedure other than that specified in subpagraph (B) of paragraph (1) in inventorying the goods specified in the application to ascertain the income, profit, or loss of such subsequent taxable year for the purpose of a report or statement covering such taxable year (i) to shareholders, partners, or other proprietors, or beneficiaries, or (ii) for credit purposes; and requires a change to a method different from that prescribed in paragraph (1) beginning with such subsequent taxable

year or any taxable year thereafter."
(c) Taxable Years to Which Amendments Applicable.—Amendments made by this section shall be applicable to taxable years begin-

ning after December 31, 1938.

SEC. 119. LAST-IN FIRST-OUT INVENTORY.

Elective inventory method. . 53 Stat. 877. 26 U. S. C. § 22 (d). Supra.

Section 22 (d) (relating to the use of the elective inventory method) is amended by adding at the end thereof the following new paragraph:

"(6) Involuntary Liquidation and Replacement of Inven-

"(A) Adjustment of Net Income and Resulting Tax. If, for any taxable year beginning after December 31, 1941, and prior to the termination of the present war as proclaimed by the President, the closing inventory of a taxpayer inventorying goods under the method provided in this subsection reflects a decrease from the opening inventory of such goods for such year, and if, at the time of the filing of the taxpayer's income tax return for such year, the taxpayer elects to have the provisions of this paragraph apply and so notifies the Commissioner, and if, at the time of such election, it is established to the satisfaction of the Commissioner, in accordance with such regulations as the Commissioner may prescribe with the approval of the Secretary, that such decrease is attributable to the involuntary liquidation of such inventory as defined in subparagraph (B), and if the closing inventory of a subsequent taxable year, ending not more than three years after the termination of the present war as proclaimed by the President, reflects a replacement, in whole or in part, of the goods so previously liquidated, the net income of the taxpayer otherwise determined for the year of such involuntary liquidation shall be adjusted as follows:

"(i) Increased by an amount equal to the excess, if any, of the aggregate cost of such goods reflected in the opening inventory of the year of involuntary liquidation

over the aggregate replacement cost; or

"(ii) Decreased by an amount equal to the excess, if any, of the aggregate replacement cost of such goods over the aggregate cost thereof reflected in the opening inventory of the year of the involuntary liquidation.

The taxes imposed by this chapter and by Subchapter E of Chapter 2 for the year of such liquidation and for all taxable years intervening between such year and the year of replacement shall be redetermined, giving effect to such adjustments. Any increase in such taxes resulting from such adjustments shall be assessed and collected as a deficiency but without interest, and any overpayment so resulting shall be credited or refunded to the taxpayer without interest.

"(B) Definition of Involuntary Liquidation.—The term

"(B) Definition of Involuntary Liquidation.—The term 'involuntary liquidation', as used in this paragraph, means the sale or other disposition of goods inventoried under the method described in this subsection, either voluntary or involuntary, coupled with a failure on the part of the tax-payer to purchase, manufacture, or otherwise produce and have on hand at the close of the taxable year in which such sale or other disposition occurred such goods as would, if on hand at the close of such taxable year, be subject to the application of the provisions of this subsection, if such failure on the part of the taxpayer is due, directly and exclusively, (i) to enemy capture or control of sources of limited foreign supply; (ii) to shipping or other transportation shortages; (iii) to material shortages resulting from priorities or allocations; (iv) to labor shortages; or (v) to other prevailing war conditions beyond the control of the taxpayer.

"(C) Replacements.—If, in the case of any taxpayer subject to the provisions of subparagraph (A), the closing inventory of the taxpayer for a taxable year, subsequent to the year of involuntary liquidation but prior to the complete replacement of the goods so liquidated, reflects an increase over the opening inventory of such goods for the taxable year, the goods reflecting such increase shall be considered, in the order of their acquisition, as having been acquired in replacement of the goods most recently liquidated (whether or not in a year of involuntary liquidation) and not previ-

Infra.

Adjustment procedure.

Redetermination of taxes imposed. 54 Stat. 975. 26 U. S. C. §§ 710–752; Supp. I, §§ 710–743. Post, p. 899.

"Involuntary liquidation."

ously replaced, and if the liquidation was an involuntary liquidation shall be included in the inventory of the taxpayer for the year of replacement at the inventory cost basis of the goods replaced.

goods replaced.

"(D) Election Irrevocable.—An election by the taxpayer to have the provisions of this paragraph apply, once made, shall be irrevocable and shall be binding for the year of the involuntary liquidation and for all determinations for subsequent taxable years insofar as they are related to the year of

liquidation or replacement.

53 Stat. 462. 26 U. S. C. § 3761.

Ante. p. 814.

54 Stat. 975. 26 U. S. C. §§ 710– 752; Supp. I, §§ 710– 743. Post, p. 899.

55 Stat. 28. 26 U. S. C., Supp. I, 734 (d),

(E) Adjustment in Certain Cases.—If the adjustments specified in subparagraph (A) are, with respect to any taxable year, prevented, on the date of the filing of the income tax return of the taxpayer for the year of the replacement, or within three years from such date, by any provision or rule of law (other than this subparagraph and other than section 3761, relating to compromises), such adjustments shall nevertheless be made if, in respect of the taxable year for which the adjustment is sought, a notice of deficiency is mailed or a claim for refund is filed, as the case may be, within three years after the date of the filing of the income tax return for the year of replacement. If, at the time of the mailing of such notice of deficiency or the filing of such claim for refund, the adjustment is so prevented, then the amount of the adjustment authorized by this paragraph shall be limited to the increase or decrease of the tax imposed by this chapter and Subchapter E of Chapter 2 previously determined for such taxable year which results solely from the effect of subparagraph (A), and such amount shall be assessed and collected, or credited or refunded, in the same manner as if it were a deficiency or an overpayment, as the case may be, for such taxable year and as if, on the date of the filing of the income tax return for the year of the replacement, three years remain before the expiration of the periods of limitation upon assessment or the filing of claim for refund for the taxable year. The tax previously determined shall be ascertained in accordance with section 734 The amount to be assessed and collected under this paragraph in the same manner as if it were a deficiency or to be credited or refunded in the same manner as if it were an overpayment shall not be diminished by any credit or set-off based upon any item, inclusion, deduction, credit, exemption, gain, or loss, other than one resulting from the effect of subparagraph (A). Such amount, if paid, shall not be recovered by a claim or suit for refund, or suit for erroneous refund based upon any item, inclusion, deduction, credit, exemption, gain, or loss, other than one resulting from the effect of subparagraph (A)."

SEC. 120. ALIMONY AND SEPARATE MAINTENANCE PAYMENTS.

53 Stat. 9. 26 U. S. C. § 22.

(a) Amount Includible in Gross Income.—Section 22 (relating to definition of gross income) is amended by inserting at the end thereof

the following new subsection:

"(k) Alimony, Etc., Income.—In the case of a wife who is divorced or legally separated from her husband under a decree of divorce or of separate maintenance, periodic payments (whether or not made at regular intervals) received subsequent to such decree in discharge of, or attributable to property transferred (in trust or otherwise) in dis-

charge of, a legal obligation which, because of the marital or family relationship, is imposed upon or incurred by such husband under such decree or under a written instrument incident to such divorce or separation shall be includible in the gross income of such wife, and such amounts received as are attributable to property so transferred shall not be includible in the gross income of such husband. This subsection shall not apply to that part of any such periodic payment which the terms of the decree or written instrument fix, in terms of an amount of money or a portion of the payment, as a sum which is payable for the support of minor children of such husband. In case any such periodic payment is less than the amount specified in the decree or written instrument, for the purpose of applying the preceding sentence, such payment, to the extent of such sum payable for such support, shall be considered a payment for such support. Installment payments discharging a part of an obligation the principal sum of which is, in terms of money or property, specified in the decree or instrument shall not be considered periodic payments for the purposes of this subsection; except that an installment payment shall be considered a periodic payment for the purposes of this subsection if such principal sum, by the terms of the decree or instrument, may be or is to be paid within a period ending more than 10 years from the date of such decree or instrument, but only to the extent that such installment payment for the taxable year of the wife (or if more than one such installment payment for such taxable year is received during such taxable year, the aggregate of such installment payments) does not exceed 10 per centum of such principal sum. For the purposes of the preceding sentence, the portion of a payment of the principal sum which is allocable to a period after the taxable year of the wife in which it is received shall be considered an installment payment for the taxable year in which it is received. (In cases where such periodic payments are attributable to property of an estate or property held in trust, see section 171 (b).)"

(b) DEDUCTION FOR AMOUNTS PAID.—Section 23 (relating to deductions from gross income) is amended by inserting at the end thereof

the following new subsection:

"(u) ALIMONY, ETC., PAYMENTS.—In the case of a husband described in section 22 (k), amounts includible under section 22 (k) in the gross income of his wife, payment of which is made within the husband's taxable year. If the amount of any such payment is, under section 22 (k) or section 171, stated to be not includible in such husband's gross income, no deduction shall be allowed with respect to such payment under this subsection."

(c) INCOME FROM TRUSTS.—Supplement E of Chapter 1 is amended

by inserting at the end thereof the following new section:

"SEC. 171. INCOME OF AN ESTATE OR TRUST IN CASE OF DIVORCE,

"(a) Inclusion in Gross Income.—There shall be included in the gross income of a wife who is divorced or legally separated under a decree of divorce or of separate maintenance the amount of the income of any trust which such wife is entitled to receive and which, except for the provisions of this section, would be includible in the gross income of her husband, and such amount shall not, despite section 166, section 167, or any other provision of this chapter, be includible in the gross income of such husband. This subsection 167. shall not apply to that part of any such income of the trust which the terms of the decree or trust instrument fix, in terms of an amount of money or a portion of such income, as a sum which is payable

Installment pay-

Post, p. 818. 53 Stat. 12. 26 U. S. C. § 23; Supp. I, § 23.

Ante, p. 816.

Infra.

53 Stat. 66. 26 U. S. C. §§ 161-170.

53 Stat. 68. 26 U. S. C. §§ 166,

for the support of minor children of such husband. In case such income is less than the amount specified in the decree or instrument, for the purpose of applying the preceding sentence, such income, to the extent of such sum payable for such support, shall be considered

a payment for such support.

"(b) Wife Considered a Beneficiary.—For the purposes of computing the net income of the estate or trust and the net income of the wife described in section 22 (k) or subsection (a) of this section. such wife shall be considered as the beneficiary specified in this supplement. A periodic payment under section 22 (k) to any part of which the provisions of this supplement are applicable shall be included in the gross income of the beneficiary in the taxable year in which under this supplement such part is required to be included."

(d) Annuities, Etc.—Section 22 (b) (2) (relating to payments under annuity, etc., contracts) is amended by striking out the head-

ing and inserting in lieu thereof

"(2) Annuities, etc.—
"(A) In General.—"

and by inserting before the semicolon at the end of such subparagraph (A) a period and the following: "This subparagraph and paragraph (1) shall not apply with respect to so much of a payment under a life insurance, endowment, or annuity contract, or any interest therein, as, under section 22 (k), is includible in gross income".

(e) Credit For Dependents.—

(1) CREDIT FOR NORMAL TAX AND SURTAX.—Section 25 (b) (2) (A) (relating to credit for dependents) is amended by inserting at the end thereof the following: "A payment to a wife which is includible under section 22 (k) or section 171 in the gross income of such wife shall not be considered a payment by her husband for the support of any dependent."

(2) Credit for optional tax under supplement t.—For credit for dependents in case of optional tax, see amendment made by

section 104 of this Act.

(f) Definitions.—Section 3797 (a) (relating to definitions) is amended by inserting at the end thereof the following new paragraph:

"(17) Husband and Wife.—As used in sections 22 (k), 23 (u), 25 (b) (2) (A), and 171, and the last sentence of section 401 (a) (2), if the husband and wife therein referred to are divorced, wherever appropriate to the meaning of such sections, the term 'wife' shall be read 'former wife' and the term 'husband' shall be read 'former husband'; and, if the payments described in such sections are made by or on behalf of the wife or former wife to the husband or former husband instead of vice versa, wherever appropriate to the meaning of such sections, the term 'husband' shall be read 'wife' and the term 'wife' shall be read 'husband'."

(g) TAXABLE YEARS TO WHICH AMENDMENTS APPLICABLE.—The amendments made by this section shall be applicable only with respect to taxable years beginning after December 31, 1941; except that if the first taxable year beginning after December 31, 1941, of the husband does not begin on the same day as the first taxable year beginning after December 31, 1941, of the wife, such amendments shall first become applicable in the case of the husband on the first day of the wife's first taxable year beginning after December 31, 1941, regardless of the taxable year of the husband in which such day falls.

Ante, p. 816.

53 Stat. 10. 26 U. S. C. § 22 (b) (2). Ante, p. 808; post, p. 866.

Ante, p. 816.

55 Stat. 697. 26 U. S. C., Supp. I, § 25 (b) (2) (A).

Ante. pp. 816, 817.

Ante, p. 803. 53 Stat. 469. 26 U. S. C. § 3797 (a).

Ante, pp. 816, 817; supra.

Ante, p. 805.

SEC. 121. NON-TRADE OR NON-BUSINESS DEDUCTIONS.

(a) Deduction for Expenses.—Section 23 (a) (relating to deduction for expenses) is amended to read as follows:

"(a) Expenses.-

"(1) Trade or business expenses.—
"(A) In General.—All the ordinary and necessary expenses paid or incurred during the taxable year in carrying on any trade or business, including a reasonable allowance for salaries or other compensation for personal services actually rendered; traveling expenses (including the entire amount expended for meals and lodging) while away from home in the pursuit of a trade or business; and rentals or other payments required to be made as a condition to the continued use or possession, for purposes of the trade or business, of property to which the taxpayer has not taken or is not taking title or in which he has no equity.

"(B) Corporate Charitable Contributions.—No deduction

shall be allowable under subparagraph (A) to a corporation for any contribution or gift which would be allowable as a deduction under subsection (q) were it not for the 5 per centum limitation therein contained and for the requirement therein that payment must be made within the taxable year.

"(C) Expenditures for Advertising and Good Will.—If a corporation has, for the purpose of computing its excess profits credit under Chapter 2E, claimed the benefits of the election provided in section 733, no deduction shall be allowable under subparagraph (A) to such corporation for expenditures for advertising or the promotion of good will which, under the rules and regulations prescribed under section 733

(a), may be regarded as capital investments.

"(2) Non-trade or non-business expenses.—In the case of an individual, all the ordinary and necessary expenses paid or incurred during the taxable year for the production or collection of income, or for the management, conservation, or maintenance

of property held for the production of income."

(b) Allocable to Exempt Income.—Section 24 (a) (5) (relating to items not deductible) is amended by inserting after "this chapter" the following: ", or any amount otherwise allowable under section 23 (a) (2) which is allocable to interest (whether or not any amount of such interest is received or accrued) wholly exempt from the taxes imposed by this chapter".

(c) Depreciation Deduction.—The first sentence of section 23 (1) (relating to deduction for depreciation) is amended to read as follows: "A reasonable allowance for the exhaustion, wear and tear (including

a reasonable allowance for obsolescence)-

"(1) of property used in the trade or business, or
"(2) of property held for the production of income."
(d) Taxable Years to Which Amendments Applicable.—The amendments made by this section shall be applicable to taxable years

beginning after December 31, 1938.

(e) RETROACTIVE AMENDMENT TO PRIOR REVENUE ACTS.—For the purposes of the Revenue Act of 1938 or any prior revenue Act the amendments made to the Internal Revenue Code by this section shall be effective as if they were a part of such revenue Act on the date of its enactment.

53 Stat. 12. 26 U. S. C. § 23 (a); Supp. I, § 23 (a).

Post, p. 822.

54 Stat. 975; 55 Stat. 26.
26 U. S. C. §§ 710-752; Supp. I, §§ 710-743. Post, p. 899.

55 Stat. 26. 26 U. S. C., Supp. I, § 733 (a).

53 Stat. 16. 26 U. S. C. § 24 (a) (5).

Supra.

53 Stat. 14. 26 U.S.C. § 23 (1).

52 Stat. 447.

SEC. 122. DEDUCTION ALLOWABLE TO PURCHASERS FOR STATE AND LOCAL RETAIL SALES TAXES.

55 Stat. 700. 26 U. S. C. § 23 (e); Supp. I, § 23 (c). Ante, p. 806.

Section 23 (c) (relating to deduction for taxes) is amended by

inserting at the end thereof the following new paragraph:

"(3) Retail sales tax.—In the case of a tax imposed by any State, Territory, District, or possession of the United States, or any political subdivision thereof, upon persons engaged in selling tangible personal property at retail, which is measured by the gross sales price or the gross receipts from the sale or which is a stated sum per unit of such property sold, or upon persons engaged in furnishing services at retail, which is measured by the gross receipts for furnishing such services, if the amount of such tax is separately stated, then to the extent that the amount so stated is paid by the purchaser (otherwise than in connection with the purchaser's trade or business) to such person such amount shall be allowed as a deduction in computing the net income of such purchaser as if such amount constituted a tax imposed upon and paid by such purchaser."

SEC. 123. DEDUCTION FOR STOCK AND BOND LOSSES ON SECURITIES IN AFFILIATED CORPORATIONS.

(a) Stock Losses.— 53 Stat. 13. 26 U. S. C. § 23 (g). Infra.

(1) In general.—Section 23 (g) (relating to capital losses) is amended by inserting at the end thereof the following:

"(4) STOCK IN AFFILIATED CORPORATION.—For the purposes of paragraph (2) stock in a corporation affiliated with the taxpayer shall not be deemed a capital asset. For the purposes of this paragraph a corporation shall be deemed to be affiliated with the taxpayer only if:

"(A) at least 95 per centum of each class of its stock is

owned directly by the taxpayer; and

"(B) more than 90 per centum of the aggregate of its gross incomes for all taxable years has been from sources other than royalties, rents, dividends, interest, annuities, or gains from sales or exchanges of stocks and securities;

"(C) the taxpayer is a domestic corporation."

(2) TECHNICAL AMENDMENT.—Section 23 (g) (3) is amended by inserting before "subsection" the following "paragraph (2) of".

Infra.

(b) Bond, Etc., Losses.—For losses on bonds, etc., of affiliated corporations, see amendment made to section 23 (k) by section 124 of this Act.

SEC. 124. DEDUCTION FOR BAD DEBTS, ETC.

53 Stat. 13. 26 U. S. C. § 23 (k).

53 Stat. 13. 26 U. S. C. § 23 (g) (3).

(a) General Rule.—Section 23 (k) (relating to bad debts and securities becoming worthless) is amended to read as follows:

"(k) Bad Debts.—
"(1) General rule.—Debts which become worthly within
the discretion of the Commissioner, a

the taxable year; or (in the discretion of the Commissioner, a reasonable addition to a reserve for bad debts); and when satisfied that a debt is recoverable only in part, the Commissioner may allow such debt, in an amount not in excess of the part which becomes worthless within the taxable year, as a deduction. This paragraph shall not apply in the case of a taxpayer, other than a bank, as defined in section 104, with respect to a debt evidenced by a security as defined in paragraph (3) of

53 Stat. 36. 26 U. S. C. § 104; Supp. I, § 104.

this subsection. This paragraph shall not apply in the case of a taxpayer, other than a corporation, with respect to a nonbusiness debt, as defined in paragraph (4) of this subsection.

"(2) SECURITIES BECOMING WORTHLESS.—If any securities (as defined in paragraph (3) of this subsection) become worthless within the taxable year and are capital assets, the loss resulting therefrom shall, in the case of a taxpayer other than a bank, as defined in section 104, for the purposes of this chapter, be considered as a loss from the sale or exchange, on the last day of such taxable year, of capital assets.

"(3) Definition of securities.—As used in paragraphs (1), (2), and (4) of this subsection the term 'securities' means bonds, debentures, notes, or certificates, or other evidences of indebtedness, issued by any corporation (including those issued by a government or political subdivision thereof), with interest coupons

or in registered form.

"(4) Non-business debts.—In the case of a taxpayer, other than a corporation, if a non-business debt becomes worthless within the taxable year, the loss resulting therefrom shall be considered a loss from the sale or exchange, during the taxable year, of a capital asset held for not more than 6 months. The term 'non-business debt' means a debt other than a debt evidenced by a security as defined in paragraph (3) and other than a debt the loss from the worthlessness of which is incurred in the

taxpayer's trade or business.

"(5) SECURITIES OF AFFILIATED CORPORATIONS.—Bonds, debentures, notes or certificates, or other evidences of indebtedness issued with interest coupons or in registered form by any corporation affiliated with the taxpayer shall not be deemed capital assets for the purposes of paragraph (2) and paragraph (1) shall apply with respect to such debt except that no such deduction shall be allowed under such paragraph with respect to any such debt which is recoverable only in part. For the purposes of this paragraph a corporation shall be deemed to be affiliated with the taxpayer only if:

"(A) at least 95 per centum of each class of its stock is

owned directly by the taxpayer; and

"(B) more than 90 per centum of the aggregate of its gross incomes for all taxable years has been from sources other than royalties, rents, dividends, interest or annuities or gains from sales or exchanges of stock and securities; and

"(C) the taxpayer is a domestic corporation."

(b) Insurance Companies.—Section 204 (c) (6) (relating to deductions allowed insurance companies other than life or mutual) is amended to read as follows:

"(6) Debts in the nature of agency balances and bills receivable

which become worthless within the taxable year;".

(c) Interest Disallowed.—Section 3771 (relating to interest allowable on claims for refund or credit) is amended by adding at the

end thereof the following:

"(d) Claims Based on Deduction for Bad Debts or Worthless SECURITIES.—If credit or refund of any part of an overpayment would be barred under section 322 (b), except for paragraph (5) thereof, or under section 322 (d), except for clause (2) thereof, no interest shall be allowed or paid with respect to such part of the overpayment for any period beginning after the expiration of the period of limitation provided in section 322 (b) (1) for filing claim for credit or refund of such part of the overpayment and ending at the expiration of six "Securities."

"Non-business debt."

53 Stat. 74. 26 U. S. C. § 204 (c)

53 Stat. 465. 26 U. S. C. § 3771.

53 Stat. 91, 92. 26 U.S.C. § 322 (b), (d). Post, pp. 876, 877.

months after the date on which the claim was filed or, in case no claim was filed and the overpayment was found by the Board, ending at the time the petition was filed with the Board."

Ante, pp. 820, 821.

(d) Effective Date of Amendments.—The amendments made by this section adding the last sentence of section 23 (k) (1) and adding section 23 (k) (4) shall be effective only with respect to taxable years beginning after December 31, 1942; the amendment inserting section 23 (k) (5) and amendments related thereto shall be applicable only with respect to taxable years beginning after December 31, 1941; and the other amendments made by this section shall be effective with respect to taxable years beginning after December 31, 1938.

Post, p. 876.

Cross-reference.—For extended period of limitation by reason of debts becoming worthless, see section 169.

SEC. 125. CORPORATE CONTRIBUTIONS TO UNITED STATES, ETC., OR FOR CHARITABLE USE OUTSIDE UNITED STATES DEDUCT-IBLE.

53 Stat. 15. 26 U. S. C. § 23 (q).

The first sentence of section 23 (q) (relating to allowance of corporate charitable contributions) is amended to read as follows: "In the case of a corporation, contributions or gifts payment of which

is made within the taxable year to or for the use of:

"(1) The United States, any State, Territory, or any political subdivision thereof or the District of Columbia, or any possession of the United States, for exclusively public purposes; or

"(2) A corporation, trust, or community chest, fund, or foundation, created or organized in the United States or in any possession thereof or under the law of the United States, or of any State or Territory, or of the District of Columbia, or of any possession of the United States, organized and operated exclusively for religious, charitable, scientific, literary, or educational purposes or for the prevention of cruelty to children (but in the case of contributions or gifts to a trust, chest, fund, or foundation, payment of which is made within a taxable year beginning after the date of the cessation of hostilities in the present war, as proclaimed by the President, only if such contributions or gifts are to be used within the United States or any of its possessions exclusively for such purposes), no part of the net earnings of which inures to the benefit of any private shareholder or individual, and no substantial part of the activities of which is carrying on propaganda, or otherwise attempting, to influence legislation;

to an amount which does not exceed 5 per centum of the taxpayer's net income as computed without the benefits of this subsection.

SEC. 126. AMORTIZABLE BOND PREMIUM.

Ante, p. 817.

(a) DEDUCTION FOR AMORTIZABLE BOND PREMIUM.—Section 23 (relating to deductions from gross income) is amended by inserting at the end thereof the following:

Infra.

"(v) Bond Premium Deduction.—In the case of a bondholder, the deduction for amortizable bond premium provided in section 125."

Post, p. 851.

(b) GENERAL RULE, ELECTION, AND DEFINITIONS.—The Internal Revenue Code is amended by inserting after section 124 the following new section:

"SEC. 125. AMORTIZABLE BOND PREMIUM.

"(a) GENERAL RULE.—In the case of any bond, as defined in subsection (d), the following rules shall apply to the amortizable bond premium (determined under subsection (b)) on the bond for any taxable year beginning after December 31, 1941:

(1) Interest wholly or partially taxable.—In the case of a bond (other than a bond the interest on which is excludible from gross income), the amount of the amortizable bond premium for the taxable year shall be allowed as a deduction.

"(2) Interest wholly tax-exempt.—In the case of any bond the interest on which is excludible from gross income, no deduction shall be allowed for the amortizable bond premium for the

taxable year.

"(3) Adjustment of credit in case of interest partially TAX-EXEMPT.—In the case of any bond the interest on which is allowable as a credit against net income, the credit provided in section 25 (a) (1) or (2), or section 26 (a), as the case may be, shall be reduced by the amount of the amortizable bond premium for the taxable year.

"(For adjustment to basis on account of amortizable bond premium,

see section 113 (b) (1) (H)).

"(b) Amortizable Bond Premium.—For the purposes of paragraph (2), the amount of bond premium, in the case of the holder of any bond, shall be determined with reference to the amount of the basis (for determining loss on sale or exchange) of such bond, and with reference to the amount payable on maturity or on earlier call date, with adjustments proper to reflect unamortized bond premium with respect to the bond, for the period prior to the date as of which subsection (a) becomes applicable with respect to the taxpayer with respect to such bond.

"(2) Amount amortizable.—The amortizable bond premium

of the taxable year shall be the amount of the bond premium

attributable to such year.

"(3) METHOD OF DETERMINATION.—The determinations required

under paragraphs (1) and (2) shall be made-

'(A) in accordance with the method of amortizing bond premium regularly employed by the holder of the bond, if such method is reasonable;

"(B) in all other cases, in accordance with regulations prescribing reasonable methods of amortizing bond premium, prescribed by the Commissioner with the approval of the Secretary.

"(c) ELECTION ON TAXABLE AND PARTIALLY TAXABLE BONDS.—

F(1) Eligibility to elect and bonds with respect to which ELECTION PERMITTED.—This section shall apply with respect to the following classes of taxpayers with respect to the following classes of bonds only if the taxpayer has elected to have this section apply.

"(A) Partially Tax-Exempt.—In the case of a taxpayer other than a corporation, bonds with respect to the interest on which the credit provided in section 25 (a) (1) or (2) is

allowable; and

"(B) Wholly Taxable.—In the case of any taxpayer, bonds the interest on which is not excludible from gross income but with respect to which the credit provided in section 25 (a) (1) or (2), or section 26 (a), as the case may be, is not allowable.

"(2) MANNER AND EFFECT OF ELECTION.—The election authorized under this subsection shall be made in accordance with such regulations as the Commissioner with the approval of the Secretary shall prescribe. If such election is made with respect to any

53 Stat. 17, 18. 26 U. S. C. §§ 25 (a) (2), 26 (a). Ante, p. 811; post, p. 825.

Post, p. 824.

53 Stat. 17. 26 U. S. C. § 25 (a) (2). Ante, p. 811; post,

53 Stat. 18. 26 U. S. C. § 26 (a). Post, p. 825.

53 Stat. 68, 92. 26 U. S. C. §§ 169, 331.

"Bond."

53 Stat. 44. 26 U. S. C. § 113 (b) (1).

Supra.

Ante, p. 823.

53 Stat. 67. 26 U. S. C. § 163.

Ante, p. 822.

53 Stat. 17. 26 U. S. C. § 25 (a) (2). Ante, p. 811; post, p. 825. Ante, p. 823.

Ante, p. 822.

53 Stat. 69. 26 U. S. C. § 169 (c) (2). bond (described in paragraph (1)) of the taxpayer, it shall also apply to all such bonds held by the taxpayer at the beginning of the first taxable year to which the election applies and to all such bonds thereafter acquired by him and shall be binding for all subsequent taxable years with respect to all such bonds of the taxpayer, unless, upon application by the taxpayer, the Commissioner permits him, subject to such conditions as the Commissioner deems necessary, to revoke such election. The election authorized under this subsection in the case of a member of a partnership shall be exercisable with respect to bonds of the partnership only by the partnership. In the case of bonds held by a common trust fund, as defined in section 169, or by a foreign personal holding company, as defined in section 331, the election authorized under this subsection shall be exercisable with respect to such bonds only by the common trust fund or foreign personal holding company.

"(d) Definition of Bond.—As used in this section, the term 'bond' means any bond, debenture, note, or certificate or other evidence of indebtedness, issued by any corporation and bearing interest (including any like obligation issued by a government or political subdivision thereof), with interest coupons or in registered form, but does not include any such obligation which constitutes stock in trade of the taxpayer or any such obligation of a kind which would properly be included in the inventory of the taxpayer if on hand at the close of the taxable year, or any such obligation held by the taxpayer primarily for sale to customers in the ordinary course of his trade or

business."

(c) Adjustment to Basis.—Section 113 (b) (1) (relating to adjustments to basis) is amended by inserting at the end thereof the following new subparagraph:

"(H) in the case of any bond (as defined in section 125) the interest on which is wholly exempt from the tax imposed by this chapter, to the extent of the amortizable bond premium disallowable as a deduction pursuant to section 125 (a) (2), and in the case of any other bond (as defined in such section) to the extent of the deductions allowable pursuant to section 125 (a) (1) with respect thereto."

(d) CREDITS OF ESTATE OR TRUST AND BENEFICIARY.—Section 163 (relating to credits of estate or trust and beneficiary) is amended by inserting at the end thereof the following new subsection:

"(c) CREDITS OF ESTATE OR TRUST AND BENEFICIARY IN CASE OF BOND PREMIUM.—If the estate or trust elects under section 125 to treat the premium on bonds, the interest on which is allowable as a credit under section 25 (a) (1) or (2), as amortizable,

"(1) For the purposes of subsection (a) (2), the credits allowed by section 25 (a) shall be reduced as provided in section 125

(a) (3);

"(2) For the purposes of subsection (b), the proportionate share of the legatee, heir, or beneficiary of such interest shall be his proportionate share of such interest (determined without regard to this paragraph) reduced by so much of the deduction under section 23 (v) as is attributable to such share. The remainder of such deduction, for the purposes of the last sentence of subsection (b), shall be applied in reduction of such credits of the estate or trust."

(e) CREDIT OF PARTICIPANT IN COMMON TRUST FUND FOR PARTIALLY TAX-EXEMPT INTEREST.—Section 169 (c) (2) (relating to credits of participants) is amended by inserting at the end thereof the following new sentence: "If the common trust fund elects under section

125 to treat the premium on bonds, the interest on which is allowable as a credit under section 25 (a) (1) or (2), as amortizable, for the purposes of the preceding sentence the proportionate share of the participant of such interest received by the common trust fund shall be his proportionate share of such interest (determined without regard to this sentence) reduced by so much of the deduction under section 23 (v) as is attributable to such share."

(f) CREDIT OF PARTNER FOR PARTIALLY TAX-EXEMPT INTEREST.—Section 184 (relating to credits of partners) is amended by inserting at the end thereof the following new sentence: "If the partnership elects under section 125 to treat the premium on bonds, the interest on which is allowable as a credit under section 25 (a) (1) or (2), as amortizable, for the purposes of the preceding sentence the partner's proportionate share of the interest received by the partnership shall be his proportionate share of such interest (determined without regard to this sentence) reduced by so much of the deduction under

section 23 (v) as is attributable to such share."

(g) Credit of United States Shareholder for Partially Tax-Exempt Interest.—Section 337 (c) (relating to credits of United States shareholders) is amended by inserting at the end thereof the following new sentence: "If the foreign personal holding company elects under section 125 to treat the premium on bonds, the interest on which is allowable as a credit under section 25 (a) (1) or (2), as amortizable, for the purposes of the preceding sentence each United States shareholder's proportionate share of such interest received by the foreign personal holding company shall be his proportionate share of such interest (determined without regard to this sentence) reduced by so much of the deduction under section 23 (v) as is attributable to such share."

(h) CREDIT OF SHAREHOLDER OF PERSONAL SERVICE CORPORATION FOR PARTIALLY TAX-EXEMPT INTEREST.—Section 394 (c) (relating to the credits of shareholders of a personal service corporation) is amended by inserting at the end thereof the following new sentence: "For any taxable year of the corporation beginning after December 31, 1941, each such shareholder's proportionate share of such interest received by the corporation shall be his proportionate share of such interest (determined without regard to this sentence) reduced by so much of the deduction under section 23 (v) as is attributable to such share."

(i) Cross References.—

(1) Section 25 (a) (2) (relating to credits for normal tax) is amended by inserting at the end thereof the following: "(For reduction of credit under paragraph (1) or (2) on account of amortizable bond premium, see section 125)."

(2) Section 26 (a) (relating to credits of corporations) is amended by inserting at the end thereof the following: "(For reduction of credit under this subsection on account of amortiz-

able bond premium, see section 125)."

SEC. 127. DEDUCTION FOR MEDICAL, DENTAL, ETC., EXPENSES.

(a) Allowance of Deduction.—Section 23 (relating to deductions from gross income) is amended by inserting at the end thereof the following new subsection:

following new subsection:

"(x) Medical, Dental, Etc., Expenses.—Except as limited under paragraph (1) or (2), expenses paid during the taxable year, not compensated for by insurance or otherwise, for medical care of the tax-payer, his spouse, or a dependent specified in section 25 (b) (2) (A) of the taxpayer. The term 'medical care,' as used in this subsection, shall include amounts paid for the diagnosis, cure, mitigation, treatment, or prevention of disease, or for the purpose of affecting any

Ante, p. 822. 53 Stat. 17. 26 U. S. C. § 25 (a) 2). Ante, p. 811; infra.

Ante, p. 822.

53 Stat. 70. 26 U. S. C. § 184.

Ante, p. 822.

53 Stat. 17.
26 U. S. C. § 25 (a)

). Ante, p. 811; infra.

Ante, p. 822.

53 Stat. 96. 26 U. S. C. § 337 (c).

Ante, p. 822. 53 Stat. 17. 26 U. S. C. § 25 (a) (2). Ante, p. 811; infra.

Ante, p. 822.

54 Stat. 1006. 26 U.S.C. § 394 (c).

Ante, p. 822.

53 Stat. 17. 26 U. S. C. § 25 (a) (2).

Ante, p. 822. 53 Stat. 18. 26 U. S. C. § 26 (a).

Ante, p. 822.

Post, p. 830.

55 Stat. 697. 26 U.S. C., Supp. I, § 25 (b) (2) (A). Ante, p. 818; post, p. 828. "Medical care." structure or function of the body (including amounts paid for acci-

dent or health insurance).

Joint return.

"(1) A husband and wife who file a joint return may deduct only such expenses as exceed 5 per centum of the aggregate net income of such husband and wife, computed without the benefit of this subsection, and the maximum deduction for the taxable year shall be not in excess of \$2,500 in the case of such husband and wife.

Separate return.

"(2) An individual who files a separate return may deduct only such expenses as exceed 5 per centum of the net income of the taxpayer, computed without the benefit of this subsection, and the maximum deduction for the taxable year shall be not in excess of \$2,500 in the case of the head of a family, and not in excess of \$1,250 in the case of all other such individuals."

53 Stat. 16. 26 U. S. C. § 24 (a) (1).

(b) Items Not Deductible.—Section 24 (a) (relating to items not deductible) is amended by striking paragraph 1 and inserting in lieu

thereof the following:

"(1) Personal, living, or family expenses, except extraordinary

medical expenses deductible under section 23 (x);

Ante, p. 825. 53 Stat. 14. 26 U. S. C. § 23 (e).

(c) Charitable Deductions.—Section 23 (o) (relating to deduction for charitable and other contributions) is amended by striking the period at the end of the next to the last sentence and by inserting

in lieu thereof the following: "or of subsection (x)."

53 Stat. 10. 26 U.S.C. § 22 (b) (5). Ante, p. 811.

(d) Compensation From Insurance.—Section 22 (b) (5) (relating to exclusion from gross income of compensation for injuries or sickness) is amended by striking out "Amounts received" and inserting in lieu thereof "Except in the case of amounts attributable to (and not in excess of) deductions allowed under section 23 (x) in any prior taxable year, amounts received".

Ante, p. 825.

SEC. 128. DEDUCTION OF CERTAIN AMOUNTS PAID TO COOPERATIVE APARTMENT CORPORATION.

53 Stat. 12. 26 U. S. C. § 23; Supp. I, § 23. Ante, p. 825.

Section 23 (relating to deductions from gross income) is amended by inserting at the end thereof the following new subsection:

"(z) Amounts Representing Taxes and Interest Paid to Coop-

"(1) In General.—In the case of a tenant-stockholder (as defined in paragraph (2)), amounts, not otherwise deductible, paid or accrued to a cooperative apartment corporation within the taxable year, if such amounts represent that proportion of the real estate taxes on the apartment building and the land on which it is situated, allowable as deductions under subsection (c), paid or incurred by the corporation, or of the interest paid or incurred by the corporation on its indebtedness contracted in the acquisition, construction, alteration, rehabilitation, or maintenance of such apartment building or in the acquisition of the land on which the building is located, which the stock of the corporation owned by the tenant-stockholder is of the total outstanding stock of the corporation, including that held by the corporation.

"Cooperative apart-ment corporation."

"(2) Definitions.—For the purposes of this subsection—
"(A) Cooperative Apartment Corporation.—The term
'cooperative apartment corporation' means a corporation—

"(i) having one and only one class of stock out-

standing,

"(ii) all of the stockholders of which are entitled, solely by reason of their ownership of stock in the corporation, to occupy for dwelling purposes apartments in

a building owned or leased by such corporation, and who are not entitled, either conditionally or unconditionally, except upon a complete or partial liquidation of the corporation, to receive any distribution not out of earnings and profits of the corporation, and

"(iii) 80 per centum or more of the gross income of which for the taxable year in which the taxes and interest described in paragraph (1) are paid or incurred is

derived from tenant-stockholders.

"(B) Tenant-stockholder.—The term 'tenant-stockholder' means an individual who is a stockholder in a cooperative apartment corporation, and whose stock is fully paid-up in an amount not less than an amount shown to the satisfaction of the Commissioner as bearing a reasonable relationship to the portion of the value of the corporation's equity in the building and the land on which it is situated which is attributable to the apartment which such individual is entitled to occupy."

"Tenant-stock-holder."

SEC. 129. DEDUCTION DENIED IF PROCEEDS USED TO PAY FOR INSURANCE.

Section 24 (a) (relating to items not deductible) is amended by striking out "or" at the end of paragraph (4), and striking out the period and inserting a semicolon, and at the end of the subsection

adding the following new paragraph:

"(6) Any amount paid or accrued on indebtedness incurred or continued to purchase a single premium life insurance or endowment contract. For the purposes of this paragraph, if substantially all the premiums on a life insurance or endowment contract are paid within a period of four years from the date on which such contract is purchased, such contract shall be considered a single premium life insurance or endowment contract; or".

53 Stat. 16. 26 U. S. C. § 24 (a). Ante, pp. 819, 826.

SEC. 130. TAXES AND OTHER CHARGES CHARGEABLE TO CAPITAL ACCOUNT NOT DEDUCTIBLE BUT TREATED AS CAPITAL

(a) Deductions Not Allowable.—Section 24 (a) (relating to items not deductible) is amended by inserting at the end thereof the follow-

ing new paragraph:

"(7) Amounts paid or accrued for such taxes and carrying charges as, under regulations prescribed by the Commissioner with the approval of the Secretary, are chargeable to capital account with respect to property, if the taxpayer elects, in accordance with such regulations, to treat such taxes or charges as so chargeable."

(b) TECHNICAL AMENDMENT.—Section 113 (b) (1) (A) (relating to adjustment of basis) is amended by striking out ", including taxes and other carrying charges on unimproved and unproductive real

property".

53 Stat. 44. 26 U. S. C. § 113 (b) (1) (A).

Supra.

SEC. 131. REDUCTION OF PERSONAL EXEMPTION AND CREDIT FOR DEPENDENTS-REQUIREMENT FOR RETURN.

(a) Personal Exemption.—
(1) General rule.—Section 25 (b) (1) (relating to personal

exemption) is amended to read as follows:

"(1) Personal exemption.—In the case of a single person or a married person not living with husband or wife, a personal

53 Stat. 18. 26 U. S. C., Supp. I, § 25 (b) (1).

exemption of \$500; or in the case of the head of a family or a married person living with husband or wife, a personal exemption of \$1,200. A husband and wife living together shall receive but one personal exemption. The amount of such personal exemption shall be \$1,200. If such husband and wife make separate returns, the personal exemption may be taken by either or divided between them."

(2) Nonresident aliens.—Section 214 (relating to personal exemption of nonresident alien individuals) is amended to read

as follows:

"SEC. 214. CREDITS AGAINST NET INCOME.

"In the case of a nonresident alien individual the personal exemption allowed by section 25 (b) (1) of this chapter shall, except as hereinafter provided in the case of a resident of a contiguous country, be only \$500. In the case of a nonresident alien individual residing in a contiguous country who is married and living with husband or wife or who is the head of a family, the personal exemption shall be that specified in section 25 (b) if such contiguous country allows to citizens of the United States not residing in such country who are married and living with husband or wife and to citizens of the United States not residing in such country who are heads of families the same personal exemption as that allowed citizens of such country who are married and living with husband or wife or who are heads of families, as the case may be. The credit for dependents allowed by section 25 (b) (2) shall not be allowed in the case of a nonresident alien

individual unless he is a resident of a contiguous country. (3) CITIZENS OF POSSESSIONS, ETC.—Section 251 (f) (relating to personal exemption of citizens entitled to benefits of section 251) is amended by striking out "\$750" and inserting in lieu thereof

"\$500"**.**

(b) Credit for Dependents:—Section 25 (b) (2) (A) (relating to credit for dependents) is amended by striking out "\$400" and inserting in lieu thereof "\$350".

(c) RETURN REQUIREMENT.

(1) GENERAL RULE.—Section 51 (a) (relating to general requirement of return) is amended by striking out "\$1,500" wherever occurring therein and inserting in lieu thereof "\$1,200" and by striking out "\$750" and inserting in lieu thereof "\$500".

(2) FIDUCIARY RETURNS.—Section 142 (a) (requiring returns of fiduciaries) is amended by striking out "\$1,500" wherever occurring therein and inserting in lieu thereof "\$1,200", and by striking out "\$750" wherever occurring therein and inserting in lieu thereof "\$500".

(3) Information returns.—Section 147 (a) (relating to information at the source) is amended by striking out "\$750" wherever occurring therein and inserting in lieu thereof "\$500".

SEC. 132. COMPUTATION OF NET OPERATING LOSS CREDIT AND DIVIDENDS PAID CREDIT.

(a) NET OPERATING LOSS CREDIT.—

(1) Limitations.—Section 26 (c) (1) (relating to amount of net operating loss credit) is amended to read as follows:

"(1) AMOUNT OF CREDIT.—The amount of net operating loss (as defined in paragraph (2)) of the corporation for the preceding

53 Stat. 77. 26 U. S. C., Supp. I, § 214.

Ante, p. 827.

53 Stat. 18. 26 U. S. C. § 25 (b); Supp. I, § 25 (b). Anie, pp. 818, 827;

Infra.

53 Stat. 80. 26 U. S. C., Supp. I, § 251 (f).

55 Stat. 697. 26 U. S. C., Supp. I, \$ 25 (b) (2) (A). Ante, p. 818.

53 Stat. 27. 26 U. S. C., Supp. I, § 51 (a). Post, p. 836.

53 Stat. 60. 26 U. S. C., Supp. I, § 142 (a).

53 Stat. 64. 26 U. S. C., Supp. I,

53 Stat. 19. 26 U. S. C. § 26 (c) (1).

taxable year (if beginning after December 31, 1937) but not in excess of (A) the section 102 net income for the taxable year, in the case of the tax imposed by section 102; (B) the Supplement P net income for the taxable year, in the case of the computations required under Supplement P; or (C) the Subchapter A net income for the taxable year, in the case of the tax imposed under Subchapter A."

(2) Net operating loss deduction.—Section 26 (c) (2) is amended by inserting after subparagraph (B) the following new

subparagraph:

"(C) For the purposes of this paragraph, the net operating loss deduction provided in section 122 shall not be allowed."

(3) Clerical amendment.—Section 26 (c) (2) is amended by striking out "section" where it appears the second and fourth times and inserting in lieu thereof "chapter".

(b) Basic Surtax Credit.—The last sentence of section 27 (b) (relating to definition of basic surtax credit) is amended to read as follows: "The aggregate of the amounts under paragraphs (2) and (3) shall not exceed (A) the section 102 net income for the taxable year, in the case of the tax imposed by section 102; (B) the Supplement P net income for the taxable year, in the case of the computations required under Supplement P; or (C) the Subchapter A net income for the taxable year, in the case of the tax imposed under Subchapter A.'

(c) DIVIDEND CARRY-OVER.—Section 27 (c) (relating to dividend

carry-over) is amended to read as follows:

"(c) DIVIDEND CARRY-OVER.—There shall be computed with respect to each taxable year of a corporation a dividend carry-over to such year from the two preceding taxable years, which shall consist of the sum of

"(1) The amount of the basic surtax credit for the second preceding taxable year, reduced by the Subchapter A net income for such year, and further reduced by the amount, if any, by which the Subchapter A net income for the first preceding taxable year exceeds the sum of-

"(Λ) The basic surtax credit for such year; and

"(B) The excess, if any, of the basic surtax credit for the third preceding taxable year over the Subchapter A net in-

come for such year; and

"(2) The amount, if any, by which the basic surtax credit for the first preceding taxable year exceeds the Subchapter A net income for such year. In the case of a preceding taxable year referred to in this subsection, the Subchapter A net income shall be determined as if the corporation was, under the law applicable to such taxable year, a personal holding company."

(d) Technical Amendment.—Section 504 (a) (relating to definition of undistributed Subchapter A net income) is amended by striking out ", and, in the computation of the dividend carry-over for the purposes of this subchapter, the term 'adjusted net income' as used in section 27 (c) means the adjusted net income minus the deduction

allowed for Federal taxes under section 505 (a) (1)".

(e) YEARS TO WHICH AMENDMENTS APPLICABLE.—The amendments made by this section shall be applicable only with respect to taxable years beginning after December 31, 1939, but shall be applicable in the computations with respect to previous taxable years for the purpose of ascertaining the amount of any dividend carry-over from such previous taxable years.

53 Stat. 35. 26 U. S. C. § 102; Supp. I, § 102. Ante, p. 807; post, pp. 835, 836. 53 Stat. 95, 108. 26 U. S. C. §§ 336, Post, pp. 835, 845, 846. 53 Stat. 19. 26 U. S. C. § 26 (c) (2).

53 Stat. 867. 26 U. S. C. § 122. Ante, p. 807; post, pp. 844, 847, 848. 53 Stat. 19. 26 U. S. C. § 26 (c)

53 Stat. 20. 26 U. S. C. § 27 (b).

53 Stat. 35.
26 U. S. C. § 102;
Supp. I, § 102.
Ante, p. 807; post,
pp. 835, 836.
53 Stat. 95, 108.
26 U. S. C. §§ 336,
505. 505. Post, pp. 835, 845, 846. 53 Stat. 20. 26 U. S. C., Supp. I, § 27 (c).

53 Stat. 108. 26 U.S.C. § 505. Post, pp. 835, 846.

53 Stat. 881. 26 U. S. C., Supp. I, § 504 (a).

Supra. 53 Stat. 108. 26 U.S.C. § 505 (a)

SEC. 133. CREDIT FOR DIVIDENDS PAID ON CERTAIN PREFERRED STOCK.

Ante, p. 806.

53 Stat. 19. 26 U. S. C. § 27; Supp. I, § 27. Ante, p. 829.

Ante, p. 805.

Section 26 is amended by inserting at the end thereof the following

new subsection:

"(h) CREDIT FOR DIVIDENDS PAID ON CERTAIN PREFERRED STOCK.—
"(1) AMOUNT OF CREDIT.—In the case of a public utility, the amount of dividends paid during the taxable year on its pre-ferred stock. The credit provided in this subsection shall be subtracted from the basic surtax credit provided in section 27. "(2) Definitions.—As used in this subsection and section

15 (a)

"(A) Public Utility.—The term 'public utility' means a corporation engaged in the furnishing of telephone service or in the sale of electric energy, gas, or water, if the rates for such furnishing or sale, as the case may be, have been established or approved by a State or political subdivision thereof or by an agency or instrumentality of the United States or by a public utility or public service commission or other similar body of the District of Columbia or of any

State or political subdivision thereof.

"(B) Preferred Stock.—The term 'preferred stock' means stock issued prior to October 1, 1942, which during the whole of the taxable year (or the part of the taxable year after its issue) was stock the dividends in respect of which were cumulative, limited to the same amount, and payable in pref-

erence to the payment of dividends on other stock."

SEC. 134. INCOME IN RESPECT OF DECEDENTS.

55 Stat. 697. 26 U.S.C., Supp. I, § 42 (a).

53 Stat. 69. 26 U. S. C. § 182.

53 Stat. 24. 26 U. S. C. § 43.

Ante, p. 816.

Post, p. 831. 53 Stat. 12. 26 U. S. C. § 23; Supp. I, § 23. Ante, p. 822.

(a) GENERAL RULE.—The last sentence of section 42 (a) (relating to inclusion in gross income of amounts accrued up to death of taxpayer) is amended to read as follows: "In the case of the death of a taxpayer whose net income is computed upon the basis of the accrual method of accounting, amounts (except amounts includible in computing a partner's net income under section 182) accrued only by reason of the death of the taxpayer shall not be included in computing net income for the period in which falls the date of the taxpayer's death."

(b) Deductions and Credits.—The last sentence of section 43 (relating to deductions and credits accrued up to death of taxpayer) is amended to read as follows: "In the case of the death of a taxpayer whose net income is computed upon the basis of the accrual method of accounting, amounts (except amounts includible in computing a partner's net income under section 182) accrued as deductions and credits only by reason of the death of the taxpayer shall not be allowed in computing net income for the period in which falls the date of the taxpayer's death.'

(c) Cross Reference.—Section 22 (relating to definition of gross income) is amended by inserting at the end thereof the following:

"(1) INCOME OF DECEDENTS.—For inclusion in gross income of certain amounts which constituted gross income in respect of a decedent, see section 126."

(d) DEDUCTIONS OF ESTATE.—Section 23 (relating to deductions) is amended by inserting at the end thereof the following:

"(w) DEDUCTIONS OF ESTATE, ETC., ON ACCOUNT OF DECEDENT'S

"(1) In the case of a person described in section 126 (b), the amount of the deductions in respect of a decedent to the extent

allowed by such subsection.

"(2) In the case of a person described in section 126 (a), the amount of the deductions in respect of a decedent to the extent allowed by section 126 (c)."

(e) The Internal Revenue Code is amended by inserting after

section 125 the following new section:

Post, p. 832.

Infra.

Post, p. 832.

Ante, p. 822.

"SEC. 126. INCOME IN RESPECT OF DECEDENTS.

"(a) Inclusion in Gross Income.—
"(1) General rule.—The amount of all items of gross income in respect of a decedent which are not properly includible in respect of the taxable period in which falls the date of his death or a prior period shall be included in the gross income, for the

taxable year when received, of:

"(A) the estate of the decedent, if the right to receive the amount is acquired by the decedent's estate from the

"(B) the person who, by reason of the death of the decedent, acquires the right to receive the amount, if the right to receive the amount is not acquired by the decedent's estate from the decedent; or

"(C) the person who acquires from the decedent the right to receive the amount by bequest, devise, or inheritance, if the amount is received after a distribution by the decedent's

estate of such right.

"(2) INCOME IN CASE OF SALE, ETC.—If a right, described in paragraph (1), to receive an amount is transferred by the estate of the decedent or a person who receives such right by reason of the death of the decedent or by bequest, devise, or inheritance from the decedent, there shall be included in the gross income of the estate or such person, as the case may be, for the taxable period in which the transfer occurs, the fair market value of such right at the time of such transfer plus the amount by which any consideration for the transfer exceeds such fair market value. For the purposes of this paragraph, the term 'transfer' includes sale, exchange, or other disposition, but does not include a transfer to a person pursuant to the right of such person to receive such amount by reason of the death of the decedent or by bequest, devise, or inheritance from the decedent.

"(3) CHARACTER OF INCOME DETERMINED BY REFERENCE TO DECEDENT.—The right, described in paragraph (1), to receive an amount shall be treated, in the hands of the estate of the decedent or any person who acquired such right by reason of the death of the decedent, or by bequest, devise, or inheritance from the decedent, as if it had been acquired by the estate or such person in the transaction by which the decedent acquired such right; and the amount includible in gross income under paragraph (1) or (2) shall be considered in the hands of the estate or such person to have the character which it would have had in the hands of the decedent if the decedent had lived and received such amount.

"Transfer."

53 Stat. 12, 14. 28 U. S. C. § 23 (b), (c), (m); Supp. I, § 23 (c), Ante, pp. 819, 806, 53 Stat. 24. 26 U.S.C. § 31.

"(b) Allowance of Deductions and Credit.—The amount of any deduction specified in section 23 (a), (b), (c), or (m) (relating to deductions for expenses, interest, taxes, and depletion) or credit specified in section 31 (foreign tax credit), in respect of a decedent which is not properly allowable to the decedent in respect of the taxable period in which falls the date of his death, or a prior period, shall be allowed:

"(1) Expenses, interest, and taxes.—In the case of a deduction specified in section 23 (a), (b), or (c) and a credit specified

in section 31, in the taxable year when paid,-

"(A) to the estate of the decedent; except that "(B) if the estate of the decedent is not liable to discharge the obligation to which the deduction or credit relates, to the person who, by reason of the death of the decedent or by bequest, devise, or inheritance acquires, subject to such obligation, from the decedent an interest in property of the decedent.

"(2) Depletion.—In the case of the deduction specified in section 23 (m), to the person described in subsection (a) (1) (A), (B), or (C) who, in the manner described therein, receives the income to which the deduction relates, in the taxable year when

such income is received.

"(c) DEDUCTION FOR ESTATE TAX.—
"(1) ALLOWANCE OF DEDUCTION.—A person who includes an amount in gross income under subsection (a) shall be allowed, for the same taxable year, as a deduction an amount which bears the same ratio to the estate tax attributable to the net value for estate tax purposes of all the items described in subsection (a) (1) as the value for estate tax purposes of the items of gross income or portions thereof in respect of which such person included the amount in gross income (or the amount included in gross income, whichever is lower) bears to the value for estate tax purposes of all the items described in subsection (a) (1).

"(2) METHOD OF COMPUTING DEDUCTION.—For the purposes of

paragraph (1):

"(A) The term 'estate tax' means the tax imposed upon the estate of the decedent under section 810 or 860, reduced by the credits against such tax, plus the tax imposed upon the estate of the decedent under section 935, reduced by the

credits against such tax.

"(B) The net value for estate tax purposes of all the items described in subsection (a) (1) shall be the excess of the value for estate tax purposes of all the items described in subsection (a) (1) over the deductions from the gross estate in respect of claims which represent the deductions and credit described in subsection (b).

"(C) The estate tax attributable to such net value shall be an amount equal to the excess of the estate tax over the estate tax computed without including in the gross estate such net value."

(f) Effective Date of Amendments.—The amendments made by subsections (a) and (b) of this section shall be applicable with respect to taxable years beginning after December 31, 1942, and the amendments made by subsections (c), (d), and (e) of this section shall be applicable with respect to taxable years ending after December 31, 1942.

Taxable Years Before 1943.—In case the taxable period in which falls the date of the death of the decedent began after Decem-

"Estate tax." 53 Stat. 120, 129. 26 U. S. C. §§ 810, 53 Stat. 141. 26 U. S. C. § 935; Supp. I, § 935. Post, p. 951.

ber 31, 1933, and before January 1, 1943, the tax for such taxable period shall be computed as if provisions corresponding to the provisions of sections 42 (a) and 43 of the Internal Revenue Code, as amended by subsections (a) and (b) of this section, were a part of the Revenue Act of 1934, the Revenue Act of 1936, the Revenue Act of 1938, or the Internal Revenue Code, whichever is applicable to such taxable period. In the case of the estate of such a decedent and of each person who acquires by reason of the death of such decedent or by bequest, devise, or inheritance from such decedent the right to receive the amount of items of gross income of the decedent which upon the application of the preceding sentence are not properly includible in respect of the taxable period in which falls the date of the decedent's death or a prior period, the tax for each taxable period ending on or after the date on which the decedent died shall be computed by including in gross income the amounts with respect to such decedent which would be includible, and by allowing as deductions and credits the amounts with respect to such decedent which would be allowable, if provisions corresponding to the provisions of the section inserted in the Internal Revenue Code by subsection (e) of this section were a part of the law applicable to such taxable The provisions of this subsection shall not be applicable unless there are filed with the Commissioner (in accordance with regulations prescribed by the Commissioner with the approval of the Secretary, and at the time prescribed by such regulations) signed consents made under oath by the fiduciary representing the estate and by each such person (or if any such person is no longer in existence or is under disability, by his legal representative) that with respect to such amounts the tax of the estate, or the tax of such person, as the case may be, shall be computed under the provisions of this subsection for each taxable period ending on or after the date of the death of the decedent and the tax of the decedent shall be computed under such provisions for the taxable period of the decedent in which falls the date of his death. If such consent is filed after the time for the filing of the return with respect to any such taxable period, the deficiency resulting from the failure to compute the tax for such taxable period in accordance with such consent shall be paid on the date of the filing of the consent with the Commissioner, or on the date prescribed for the payment of the tax for the taxable period, whichever is later, and the period of limitations provided in sections 275 and 276 of the Internal Revenue Code or a corresponding provision of a prior revenue law on the making of assessments and the beginning of distraint or a proceeding in court for collection shall with respect to such deficiency include one year immediately after the date the consent was filed, and such assessment and collection may be made notwithstanding any provision of the internal revenue laws or any rule of law which would otherwise prevent such assessment and collection. The period within which claim for credit or refund may be filed, or credit or refund allowed or made if no claim is filed, with respect to any overpayment resulting from the failure to compute the tax for any such taxable period (except the taxable period of the decedent in which falls the date of his death) in accordance with such consent shall include one year immediately after the date of the filing of the consent, and credit or refund may be allowed or made notwithstanding any provision of the internal revenue laws or any rule of law which would otherwise prevent such credit or refund, but no interest shall be allowed or paid with respect to any such overpayment. The provisions of section 322 (b) (2) and (3) of the Internal Revenue Code or a corresponding provision of a prior

Ante, p. 830. 48 Stat. 680; 49 Stat. 1648; 52 Stat. 447; 53 Stat., Part 1.

Estates, etc.

Ante, p. 831.

Filing of consents.

Payment of defi-

53 Stat. 86, 87. 26 U. S. C. §§ 275,

Time limit for credit or refund.

Post, p. 876.

Adjustment.

53 Stat. 119. 26 U. S. C. §§ 800-951; Supp. I, §§ 812-951. Post, pp. 941-951.

revenue law shall not apply to the refund of any such overpayment. If the application of this subsection to the taxable period of the decendent in which falls the date of his death results in a deficiency for such taxable period, and if the income tax of the decedent for such period was deducted in computing the net estate of the decedent under Chapter 3 of the Internal Revenue Code or under a corresponding title of a prior revenue law, and if at the time such deficiency is assessed credit or refund of any resulting overpayment in respect of the taxes imposed by such Chapter 3 or corresponding title upon such net estate is prevented by any provision of the internal revenue laws or by any rule of law, then the amount of such deficiency which is assessed and collected shall be reduced by the amount of such resulting overpayment under such Chapter 3 or corresponding title which would be credited or refunded if credit or refund thereof were not so prevented. This subsection shall not be deemed to change any provision of law limiting the allowance of refund or credit with respect to overpayments for the taxable period of the decedent in which falls the date of his death, and no interest shall be allowed or paid with respect to any overpayment resulting from the application of this subsection to such taxable period. If the application of this subsection to the taxable period of the decedent in which falls the date of his death results in an overpayment for such taxable period, and if such overpayment was included as part of the income tax of the decedent which was deducted in computing the net estate of the decedent under Chapter 3 of the Internal Revenue Code or under a corresponding title of a prior revenue law, and if, at the time such overpayment is credited or refunded the assessment and collection of deficiencies in respect of the taxes imposed by such Chapter 3 or corresponding title upon such net estate is prevented by any provision of the internal revenue laws or by any rule of law, then the amount of such overpayment which is credited or refunded shall be reduced by the amount of the resulting deficiencies under such Chapter 3 or corresponding title which would be assessable if the assessment and collection thereof were not so prevented.

SEC. 135. RETURNS FOR A PERIOD OF LESS THAN TWELVE MONTHS.

53 Stat. 26, 26 U.S.C. § 47 (c).

(a) Income Placed on an Annual Basis.—Section 47 (c) is amended to read as follows:

"(c) Income Placed on Annual Basis.—
"(1) General Rule.—If a separate return is made under subsection (a) on account of a change in the accounting period, the net income, computed on the basis of the period for which separate return is made (referred to in this subsection as 'the short period'), shall be placed on an annual basis by multiplying the amount thereof by twelve, and dividing by the number of months in the short period. The tax shall be such part of the tax computed on such annual basis as the number of months in the short

period is of twelve months.

"(2) Exception.—If the taxpayer establishes the amount of his net income for the period of twelve months beginning with the first day of the short period, computed as if such twelve-month period were a taxable year, under the law applicable to such year, then the tax for the short period shall be reduced to an amount which is such part of the tax computed on the net income for such twelve-month period as the net income computed on the basis of the short period is of the net income for the twelvemonth period. The taxpayer (other than a taxpayer to which

the next sentence applies) shall compute the tax and file his return without the application of this paragraph. If the taxpayer (other than a corporation) was not in existence at the end of the twelve-month period, or if the taxpayer is a corporation and has disposed of substantially all its assets prior to the end of such twelve-month period, then in lieu of the net income for such twelve-month period there shall be used for the purposes of this paragraph the net income for the twelve-month period ending with the last day of the short period. The tax computed under this paragraph shall in no case be less than the tax computed on the net income for the short period without placing such net income on an annual basis. The benefits of this paragraph shall not be allowed unless the taxpayer, at such time as regulations prescribed hereunder require (but not after the time prescribed for the filing of the return for the first taxable year which ends on or after twelve months after the beginning of the short period), makes application therefor in accordance with such regulations. Such application, in case the return was filed without regard to this paragraph, shall be considered a claim for credit or refund with respect to the amount by which the tax is reduced under this paragraph. The Commissioner, with the approval of the Secretary, shall prescribe such regulations as he may deem necessary for the application of this paragraph."

(b) INCOME FOR CERTAIN TAXES NOT PLACED ON ANNUAL BASIS.— (1) SURTAX ON CORPORATIONS IMPROPERLY ACCUMULATING SUR-PLUS.—Section 102 is amended by inserting at the end thereof the following new subsection:

"(f) Income Not Placed on Annual Basis.—Section 47 (c) shall not apply in the computation of the tax imposed by this section."

(2) Foreign personal holding companies.—Section 336 is amended by inserting at the end thereof the following new subsection:

"(d) Income Not Placed on Annual Basis.—The net income shall be computed without regard to section 47 (c)."

(3) Personal service corporations.—Section 393 is amended by inserting at the end thereof the following new sentence: "For the purposes of this section, the net income shall be computed without regard to section 47 (c)."

(4) Personal holding companies.—Section 505 is amended by inserting at the end thereof the following new subsection:

"(e) INCOME NOT PLACED ON ANNUAL BASIS.—The net income shall be computed without regard to section 47 (c)."

(c) RETURNS WHERE TAXPAYER NOT IN EXISTENCE FOR TWELVE MONTHS.—Section 47 is amended by inserting at the end thereof the

following new subsection:

"(g) RETURNS WHERE TAXPAYER NOT IN EXISTENCE FOR TWELVE Months.—In the case of a taxpayer not in existence during the whole of an annual accounting period ending on the last day of a month, or, if the taxpayer has no such annual accounting period or does not keep books, during the whole of a calendar year, the return shall be made for the fractional part of the year during which the taxpayer was in existence.

(d) Short Taxable Year.—The second sentence of section 48 (a) is amended to read as follows: "'Taxable year' means, in the case of a return made for a fractional part of a year under the provisions of this chapter or under regulations prescribed by the Commissioner with the approval of the Secretary, the period for which such return is made."

Regulations.

53 Stat. 35. 26 U. S. C. § 102; Supp. I, § 102. Ante, p. 834.

Post, p. 845.

Ante, p. 834. 54 Stat. 1006. 26 U.S.C. § 393.

Ante, p. 834. Post, p. 846.

Ante, p. 834.

53 Stat. 26. 26 U. S. C. § 47.

53 Stat. 26. 26 U. S. C. § 48 (a). "Taxable year."

SEC. 136. DECLARATION THAT RETURN MADE UNDER PENALTIES FOR PERJURY IN LIEU OF OATH.

53 Stat. 27. 26 U. S. C., Supp. I, § 51 (a). Ante, p. 828.

(a) DECLARATION ON RETURNS.—So much of the first sentence of section 51 (relating to requirement of individual returns) as reads as follows: "The following individuals shall each make under oath a return stating" is amended to read as follows: "The following individuals shall each make a return, which shall contain or be verified by a written declaration that it is made under the penalties of perjury, stating".

(b) Penalty.—Section 145 (relating to penalties) is amended by inserting after subsection (b) the following new subsection:

"(c) Any individual who willfully makes and subscribes a return which he does not believe to be true and correct as to every material matter, shall be guilty of a felony, and, upon conviction thereof, shall be subject to the penalties prescribed for perjury in section 125 of the Criminal Code.'

(c) CLERICAL AMENDMENTS.—Section 145 (c) is amended by striking out "(c)" and inserting in lieu thereof "(d)" and section 145 (d) is amended by striking out "(d)" and inserting in lieu thereof "(e)".

SEC. 137. EXEMPTION OF VOLUNTARY EMPLOYEES' BENEFICIARY ASSOCIATIONS.

(a) Exemption of Voluntary Employees' Beneficiary Associa-TION.—Section 101 (16) of the Internal Revenue Code, and of the Revenue Acts of 1938, 1936, and 1934, and section 103 (16) of the Revenue Acts of 1932 and 1928, are amended to read as follows:

"(16) Voluntary employees' beneficiary associations providing for the payment of life, sick, accident, or other benefits to the members of such association or their dependents, if (A) no part of their net earnings inures (other than through such payments) to the benefit of any private shareholder or individual, and (B) 85 per centum or more of the income consists of amounts collected from members and amounts contributed to the association by the employer of the members for the sole purpose of making such payments and meeting expenses;".

(b) Retroactive Effect.—For the purposes of the Internal Revenue Code and the Revenue Acts of 1928, 1932, 1934, 1936, and 1938, the amendments made to the Internal Revenue Code and those Acts by subsection (a) of this section shall be effective as if they were a part of the Internal Revenue Code and such revenue Acts on the

respective dates of their enactment.

(c) AMENDMENTS INAPPLICABLE TO EMPLOYMENT TAXES.—The amendments made by this section shall not apply to the employment taxes imposed by Subchapters A and C of Chapter 9 of the Internal Revenue Code, or the corresponding provisions of a prior law.

SEC. 138. DENIAL OF CAPITAL LOSS CARRY-OVER TO SECTION 102

COMPANIES. That part of section 102 (d) (1) (relating to definition of section 102 net income) which precedes subparagraph (A) is amended to

read as follows: "(1) Section 102 NET INCOME.—The term 'section 102 net income' means the net income, computed without the benefit of the capital loss carry-over provided in section 117 (e) from a taxable year which begins after December 31, 1940, and computed without the net operating loss deduction provided in section 23 (s), minus the sum of—

53 Stat. 62. 26 U. S. C. § 145.

35 Stat. 1111. 18 U. S. C. § 231.

53 Stat. 63. 26 U.S.C. § 145 (c), (d). Post, p. 893.

53 Stat. 34. 26 U. S. C. § 101 26 U. S. C. 121 (16). 52 Stat. 482; 49 Stat. 1675; 48 Stat. 702; 47 Stat. 194; 45 Stat.

53 Stat., Part 1. 45 Stat. 791; 47 Stat. 169; 48 Stat. 680; 49 Stat. 1648; 52 Stat. 447.

53 Stat. 175, 183. 26 U. S. C. §§ 1400-1432; 1600-1611. Post, p. 981.

53 Stat. 35. 26 U. S. C. § 102 (d) (1).

"Section 102 net income."

Post, p. 844.

53 Stat. 867. 26 U. S. C. § 23 (s).

SEC. 139. COMPENSATION FOR SERVICES RENDERED FOR A PERIOD OF THIRTY-SIX MONTHS OR MORE.

(a) Section 107 is amended to read as follows:

53 Stat. 878. 26 U. S. C. § 107.

"Artistic work or invention."

"SEC. 107. COMPENSATION FOR SERVICES RENDERED FOR A PERIOD OF THIRTY-SIX MONTHS OR MORE.

"(a) Personal Services.—If at least 80 per centum of the total compensation for personal services covering a period of thirty-six calendar months or more (from the beginning to the completion of such services) is received or accrued in one taxable year by an individual or a partnership, the tax attributable to any part thereof which is included in the gross income of any individual shall not be greater than the aggregate of the taxes attributable to such part had it been included in the gross income of such individual ratably over that

part of the period which precedes the date of such receipt or accrual.

"(b) Patent, Copyright, Etc.—For the purposes of this subsection, the term 'artistic work or invention', in the case of an individual, means a literary, musical, or artistic composition of such individual or a patent or copyright covering an invention of or a literary, musical, or artistic composition of such individual, the work on which by such individual covered a period of thirty-six calendar months or more from the beginning to the completion of such composition or invention. If, in the taxable year, the gross income of any individual from a particular artistic work or invention by him is not less than 80 per centum of the gross income in respect of such artistic work or invention in the taxable year plus the gross income therefrom in previous taxable years and the twelve months immediately succeeding the close of the taxable year, the tax attributable to the part of such gross income of the taxable year which is not taxable as a gain from the sale or exchange of a capital asset held for more than 6 months shall not be greater than the aggregate of the taxes attributable to such part had it been received ratably over that part of the period preceding the close of the taxable year but not more than thirty-six calendar months.

"(c) Fractional Parts of a Month.—For the purposes of this section a fractional part of a month shall be disregarded unless it amounts to more than half a month in which case it shall be considered as a

month.'

(b) The amendment made by subsection (a) shall be applicable to taxable years beginning after December 31, 1940, but with respect to a taxable year beginning after December 31, 1940, and not beginning after December 31, 1941, the period specified in such subsection shall be sixty months in lieu of thirty-six months, and the percentage specified in such subsection shall be 75 per centum in lieu of 80 per centum.

SEC. 140. CERTAIN FISCAL YEAR TAXPAYERS.

(a) Computation of Tax for Year Ending in 1942.—The Internal Revenue Code is amended by inserting after section 107 the following new section:

Supra.

"SEC. 108. TAXABLE YEARS BEGINNING IN 1941 AND ENDING AFTER JUNE 30, 1942.

"(a) General Rule.—In the case of a taxable year beginning in 1941 and ending after June 30, 1942, the tax imposed by sections 11, 12, 13, 14, and 15 shall be—

"(1) Corporations.—In the case of a corporation an amount

equal to the sum of—

"(A) that portion of a tentative tax, computed without regard to section 140 of the Revenue Act of 1942, which the

53 Stat. 5. 26 U. S. C. §§ 12-14; Supp. I, §§ 12-14. Ante, pp. 802, 805. Post, pp. 846, 861,

number of days in such taxable year before July 1, 1942, bears to the total number of days in such taxable year, plus

"(B) that portion of a tentative tax, computed as if the amendments made by section 105 (a) and the amendments made by sections 105 (b) (other than those relating to dividends on the preferred stock of public utilities) (c), (d), and (e) (1) of the Revenue Act of 1942 were applicable to such taxable year, which the number of days in such taxable year after June 30, 1942, bears to the total number of days in such taxable year.

"(2) TAXPAYERS OTHER THAN CORPORATIONS.—In the case of a taxpayer other than a corporation, an amount equal to the sum

"(A) that portion of a tentative tax, computed without regard to section 140 of the Revenue Act of 1942, which the number of days in such taxable year before July 1, 1942, bears to the total number of days in such taxable year, plus

"(B) that portion of a tentative tax, computed as if the amendments made by sections 102 and 103 of the Revenue Act of 1942 were applicable to such taxable year, which the number of days in such taxable year after June 30, 1942, bears to the total number of days in such taxable year.

bears to the total number of days in such taxable year.

"(b) Special Classes of Taxpayers.—This section shall not apply to an insurance company subject to Supplement G, an investment company subject to Supplement Q, or a Western Hemisphere Trade Corporation, as defined in section 109."

(b) Taxable Years to Which Amendment Applicable.—The amendment made by this section shall be applicable to taxable years beginning in 1941 and ending after June 30, 1942.

SEC. 141. WESTERN HEMISPHERE TRADE CORPORATIONS.

The Internal Revenue Code is amended by inserting after section 108 the following new section:

"SEC. 109. WESTERN HEMISPHERE TRADE CORPORATIONS.

"For the purposes of this chapter, the term 'western hemisphere trade corporation' means a domestic corporation all of whose business is done in any country or countries in North, Central, or South America, or in the West Indies, or in Newfoundland and which satisfies the following conditions:

"(a) If 95 per centum or more of the gross income of such domestic corporation for the three-year period immediately preceding the close of the taxable year (or for such part of such period during which the corporation was in existence) was derived from sources other than sources within the United States; and

"(b) If 90 per centum or more of its gross income for such period or such part thereof was derived from the active conduct of a trade or business."

SEC. 142. NONRECOGNITION OF LOSS AND DETERMINATION OF BASIS IN CASE OF CERTAIN RAILROAD REORGANIZATIONS.

(a) Nonrecognition of Loss in Railroad Reorganizations.—Section 112 (b) (relating to the recognition of gain or loss upon the sale or exchange of property) is amended by inserting at the end thereof the following new paragraph:

"(9) Loss not recognized on certain railroad reorganizations.—No loss shall be recognized if property of a railroad

Ante, pp. 805-807.

Ante, p. 802.

53 Stat. 71, 26 U. S. C. §§ 201– 208. Ante, p. 821; post, pp. 861, 867–875, 878. Infra.

Ante, p. 837.

53 Stat. 37. 26 U. S. C. § 112 (b). corporation, as defined in section 77m of the National Bankruptcy Act, as amended, is transferred, after December 31, 1939, in pursuance of an order of the court having jurisdiction of such corporation-

47 Stat. 1481. 11 U. S. O. § 205

(A) in a receivership proceeding, or

"(B) in a proceeding under section 77 of the National

47 Stat. 1474. 11 U.S.C. § 205,

Bankruptcy Act, as amended, to a railroad corporation, as defined in section 77m of the National Bankruptcy Act, as amended, organized or made use of to effectuate a plan of reorganization approved by the court in such proceeding. The term 'reorganization', as used in this paragraph, shall not be limited by the definition of such term in

subsection (g)."
(b) Basis of Property Acquired by Certain Railroad Corpora-TIONS.—Section 113 (a) (relating to the basis of the property) is amended by inserting at the end thereof the following new

53 Stat. 40. 26 U. S. C. § 113 (a); Supp. I, § 113 (a).

"(20) Property acquired by railroad corporation.—If the property of a railroad corporation, as defined in section 77m of the National Bankruptcy Act, as amended, was acquired after December 31, 1939, in pursuance of an order of the court having jurisdiction of such corporation-

47 Stat. 1481. 11 U.S.C. § 205 (m).

"(A) in a receivership proceeding, or "(B) in a proceeding under section 77 of the National

47 Stat. 1474. 11 U.S.C. § 205.

Bankruptcy Act, as amended,

and the acquiring corporation is a railroad corporation, as defined in section 77m of the National Bankruptcy Act, as amended, organized or made use of to effectuate a plan or reorganization approved by the court in such proceeding, the basis shall be the same as it would be in the hands of the rail-road corporation whose property was so acquired. The term 'reorganization', as used in this paragraph, shall not be limited by the definition of such term in section 112 (g).

(c) Basis of Property Acquired Pursuant to Railroad Reorgani-ZATION UNDER SECTION 77B OF THE NATIONAL BANKRUPTCY ACT, AS AMENDED.—Section 113 (a) (relating to the basis of the property) is amended by inserting at the end thereof the following new 53 Stat. 40. 26 U. S. C. § 112 (g). 48 Stat. 912. 11 U. S. C. § 207 Supra.

paragraph: "(21) Property acquired by street, suburban, or interurban ELECTRIC RAILWAY CORPORATION.—If the property of any street, suburban, or interurban electric railway corporation engaged as a common carrier in the transportation of persons or property in interstate commerce was acquired after December 31, 1934, in pursuance of an order of the court having jurisdiction of such corporation in a proceeding under section 77B of the National Bankruptcy Act, as amended, and the acquiring corporation is a street, suburban, or interurban electric railway engaged as a common carrier in the transportation of persons or property in interstate commerce, organized or made use of to effectuate a plan of reorganization approved by the court in such proceeding, then, notwithstanding the provisions of section 270 of Chapter X of the National Bankruptcy Act, as amended, the basis, for any taxable year beginning after December 31, 1939, shall be the same as it would be in the hands of the corporation whose property was so acquired. The term 'reorganization', as used in this paragraph, shall not be limited by the definition of such term in section 112 (g).

52 Stat. 904. 11 U.S.C. § 670.

53 Stat. 40. 26 U. S. C. § 112 (g).

(d) Taxable Years to Which Applicable.—The amendments made by this section shall be applicable to taxable years beginning after December 31, 1939.

SEC. 143. BASIS OF GIFTS.

53 Stat. 40. 26 U. S. C. § 113 (a) (2).

(a) GIFTS AFTER DECEMBER 31, 1920.—The first sentence of section 113 (a) (2) is amended to read as follows: "If the property was acquired by gift after December 31, 1920, the basis shall be the same as it would be in the hands of the donor or the last preceding owner by whom it was not acquired by gift, except that if such basis (adjusted for the period prior to the date of the gift as provided in subsection (b)) is greater than the fair market value of the property at the time of the gift, then for the purpose of determining loss the basis shall be such fair market value."

53 Stat. 41. 26 U. S. C. § 113 (a)

(b) Transfers in Trust After December 31, 1920.—Section 113

(a) (3) is amended to read as follows:

"(3) Transfer in trust after december 31, 1920.—If the property was acquired after December 31, 1920, by a transfer in trust (other than by a transfer in trust by a gift, bequest, or devise) the basis shall be the same as it would be in the hands of the grantor, increased in the amount of gain or decreased in ' the amount of loss recognized to the grantor upon such transfer under the law applicable to the year in which the transfer was made."

SEC. 144. BASIS OF PROPERTY IN CASE OF OPTIONAL VALUE FOR ESTATE TAX PURPOSES.

53 Stat. 41. 26 U. S. C. § 113 (a)

53 Stat. 122. 26 U. S. C. § 811 (j).

(a) Basis of Property.—Section 113 (a) (5) (relating to basis of property transmitted at death) is amended by adding at the end thereof the following new sentence: "In the case of an election made by the executor under section 811 (j), the time of acquisition of the property shall, for the purpose of this paragraph, be the applicable valuation date of the property prescribed by such section in determining the value of the gross estate."

(b) PROPERTY TO WHICH AMENDMENT APPLICABLE.—The amendment made by this section shall be applicable only with respect to property includible in the gross estate of a decedent during after the

property includible in the gross estate of a decedent dying after the

date of the enactment of this Act.

SEC. 145. PERCENTAGE DEPLETION FOR COAL, FLUORSPAR, BALL AND SAGGER CLAY, ROCK ASPHALT, AND METAL MINES AND SULPHUR.

53 Stat. 45. 26 U. S. C. § 114 (b)

(a) Percentage Depletion.—Section 114 (b) (4) is amended to read as follows:

53 Stat. 14. 26 U. S. C. § 23 (m).

"(4) Percentage depletion for coal, fluorspar, ball and SAGGER CLAY, ROCK ASPHALT, AND METAL MINES AND SULPHUR.-The allowance for depletion under section 23 (m) shall be, in the case of coal mines, 5 per centum, in the case of metal mines, fluorspar, ball and sagger clay or rock asphalt mines, 15 per centum, and, in the case of sulphur mines or deposits, 23 per centum, of the gross income from the property during the taxable year, excluding from such gross income an amount equal to any rents or royalties paid or incurred by the taxpayer in respect of the property. Such allowance shall not exceed 50 per centum of the net income of the taxpayer (computed without allowance for depletion) from the property, except that in no case shall the depletion allowance under section 23 (m) be less than it would be if computed without reference to this paragraph."

(b) DISCOVERY DEPLETION NOT APPLICABLE TO FLUORSPAR, BALL AND SAGGER CLAY OR ROCK ASPHALT MINES.—Section 114 (b) (2) is amended by striking out "metal, coal, or sulphur mines" and inserting in lieu thereof "metal, coal, fluorspar, ball and sagger clay, rock asphalt, or sulphur mines".

53 Stat. 45. 26 U. S. C. § 114 (b)

SEC. 146. EFFECT ON EARNINGS AND PROFITS OF WASH SALE LOSSES.

(a) Wash Sale Losses Not Recognized.—Section 115 (1) (relating to earnings and profits of corporations) is amended by inserting after the third sentence thereof the following new sentence: "For the purposes of this subsection, a loss with respect to which a deduction is disallowed under section 118, or a corresponding provision of a prior income-tax law, shall not be deemed to be recognized."

(b) Effective Date of Amendment.—The amendment made by this

(b) Effective Date of Amendment.—The amendment made by this section shall be effective as if it were made by section 501 of the Second

Revenue Act of 1940.

54 Stat. 1004. 26 U. S. C. § 115 (l).

53 Stat. 53. 26 U. S. C. § 118.

54 Stat. 1004. 26 U. S. C. § 115 (I).

SEC. 147. DISTRIBUTIONS IN LIQUIDATION.

Section 115 (c) is amended to read as follows:

53 Stat. 46. 26 U. S. C. § 115 (c).

"(c) DISTRIBUTIONS IN LIQUIDATION.—Amounts distributed in complete liquidation of a corporation shall be treated as in full payment in exchange for the stock, and amounts distributed in partial liquidation of a corporation shall be treated as in part or full payment in exchange for the stock. The gain or loss to the distributee resulting from such exchange shall be determined under section 111, but shall be recognized only to the extent provided in section 112. In the case of amounts distributed (whether before January 1, 1939, or on or after such date) in partial liquidation (other than a distributed) which the provisions of subsection (h) of this section are applicable) the part of such distribution which is properly chargeable to capital account shall not be considered a distribution of earnings or profits. If any distribution in partial liquidation or in complete liquidation (including any one of a series of distributions made by the corporation in complete cancellation or redemption of all its stock) is made by a foreign corporation which with respect to any taxable year beginning on or before, and ending after, August 26, 1937, was a foreign personal holding company, and with respect to which a United States group (as defined in section 331 (a) (2)) existed after August 26, 1937, and before January 1, 1938, then, despite the foregoing provisions of this subsection, the gain recognized resulting from such distribution shall be considered as a gain from the sale or exchange of a capital asset held for not more than 6 months."

53 Stat. 37. 26 U. S. C. §§ 111, 112. Ante, p. 838; post, p. 847.

Foreign corporation.

53 Stat. 92. 26 U. S. C. § 331 (a) (2).

SEC. 148. INCOME FROM SOURCES WITHOUT UNITED STATES IN CERTAIN CASES.

(a) Exclusion of Earned Income From Foreign Sources.—Section 116 (a) (relating to earned income from sources without the United States) is amended to read as follows:

"(a) EARNED INCOME FROM SOURCES WITHOUT THE UNITED

STATES.—

"(1) Foreign resident for entire taxable year.—In the case of an individual citizen of the United States, who establishes to the satisfaction of the Commissioner that he is a bona fide resident of a foreign country or countries during the entire taxable year, amounts received from sources without the United States (except amounts paid by the United States or any agency thereof) if such amounts would constitute earned income as defined in section

53 Stat. 48. 26 U. S. C. § 116 (a). 53 Stat. 17. 26 U. S. C. § 25 (a). Ante, pp. 811, 825. 25 (a) if received from sources within the United States; but such individuals shall not be allowed as a deduction from his gross income any deductions properly allocable to or chargeable against amounts excluded from gross income under this subsection.

"(2) Taxable year of change of residence to united states, who has been a bona fide resident of a foreign country or countries for a period of at least two years before the date on which he changes his residence from such country to the United States, amounts received from sources without the United States (except amounts paid by the United States or any agency thereof), which are attributable to that part of such period of foreign residence before such date, if such amounts would constitute earned income as defined in section 25 (a) if received from sources within the United States; but such individual shall not be allowed as a deduction from his gross income any deductions properly allocable to or chargeable against amounts excluded from gross income under this subsection."

(b) Taxable Years to Which Amendment Applicable.—The amendment made by subsection (a) shall be applicable with respect to taxable years beginning after December 31, 1942, and so much of the amendment made by subsection (a) as inserts paragraph (2) in section 116 (a) shall also be applicable to taxable years beginning

in 1942.

53 Stat. 48. 26 U. S. C. § 116 (a).

53 Stat. 17. 26 U. S. C. § 25 (a). Ante, pp. 811, 825.

SEC. 149. RECIPROCAL EXEMPTION OF COMPENSATION OF EMPLOY-EES OF THE COMMONWEALTH OF THE PHILIPPINES.

53 Stat. 50. 26 U.S.C. § 116 (h). (a) Section 116 (h) (relating to reciprocal exemption of official compensation) is amended to read as follows:

"(h) Compensation of Employees of Foreign Governments or of

THE COMMONWEALTH OF THE PHILIPPINES.—

"(1) Rule for exclusion.—Wages, fees, or salary of an employee of a foreign government or of the Commonwealth of the Philippines (including a consular or other officer, or a nondiplomatic representative) received as compensation for official services to such government or such Commonwealth—

"(A) If such employee is not a citizen of the United States, or is a citizen of the Commonwealth of the Philippines (whether or not a citizen of the United States); and

"(B) If the services are of a character similar to those performed by employees of the Government of the United States in foreign countries or in the Commonwealth of the Philippines, as the case may be; and

"(C) If the foreign government, or the Commonwealth of the Philippines, whose employee is claiming exemption grants an equivalent exemption to employees of the Government of the United States performing similar services in such foreign country or such Commonwealth, as the case may be.

"(2) CERTIFICATE BY SECRETARY OF STATE.—The Secretary of State shall certify to the Secretary of the Treasury the names of the foreign countries which grant an equivalent exemption to the employees of the Government of the United States performing services in such foreign countries, and the character of the services performed by employees of the Government of the United States in foreign countries. If the Commonwealth of the Philippines grants an equivalent exemption to the employees of the United States performing services in such Commonwealth the Secretary of State shall certify such fact to the Secretary of the

Treasury and the character of the services performed by employees of the Government of the United States in such Commonwealth.' (b) The amendment made by this section shall be applicable only to taxable years beginning after December 31, 1939.

SEC. 150. CAPITAL GAINS AND LOSSES.

(a) Definitions.—

(1) HOLDING PERIOD, SHORT- AND LONG-TERM GAINS AND LOSSES.-Section 117 (a) is amended by striking out "18 months" wherever occurring therein and inserting in lieu thereof "6 months".

(2) NET SHORT-TERM GAIN.—Section 117 (a) (6) is amended to

read as follows:

"(6) Net short-term capital gain.—The term 'net short-term capital gain' means the excess of short-term capital gains for the taxable year over the short-term capital losses for such year;

(b) DEFINITIONS OF "NET CAPITAL GAIN" AND "NET CAPITAL LOSS". Section 117 (a) is amended by inserting at the end thereof the follow-

ing new paragraphs:
"(10) NET CAPITAL GAIN.—

"(A) Corporations.—In the case of a corporation, the term 'net capital gain' means the excess of the gains from sales or exchanges of capital assets over the losses from such

sales or exchanges; and

"(B) Other Taxpayers.—In the case of a taxpayer other than a corporation, the term 'net capital gain' means the excess of (i) the sum of the gains from sales or exchanges of capital assets, plus net income of the taxpayer or \$1,000, whichever is smaller, over (ii) the losses from such sales or exchanges. For purposes of this subparagraph, net income shall be computed without regard to gains or losses from

sales or exchanges of capital assets.
"(11) NET CAPITAL LOSS.—The term 'net capital loss' means the excess of the losses from sales or exchanges of capital assets over the sum allowed under subsection (d). For the purpose of determining losses under this paragraph, amounts which are shortterm capital losses under subsection (e) (1) shall be excluded."

(c) Rule on Taxability, Limitation on Losses, and Carry-Over.-

Section 117 (b), (c), (d), and (e) are amended to read as follows: "(b) Percentage Taken Into Account.—In the case of a taxpayer, other than a corporation, only the following percentages of the gain or loss recognized upon the sale or exchange of a capital asset shall be taken into account in computing net capital gain, net capital loss, and net income:

"100 per centum if the capital asset has been held for not more

than 6 months;

"50 per centum if the capital asset has been held for more than 6 months.

"(c) ALTERNATIVE TAXES.—
"(1) CORPORATIONS.—If for any taxable year the net long-term capital gain of any corporation exceeds the net short-term capital loss, there shall be levied, collected, and paid, in lieu of the tax imposed by sections 13, 14, 15, 204, 207 (a) (1) or (3), and 500, a tax determined as follows, if and only if such tax is less than the tax imposed by such sections:

"A partial tax shall first be computed upon the net income reduced by the amount of such excess, at the rates and in the manner as if this subsection had not been enacted, and the total tax shall be the partial tax plus 25 per centum of such excess.

53 Stat. 50. 26 U. S. C. § 117 (a); Supp. I, § 117 (a). Post, p. 846.

Post, p. 844.

Post, p. 844.

53 Stat. 51, 52. 26 U. S. C. § 117 (b), (c), (d), (e).

53 Stat. 7, 8, 72, 104. 26 U. S. C. §§ 13, 14, 204; Supp. I, §§ 13, 14,

Ante, pp. 805, 821. Post, pp. 861, 870-873, 881, 894.

Ante, p. 802. 53 Stat. 5. 26 U. S. C. § 12; Supp. I, § 12. Ante, p. 802; post, p. 846.

"(2) OTHER TAXPAYERS.—If for any taxable year the net longterm capital gain of any taxpayer (other than a corporation) exceeds the net short-term capital loss, there shall be levied, collected, and paid, in lieu of the tax imposed by sections 11 and 12, a tax determined as follows, if and only if such tax is less than the tax imposed by such sections:

"A partial tax shall first be computed upon the net income reduced by the amount of such excess, at the rates and in the manner as if this subsection had not been enacted, and the total tax shall be the partial tax plus 50 per centum of such excess.

"(d) LIMITATION ON CAPITAL LOSSES.—

"(1) Corporations.—In the case of a corporation, losses from sales or exchanges of capital assets shall be allowed only to the

extent of gains from such sales or exchanges.

"(2) OTHER TAXPAYERS.—In the case of a taxpayer, other than a corporation, losses from sales or exchanges of capital assets shall be allowed only to the extent of the gains from such sales or exchanges, plus the net income of the taxpayer of \$1,000, whichever is smaller. For purposes of this paragraph, net income shall be computed without regard to gains or losses from sales or exchanges of capital assets.

"(e) Capital Loss Carry-Over.—
"(1) Method of computation.—If for any taxable year beginning after December 31, 1941, the taxpayer has a net capital loss, the amount thereof shall be a short-term capital loss in each of the five succeeding taxable years to the extent that such amount exceeds the total of any net capital gains of any taxable years intervening between the taxable year in which the net capital loss arose and such succeeding taxable year. For purposes of this paragraph a net capital gain shall be computed without regard to such net capital loss or to any net capital losses arising in any such intervening taxable years.

"(2) RULE FOR APPLICATION OF CAPITAL LOSS CARRY-OVER FROM 1941.—The amount of the net short-term capital loss of the last taxable year beginning in 1941 (computed without regard to amounts treated as short-term capital losses from the preceding taxable year), which is not in excess of the net income for such taxable year, shall, to the extent of the net short-term capital gain for the succeeding taxable year (computed without regard to this paragraph), be a short-term capital loss of such succeeding tax-

able year.

(d) Bond, Etc., Losses of Banks.—Section 117 is amended by

inserting at the end thereof the following new subsection:

"(i) Bond, Etc., Losses of Banks.—For the purposes of this chapter, in the case of a bank, as defined in section 104, if the losses of the taxable year from sales or exchanges of bonds, debentures, notes, or certificates, or other evidence of indebtedness issued by any corporation (including one issued by a government or political subdivision thereof) with interest coupons or in registered form, exceed the gains of the taxable year from such sales or exchanges, no such sale or exchange shall be considered a sale or exchange of a capital asset."

(e) NET OPERATING LOSS DEDUCTION.—Section 122 (d) (4) is

amended to read as follows:

"(4) Gains and losses from sales or exchanges of capital assets shall be taken into account without regard to the provisions of section 117 (b). As so computed the amount deductible on account of such losses shall not exceed the amount includible on account of such gains."

53 Stat. 50. 26 U. S. C. § 117; Supp. I, § 117. Post, p. 847.

53 Stat. 36, 26 U. S. C. § 104; Supp. I, § 104.

53 Stat. 867. 26 U. S. C. § 122 (d) (4).

Ante, p. 843.

(f) Capital Gains and Losses of Common Trust Funds.—

(1) Income of participants in fund.—

(A) Section 169 (c) (1) (A) is amended to read as follows:

53 Stat. 68. 26 U. S. C. § 169 (c) (1) (A).

"(A) As part of its gains and losses from sales or exchanges of capital assets held for not more than 6 months, its proportionate share of the gains and losses of the common trust fund from sales or exchanges of capital assets held for not more than 6 months."

(B) Section 169 (c) (1) (B) is amended to read as fòllows :

53 Stat. 69. 26 U. S. C. § 169 (c) (1) (B).

"(B) As part of its gains and losses from sales or exchanges of capital assets held for more than 6 months, its proportionate share of the gains and losses of the common trust fund from sales or exchanges of capital assets held for more than 6 months.

(2) Computation of common trust fund income.—Section

169 (d) (1) and (2) are amended to read as follows: $^{53 \text{ Stat. 69.}}_{26 \text{ U. S. C. § 169 (d)}}$ (d) Computation of Common Trust Fund Income.—The net (1), (2). income of the common trust fund shall be computed in the same manner and on the same basis as in the case of an individual, except that-

"(1) There shall be segregated the gains and losses from sales or exchanges of capital assets;

"(2) After excluding all items of gain and loss from sales or exchanges of capital assets, there shall be computed-

"(A) An ordinary net income which shall consist of the

excess of the gross income over deductions; or

"(B) An ordinary net loss which shall consist of the excess of the deductions over the gross income;"

(g) Capital Gains and Losses of Partners.

(1) Tax of partners.—

A) Section 182 (a) is amended to read as follows:

53 Stat. 69. 26 U. S. C. § 182 (a).

"(a) As part of his gains and losses from sales or exchanges of capital assets held for not more than 6 months, his distributive share of the gains and losses of the partnership from sales or exchanges of capital assets held for not more than 6 months."

(B) Section 182 (b) is amended to read as follows:

53 Stat. 70. 26 U. S. C. § 182 (b), "(b) As part of his gains and losses from sales or exchanges of capital assets held for more than 6 months, his distributive share of the gains and losses of the partnership from sales or exchanges of

capital assets held for more than 6 months.' (2) Computation of partnership income.—

(A) Section 183 (b) (1) and (2) are amended to read as follows:

53 Stat. 70. 26 U. S. C. § 183 (b)

"(b) Segregation of Items.—
"(1) Capital gains and losses.—There shall be segregated the gains and losses from sales or exchanges of capital assets.

"(2) Ordinary net income or loss.—After excluding all items of gain and loss from sales or exchanges of capital assets, there shall be computed-

"(A) An ordinary net income which shall consist of the excess of the gross income over the deductions; or

"(B) An ordinary net loss which shall consist of the excess of the deductions over the gross income."

(h) CAPITAL LOSSES OF FOREIGN PERSONAL HOLDING COMPANIES.—

Section 336 (c) is amended to read as follows:

"(c) 1941 CAPITAL LOSS CARRY-OVER DENIED.—The net income shall be computed without regard to section 117 (e) (2)."

53 Stat. 869. 26 U. S. C. § 336 (c). Ante. p. 844.

53 Stat. 869. 26 U. S. C. § 505 (d).

Ante, p. 844. 53 Stat. 6. 26 U. S. C. § 12 (c). (i) Capital Losses of Personal Holding Companies.—Section 505 (d) is amended to read as follows:

"(d) 1941 Capital Loss Carry-Over Denied.—The net income

shall be computed without regard to section 117 (e) (2)."

(j) Cross Reference.—Section 12 (c) is amended to read as

follows:

"(c) Tax in Case of Capital Gains or Losses.—For rate and computation of alternative tax in lieu of normal tax and surtax in the case of a capital gain or loss from the sale or exchange of capital assets held for more than 6 months, see section 117 (c)."

Ante, p. 843.

Ante, p. 844.

SEC. 151. REAL PROPERTY; INVOLUNTARY CONVERSIONS; ETC.

53 Stat. 50. 26 U. S. C., Supp. I, § 117 (a) (1). (a) Real Property Not Treated as Capital Asset.—Section 117 (a) (1) (relating to the definition of "capital assets") is amended by inserting immediately before the semicolon at the end thereof a comma and the following: "or real property used in the trade or business of the taxpayer".

(b) Gains and Losses From Involuntary Conversion and From the Sale or Exchange of Certain Property Used in the Trade or Business.—Section 117 (relating to capital gains and losses) is amended by inserting at the end thereof the following new subsection:

"(j) Gains and Losses From Involuntary Conversion and From the Sale or Exchange of Certain Property Used in the Trade

or Business.—

53 Stat. 14. 26 U. S. C. § 23 (1). Ante, p. 819. "(1) DEFINITION OF PROPERTY USED IN THE TRADE OR BUSINESS.—
For the purposes of this subsection, the term 'property used in the trade or business' means property used in the trade or business, of a character which is subject to the allowance for depreciation provided in section 23 (1), held for more than 6 months, and real property used in the trade or business, held for more than 6 months, which is not (A) property of a kind which would properly be includible in the inventory of the taxpayer if on hand at the close of the taxable year, or (B) property held by the taxpayer primarily for sale to customers in the ordinary course of his trade or business.

"(2) General rule.—If, during the taxable year, the recognized gains upon sales or exchanges of property used in the trade or business, plus the recognized gains from the compulsory or involuntary conversion (as a result of destruction in whole or in part, theft or seizure, or an exercise of the power of requisition or condemnation or the threat or imminence thereof) of property used in the trade or business and capital assets held for more than 6 months into other property or money, exceed the recognized losses from such sales, exchanges, and conversions, such gains and losses shall be considered as gains and losses from sales or exchanges of capital assets held for more than 6 months. If such gains do not exceed such losses, such gains and losses shall not be considered as gains and losses from sales or exchanges of capital assets. For the purposes of this paragraph:

"(A) In determining under this paragraph whether gains

"(A) In determining under this paragraph whether gains exceed losses, the gains and losses described therein shall be included only if and to the extent taken into account in computing net income, except that subsections (b) and (d) shall

not apply.

"(B) Losses upon the destruction, in whole or in part, theft or seizure, or requisition or condemnation of property used in the trade or business or capital assets held for more than 6 months shall be considered losses from a compulsory or involuntary conversion."

(c) Holding Period of Property Acquired in Exchange for PROPERTY INVOLUNTARILY CONVERTED.

(1) In general.—Section 117 (h) (1) is amended by inserting after the period at the end thereof the following new sentence: "For the purposes of this paragraph, an involuntary conversion described in section 112 (f) shall be considered an exchange of

the property converted for the property acquired."

(2) Taxable years to which applicable.—The amendment made by paragraph (1) shall be applicable with respect to tax-

able years beginning after December 31, 1938.

(d) RECOGNITION OF LOSS ON INVOLUNTARY CONVERSIONS.—Section 112 (f) (relating to the nonrecognition of gain and loss on involuntary conversions) is amended by striking out "no gain or loss shall be recognized" and inserting in lieu thereof "no gain shall be recognized, but loss shall be recognized".

(e) Partial Failure to Replace Property.—The last sentence of section 112 (f) is amended to read as follows: "If any part of the money is not so expended, the gain, if any, shall be recognized to the extent of the money which is not so expended (regardless of whether such money is received in one or more taxable years and regardless of whether or not the money which is not so expended constitutes gain)."

SEC. 152. HOLDING PERIOD OF STOCK ACQUIRED THROUGH EXER-CISE OF RIGHTS.

Section 117 (h) (relating to the holding period of capital assets) is amended by inserting at the end thereof the following new

paragraph:

"(6) In determining the period for which the taxpayer has held stock or securities acquired from a corporation by the exercise of rights to acquire such stock or securities, there shall be included only the period beginning with the date upon which the right to acquire was exercised."

SEC. 153. TWO-YEAR CARRY-BACK OF NET OPERATING LOSSES.

(a) Determination of Carry-Back.—Section 122 (b) (relating to the amount of the net operating loss carry-over), is amended to read as follows:

"(b) Amount of Carry-Back and Carry-Over.—

"(1) Net operating loss carry-back.—If for any taxable year beginning after December 31, 1941, the taxpayer has a net operating loss, such net operating loss shall be a net operating loss carry-back for each of the two preceding taxable years, except that the carry-back in the case of the first preceding taxable year shall be the excess, if any, of the amount of such net operating loss over the net income for the second preceding taxable year computed (A) with the exceptions, additions, and limitations provided in subsection (d) (1), (2), (4), and (6), and (B) by determining the net operating loss deduction for such second preceding taxable year without regard to such net operating loss

"(2) Net operating loss carry-over.—If for any taxable year the taxpayer has a net operating loss, such net operating loss shall be a net operating loss carry-over for each of the two succeeding taxable years, except that the carry-over in the case of the second succeeding taxable year shall be the excess, if any, of the amount of such net operating loss over the net income for the intervening taxable year computed (A) with the exceptions, additions, and limitations provided in subsection (d) (1), (2),

53 Stat. 52. 26 U. S. C. § 117 (h)

53 Stat. 39. 26 U. S. C. § 112 (f). Infra.

53 Stat. 39. 26 U. S. C. § 112 (f).

53 Stat. 52. 26 U. S. C. § 117 (h).

53 Stat. 867. 26 U. S. C. § 122 (b).

(4), and (6), and (B) by determining the net operating loss deduction for such intervening taxable year without regard to such net operating loss and without regard to any net operating loss carry-back. For the purposes of the preceding sentence, the net operating loss for any taxable year beginning after December 31, 1941 shall be reduced by the sum of the net income for each of the two preceding taxable years (computed for each such preceding taxable year with the exceptions, additions, and limitations provided in subsection (d) (1), (2), (4), and (6), and computed by determining the net operating loss deduction without regard to such net operating loss or to the net operating loss for the succeeding taxable year)."

53 Stat. 867. 26 U. S. C. § 122 (c). Ante, p. 807.

(b) Amount of Net Operating Loss Deduction.—Section 122 (c), relating to the amount of the net operating loss deduction, is amended by inserting in lieu of "amount of the net operating loss carry-over" the following: "aggregate of the net operating loss carry-overs and of the net operating loss carry-backs to the taxable year".

53 Stat. 868. 26 U. S. C. § 122 (e).

(c) Section 122 (e) is amended to read as follows:

"(e) No Carry-Back to Year Prior to 1941.—As used in this section, the term 'preceding taxable year' and the term 'preceding taxable years' do not include any taxable year beginning prior to January 1, 1941."

Ante, p. 821; post, p. 894.

(d) Limitation on Interest on Overpayment Caused by a Carry-BACK OF LOSS OR CREDIT.—Section 3771 (relating to interest on over-

payments) is amended by inserting at the end thereof the following: "(e) Claims Based on Carry-Back of Loss or Credit.—If the Commissioner determines that any part of an overpayment is attributable to the inclusion in computing the net operating loss deduction for the taxable year of any part of the net operating loss for a succeeding taxable year or to the inclusion in computing the unused excess profits credit adjustment for the taxable year of any part of the unused excess profits credit for a succeeding taxable year, no interest shall be allowed or paid with respect to such part of the overpayment for any period before the filing of a claim for credit or refund of such part of the overpayment or the filing of a petition with the Board, whichever is earlier."

(e) Effective Date.—The amendments made by this section shall be applicable only to taxable years beginning after December 31, 1940.

SEC. 154. COMMODITY CREDIT LOANS.

53 Stat. 879. 26 U. S. C. § 123.

(a) Taxable Years Subject to Code.—Section 123 is amended

by inserting at the end thereof the following:

"(c) The election provided for in subsection (a) with respect to taxable years beginning after December 31, 1938, and before January 1, 1942, may be exercised by the taxpayer at, or at any time prior to, the time prescribed for the filing of the taxpayer's return for the taxable year of the taxpayer beginning in 1942, or if there is more than one taxable year of the taxpayer beginning in 1942, for the last taxable year so beginning, provided the records of the taxpayer are sufficient to permit an accurate computation of income for such years, and the taxpayer consents in writing to the assessment, within such period as may be agreed upon, of any deficiency for such years, even though the statutory period for the assessment of any such

53 Stat. 879. 26 U. S. C. § 123 note.

deficiency had expired prior to the filing of such consent."

(b) Taxable Years Subject to Prior Laws.—Section 223 (d) of the Revenue Act of 1939 is amended by striking out "within one year from the date of the enactment of this Act" and inserting in

lieu thereof "at or prior to the time prescribed for the filing of the taxpayer's return for the taxable year of the taxpayer beginning in 1942, or if there is more than one taxable year of the taxpayer beginning in 1942, for the last taxable year so beginning".

SEC. 155. EXTENSION OF DEDUCTION FOR AMORTIZATION OF EMER-GENCY FACILITIES.

(a) GENERAL RULE.—The first sentence of section 124 (a) is amended to read as follows: "Every person, at his election, shall be entitled to a deduction with respect to the amortization of the adjusted basis (for determining gain) of any emergency facility (as defined in subsection (e)), based on a period of sixty months."

(b) Election of Amortization.—Section 124 (b) is amended by

adding at the end thereof the following new sentence: "In the case of an emergency facility completed or acquired (1) after December 31, 1939, and before June 11, 1940, by a corporation, or (2) after December 31, 1939, and before January 1, 1942, by a person other than a corporation, the taxpayer's election to take the amortization deduction and to begin such period with either the month following the month in which the facility was completed or acquired or with the succeeding taxable year shall be made only by a statement in writing to that effect to the Commissioner and shall be made before the expiration of six months after the date of enactment of the Revenue Act of 1942."

(c) Termination of Amortization Period.—

(1) Section 124 (d) (3) is amended to read as follows:

"(3) In the case of a taxpayer which has not elected, in the manner prescribed in subsection (b), to take an amortization deduction with respect to an emergency facility, if the date of the proclamation or the date specified in the certificate, referred to in paragraph (1) of this subsection, whichever is earlier, is before the expiration of sixty months from the last day of the month in which such emergency facility was completed or acquired, then the taxpayer may elect (in accordance with paragraph (4) of this subsection) the amortization deduction provided in subsection (a), using an amortization period beginning with the month following the month in which the emergency facility was completed or acquired and ending as of the end of the month within which such proclamation was issued or within which occurred the date specified in such certificate, whichever is the earlier."

(2) Section 124 (d) is amended by inserting at the end thereof

the following new paragraph:

"(6) In the case of a taxpayer which has not elected, in the manner prescribed in subsection (b), to take an amortization deduction with respect to an emergency facility, if the date of the proclamation referred to in paragraph (1) of this subsection or the date specified in the certificate referred to in paragraph (1) of this subsection is before the completion of such emergency facility, then the taxpayer may elect (in accordance with paragraph (4) of this subsection) the amortization deduction provided in subsection (a), using an amortization period beginning with the month in which the construction, reconstruction, erection, or installation of the emergency facility was begun and ending as of the end of the month within which such proclamation was issued or within which occurred the date specified in the certificate referred to in paragraph (1) of this subsection, whichever is the earlier."

54 Stat. 999. 26 U. S. C. § 124 (a).

54 Stat. 999. 26 U. S. C. § 124 (b).

54 Stat. 1000. 26 U. S. C. § 124 (d) (3).

54 Stat. 1000. 26 U.S.C. § 124 (d).

54 Stat, 1001. 26 U.S.C. § 124 (e).

(d) Definitions.—Section 124 (e) is amended to read as follows:

(é) Definitions.—

"(1) Emergency facility.—As used in this section, the term 'emergency facility' means any facility, land, building, machinery, or equipment, or part thereof, the construction, reconstruction, erection, installation, or acquisition of which was completed after December 31, 1939, and with respect to which a certificate under subsection (f) has been made. For the purposes of this section, the part of any facility which was constructed, reconstructed, erected, or installed by any person after December 31, 1939, and not earlier than six months prior to the filing of an application for a certificate under subsection (f), and with respect to which part a certificate under subsection (f) has been made, shall be deemed to be an emergency facility, notwithstanding that the other part of such facility was constructed, reconstructed, erected, or installed earlier than six months prior to the filing of such application. For the purposes of this section, the part of any facility which was constructed, reconstructed, erected, or installed by a corporation after December 31, 1939, and before June 11, 1940, and with respect to which part a certificate under subsection (f) has been made, shall be deemed to be an emergency facility and to have been completed on June 10, 1940, notwithstanding that the entire facility was not completed until after June 10, 1940.

"(2) EMERGENCY PERIOD.—As used in this section, the term 'emergency period' means the period beginning January 1, 1940, and ending on the date on which the President proclaims that the utilization of a substantial portion of the emergency facilities with respect to which certifications under subsection (f) have been made is no longer required in the interest of national

defense."

(e) DETERMINATION OF ADJUSTED BASIS OF EMERGENCY FACILITY.—

(1) Section 124 (f) (1) is amended to read as follows: "(1) There shall be included only so much of the amount otherwise constituting such adjusted basis as is properly attributable to such construction, reconstruction, erection, installation, or acquisition after December 31, 1939, as either the Secretary of War or the Secretary of the Navy has certified as necessary in the interest of national defense during the emergency period, which certification shall be under such regulations as may be prescribed from time to time by the Secretary of War and the Secretary of the Navy, with the approval of the President."

(2) Section 124 (f) (3) is amended to read as follows:

"(3) The certificate provided for in paragraph (1) shall have no effect unless an application therefor is filed before the expiration of six months after the beginning of such construction, reconstruction, erection, or installation or the date of such acquisition, or before December 1, 1941, whichever is later, except

that-"(A) in the case of an emergency facility completed or acquired by a corporation after December 31, 1939, and before June 11, 1940, such certificate shall have no effect unless an application therefor is filed before the expiration of six months after the date of the enactment of the Revenue

Act of 1942, and

"(B) in the case of an emergency facility completed or acquired after December 31, 1939, by a person other than a corporation, such certificate shall have no effect unless an application therefor is filed before the expiration of six

54 Stat. 1001. 26 U. S. C., Supp. I, § 124 (f) (1). Certification of necessity.

54 Stat. 1002. 26 U. S. C., Supp. I, § 124 (f) (3). Time limitation.

Corporations.

Persons other than corporations.

months after the beginning of such construction, reconstruction, erection, or installation or the date of such acquisition, or before the expiration of six months after the date of the enactment of the Revenue Act of 1942, whichever is

In no event and notwithstanding any of the other provisions of this section, no amortization deduction shall be allowed in

respect of any emergency facility for any taxable year—
"(C) unless a certificate in respect thereof under paragraph (1) shall have been made (i) prior to the filing of the taxpayer's return for such taxable year, or prior to the making of an election pursuant to subsection (d) (3) or subsection (d) (6) of this section to take the amortization deduction, or (ii) before December 1, 1941, whichever is

"(D) in the case of an emergency facility completed or acquired by a corporation after December 31, 1939, and before June 11, 1940, unless a certificate in respect thereof under paragraph (1) shall have been made prior to the expiration of twelve months after the date of enactment

of the Revenue Act of 1942; or

"(E) in the case of an emergency facility completed or acquired after December 31, 1939, and before January 1, 1943, by a person other than a corporation, unless a certificate in respect thereof under paragraph (1) shall have been made (i) prior to the expiration of nine months after the last date upon which an application for such certificate may be filed, or (ii) prior to the expiration of twelve months after the date of enactment of the Revenue Act of 1942, whichever is later."

(f) LIFE TENANT AND REMAINDERMAN.—Section 124 is amended by inserting at the end thereof the following new subsection:

"(i) LIFE TENANT AND REMAINDERMAN.—In the case of property held by one person for life with remainder to another person, the deduction shall be computed as if the life tenant were the absolute

owner of the property and shall be allowable to the life tenant."
(g) Allowance to Estate or Trust.—Supplement E (relating to estates and trusts) of Chapter 1 is amended by inserting at the

end thereof the following new section:

"SEC. 172. ALLOWANCE OF AMORTIZATION DEDUCTION.

"The benefit of the deduction for amortization of emergency facilities allowed by section 23 (t) shall be allowed to estates and trusts in the same manner and to the same extent as in the case of an indi-The allowable deduction shall be apportioned between the income beneficiaries and the fiduciary under regulations prescribed

by the Commissioner with the approval of the Secretary."

(h) Partnerships.—Supplement F (relating to partnerships) of Chapter 1 is amended by inserting at the end thereof the following

new section:

"SEC. 190. ALLOWANCE OF AMORTIZATION DEDUCTION.

"In the case of emergency facilities of a partnership, the benefit of the deduction for amortization allowed by section 23 (t) shall not be allowed to the members of a partnership but shall be allowed to the partnership in the same manner and to the same extent as in the case of an individual."

Restriction.

Ante, p. 849.

54 Stat. 999. 26 U. S. C. § 124; Supp. I, § 124. Ante, p. 50.

Ante, p. 817.

54 Stat. 998. 26 U. S. C. § 23 (t).

53 Stat. 69. 26 U. S. C. §§ 181-189.

54 Stat. 998. 26 U. S. C. § 23 (t).

(i) Retroactive Application of Extension.—The amendments

made by this section shall be effective as of October 8, 1940.

53 Stat. 4, 111; 54
Stat. 975.
26 U. S. C. §§ 1-396,
600-604, 710-752; Supp.
I, chs. 1, 2B, 2E.
Ante, p. 802; post,
pp. 940, 941.
54 Stat. 999.
26 U. S. C. § 124;
Supp. I, § 124.
Ante, pp. 849-851.

(j) ÖVERPAYMENTS.—Where a tax paid under Chapter 1, Chapter 2B, or Chapter 2E of the Internal Revenue Code is in excess of the tax which would have been paid had section 124 of the Internal Revenue Code, as previously amended, been enacted on October 8, 1940, to read as amended by this section, then credit or refund of such excess may be made without interest, in accordance with the provisions of law applicable in the case of erroneous or illegal assessment or collection or overpayment of the tax.

SEC. 156. WAR LOSSES.

Ante, p. 831.

(a) Losses From War, Taxation of Property Recovered, and Basis OF PROPERTY.—The Internal Revenue Code is amended by inserting after section 126 the following new section:

"SEC. 127. WAR LOSSES.

"(a) Cases in Which Loss Deemed Sustained, and Time Deemed

Sustained.—For the purposes of this chapter-

"(1) Property not in enemy countries.—Property destroyed or seized on or after December 7, 1941, in the course of military or naval operations by the United States or any other country engaged in the present war shall be deemed to have been destroyed or seized on a date chosen by the taxpayer in the manner provided in paragraph (4), which falls between-

(A) the latest date, as established to the satisfaction of the Commissioner, on which such property may be considered

as not destroyed or seized, and

"(B) the earliest date, as established to the satisfaction of the Commissioner, on which such property may be considered as having already been destroyed or seized.

For the purposes of this paragraph property within an area

which comes under the control of a country at war with the United States after the date war with such country is declared by the United States shall be deemed to have been destroyed or seized in the course of military or naval operations by such country, and the date specified in subparagraph (A) shall not be later than the latest date determined by the Commissioner as the date on which such area was under the control of the United States or a country not at war with the United States, and the date specified in subparagraph (B) shall not be later than the earliest date determined by the Commissioner as the date on which such area may be considered under the control of the country which is at war with the United States.

"(2) Property in enemy countries.—Property within any country at war with the United States, or within an area under the control of any such country on the date war with such country was declared by the United States, shall be deemed to have been destroyed or seized on the date war with such country was declared

by the United States.

"(3) Investments referable to destroyed or seized prop-ERTY.—Any interest in, or with respect to, property described in paragraph (1) or (2) (including any interest represented by a security as defined in section 23 (g) (3) or section 23 (k) (3)) which becomes worthless shall be considered to have been destroyed or seized (and the loss therefrom shall be considered a loss from the destruction or seizure) on the date chosen by the taxpayer which falls between the dates specified in paragraph (1), or on the date prescribed in paragraph (2), as the case may

53 Stat. 13. 26 U. S. C. § 23 (g) (3). Ante, pp. 820, 821.

be, when the last property (described in the applicable paragraph) to which the interest relates would be deemed destroyed or seized under the applicable paragraph. This paragraph shall apply only if the interest would have become worthless if the property had been destroyed. For the purposes of this paragraph, an interest shall be deemed to have become worthless not with standing the fact that such interest has a value if such value is attributable solely to the possibility of recovery of the property, compensation (other than insurance or similar indemnity) on account of its destruction or seizure, or both. Section 23 (g) (2) and (k) (2) shall not apply to any interest which under this paragraph is considered to have been destroyed or seized. Under regulations prescribed by the Commissioner with the approval of the Secretary, a taxpayer which owns 100 per centum (excluding qualifying shares) of each class of stock of a corporation may elect to determine the worthlessness of its interest, described in this paragraph, in or with respect to the property of the corporation, without regard to the amount of the property of such corporation which would be excluded under subsection (e) (2) (A) in determining the adjusted basis of all the assets of the corporation for the purposes of subsection (e), but such amount shall be treated under subsection (b) (1) as a recovery by the taxpayer in the taxable year with respect to such interest.

"(4) Choice of date.—The taxpayer's choice of a date under

"(4) Choice of date.—The taxpayer's choice of a date under paragraph (1) or (3) shall be effective only if made within such time and in such manner as may be prescribed by regulations prescribed by the Commissioner with the approval of the

Secretary.

"(b) AMOUNT OF LOSS ON DESTROYED OR SEIZED PROPERTY.—In the case of any property or interest in or with respect to property

deemed to be destroyed or seized under subsection (a)-

"(1) The amount of the loss on account of such property or interest shall be determined with regard to any recoveries with respect thereto in the taxable year but without regard to any possibility of recovering such property or interest, or of receiving any compensation (other than insurance or similar indemnity) on account of such property or interest in the taxable year or in

any future taxable year.

"(2) The taxpayer may choose to decrease the amount of the loss by all obligations or liabilities of the taxpayer with respect to such property or interest discharged or satisfied out of the property or interest upon its destruction or seizure, if the Commissioner is satisfied that such obligations or liabilities are so discharged or satisfied in a subsequent taxable year, or that the taxpayer is unable to determine whether or not such obligations

or liabilities are in fact discharged or satisfied.

No loss shall be deemed to have been sustained upon the destruction or seizure of such property or interest to the extent that it is compensated for by the discharge or satisfaction of obligations and liabilities of the taxpayer out of such property or interest in the taxable year in which such destruction or seizure is deemed to have occurred. The taxpayer's choice under this subsection shall be effective only if made within such time and in such manner as may be prescribed by regulations prescribed by the Commissioner with the approval of the Secretary.

"(c) Recoveries Included in Gross Income.—
"(1) General rule.—Upon the recovery in the taxable year of any money or property in respect of property considered under subsection (a) as destroyed or seized in any prior taxable year,

53 Stat. 13. 26 U. S. C. § 23 (g) (2). Ante, p. 821. the amount of such recovery shall be included in gross income to

the extent provided in paragraph (2).

"(2) AMOUNT OF GAIN INCLUDIBLE.—The amount of the recovery of any money or property in respect of property considered under subsection (a) as destroyed or seized shall be an amount equal to the aggregate of such money and the fair market value of such property, determined as of the date of the recovery. To the extent that such amount plus the aggregate of the amounts of previous such recoveries do not exceed that part of the aggregate of the allowable deductions in prior taxable years on account of the destruction or seizure of property described in subsection (a) which did not result in a reduction of any tax of the taxpayer under this chapter, such amount shall not be includible in gross income and shall not be deemed gain upon the involuntary conversion of property as a result of its destruction or seizure. To the extent that such amount plus the aggregate of the amounts of previous such recoveries exceed that part of the aggregate of such deductions which did not result in a reduction of any tax of the taxpayer under this chapter and do not exceed that part of the aggregate of such deductions which did result in a reduction of any tax of the taxpayer under this chapter, such amount shall be included in gross income but shall not be deemed a gain upon the involuntary conversion of property as a result of its destruction or seizure. To the extent that such amount plus the aggregate of the amounts of previous such recoveries exceed the aggregate of the allowable deductions in prior taxable years on account of the destruction or seizure of property described in subsection (a), such amount shall be considered a gain upon the involuntary conversion of property as a result of its destruction or seizure and shall be recognized or not recognized as provided in section 112 (f). If for any previous taxable year the tax-payer chooses under subsection (b) to treat any obligations and liabilities as discharged or satisfied out of the property or interest described in subsection (a), and if such obligations and liabilities were not so discharged or satisfied, the amount of such obliga-tions and liabilities treated as discharged or satisfied under subsection (b) shall be considered for the purposes of this section as a deduction by reason of this section which did not result in a reduction of any tax of the taxpayer under this chapter. For the purposes of this paragraph an allowable deduction for any taxable year on account of the destruction or seizure of property described in subsection (a) shall, to the extent not allowed in computing the tax of the taxpayer for such taxable year, be considered an allowable deduction which did not result in a reduction of any tax of the taxpayer under this chapter.

Allowable deduc-

53 Stat. 39. 26 U. S. C. § 112 (f). Ante, p. 847.

"(3) RESTORATION OF VALUE OF INVESTMENTS REFERABLE TO DESTROYED OR SEIZED PROPERTY.—For the purposes of paragraphs (1) and (2), the restoration in whole or in part of the value of any interest described in subsection (a) (3) by reason of any recovery of money or property in respect of property to which such interest related and which was considered under subsection (a) (1) or (2) as destroyed or seized shall be deemed a recovery of property in respect of property considered under subsection (a) as destroyed or seized.

"(d) Basis of Recovered Property.—The unadjusted basis of property recovered in respect of property considered destroyed or seized under subsection (a) shall be determined under this subsection. Such basis shall be an amount equal to the fair market value of such property, determined as of the date of the recovery, reduced by an

amount equal to the excess of the aggregate of such fair market value and the amounts of previous recoveries of money or property in respect of property considered under subsection (a) as destroyed or seized over the aggregate of the allowable deductions in prior taxable years on account of the destruction or seizure of property described in subsection (a), and increased by that portion of the amount of the recovery which under subsection (c) is treated as a recognized gain from the involuntary conversion of property. Upon application of the taxpayer, the aggregate of the bases (determined under the preceding sentence) of any properties recovered in respect of properties considered under subsection (a) as destroyed or seized may be allocated among the properties so recovered in such manner as the Commissioner may determine under regulations prescribed by him with the approval of the Secretary, and the amounts so allocated to any such property so recovered shall be the unadjusted basis of such property-in lieu of the unadjusted basis of such property determined under the preceding sentence.

"(e) Partial Worthlessness of Certain Investments in Destroyed

OR SEIZED PROPERTY.

"(1) Destruction or seizure of investment.—If a taxpayer owns not less than 50 per centum of each class of stock of a corporation, if such corporation has property described in subsection (a) (1) or (2) deemed to be destroyed or seized, the adjusted basis for determining loss of which is at least 75 per centum of the adjusted basis for determining loss of all such corporation's property, and if such corporation completely liquidates (by distributing all the assets which it is able to distribute and all its rights to assets which it is not able to distribute, including the right to the recovery of the property described in subsection (a) (1) and (2)) within one year after such property is deemed to be destroyed or seized, or within six months after the date of the enactment of the Revenue Act of 1942, whichever is the later, then that part of the loss by the taxpayer on such liquidation which would be attributable to the destruction or seizure of such property, as established to the satisfaction of the Commissioner, shall be treated for the purposes of this chapter as a loss by the taxpayer upon the destruction or seizure of the part of the stock or other interest of the taxpayer to which such loss is allocable. Such part of the stock or other interest of the taxpayer shall be treated for the purposes of subsections (b), (c), and (d) as property described in subsection (a) (3).

"(2) Application of paragraph (1).—For the purposes of

paragraph (1)—
"(A) In determining the adjusted basis of all the property of the corporation, there shall be excluded money in the United States, bank deposits, the right to receive money from any person not situated in a country at war with the United States or in a territory under the control of such a country, and obligations issued or guaranteed as to principal or interest by the United States, except that there shall not be excluded any such property which is destroyed or seized as described in subsection (a) within or before the taxable

"(B) The adjusted basis of property of such corporation shall be determined as of the date immediately preceding the first date on which any property was destroyed or seized, as described in subsection (a), or as of any later date falling within or before the taxable period on the basis of which

such determination will produce a greater amount.

Items excluded:

Exception.

Date.

"(f) DETERMINATION OF TAX BENEFITS.—The determination as to whether and to what extent an allowable deduction on account of the destruction or seizure of property described in subsection (a) did or did not result in a reduction of any tax of the taxpayer under this chapter shall be made in accordance with regulations prescribed by

the Commissioner with the approval of the Secretary."

(b) Taxable Years to Which Amendments Applicable.—The amendments made by this section shall be applicable to taxable years

beginning after December 31, 1940.

SEC. 157. RECOVERY OF UNCONSTITUTIONAL FEDERAL TAXES.

(a) In General.—Chapter 1 of the Internal Revenue Code is Ante, p. 852. amended by inserting after section 127 the following new section:

"SEC. 128. RECOVERY OF UNCONSTITUTIONAL FEDERAL TAXES.

"Income (excluding interest) attributable to the recovery during the taxable year of a tax imposed by the United States which has been held unconstitutional, and in respect of which a deduction was allowed in a prior taxable year may be excluded from gross income for the taxable year, and the deduction allowed in respect thereof in such prior taxable year treated as not having been allowable, if-

"(a) The taxpayer elects in writing (at such time and in such manner as may be prescribed by regulations prescribed by the Commissioner with the approval of the Secretary) to treat such deduction as not having been allowable for such prior taxable

year, and
"(b) The taxpayer consents in writing to the assessment, within such period as may be agreed upon, of any deficiencies resulting from such treatment, even though the statutory period for the assessment of any such deficiency had expired prior to the filing of such consent."

(b) TAXABLE YEARS TO WHICH APPLICABLE.—The amendment made by subsection (a) shall be applicable with respect to taxable years

beginning after December 31, 1940.

SEC. 158. FOREIGN TAX CREDIT.

53 Stat. 56. 26 U. S. C. § 131 (a).

Conditions.

(a) Choice of Credit.—Section 131 (a) (relating to allowance of credit for taxes of foreign countries and possessions of the United States) is amended to read as follows:

"(a) Allowance of Credit.—If the taxpayer chooses to have the benefits of this section, the tax imposed by this chapter, except the tax imposed under section 102 or section 450, shall be credited with:

"(1) CITIZENS AND DOMESTIC CORPORATIONS.—In the case of a citizen of the United States and of a domestic corporation, the amount of any income, war-profits, and excess-profits taxes paid or accrued during the taxable year to any foreign country or to any possession of the United States; and

(2) RESIDENT OF UNITED STATES.—In the case of a resident of the United States, the amount of any such taxes paid or accrued during the taxable year to any possession of the United States;

and

"(3) ALIEN RESIDENT OF UNITED STATES.—In the case of an alien resident of the United States, the amount of any such taxes paid or accrued during the taxable year to any foreign country, if the foreign country of which such alien resident is a citizen or subject, in imposing such taxes, allows a similar credit to citizens of the United States residing in such country; and

53 Stat. 35. 26 U. S. C. § 102; Supp. I, § 102. Ante, pp. 807, 835,

Post, p. 884.

"(4) Partnerships and estates.—In the case of any such individual who is a member of a partnership or a beneficiary of an estate or trust, his proportionate share of such taxes of the partnership or the estate or trust paid or accrued during the taxable year to a foreign country or to any possession of the United States, as the case may be.

"Such choice may be made or changed at any time prior to the expiration of the period prescribed for making a claim for credit or

refund of the tax imposed by this chapter."

(b) DEDUCTION DENIED IF CREDIT CHOSEN.—Section 23 (c) (1) (C) (relating to deduction from gross income for taxes) is amended to read as follows:

"(C) income, war-profits, and excess-profits taxes imposed by the authority of any foreign country or possession of the United States, if the taxpayer chooses to take to any extent the benefits of section 131."

(c) The amendments made by subsections (a) and (b) shall be applicable with respect to taxable years beginning after December 31, 1940.

(d) Limit on Credit in Case of Corporations.—Section 131 (b) is amended to read as follows:

"(b) Limit on Credit.—The amount of the credit taken under this

section shall be subject to each of the following limitations:

"(1) The amount of the credit in respect of the tax paid or accrued to any country shall not exceed the same proportion of the tax against which such credit is taken, which the taxpayer's net income from sources within such country bears to his entire net income, in the case of a taxpayer other than a corporation, or to the sum of the normal-tax net income and the amount of the credit for adjusted excess profits net income provided in section 26 (e), in the case of a corporation, for the same taxable year; and

"(2) The total amount of the credit shall not exceed the same proportion of the tax against which such credit is taken, which the taxpayer's net income from sources without the United States bears to his entire net income, in the case of a taxpayer other than a corporation, or to the sum of the normal-tax net income and the amount of the credit for adjusted excess profits net income provided in section 26 (e), in the case of a corporation, for the same taxable year."

(e) Credit on Account of Subsidiary of Foreign Subsidiary.—Section 131 (f) (relating to credit for taxes of a foreign subsidiary)

is amended to read as follows:

"(f) Taxes of Foreign Subsidiary.—

"(1) Foreign subsidiary of domestic corporation.—For the purposes of this section, a domestic corporation which owns a majority of the voting stock of a foreign corporation from which it receives dividends in any taxable year shall be deemed to have paid the same proportion of any income, war-profits, or excess-profits taxes paid or deemed to be paid by such foreign corporation to any foreign country or to any possession of the United States, upon or with respect to the accumulated profits of such foreign corporation from which such dividends were paid, which the amount of such dividends bears to the amount of such accumulated profits: *Provided*, That the amount of tax deemed to have been paid by such domestic corporation under this subsection shall in no case exceed the same proportion of the tax against which credit is taken which the amount of such dividends bears to the amount of the normal-tax net income of

55 Stat. 700. 26 U. S. C., Supp. I, § 23 (c) (1) (C).

53 Stat 56. 26 U. S. C. § 131. Ante p. 856; post, pp. 858, 893; infra.

Taxable years to which applicable.

53 Stat. 56. 26 U. S. C. § 131 (b).

Ante, p. 806.

Ante. p. 806.

53 Stat. 57. 26 U. S. C. § 131 (f).

Proviso. Limitation. "Accumulated profits."

Determination of years dividends were paid.

Period of less than one year.

"Year."

53 Stat. 56. 26 U. S. C. § 131.

55 Stat. 700. 26 U. S. C., Supp. I, § 23 (c) (1). Ante, pp. 806, 857.

the domestic corporation in which such dividends are included. The term 'accumulated profits' when used in this subsection in reference to a foreign corporation, means the amount of its gains, profits, or income in excess of the income, war-profits, and excess-profits taxes imposed upon or with respect to such profits or income; and the Commissioner with the approval of the Secretary shall have full power to determine from the accumulated profits of what year or years such dividends were paid; treating dividends paid in the first sixty days of any year as having been paid from the accumulated profits of the preceding year or years (unless to his satisfaction shown otherwise), and in other respects treating dividends as having been paid from the most recently accumulated gains, profits, or earnings. In the case of a foreign corporation, the income, war-profits, and excess-profits taxes of which are determined on the basis of an accounting period of less than one year, the word 'year' as used in this subsection shall be construed to mean such accounting period.

"(2) Foreign subsidiary of foreign corporation.—If such foreign corporation owns all the voting stock (except qualifying shares) of another foreign corporation from which it receives dividends in any taxable year it shall be deemed to have paid the same proportion of any income, war-profits, or excess-profits taxes paid by such other foreign corporation to any foreign country or to any possession of the United States, upon or with respect to the accumulated profits of the corporation from which such dividends were paid, which the amount of such dividends bears to the amount of such accumulated profits."

(f) CREDIT FOR TAXES IN LIEU OF INCOME, ETC., TAXES.—Section 131 (relating to credit for taxes of foreign countries and possessions of the United States) is amended by inserting at the end thereof the

following new subsection:
(h) Credit for Taxes in Lieu of Income, Etc., Taxes.—For the purposes of this section and section 23 (c) (1), the term 'income, warprofits, and excess-profits taxes' shall include a tax paid in lieu of a tax upon income, war-profits, or excess-profits otherwise generally imposed by any foreign country or by any possession of the United States.

SEC. 159. EXTENSION OF CONSOLIDATED RETURNS PRIVILEGE TO CERTAIN CORPORATIONS.

53 Stat. 58. 26 U.S.C. § 141.

(a) GENERAL RULE.—Section 141 (relating to consolidated returns of railroad corporations) is amended to read as follows:

"SEC. 141. CONSOLIDATED RETURNS.

Affiliated group of corporations.

Conditions.

"(a) Privilege to File Consolidated Income and Excess-Profits-Tax Returns.—An affiliated group of corporations shall, subject to the provisions of this section, have the privilege of making consolidated income and excess-profits-tax returns for the taxable year in lieu of separate returns. The making of consolidated returns shall be upon the condition that the affiliated group shall make both a consolidated income-tax return and a consolidated excess-profits-tax return for the taxable year, and that all corporations which at any time during the taxable year have been members of the affiliated group making a consolidated income-tax return consent to all the consolidated income- and excess-profits-tax regulations prescribed under subsection (b) prior to the last day prescribed by law for the filing of such return. The making of a consolidated income-tax return shall be considered as such consent. In the case of a corporation which is a member of the affiliated group for a fractional part of the year, the consolidated returns shall include the income of such corporation for such part of the year as it is a member of the affiliated group. In the case of a corporation which is not a member of the affiliated group after March 31, 1942, of the last taxable year of such group which begins before April 1, 1942, such corporation shall not be considered a member of the affiliated group for consolidated income-tax-return purposes for such year but shall be considered a member of such group for consolidated excess-profits-tax-return purposes for such year, and the consent required in the case of such corporation shall relate only to the consolidated excess-profits-tax regulations.

"(b) REGULATIONS.—The Commissioner, with the approval of the Secretary, shall prescribe such regulations as he may deem necessary in order that the tax liability of any affiliated group of corporations making consolidated income- and excess-profits-tax returns and of each corporation in the group, both during and after the period of affiliation, may be returned, determined, computed, assessed, collected, and adjusted, in such manner as clearly to reflect the income- and excess-profits-tax liability and the various factors necessary for the determination of such liability, and in order to prevent avoidance of such tax liability. Such regulations shall prescribe the amount of the net operating loss deduction of each member of the group which is attributable to a deduction allowed for a taxable year beginning in 1941 on account of property considered as destroyed or seized under section 127 (relating to war losses), and the allowance of the amount so prescribed as a deduction in computing the net income of the group shall not be limited by the amount of the net income of such member.

"(c) Computation and Payment of Tax.—In any case in which consolidated income-tax and excess-profits-tax returns are made or are required to be made, the taxes shall be determined, computed, assessed, collected, and adjusted in accordance with the regulations under subsection (b) prescribed prior to the last day prescribed by law for the filing of such returns; except that the tax imposed under section 15 or section 204 shall be increased by 2 per centum of the consolidated corporation surtax net income of the affiliated group of includible corporations. Only one specific exemption of \$5,000 provided in section 710 (b) (1) shall be allowed for the entire affiliated group of corporations for the purposes of the tax imposed by Subchapter E of Chapter 2.

"(d) Definition of 'Affiliated Group'.—As used in this section, an 'affiliated group' means one or more chains of includible corporations connected through stock ownership with a common parent corporation which is an includible corporation if—

"(1) Stock possessing at least 95 per centum of the voting power of all classes of stock and at least 95 per centum of each class of the nonvoting stock of each of the includible corporations (except the common parent corporation) is owned directly by one or more of the other includible corporations; and

"(2) The common parent corporation owns directly stock possessing at least 95 per centum of the voting power of all classes of stock and at least 95 per centum of each class of the nonvoting stock of at least one of the other includible corporations.

As used in this subsection, the term 'stock' does not include nonvoting stock which is limited and preferred as to dividends.

Fractional part of

Net operating loss deduction.

Ante, p. 852.

Ante, p. 805.
53 Stat. 72.
26 U. S. C. § 204.
Ante, p. 821; post,
pp. 861, 870-872.
54 Stat. 975.
26 U. S. C. §§ 710752, 710 (b) (1); Supp. I,
§§ 710-784.
Post, pp. 902, 899.

"Stock."

53 Stat. 33. 26 U. S. C. § 101. Ante, p. 836; post, p. 872.

Post, pp. 867, 872.

53 Stat. 79. 26 U. S. C. § 251; Supp. I, § 251. Ante, p. 828; post, p. 861; infra. 42 Stat. 849. 15 U. S. C. §§ 141– 162. Post, p. 878.

"(e) Definition of 'Includible Corporation'.—As used in this section, the term 'includible corporation' means any corporation except-

"(1) Corporations exempt under section 101 from the tax

imposed by this chapter.

"(2) Insurance companies subject to taxation under section 201 or 207.

"(3) Foreign corporations.

"(4) Corporations entitled to the benefits of section 251, by reason of receiving a large percentage of their income from sources within possessions of the United States.

"(5) Corporations organized under the China Trade Act, 1922. "(6) Regulated investment companies subject to tax under

Supplement Q.

"(f) INCLUDIBLE INSURANCE COMPANIES.—Despite the provisions of paragraph (2) of subsection (e), two or more domestic insurance companies each of which is subject to taxation under the same section of this chapter shall be considered as includible corporations for the purpose of the application of subsection (d) to such insurance

companies alone.

"(g) Subsidiary Formed To Comply With Foreign Law.—In the case of a domestic corporation owning or controlling, directly or indirectly, 100 per centum of the capital stock (exclusive of directors' qualifying shares) of a corporation organized under the laws of a contiguous foreign country and maintained solely for the purpose of complying with the laws of such country as to title and operation of property, such foreign corporation may, at the option of the domestic corporation, be treated for the purpose of this chapter and of Subchapter E of Chapter 2 as a domestic corporation.

"(h) Suspension of Running of Statute of Limitations.—If a notice under section 272 (a) in respect of a deficiency for any taxable year is mailed to a corporation, the suspension of the running of the statute of limitations, provided in section 277, shall apply in the case of corporations with which such corporation made a consolidated

return for such taxable year.

"(i) Allocation of Income and Deductions.—For allocation of income and deductions of related trades or businesses, see section 45."

(b) PAN-AMERICAN TRADE CORPORATIONS.—Section 152 (relating to consolidated income-tax returns of Pan-American trade corporations) shall not apply with respect to any taxable year beginning after December 31, 1941.

(c) Foreign Corporations.—Section 238 (relating to denial of

affiliation of foreign corporations) is repealed.

(d) Section 251 Corporations.—Section 251 (i) (relating to denial

of affiliation of section 251 corporations) is repealed.

(e) China Trade Act Corporations.—Section 264 (relating to denial of affiliation of China Trade Act corporations) is repealed.

(f) Cross-Reference.—Section 52 (b) is amended to read as

follows:

"(b) Cross-Reference.—For provisions relating to consolidated returns, see section 141."

SEC. 160. ALIENS AND FOREIGN CORPORATIONS TREATED AS NON-RESIDENTS.

53 Stat. 60. 26 U. S. C., Supp. I, § 143 (a) (1). Ante, p. 808. (a) (1) Section 143 (a) (1) (relating to withholding of tax on interest from tax-free covenant bonds) is amended by striking out "and not having any office or place of business therein" wherever occurring therein.

54 Stat. 975. 26 U. S. C. §§ 710-752; Supp. I, §§ 710-743. Post, p. 899. 53 Stat. 82. 26 U. S. C. § 272 (a). Post, p. 876.

53 Stat. 25. 26 U. S. C. § 45.

53 Stat. 87. 26 U. S. C. § 277.

53 Stat. 881. 26 U. S. C. § 152.

53 Stat. 79. 26 U. S. C. § 238.

53 Stat. 80. 26 U. S. C. § 251 (i).

53 Stat. 82. 26 U. S. C. § 264.

53 Stat. 28. 26 U. S. C. § 52 (b).

Ante, p. 858.

(2) Section 143 (b) (relating to withholding of the tax at the source on nonresident aliens) is amended by striking out "and not having any office or place of business therein", by striking out "and not having an office or place of business therein", and by striking out

"or has an office or place of business therein".

(3) Section 144 (relating to payment of corporation income tax at source) is amended by striking out "and not having any office or place of business therein".

(4) The amendments made by this subsection shall apply only with respect to the period beginning with the tenth day after the date of

the enactment of this Act.

(b) Section 14 (c) (relating to tax on foreign corporations) is amended-

(1) by striking out in paragraph (1) thereof "or having an office or place of business therein", and

(2) by striking out in paragraph (2) thereof "and not having an office or place of business therein".

(c) Section 119 (a) (1) (relating to interest from sources in the United States) is amended by striking out "and not having an office

or place of business therein".

(d) Section 204 (d) (relating to deductions of foreign corporations), section 211 (b) (relating to nonresident alien individuals), section 231 (b) (relating to resident foreign corporations), and section 251 (e) (relating to deductions in the case of citizens and domestic corporations entitled to the benefits of section 251) are amended by striking out "or having an office or place of business therein" wherever occurring therein.

(e) Section 211 (a) (1) and section 211 (c) (relating to the imposition of tax on nonresident aliens) and section 231 (a) (relating to the imposition of tax on nonresident foreign corporations) are amended by striking out "and not having an office or place of business

therein" wherever occurring therein.

(f) Section 219 (relating to nonresident alien members of partnerships) is amended by striking out "and as having an office or place of business within the United States if the partnership of which he is a member has such an office or place of business".

53 Stat. 61. 26 U. S. C., Supp. I, § 143 (b). Ante, p. 808.

53 Stat. 62. 26 U. S. C., Supp. I, § 144. Ante, p. 808.

53 Stat. 8. 26 U. S. C. § 14 (e); Supp. I, § 14 (c).

53 Stat. 53. 26 U. S. C. § 119 (a) (1).

53 Stat. 74, 76, 78, 80. 26 U. S. C. §§ 204 (d), 211 (b), 251 (e); Supp. I, § 231 (b). Post, p. 875.

53 Stat. 75, 76, 78. 26 U. S. C. §§ 211 (a) (1),231(a); Supp. I, §§ 211 (a) (1), 211 (c), Ante, pp. 807, 808.

53 Stat. 78. 26 U. S. C. § 219.

SEC. 161. DEDUCTIONS FOR ESTATE TAX AND INCOME TAX OF ESTATE.

(a) Double Deductions Denied.—Section 162 (relating to net income of estates and trusts) is amended by inserting at the end

thereof the following new subsection:

"(e) Amounts allowable under section 812 (b) as a deduction in computing the net estate of a decedent shall not be allowed as a deduction under section 23, except subsection (w), in computing the net income of the estate unless there is filed, within the time and in the manner and form prescribed by the Commissioner, a statement that the items have not been claimed or allowed as deductions under section 812 (b) and a waiver of the right to have such items allowed at any time as deductions under section 812 (b)."

(b) Taxable Years to Which Amendment Applicable.—The amendment made by subsection (a) insofar as it relates to section 23 (a) (2) shall be applicable with respect to the same taxable years and the same revenue laws as the amendments made by section 121 (relating to non-trade or non-business deductions) of this Act; and the other provisions shall be applicable to taxable years beginning

after December 31, 1941.

Ante, p. 809.

53 Stat. 123.
26 U. S. C. § 812 (b).
Post, pp. 945, 947.
53 Stat. 12.
26 U. S. C. § 23;
Supp. I, § 23.
Ante, pp. 806, 817,
819, 820, 822, 825, 826,
857; post, p. 863.
Ante, p. 830.

Ante, p. 819. 53 Stat. 56. 26 U. S. C. § 121.

SEC. 162. PENSION TRUSTS.

53 Stat. 67. 26 U. S. C. § 165.

Requirements.

(a) Exemption of Trusts.—Section 165 (relating to employees' trusts) is amended to read as follows:

"SEC. 165. EMPLOYEES' TRUSTS.

"(a) Exemption From Tax.—A trust forming part of a stock bonus, pension, or profit-sharing plan of an employer for the exclusive benefit of his employees or their beneficiaries shall not be taxable under this supplement and no other provision of this supplement shall apply with respect to such trust or to its beneficiary—

"(1) if contributions are made to the trust by such employer,

"(1) if contributions are made to the trust by such employer, or employees, or both, for the purpose of distributing to such employees or their beneficiaries the corpus and income of the fund accumulated by the trust in accordance with such plan;

"(2) if under the trust instrument it is impossible, at any time prior to the satisfaction of all liabilities with respect to employees and their beneficiaries under the trust, for any part of the corpus or income to be (within the taxable year or thereafter) used for, or diverted to, purposes other than for the exclusive benefit of his employees or their beneficiaries;

"(3) if the trust, or two or more trusts, or the trust or trusts and annuity plan or plans are designated by the employer as constituting parts of a plan intended to qualify under this sub-

section which benefits either-

"(A) 70 per centum or more of all the employees, or 80 per centum or more of all the employees who are eligible to benefit under the plan if 70 per centum or more of all the employees are eligible to benefit under the plan, excluding in each case employees who have been employed not more than a minimum period prescribed by the plan, not exceeding five years, employees whose customary employment is for not more than twenty hours in any one week, and employees whose customary employment is for not more than five months in any calendar year, or

"(B) such employees as qualify under a classification set up by the employer and found by the Commissioner not to be discriminatory in favor of employees who are officers, shareholders, persons whose principal duties consist in supervising the work of other employees, or highly com-

pensated employees;

and

"(4) if the contributions or benefits provided under the plan do not discriminate in favor of employees who are officers, shareholders, persons whose principal duties consist in supervising the work of other employees, or highly compensated employees. "(5) A classification shall not be considered discriminatory

"(5) A classification shall not be considered discriminatory within the meaning of paragraphs (3) (B) or (4) of this subsection merely because it excludes employees the whole of whose remuneration constitutes 'wages' under section 1426 (a) (1) (relating to the Federal Insurance Contributions Act) or merely because it is limited to salaried or clerical employees. Neither shall a plan be considered discriminatory within the meaning of such provisions merely because the contributions or benefits of or on behalf of the employees under the plan bear a uniform relationship to the total compensation, or the basic or regular rate of compensation, of such employees, or merely because the contributions or benefits based on that part of an employee's remuneration which is excluded from 'wages' by section 1426 (a) (1)

53 Stat. 1383. 26 U. S. C. § 1426 (a) (1). differ from the contributions or benefits based on employee's remuneration not so excluded, or differ because of any retirement benefits created under State or Federal law.

"(6) A plan shall be considered as meeting the requirements of paragraph (3) of this subsection during the whole of any taxable year of the plan if on one day in each quarter it satisfied

such requirements.

"(b) Taxability of Beneficiary.—The amount actually distributed or made available to any distributee by any such trust shall be taxable to him, in the year in which so distributed or made available, under section 22 (b) (2) as if it were an annuity the consideration for which is the amount contributed by the employee, except that if the total distributions payable with respect to any employee are paid to the distributee within one taxable year of the distributee on account of the employee's separation from the service, the amount of such distribution to the extent exceeding the amounts contributed by the employee, shall be considered a gain from the sale or exchange of a capital asset held for more than 6 months.

"(c) Treatment of Beneficiary of Trust Not Exempt Under

"(c) TREATMENT OF BENEFICIARY OF TRUST NOT EXEMPT UNDER Subsection (a).—Contributions to a trust made by an employer during a taxable year of the employer which ends within or with a taxable year of the trust for which the trust is not exempt under section 165 (a) shall be included in the gross income of an employee for the taxable year in which the contribution is made to the trust in the case of an employee whose beneficial interest in such contribution

is nonforfeitable at the time the contribution is made."

(b) DEDUCTION ALLOWED EMPLOYER.—Section 23 (p) (relating to deduction for amounts paid to pension trusts) is amended to read as follows:

"(p) Contributions of an Employer to an Employees' Trust or Annuity Plan and Compensation Under a Deferred-Payment Plan —

"(1) General rule.—If contributions are paid by an employer to or under a stock bonus, pension, profit-sharing, or annuity plan, or if compensation is paid or accrued on account of any employee under a plan deferring the receipt of such compensation, such contributions or compensation shall not be deductible under subsection (a) but shall be deductible, if deductible under subsection (a) without regard to this subsection, under this subsection but only to the following extent:

"(A) In the taxable year when paid, if the contributions are paid into a pension trust, and if such taxable year ends within or with a taxable year of the trust for which the trust is exempt under section 165 (a), in an amount deter-

mined as follows:

"(i) an amount not in excess of 5 per centum of the compensation otherwise paid or accrued during the taxable year to all the employees under the trust, but such amount may be reduced for future years if found by the Commissioner upon periodical examinations at not less than five-year intervals to be more than the amount reasonably necessary to provide the remaining unfunded cost of past and current service credits of all employees under the plan, plus

"(ii) any excess over the amount allowable under clause (i) necessary to provide with respect to all of the employees under the trust the remaining unfunded cost of their past and current service credits distributed as a level amount, or a level percentage of compensation,

53 Stat. 10. 26 U. S. C. § 22 (b) (2). Ante, pp. 808, 818. Post, p. 866.

Ante, p. 862.

53 Stat. 15. 26 U. S. C. § 23 (p).

Pension trust.

Ante, p. 862.

Determination of amount.

over the remaining future service of each such employee, as determined under regulations prescribed by the Commissioner with the approval of the Secretary, but if such remaining unfunded cost with respect to any three individuals is more than 50 per centum of such remaining unfunded cost, the amount of such unfunded cost attributable to such individuals shall be distributed over a period of at least 5 taxable years, or

"(iii) in lieu of the amounts allowable under (i) and

"(iii) in lieu of the amounts allowable under (i) and (ii) above, an amount equal to the normal cost of the plan, as determined under regulations prescribed by the Commissioner with the approval of the Secretary, plus, if past service or other supplementary pension or annuity credits are provided by the plan, an amount not in excess of 10 per centum of the cost which would be required to completely fund or purchase such pension or annuity credits as of the date when they are included in the plan, as determined under regulations prescribed by the Commissioner with the approval of the Secretary, except that in no case shall a deduction be allowed for any amount (other than the normal cost) paid in after such pension or annuity credits are completely funded or purchased.

"(iv) Any amount paid in a taxable year in excess of the amount deductible in such year under the foregoing limitations shall be deductible in the succeeding taxable years in order of time to the extent of the difference between the amount paid and deductible in each such succeeding year and the maximum amount deductible for such year in accordance with the foregoing limitations.

"(B) In the taxable year when paid, in an amount determined in accordance with subparagraph (A) of this paragraph, if the contributions are paid toward the purchase of retirement annuities and such purchase is a part of a plan which meets the requirements of section 165 (a), (3), (4), (5), and (6), and if refunds of premiums, if any, are applied within the current taxable year or next succeeding taxable year towards the purchase of such retirement annuities.

"(C) In the taxable year when paid, if the contributions are paid into a stock bonus or profit-sharing trust, and if such taxable year ends within or with a taxable year of the trust with respect to which the trust is exempt under section 165 (a), in an amount not in excess of 15 per centum of the compensation otherwise paid or accrued during the taxable year to all employees under the stock bonus or profit-sharing plan. If in any taxable year beginning after December 31, 1941, there is paid into the trust, or a similar trust then in effect, amounts less than the amounts deductible under the preceding sentence, the excess, or if no amount is paid, the amounts deductible, shall be carried forward and be deductible when paid in the succeeding taxable years in order of time, but the amount so deductible under this sentence in any such succeeding taxable year shall not exceed 15 per centum of the compensation otherwise paid or accrued during such succeeding taxable year to the beneficiaries under the plan. In addition, any amount paid into the trust in a taxable year beginning after December 31, 1941, in excess of the amount allowable with respect to such year under the preceding provisions of this subpara-

Retirement annui-

Ante, pp. 862, 863.

Stock bonus or profitsharing trust.

Ante, p. 862.

graph shall be deductible in the succeeding taxable years in order of time, but the amount so deductible under this sentence in any one such succeeding taxable year together with the amount allowable under the first sentence of this subparagraph shall not exceed 15 per centum of the compensation otherwise paid or accrued during such taxable year to the beneficiaries under the plan. The term 'stock bonus or profit-sharing trust', as used in this subparagraph, shall not include any trust designed to provide benefits upon retirement and covering a period of years, if under the plan the amounts to be contributed by the employer can be determined actuarily as provided in subparagraph (A). If the contributions are made to two or more stock bonus or profitsharing trusts, such trusts shall be considered a single trust for the purposes of applying the limitations in this subparagraph.

"(Ď) In the taxable year when paid, if the plan is not one included in paragraphs (A), (B), or (C), if the employees' rights to or derived from such employer's contribution or such compensation are nonforfeitable at the time

the contribution or compensation is paid.

"(E) For the purposes of subparagraphs (A), (B), and (C), a taxpayer on the accrual basis shall be deemed to have made a payment on the last day of the year of accrual if the payment is on account of such taxable year and is made within sixty days after the close of the taxable year

of accrual.

"(F) If amounts are deductible under subparagraphs (A) and (C), or (B) and (C), or (A) (B), and (C), in connection with two or more trusts, or one or more trusts and an annuity plan, the total amount deductible in a taxable year under such trusts and plans shall not exceed 25 per centum of the compensation otherwise paid or accrued during the taxable year to the persons who are the beneficiaries of the trusts or plans. In addition, any amount paid into such trust or under such annuity plans in a taxable year beginning after December 31, 1941, in excess of the amount allowable with respect to such year under the preceding provisions of this subparagraph shall be deductible in the succeeding taxable years in order of time, but the amount so deductible under this sentence in any one such succeeding taxable year together with the amount allowable under the first sentence of this subparagraph shall not exceed 30 per centum of the compensation otherwise paid or accrued during such taxable years to the beneficiaries under the trusts or This subparagraph shall not have the effect of reducing the amount otherwise deductible under subparagraphs (A), (B), and (C), if no employee is a beneficiary under more than one trust, or a trust and an annuity plan.

If there is no plan but a method of employer contributions or compensation has the effect of a stock bonus, pension, profitsharing, or annuity plan, or similar plan deferring the receipt of compensation, this paragraph shall apply as if there were such

a plan.

"(2) DEDUCTIONS UNDER PRIOR INCOME TAX ACTS.—Any deduction allowable under section 23 (q) of the Revenue Act of 1928 (45 Stat. 802), or the Revenue Act of 1932 (47 Stat. 182), or the Revenue Act of 1934 (48 Stat. 691), under section 23 (p) of the Revenue Act of 1936 (49 Stat. 1661), or the Revenue Act of

"Stock bonus or profit-sharing trust."

53 Stat. 15. 26 U.S.C. § 23 (p).

1938 (52 Stat. 464), or the Internal Revenue Code for a taxable year beginning before January 1, 1943, which under such section was apportioned to any taxable year beginning after December 31, 1942, shall be allowed as a deduction for the years to which so apportioned to the extent allowable under such section if it had

Ante, p. 818.

remained in force with respect to such year,".
(c) Employees' Annuities.—Section 22 (b) (2) (relating to taxation of annuities) is amended by inserting at the end thereof the

following new subparagraph:

with respect to which the employer's contribution is deductible under section 23 (p) (1) (B), or if an annuity contract is purchased for an employee by an employer exempt under section 101 (6), the employee shall include in his income the amounts received under such contract for the year received

except that if the employee paid any of the consideration for the annuity, the annuity shall be included in his income as provided in subparagraph (A) of this paragraph, the consideration for such annuity being considered the amount contributed by the employee. In all other cases, if the employee's rights under the contract are nonforfeitable except for failure to pay future premiums, the amount contributed by the employer for such annuity contract on or after such rights become nonforfeitable shall be included in the income

"(B) Employees' Annuities.—If an annuity contract is purchased by an employer for an employee under a plan

of the employee in the year in which the amount is contributed, which amount together with any amounts contributed by the employee shall constitute the consideration paid for the annuity contract in determining the amount of the

annuity required to be included in the income of the employee

under subparagraph (A) of this paragraph."

(d) Taxable Years to Which Amendments Applicable.—The amendments made by this section shall be applicable as to both the employer and employees only with respect to taxable years of the employer beginning after December 31, 1941, except that-

(1) In the case of a stock bonus, pension, profit-sharing, or

annuity plan in effect on or before September 1, 1942,

(A) such a plan shall not become subject to the requirements of section 165 (a) (3), (4), (5), and (6) until the beginning of the first taxable year beginning after December 31, 1942,

(B) such a plan shall be considered as satisfying the requirements of section 165 (a) (3), (4), (5), and (6) for the period beginning with the beginning of the first taxable year following December 31, 1942, and ending December 31, 1943, if the plan satisfies such requirements by December 31, 1943,

(C) if the contribution of an employer to such a plan in the employer's taxable year beginning in 1942 exceeds the maximum amount deductible for such year under section 23 (p) (1), as amended by this section, the amount deductible in such year shall

be not less than the sum of-

(i) the amount paid in such taxable year prior to September 1, 1942, and deductible under section 23 (a) or 23 (p)

prior to amendment by this section, and

(ii) with respect to the amount paid in such taxable year on or after September 1, 1942, that proportion of the amount deductible for the taxable year under section 23 (p) (1), as amended by this section, which the number of months after August 31, 1942, in the taxable year bears to twelve.

Ante, p. 864.

53 Stat. 33. 26 U. S. C. § 101 (6).

Plans in effect on or before Sept. 1, 1942.

Ante, pp. 862, 863.

Ante, pp. 862, 863.

Ante, p. 863.

Ante, pp. 819, 863.

Ante, p. 863.

(2) In the case of a stock bonus, pension, profit sharing or annuity plan put into effect after September 1, 1942, such a plan shall be considered as satisfying the requirements of section 165 (a) (3), (4), (5) and (6) for the period beginning with the date such plan is put into effect and ending December 31, 1943, if the plan satisfies such requirements by December 31, 1943.

(e) TECHNICAL AMENDMENT TO INVESTMENT COMPANY ACT OF 1940.—Section 3 (c) (13) of the Investment Company Act of 1940 is

amended to read as follows:

"(13) Any employees' stock bonus, pension, or profit-sharing trust which meets the conditions of section 165 of the Internal Revenue Code, as amended."

Plans put into effect after Sept. 1, 1942.

Ante, pp. 862, 863.

54 Stat. 799. 15 U. S. C. § 80a-3 (13).

Ante, p. 862.

SEC. 163. LIFE INSURANCE COMPANIES.

(a) Sections 201, 202, and 203 (relating to life insurance companies) are amended to read as follows:

53 Stat. 71. 26 U. S. C. §§ 201, 202, 203.

"SEC. 201. LIFE INSURANCE COMPANIES.

"(a) Imposition of Tax.—

"(1) IN GENERAL.—There shall be levied, collected, and paid for each taxable year upon the adjusted normal-tax net income (as defined in section 202) and upon the adjusted corporation surtax net income (as defined in section 203) of every life insurance company taxes at the rates provided in section 13 or section

14 (b) and in section 15 (b).

"(2) Foreign life insurance company carrying on a life insurance business within the United States if with respect to its United States business it would qualify as a life insurance company under subsection (b) shall be taxable in the same manner as a domestic life insurance company except that the determinations necessary for the purposes of this chapter shall be made on the basis of the income, disbursements, assets, and liabilities reported in the annual statement for the taxable year of the United States business of such company on the form approved for life insurance companies by the National Association of Insurance Commissioners.

"(3) No united states insurance business.—Foreign life insurance companies not carrying on an insurance business within the United States shall not be taxable under this section but

shall be taxable as other foreign corporations.

"(b) Definition of Life Insurance Company" means an insurance company which is engaged in the business of issuing life insurance and annuity contracts (either separately or combined with health and accident insurance), or noncancellable contracts of health and accident insurance, and the life insurance reserves (as defined in subsection (c) (2)) plus unearned premiums and unpaid losses on noncancellable life, health, or accident policies not included in life insurance reserves, of which comprise more than 50 per centum of its total reserves. For the purpose of this subsection, total reserves means life insurance reserves, unearned premiums and unpaid losses not included in life insurance reserves, and all other insurance reserves required by law. For taxable years beginning after December 31, 1943, a burial or funeral benefit insurance company engaged directly in the manufacture of funeral supplies or the performance of funeral services shall not be taxable under this section but shall be taxable under section 204 or section 207.

Post. p. 870.

53 Stat. 7, 8. 26 U. S. C. § 13; Supp. I, §§ 13, 14 (b). Ante, pp. 805, 806.

53 Stat. 72. 26 U. S. C. § 204. Ante, pp. 821, 861. Post, pp. 870-875.

"(c) Other Definitions.—In the case of a life insurance company-

"(1) Gross income.—The term 'gross income' means the gross amount of income received during the taxable year from interest,

dividends, and rents.

"(2) LIFE INSURANCE RESERVES.—The term 'life insurance reserves' means amounts which are computed or estimated on the basis of recognized mortality or morbidity tables and assumed rates of interest, and which are set aside to mature or liquidate, either by payment or reinsurance, future unaccrued claims arising from life insurance, annuity, and noncancellable health and accident insurance contracts (including life insurance or annuity contracts combined with noncancellable health and accident insurance) involving, at the time with respect to which the reserve is computed, life, health, or accident contingencies. Such life insurance reserves, except in the case of policies covering life, health, and accident insurance combined in one policy issued on the weekly premium payment plan, continuing for life and not subject to cancellation and except as hereinafter provided in the case of assessment life insurance, must also be required by law. In the case of an assessment life insurance company or association the term 'life insurance reserves' includes sums actually deposited by such company or association with State or Territorial officers pursuant to law as guaranty or reserve funds, and any funds maintained under the charter or articles of incorporation or association, or bylaws approved by State Insurance Commissioner of such company or association exclusively for the payment of claims arising under certificates of membership or policies issued upon the assessment plan and not subject to any other use.

"(3) Adjusted reserves.—The term 'adjusted reserves' means life insurance reserves plus 7 per centum of that portion of such

reserves as are computed on a preliminary term basis.

"(4) Reserve earnings rate.—The term 'reserve earnings rate' means a rate computed by adding 2.1125 per centum (65 per centum of 3½ per centum of 5½ per centum of the average rate of interest assumed in computing life insurance reserves. Such average rate shall be calculated by multiplying each assumed rate of interest by the means of the amounts of the adjusted reserves computed at that rate at the beginning and end of the taxable year and dividing the sum of the products by the mean of the total adjusted reserves at the beginning and end of the taxable year.

"(5) Reserve for deferred dividends.—The term 'reserve for deferred dividends' means sums held at the end of the taxable year as a reserve for dividends (other than dividends payable during the year following the taxable year) the payment of which is deferred for a period of not less than five years from

the date of the policy contract.

"(6) Interest paid.—The term 'interest paid' means—
"(A) All interest paid within the taxable year on indebtedness, except on indebtedness incurred or continued to purchase or carry obligations (other than obligations of the United States issued after September 24, 1917, and originally subscribed for by the taxpayer) the interest upon which is wholly exempt from taxation under this chapter, and

(B) All amounts in the nature of interest, whether or not guaranteed, paid within the taxable year on insurance or annuity contracts (or contracts arising out of insurance

or annuity contracts) which do not involve, at the time of payment, life, health, or accident contingencies.

"(7) NET INCOME.—The term 'net income' means the gross

income less—

"(A) Tax-free Interest.—The amount of interest received during the taxable year which under section 22 (b) (4) is

excluded from gross income;

"(B) Investment Expenses.—Investment expenses paid during the taxable year. If any general expenses are in part assigned to or included in the investment expenses, the total deduction under this subparagraph shall not exceed one-fourth of 1 per centum of the mean of the book value of the invested assets held at the beginning and end of the taxable year plus one-fourth of the amount by which net income computed without any deduction for investment expenses allowed by this subparagraph, or for tax-free interest allowed by subparagraph (A), exceeds 334 per centum of the book value of the mean of the invested assets held at the beginning and end of the taxable year;

"(C) Real Estate Expenses.—Taxes and other expenses paid during the taxable year exclusively upon or with respect to the real estate owned by the company, not including taxes assessed against local benefits of a kind tending to increase the value of the property assessed, and not including any amount paid out for new buildings, or for permanent improvements or betterments made to increase the value of any property. The deduction allowed by this paragraph shall be allowed in the case of taxes imposed upon a shareholder of a company upon his interest as shareholder, which are paid by the company without reimbursement from the shareholder, but in such cases no deduction shall be allowed the shareholder for the amount of such

taxes;

"(D) Depreciation.—A reasonable allowance, as provided in section 23 (1), for the exhaustion, wear and tear of property, including a reasonable allowance for

obsolescence.

"(d) Rental Value of Real Estate.—The deduction under subsection (c) (7) (C) or (c) (7) (D) of this section on account of any real estate owned and occupied in whole or in part by a life insurance company, shall be limited to an amount which bears the same ratio to such deduction (computed without regard to this subsection) as the rental value of the space not so occupied bears to the rental

value of the entire property.

"(e) Amortization of Premium and Accrual of Discount.—The gross income, the deduction provided in section 201 (c) (7) (A) and the credit allowed against net income in section 26 (a) shall each be decreased by the appropriate amortization of premium and increased by the appropriate accrual of discount attributable to the taxable year on bonds, notes, debentures or other evidences of indebtedness held by a life insurance company. Such amortization and accrual shall be determined (1) in accordance with the method regularly employed by such company, if such method is reasonable, and (2) in all other cases, in accordance with regulations prescribed by the Commissioner with the approval of the Secretary.

"(f) Double Deductions.—Nothing in this section or in section 202 or 203 shall be construed to permit the same items to be twice

deducted.

53 Stat. 10. 26 U. S. C. § 22 (b) 4). Ante, p. 811.

53 Stat. 14. 26 U. S. C. § 23 (l). Ante, p. 819.

Supra.
53 Stat. 18.
26 U. S. C. § 26 (a)
Ante, p. 825.

Post, p. 870.

53 Stat. 18. 26 U. S. C. § 26. Ante, pp. 806, 807, 825, 828–830.

53 Stat. 7. 26 U. S. C. § 13 (a). Ante, p. 805.

Ante, p. 867.

Basis.

Computation.

"(g) Credits Under Section 26.—For the purposes of this section, in computing normal tax net income and corporation surtax net income, the credits provided in section 26 shall be allowed in the manner and to the extent provided in sections 13 (a) and 15 (a)."

"SEC. 202. ADJUSTED NORMAL-TAX NET INCOME.

"(a) Definition.—For the purposes of section 201, the term 'adjusted normal-tax net income' means the normal-tax net income minus the reserve and other policy liability credit provided in subsection (b) and plus the amount of the adjustment for certain reserves provided in subsection (c).

"(b) RESERVE AND OTHER POLICY LIABILITY CREDIT.—As used in this section the term 'reserve and other policy liability credit' means an amount computed by multiplying the normal-tax net income by a figure, to be determined and proclaimed by the Secretary for each taxable year. This figure shall be based on such data with respect to life insurance companies for the preceding taxable year as the Secretary considers representative and shall be computed in accordance with the following formula: The ratio which (1) the aggregate of the sums of (A) 2 per centum of the reserves for deferred dividends, (B) interest paid, and (C) the product of (i) the mean of the adjusted reserves at the beginning and end of the taxable year and (ii) the reserve earnings rate bears to (2) the aggregate of the excess of net incomes computed without any deduction for tax-free interest, over the adjustment for certain reserves provided in subsection (c).

"(c) Adjustment for Certain Reserves.—In the case of a life insurance company writing contracts other than life insurance or annuity contracts (either separately or combined with noncancellable health and accident insurance), the term 'adjustment for certain reserves' means an amount equal to 31/4 per centum of the unearned premiums and unpaid losses on such other contracts which are not included in life insurance reserves. For the purposes of this subsection such unearned premiums shall not be considered to be less than 25 per centum of the net premiums written during the taxable year

on such other contracts.

"SEC. 203. ADJUSTED CORPORATION SURTAX NET INCOME.

Ante, p. 867.

Supra.

Supra.

53 Stat. 36. 26 U. S. C. § 103. Post, p. 892.

53 Stat. 868. 26 U. S. C. § 208.

"(a) Definition.—For the purposes of section 201, the term 'adjusted corporation surtax net income' means the corporation surtax net income minus the reserve and other policy liability credit and plus the adjustment for certain reserves provided in section 202 (c).

"(b) RESERVE AND OTHER POLICY LIABILITY CREDIT.—As used in this section, the term 'reserve and other policy liability credit' means an amount computed by multiplying the corporation surtax net income by the figure determined and proclaimed under section 202 (b)."

(b) TECHNICAL AMENDMENTS.

(1) Section 103 (relating to rates of tax on citizens and corporations of certain foreign countries) is amended by striking out "201 (b)" wherever appearing therein and inserting "201 (a)"

(2) Section 208 (relating to net operating losses) is repealed.

SEC. 164. INSURANCE COMPANIES OTHER THAN LIFE OR MUTUAL AND MUTUAL MARINE INSURANCE COMPANIES.

53 Stat. 72. 26 U. S. C. § 204 (a).

(a) Section 204 (a) (relating to tax on insurance companies other than life or mutual) is amended to read as follows:

"(a) Imposition of Tax.-

"(1) IN GENERAL.—There shall be levied, collected, and paid for each taxable year upon the normal-tax net income and upon the corporation surtax net income of every insurance company (other than a life or mutual insurance company) and every mutual marine insurance company taxes at the rates specified in

section 13 or section 14 (b) and in section 15 (b).

"(2) NORMAL-TAX AND CORPORATION SURTAX NET INCOME OF FOREIGN INSURANCE COMPANIES OTHER THAN LIFE OR MUTUAL AND FOREIGN MUTUAL MARINE.—In the case of a foreign insurance company (other than a life or mutual insurance company) and a foreign mutual marine insurance company, the normal-tax net income shall be the net income from sources within the United States minus the credit provided in section 26 (a), the credit provided in section 26 (b), and the credit for income subject to the tax imposed by Subchapter E of Chapter 2 provided in section 26 (e) and the corporation surtax net income shall be the net income from sources within the United States minus the credit provided in section 26 (b) (computed by limiting such credit to 85 per centum of the net income reduced by the credit for income subject to the tax imposed by Subchapter E of Chapter 2 in lieu of 85 per centum of the adjusted net income so reduced), and minus the credit for income subject to the tax imposed by Subchapter E of Chapter 2 provided in section 26 (e).

(3) No united states insurance business.—Foreign insurance companies (other than a life or mutual insurance company) and foreign mutual marine insurance companies not carrying on an insurance business within the United States shall not be taxable under this section but shall be taxable as other foreign

corporations."

(b) Section 204 (b) (5) (relating to definition of premiums earned) is amended by striking out the semicolon at the end thereof and inserting a period and the following new sentence: "For the purposes of this subsection, unearned premiums shall include life insurance reserves, as defined in section 201 (c) (2), pertaining to the life, burial, or funeral insurance, or annuity business of an insurance company subject to the tax imposed by this section and not qualifying as a life insurance company under section 201 (b);"

(c) Section 204 (c) (relating to deductions) is amended as follows:

(1) by changing paragraph (5) to read:

"(5) Capital losses.—Capital losses to the extent provided in section 117 plus losses from capital assets sold or exchanged in order to obtain funds to meet abnormal insurance losses and to provide for the payment of dividends and similar distributions to policyholders. Capital assets shall be considered as sold or exchanged in order to obtain funds to meet abnormal insurance losses and to provide for the payment of dividends and similar distributions to policyholders to the extent that the gross receipts from their sale or exchange are not greater than the excess, if any, for the taxable year of the sum of dividends and similar distributions paid to policyholders in their capacity as such, losses paid, and expenses paid over the sum of interest, dividends, rents, and net premiums received. In the application of section 117 (e) for the purposes of this section, the net capital loss for the taxable year shall be the amount by which losses for such year from sales or exchanges of capital assets exceeds the sum of the gains from such sales or exchanges and whichever of the following amounts is the lesser:

"(A) the corporation surtax net income (computed without regard to gains or losses from sales or exchanges of

capital assets); or "(B) losses from the sale or exchange of capital assets sold or exchanged to obtain funds to meet abnormal insurance losses and to provide for the payment of dividends and similar distributions to policyholders."

53 Stat. 7, 8. 26 U. S. C. § 13; Supp. I, §§ 13, 14 (b). Ante, p. 805.

53 Stat. 18, 19. 26 U. S. C. § 26 (a), (b). Ante, pp. 807, 825.

Ante, p. 806.

54 Stat. 975. 26 U. S. C. §§ 710-752; Supp. I, §§ 710-743. Post, p. 899.

53 Stat. 73. 26 U. S. C. § 204 (b) (5). Unearned premiums.

Ante, p. 868.

Ante, p. 867.

53 Stat. 74. 26 U. S. C. § 204 (c).

53 Stat. 50. 26 U. S. C. § 117; Supp. I, § 117. Ante, pp. 843, 844, 846, 847.

Ante, p. 844.

Dividends, paid or

53 Stat. 72. 26 U. S. C. § 204.

53 Stat. 18. 26 U. S. C. § 26. Ante, pp. 806, 807, 825, 828–830.

53 Stat. 7. 26 U. S. C. § 13 (a). Ante, p. 805.

Post, p. 955.

and (2) by striking out the period at the end thereof and inserting a semicolon and the following new paragraph:

"(11) Dividends and similar the semicological semicologi

"(11) Dividends and similar distributions paid or declared to policyholders in their capacity as such. The term 'paid or declared' shall be construed according to the method of accounting regularly employed in keeping the books of the insurance company.":

(d) Section 204 is amended by adding at the end thereof the fol-

lowing new subsection:

"(f) CREDITS UNDER SECTION 26.—For the purposes of this section, in computing normal tax net income and corporation surtax net income, the credits provided in section 26 shall be allowed in the manner and to the extent provided in sections 13 (a) and 15 (a)."

(e) Cross Reference.—For stamp tax on policies written by

foreign insurers, see section 502 of this Act.

SEC. 165. MUTUAL INSURANCE COMPANIES OTHER THAN LIFE OR MARINE.

53 Stat. 33. 26 U.S.C. § 101 (11).

53 Stat. 74. 26 U. S. C. § 207. (a) Exempt Companies.—Section 101 (11) is amended to read as follows:

"(11) Mutual insurance companies or associations other than life or marine (including interinsurers and reciprocal underwriters) if the gross amount received during the taxable year from interest, dividends, rents, and premiums (including deposits and assessments) does not exceed \$75,000;".

(b) TAXABLE COMPANIES.—Section 207 (relating to taxation of mutual insurance companies other than life) is amended to read as

follows:

"SEC. 207. MUTUAL INSURANCE COMPANIES OTHER THAN LIFE OR MARINE.

"(a) Imposition of Tax.—There shall be levied, collected, and paid for each taxable year upon the income of every mutual insurance company (other than a life or a marine insurance company and other than an interinsurer or reciprocal underwriter) a tax computed under paragraph (1) or paragraph (2) whichever is the greater and upon the income of every mutual insurance company (other than a life or a marine insurance company) which is an interinsurer or reciprocal underwriter, a tax computed under paragraph (3):

"(1) If the corporation surtax net income is over \$3,000 a

tax computed as follows:

"(A) Normal Tax.—A normal tax on the normal-tax net income, computed at the rates provided in section 13 or section 14 (b), or 30 per centum of the amount by which the normal-tax net income exceeds \$3,000, whichever is the lesser; plus

"(B) Surtax.—A surtax on the corporation surtax net income, computed at the rates provided in section 15 (b), or 20 per centum of the amount by which the corporation surtax net income exceeds \$3,000, whichever is the lesser.

"(2) If for the taxable year the gross amount of income from interest, dividends, rents, and net premiums, minus dividends to policy holders, minus the interest which under section 22 (b) (4) is excluded from gross income, exceeds \$75,000, a tax equal to the excess of—

"(A) 1 per centum of the amounts so computed, or 2 per centum of the excess of the amount so computed over \$75,000, whichever is the lesser, over

53 Stat. 7, 8. 26 U. S. C. § 13; Supp. I, §§ 13, 14 (b). Ante, p. 805.

Ante, p. 806.

53 Stat. 10. 26 U. S. C. § 22 (b) (4). Ante, p. 811.

"(B) the amount of the tax imposed under Subchapter E of Chapter 2.

"(3) In the case of an interinsurer or reciprocal underwriter, if the corporation surtax net income is over \$50,000 a tax com-

puted as follows:

"(A) Normal Tax.—A normal tax on the normal-tax net income, computed at the rates provided in section 13 or section 14 (b), or 48 per centum of the amount by which the normal-tax net income exceeds \$50,000, whichever is the lesser; plus

"(B) Surtax.—A surtax on the corporation surtax net income, computed at the rates provided in section 15 (b), or 32 per centum of the amount by which the corporation surtax net income exceeds \$50,000, whichever is the lesser.

"(4) Gross amount received over \$75,000 BUT LESS THAN \$125,000.—If the gross amount received during the taxable year from interest, dividends, rents, and premiums (including deposits and assessments) is over \$75,000 but less than \$125,000, the amount ascertained under paragraph (1), paragraph (2) (A), and paragraph (3) shall be an amount which bears the same proportion to the amount ascertained under such paragraph, computed without reference to this paragraph, as the excess over \$75,000 of such gross amount received bears to \$50,000.

"(5) Foreign mutual insurance companies other than life or marine.—In the case of a foreign mutual insurance company (other than a life or marine insurance company), the net income shall be the net income from sources within the United States and the gross amount of income from interest, dividends, rents, and net premiums shall be the amount of such income from sources within the United States.

"(6) No united states insurance business.—Foreign mutual insurance companies (other than a life or marine insurance company) not carrying on an insurance business within the United States shall not be taxable under this section but shall be taxable as other foreign corporations.

"(b) DEFINITION OF INCOME, ETC.—In the case of an insurance

company subject to the tax imposed by this section—

"(1) Gross investment income.—Gross investment income' means the gross amount of income during the taxable year from interest, dividends, rents, and gains from sales or exchanges of

capital assets to the extent provided in section 117;

pital assets to the extent provided in section 117;

53 Stat. 50.

(2) NET PREMIUMS.—'Net premiums' means gross premiums supp. I, § 117.

117 Ante, pp. 843, 844,

128 Ante, pp. 843, 844,

128 Ante, pp. 843, 844,

129 Ante, pp. 843, 844, (including deposits and assessments) written or received on insurance contracts during the taxable year less return premiums and premiums paid or incurred for reinsurance. Amounts returned where the amount is not fixed in the insurance contract but depends upon the experience of the company or the discretion of the management shall not be included in return premiums but shall be treated as dividends to policyholders under paragraph (3);

"(3) DIVIDENDS TO POLICYHOLDERS.—'Dividends to policyholders' means dividends and similar distributions paid or declared to policyholders. The term 'paid or declared' shall be construed according to the method regularly employed in keeping the books

of the insurance company;

"(4) Ner income.—The term 'net income' means the gross

investment income less-

"(A) Tax-free Interest.—The amount of interest which under section 22 (b) (4) is excluded for the taxable year from gross income;

54 Stat. 975. 26 U. S. C. §§ 710-752; Supp. I, §§ 710-743 Post, p. 899.

53 Stat. 7, 8. 26 U. S. C. § 13; Supp. I, §§ 13, 14 (b). Ante, p. 805.

Ante, p. 806.

53 Stat. 10. 26 U. S. C. § 22 (b) (4). Ante, p. 811.

"(B) Investment Expenses.—Investment expenses paid or accrued during the taxable year. If any general expenses are in part assigned to or included in the investment expenses, the total deduction under this subparagraph shall not exceed one-fourth of 1 per centum of the mean of the book value of the invested assets held at the beginning and end of the taxable year plus one-fourth of the amount by which net income computed without any deduction for investment expenses allowed by this subparagraph, or for tax-free interest allowed by subsection (b) (4) (A), exceeds 3¾ per centum of the book value of the mean of the invested assets held at the beginning and end of the taxable year;

"(C) Real Estate Expenses.—Taxes and other expenses

"(C) Real Estate Expenses.—Taxes and other expenses paid or accrued during the taxable year exclusively upon or with respect to the real estate owned by the company, not including taxes assessed against local benefits of a kind tending to increase the value of the property assessed, and not including any amount paid out for new buildings, or for permanent improvements or betterments made to increase the value of any property. The deduction allowed by this paragraph shall be allowed in the case of taxes imposed upon a shareholder of a company upon his interest as shareholder, which are paid or accrued by the company without reimbursement from the shareholder, but in such cases no deduction shall be allowed the shareholder for the amount of such taxes."

"(D) Depreciation.—A reasonable allowance, as provided in section 23 (1), for the exhaustion, wear and tear of property, including a reasonable allowance for obsolescence:

erty, including a reasonable allowance for obsolescence; "(E) Interest Paid or Accrued.—All interest paid or accrued within the taxable year on indebtedness, except on indebtedness incurred or continued to purchase or carry obligations (other than obligations of the United States issued after September 24, 1917, and originally subscribed for by the taxpayer) the interest upon which is wholly

exempt from taxation under this chapter.

"(F) Capital Losses.—Capital losses to the extent provided in section 117 plus losses from capital assets sold or exchanged in order to obtain funds to meet abnormal insurance losses and to provide for the payment of dividends and similar distributions to policyholders. Capital assets shall be considered as sold or exchanged in order to obtain funds to meet abnormal insurance losses and to provide for the payment of dividends and similar distributions to policyholders to the extent that the gross receipts from their sale or exchange are not greater than the excess, if any, for the taxable year of the sum of dividends and similar distributions paid to policyholders, losses paid, and expenses paid over the sum of interest, dividends, rents, and net premiums received. In the application of section 117 (e) for the purposes of this section, the net capital loss for the taxable year shall be the amount by which losses for such year from sales or exchanges of capital assets exceeds the sum of the gains from such sales or exchanges and whichever of the following amounts is the lesser:

"(i) the corporation surtax net income (computed without regard to gains or losses from sales or exchanges

of capital assets); or

53 Stat. 14. 26 U. S. C. § 23 (l). Ante, p. 819.

53 Stat. 50. 26 U. S. C. § 117; Supp. I, § 117. Ante, pp. 843, 844, 846, 847.

Ante, p. 844. Net capital loss for taxable year.

"(ii) losses from the sale or exchange of capital assets sold or exchanged to obtain funds to meet abnormal insurance losses and to provide for the payment of dividends and similar distributions to policyholders.

"(c) RENTAL VALUE OF REAL ESTATE.—The deduction under subsection (b) (4) (C) or (b) (4) (D) of this section on account of any real estate owned and occupied in whole or in part by a mutual insurance company other than life or marine, shall be limited to an amount which bears the same ratio to such deduction (computed without regard to this subsection) as the rental value of the space not so

occupied bears to the rental value of the entire property.

"(d) Amortization of Premium and Accrual of Discount.—The gross amount of income during the taxable year from interest, the deduction provided in subsection (b) (4) (A), and the credit allowed against net income in section 26 (a) shall each be decreased by the appropriate amortization of premium and increased by the appropriate accrual of discount attributable to the taxable year on bonds, notes, debentures or other evidences of indebtedness held by a mutual insurance company other than life or marine. Such amortization and accrual shall be determined (1) in accordance with the method regularly employed by such company, if such method is reasonable, and (2) in all other cases, in accordance with regulations prescribed by the Commissioner with the approval of the Secretary.

"(e) Deductions of Foreign Corporations.—In the case of a foreign corporation the deductions allowed in this section shall be allowed to the extent provided in Supplement I in the case of a foreign corporation engaged in trade or business within the United States.

"(f) DOUBLE DEDUCTIONS.—Nothing in this section shall be con-

strued to permit the same item to be twice deducted.

"(g) Credits Under Section 26.—For the purposes of this section, in computing normal tax net income and corporation surtax net income, the credits provided in section 26 shall be allowed in the manner and to the extent provided in sections 13 (a) and 15 (a)."

(c) Cross Reference.—For stamp tax on policies written by for-

eign insurers, see section 502 of this Act.

SEC. 166. TECHNICAL AMENDMENT TO DEFINITION OF "DIVIDEND".

Section 115 (a) (relating to definition of dividends) is amended by striking out "(except in section 203 (a) (3) and section 207 (c) (1), relating to insurance companies)" and inserting the following "(except in section 201 (c) (5), section 204 (c) (11) and section 207 (a) (2) and (b) (3) (where the reference is to dividends of insurance companies paid to policy holders))."

SEC. 167. TRANSACTIONS IN STOCKS, SECURITIES, AND COMMODI-TIES NOT CONSIDERED ENGAGING IN TRADE OR BUSI-NESS IN CERTAIN CASES.

The last sentence of section 211 (b) (relating to definition of being engaged in trade or business in the United States) is amended to read as follows: "Such phrase does not include the effecting, through a resident broker, commission agent, or custodian, of transactions in the United States in commodities (if of a kind customarily dealt in on an organized commodity exchange, if the transaction is of the kind customarily consummated at such place, and if the alien, partnership, or corporation has no office or place of business in the United States at any time during the taxable year through which or by the direction of which such transactions in commodities are effected), or in stocks or securities."

53 Stat. 18. 26 U. S. C. § 26 (a). Ante, p. 825.

53 Stat. 78. 26 U. S. C. §§ 231-238; Supp. I, § 231. Ante, pp. 808, 860, 861.

53 Stat. 18. 26 U. S. C. § 26. Ante, pp. 806, 807, 825, 828–830.

53 Stat. 7. 26 U. S. C. § 13 (a). Ante, p. 805. Post, p. 955.

53 Stat. 46. 26 U. S. C. § 115 (a). Post, p. 895.

Ante, pp. 868, 872,

53 Stat. 76. 26 U. S. C. § 211 (b). Ante, p. 861.

SEC. 168. PERIOD FOR FILING PETITION EXTENDED IN CERTAIN CASES.

53 Stat. 82. 26 U. S. O. § 272 (a)

(a) Period Extended.—Section 272 (a) (1) (relating to period for filing petition with Board of Tax Appeals) is amended by inserting at the end thereof the following new sentence: "If the notice is addressed to a person outside the States of the Union and the District of Columbia, the period specified in this paragraph shall be one hundred and fifty days in lieu of ninety days."

(b) Effective Date.—The amendment made by this section shall be applicable with respect to notices of deficiency mailed after the

date of the enactment of this Act.

SEC. 169. STATUTE OF LIMITATIONS ON REFUNDS AND CREDITS.

53 Stat. 92. 26 U. S. C. § 322 (b) (2).

(a) Limit on Amount of Credit or Refund.—Section 322 (b) (2) is amended to read as follows:

"(2) Limit on amount of credit or refund.—The amount of the credit or refund shall not exceed the portion of the tax paid-

"(A) If a return was filed by the taxpayer, and the claim was filed within three years from the time the return was filed, during the three years immediately preceding the filing

of the claim.

"(B) If a claim was filed, and (i) no return was filed, or (ii) if the claim was need, and (i) no return was fired, or (ii) if the claim was not filed within three years from the time the return was filed by the taxpayer, during the two years immediately preceding the filing of the claim.

"(C) If no claim was filed and the allowance of credit

or refund is made within three years from the time the return was filed by the taxpayer, during the three years immediately preceding the allowance of the credit or refund.

"(D) If no claim was filed, and (i) no return was filed or (ii) the allowance of the credit or refund is not made within three years from the time the return was filed by the taxpayer, during the two years immediately preceding the

allowance of the credit or refund.

"(3) Exceptions in the case of waivers.—If both the Commissioner and the taxpayer have, within the period prescribed in paragraph (1) for the filing of a claim for credit or refund, agreed in writing under the provisions of section 276 (b) to extend beyond the period prescribed in section 275 the time within which the Commissioner may make an assessment, the period within which a claim for credit or refund may be filed, or credit or refund allowed or made if no claim is filed, shall be the period within which the Commissioner may make an assessment pursuant to such agreement or any extension thereof, and six months thereafter, except that the provisions of paragraph (1) shall apply to any claim filed, or credit or refund allowed or made, before the execution of such agreement. The amount of the credit or refund shall not exceed the total of the portions of tax paid (A) during the two years immediately preceding the execution of such agreement, or, if such agreement was executed within three years from the time the return was filed, during the three years immediately preceding the execution of such agreement, (B) after the execution of the agreement and before the expiration of the period within which the Commissioner might make an assessment pursuant to such agreement or any extension thereof, and (C) during six months after the expiration of such period, except that the provisions of paragraph (2) shall apply to any claim filed, or credit or refund allowed, before

53 Stat. 87, 86. 26 U. S. C. §§ 276 (b), 275.

Amount.

the execution of the agreement. If any portion of the tax is paid after the expiration of the period within which the Commissioner might make an assessment pursuant to such agreement, and if no claim for credit or refund is filed after the time of such payment and before the end of six months after the expiration of such period, then credit or refund may be allowed or made if a claim therefor is filed by the taxpayer within six months from the time of such payment, or, if no claim is filed within such six-month period after the payment, if the credit or refund is allowed or made within such period, but the amount of the credit or refund shall not exceed the portion of the tax paid during the six months immediately preceding the filing of the claim, or, if no claim was filed (and the credit or refund is allowed after six months after the expiration of the period within which the Commissioner might make an assessment), during the six months immediately preceding the allowance of the credit or refund.

"(4) RETURN CONSIDERED FILED ON DUE DATE.—For the purposes of this subsection, a return filed before the last day prescribed by law for the filing thereof shall be considered as filed on such last day. For the purposes of paragraphs (2) and (3) of this subsection, and for the purposes of subsection (d) of this section, an advance payment of any portion of the tax made at the time such return was filed shall be considered as made on the last day prescribed by law for the payment of the tax or, if the taxpayer elected to pay the tax in installments, on the last day prescribed for the payment of the first installment. For the purposes of this paragraph, the last day prescribed by law for filing the return or paying the tax shall be determined without regard to

any extension of time granted the taxpayer.

"(5) Special period of limitation with respect to bad debts and worthless securities.—If the claim for credit or refund

relates to an overpayment on account of-

"(A) the deductibility by the taxpayer, under section 23 (k) (1), section 23 (k) (4), or section 204 (c), of a debt as a debt which became worthless, or, under section 23 (g) (2)

or (k) (2), of a loss from worthlessness of a security, or "(B) the effect that the deductibility of a debt or loss described in subparagraph (A) has on the application to the taxpayer of a carry-over or of a carry-back,

in lieu of the three-year period of limitation prescribed in paragraph (1), the period shall be 7 years from the date prescribed by law for filing the return for the year with respect to which the claim is made. In the case of such a claim, the amount of the credit or refund may exceed the portion of the tax paid within the period provided in paragraph (2) or paragraph (3), whichever is applicable, to the extent of the amount of the overpayment attributable to the deductibility of items described in this paragraph."

(b) OVERPAYMENT FOUND BY BOARD.—Section 322 (d) is amended

to read as follows:

"(d) OVERPAYMENT FOUND BY BOARD.—If the Board finds that there is no deficiency and further finds that the taxpayer has made an overpayment of tax in respect of the taxable year in respect of which the Commissioner determined the deficiency, the Board shall have jurisdiction to determine the amount of such overpayment, and such amount shall, when the decision of the Board has become final, be credited or refunded to the taxpayer. No such credit or refund shall be made of any portion of the tax unless the Board determines

Portion of tax paid after expiration of period.

Advance payments.

Ante, pp. 820, 821. 53 Stat. 74, 13. 26 U.S. C. §§ 204 (c), 23 (g) (2). Ante, pp. 821, 871.

53 Stat. 92. 26 U. S. C. § 322 (d). Determination of amount.

53 Stat. 87, 86. 26 U. S. C. §§ 276 (b), 275.

as part of its decision (1) that such portion was paid (A) within two years before the filing of the claim, the mailing of the notice of deficiency, or the execution of an agreement by both the Commissioner and the taxpayer pursuant to section 276 (b) to extend beyond the time prescribed in section 275 the time within which the Commissioner might assess the tax, whichever is earliest, or (B) within three years before the filing of the claim, the mailing of the notice of deficiency, or the execution of the agreement, whichever is earliest, if the claim was filed, the notice of deficiency mailed, or the agreement executed within three years from the time the return was filed by the taxpayer, or (C) after the execution of such an agreement and before the expiration of the period within which the Commissioner might make an assessment pursuant to such agreement or any extension thereof, or (D) after the mailing of the notice of deficiency; or (2), if such portion was not paid within the period described in clause (1), but the notice of deficiency was mailed within seven years from the time prescribed for the filing of the return, or a claim described in subsection (b) (5) was filed, that such portion does not exceed the amount of the overpayment attributable to the deductibility of items described in subsection (b) (5)."

(c) Effective Date of Amendment.—The amendment inserting paragraph (5) of section 322 (b) shall be applicable to taxable years

beginning after December 31, 1938.

SEC. 170. REGULATED INVESTMENT COMPANIES.

53 Stat. 98, 26 U. S. C. §§ 361, 362; Supp. I, §§ 362, 363.

Ante, p. 877.

(a) Definition and Rates of Normal Tax and Surtax.—Supplement Q of Chapter 1 is amended to read as follows:

"Supplement Q—Regulated Investment Companies "SEC. 361. DEFINITION.

"Regulated invest-ment company."

53 Stat. 104. 26 U. S. C. § 501. Post, pp. 894, 895.

54 Stat. 798. 15 U. S. C. § 80a-3 (c) (3). 53 Stat. 68. 26 U. S. C. § 169.

"(a) In General.—For the purposes of this chapter, the term 'regulated investment company' means any domestic corporation (whether chartered or created as an investment trust, or otherwise), other than a personal holding company as defined in section 501, which at all times during the taxable year is registered under the Investment Company Act of 1940 (54 Stat. 789, 15 U. S. C., 1940 ed., secs. 80 a-1 to 80 b-2), or that Act, as amended, either as a management company or as a unit investment trust, or which is a common trust fund or similar fund excluded by section 3 (c) (3) of such Act from the definition of 'investment company' and is not included in the definition of 'common trust fund' by section 169.

"(b) LIMITATIONS.—Despite the provisions of subsection (a), a corporation shall not be considered a regulated investment company

for any taxable year unless-

(1) At least 90 per centum of its gross income is derived from dividends, interest, and gains from the sale or other disposition of stock or securities; and

"(2) Less than 30 per centum of its gross income is derived from the sale or other disposition of stock or securities held for

less than three months; and

"(3) At the close of each quarter of the taxable year (A) at least 50 per centum of the value of its total assets is represented by cash and cash items (including receivables), Government securities, securities of other regulated investment companies, and other securities for the purposes of this calculation limited in respect of any one issuer to an amount not greater in value than 5 per centum of the value of the total assets of the taxpayer and to not more than 10 per centum of the outstanding voting securities of such issuer, and (B) not more than 25 per centum of the

value of its total assets is invested in the securities (other than Government securities or the securities of other regulated investment companies) of any one issuer, or of two or more issuers which the taxpayer controls and which are determined, under regulations prescribed by the Commissioner with the approval of the Secretary, to be engaged in the same or similar trades or businesses or related trades or businesses. For the purposes of clause (B), in ascertaining the value of the taxpayer's investment in the securities of an issuer, there shall be included its proper proportion of the investment of any other corporation, a member of a controlled group, in the securities of such issuer, as determined under regulations prescribed by the Commissioner and approved by the Secretary. The term 'controls', as used in this paragraph, means the ownership in a corporation of 20 per centum or more of the total combined voting power of all classes of stock entitled to vote. The term 'controlled group', as used in this paragraph, means one or more chains of corporations connected through stock ownership with the taxpayer if (i) 20 per centum or more of the total combined voting power of all classes of stock entitled to vote of each of the corporations (except the taxpayer) is owned directly by one or more of the other corporations, and (ii) the taxpayer owns directly 20 per centum or more of the total combined voting power of all classes of stock entitled to vote, of at least one of the other corporations. The term 'value' as used in this paragraph means, with respect to securities (other than those of majority-owned subsidiaries) for which market quotations are readily available, the market value of such securities; and with respect to other securities and assets, fair value as determined in good faith by the board of directors, except that in the case of securities of majority-owned subsidiaries which are investment companies such fair value shall not exceed market value or asset value, whichever is higher. All other terms used in the preceding provisions of this paragraph shall have the same meaning as when used in the Investment Company Act of 1940, or that Act as amended. A corporation which meets the foregoing requirements of this paragraph at the close of any quarter shall not lose its status as a regulated investment company because of a discrepancy during a subsequent quarter between the value of its various investments and such requirements unless such discrepancy exists immediately after the acquisition of any security or other property and is wholly or partly the result of such acquisition. A corporation which does not meet such requirements at the close of any quarter by reason of a discrepancy existing immediately after the acquisition of any security or other property which is wholly or partly the result of such acquisition during such quarter shall not lose its status for such quarter as a regulated investment company if such discrepancy is eliminated within thirty days after the close of such quarter and in such cases it shall be considered to have met such requirements at the close of such quarter for the purposes of applying the preceding sentence. A corporation which meets such requirements at the close of its first full quarter after the date of the enactment of the Revenue Act of 1942, or eliminates any discrepancy between the value of its investments and such requirements existing at the close of such quarter within thirty days thereafter, shall be deemed to have met such requirements at

all previous times; and

"(4) It files with its return for the taxable year an election to
be a regulated investment company or has made such election for
a previous taxable year which began after December 31, 1941.

Taxpayer's investment in securities of issuer.

"Controls."

"Controlled group."

"Value."

Other terms.

54 Stat. 789. 15 U. S. C. §§ 80a-1— 80a-52.

Corporation meeting requirements.

"SEC. 362. TAX ON REGULATED INVESTMENT COMPANIES.

"(a) Earnings and Profits.—The earnings and profits of a regulated investment company for any taxable year beginning after December 31, 1941 (but not its accumulated earnings and profits) shall not be reduced by any amount which is not allowable as a

deduction in computing its net income for such taxable year.

"(b) Method of Taxation of Companies and Shareholders.—In the case of a regulated investment company which distributes during the taxable year to its shareholders as taxable dividends other than capital gain dividends an amount not less than 90 per centum of its net income for the taxable year computed without regard to net long-term and net short-term capital gains, and complies for such year with all rules and regulations prescribed by the Commissioner, with the approval of the Secretary, for the purpose of ascertaining the actual ownership of its outstanding stock:

the approval of the Secretary, for the purpose of ascertaining the actual ownership of its outstanding stock:

"(1) Its Supplement Q net income shall be its adjusted net income (computed by excluding the excess, if any, of the net long-term capital gain over the net short-term capital loss, and without the net operating loss deduction provided in section 23 (s)) minus the basic surtax credit (excluding capital gain dividends) computed under section 27 (b) without the application of paragraphs (2) and (3). For the purposes of this paragraph, the net income shall be computed without record to section 47 (c).

the net income shall be computed without regard to section 47 (c).

"(2) Its Supplement Q surtax net income shall be its net income (computed by excluding the excess, if any, of the net long-term capital gain over the net short-term capital loss, and without the net operating loss deduction provided in section 23 (s)) minus the dividends (other than capital gain dividends) paid during the taxable year increased by the consent dividends credit provided by section 28. For the purposes of this paragraph and paragraph (5) the amount of dividends paid shall be computed in the same manner as provided in subsections (d), (e), (f), (g), (h), and (i) of section 27 for the purpose of the basic surtax credit provided in section 27. For the purposes of this paragraph the net income shall be computed without regard to section 47 (c).

"(3) There shall be levied, collected, and paid for each taxable year upon its Supplement Q net income a tax equal to 24 per

centum of the amount thereof.

"(4) There shall be levied, collected, and paid for each taxable year upon its Supplement Q surtax net income a tax equal to 16

per centum of the amount thereof.

"(5) There shall be levied, collected, and paid for each taxable year a tax of 25 per centum of the excess, if any, of the net long-term capital gain over the sum of the net short-term capital loss and the amount of capital gain dividends paid during the year.

"(6) A capital gain dividend shall be treated by the share-

holders as gains from the sale or exchange of capital assets held

for more than 6 months.

"(7) A capital gain dividend means any dividend or part thereof which is designated by the company as a capital gain dividend in a written notice mailed to its shareholders at any time prior to the expiration of thirty days after close of its taxable year. If the aggregate amount so designated with respect to a taxable year of the company is greater than the excess of the net long-term capital gain over the net short-term capital loss of the taxable year, the portion of each distribution which shall be

53 Stat. 867, 20. 26 U. S. C. §§ 23 (s), 27 (b). Ante, p. 829. Ante, p. 834.

53 Stat. 867, 21. 26 U. S. C. §§ 23 (s), 28. Post, p. 897.

53 Stat. 20, 21. 26 U. S. C. § 27 (d), (e), (f), (g), (h), (i).

Ante, p. 834.

a capital gain dividend shall be only that proportion of the amount so designated which such excess of the net long-term capital gain over the net short-term capital loss bears to the aggregate amount so designated."

(b) Technical Amendments.-

(1) Section 4 (relating to applicability of supplements) is amended by striking out "(j) Mutual investment companies,—Supplement Q" and inserting in lieu thereof "(j) Regulated investment companies,—Supplement Q".

(2) Section 14 (e) (relating to tax on corporations) is

amended to read as follows:

"(e) REGULATED INVESTMENT COMPANIES.—In the case of a corporation subject to the tax imposed by Supplement Q (relating to regulated investment companies), the tax shall be as provided in such

supplement."

(c) Retroactive Provisions Relating to Earnings and Profits.— For any taxable year beginning after December 31, 1935, and before January 1, 1942, of a corporation which filed an income tax return as a mutual investment company, the earnings and profits of such corporation for such taxable year (but not its accumulated earnings and profits) shall not be reduced by any amount which is not allowable as a deduction in computing its net income for such taxable year; except that this subsection shall not result in earnings and profits of the taxable year in excess of the aggregate of the distributions made by the corporation to its shareholders during the taxable year exclusive of the amounts, if any, which the corporation advised its shareholders to be nontaxable for Federal income tax purposes.

SEC. 171. AMENDMENTS TO SUPPLEMENT R.

(a) Exchanges and Sales of Property.—Section 371 (b) (relating to exchanges of property for property) is amended to read as

follows:

"(b) Exchanges and Sales of Property by Corporations.—No gain shall be recognized to a transferor corporation which is a registered holding company or an associate company of a registered holding company, if such corporation, in obedience to an order of the Securities and Exchange Commission transfers property in exchange for property, and such order recites that such exchange by the transferor corporation is necessary or appropriate to the integration or simplification of the holding company system of which the transferor corporation is a member. If any such property so received is non-exempt property, gain shall be recognized unless such nonexempt property or an amount equal to the fair market value of such property at the time of the transfer is, within 24 months of the transfer, under regulations prescribed by the Commissioner with the approval of the Secretary, and in accordance with an order of the Securities and Exchange Commission, expended for property other than nonexempt property or is invested as a contribution to the capital, or as paid-in surplus, of another corporation, and such order recites that such expenditure or investment by the transferor corporation is necessary or appropriate to the integration or simplification of the holding company system of which the transferor corporation is a member. If the fair market value of such nonexempt property at the time of the transfer exceeds the amount expended and the amount invested, as required in the second sentence of this paragraph, the gain, if any, to the extent of such excess, shall be recognized. Any gain, to the extent that it cannot be applied in reduction of basis under section

53 Stat. 4. 26 U.S.C. § 4; Supp.

53 Stat. 9. 26 U. S. C. § 14 (e).

Ante, p. 878.

53 Stat. 99. 26 U.S. C. § 371 (b).

Nonexempt property. Recognition of gain.

Expenditure for other than nonexempt property.

Liability of trans-

Infra.

53 Stat. 101. 26 U. S. C. § 371 (f).

372 (a) (2) shall be recognized. For the purposes of this subsection, a distribution in cancellation or redemption (except a distribution having the effect of a dividend) of the whole or a part of the transferor's own stock (not acquired on the transfer) and a payment in complete or partial retirement or cancellation of securities representing indebtedness of the transferor or a complete or partial retirement or cancellation of such securities which is a part of the consideration for the transfer, shall be considered an expenditure for property other than nonexempt property, and if, on the transfer, a liability of the transferor is assumed, or property of the transferor is transferred subject to a liability, the amount of such liability shall be considered to be an expenditure by the transferor for property other than nonexempt property. This subsection shall not apply unless the transferor corporation consents, at such time and in such manner as the Commissioner, with the approval of the Secretary, may by regulations prescribe, to the regulations prescribed under section 372 (a) (2) in effect at the time of filing its return for the taxable year in which the transfer occurs."

(b) AMENDMENT OF SECTION 371 (f).—Section 371 (f) is amended

to read as follows:

"(f) Application of Section.—The provisions of this section shall not apply to an exchange, expenditure, investment, distribution, or sale unless (1) the order of the Securities and Exchange Commission in obedience to which such exchange, expenditure, investment, distribution, or sale was made recites that such exchange, expenditure, investment, distribution, or sale is necessary or appropriate to effectuate the provisions of section 11 (b) of the Public Utility Holding Company Act of 1935, 49 Stat. 820 (U. S. C., title 15, sec. 79k (b)), (2) such order specifies and itemizes the stock and securities and other property which are ordered to be acquired, transferred, received, or sold upon such exchange, acquisition, expenditure, distribution, or sale, and, in the case of an investment, the investment to be made, and (3) such exchange, acquisition, expenditure, investment, distribution or sale was made in obedience to such order, and was completed within the time prescribed therefor."

(c) AMENDMENT OF SECTION 372 (a).—Section 372 (a) is amended— (1) by inserting after "(a) Exchanges Generally.—" the

following:

"(1) Exchanges subject to the provisions of section 371 (a).—";

(2) by striking out "371 (a), (b), or (e)," and inserting in lieu thereof "371 (a) or (e)", and by striking out "371 (a) or (b)" and inserting in lieu thereof "371 (a)"; and

(3) by inserting at the end thereof the following:

"(2) EXCHANGES SUBJECT TO THE PROVISIONS OF SECTION 371 (b).—The gain not recognized upon a transfer by reason of section 371 (b) shall be applied to reduce the basis for determining gain or loss on sale or exchange of the following categories of property in the hands of the transferor immediately after the transfer, and property acquired within 24 months after such transfer by an expenditure or investment to which section 371 (b) relates on account of the acquisition of which gain is not recognized under such subsection, in the following order:

"(1) Property of a character subject to the allowance for

depreciation under section 23 (1)

"(2) Property (not described in paragraph (1)) with respect to which a deduction for amortization is allowable under section 23 (t);

53 Stat. 101. 26 U. S. C. § 372 (a).

53 Stat. 99. 26 U. S. C. § 371 (a).

Ante, p. 881.

53 Stat. 14. 26 U. S. C. § 23 (l). Ante, p. 819.

54 Stat. 998. 26 U.S.C. § 23 (t).

"(3) Property with respect to which a deduction for depletion is allowable under section 23 (m) but not allowable under section 114 (b) (2), (3), or (4);

"(4) Stock and securities of corporations not members of the system group of which the transferor is a member (other than stock or securities of a corporation of which the transferor is a subsidiary);

"(5) Securities (other than stock) of corporations which are members of the system group of which the transferor is a member (other than securities of the transferor or of a corporation of

which the transferor is a subsidiary):

"(6) Stock of corporations which are members of the system group of which the transferor is a member (other than stock of the transferor or of a corporation of which the transferor is a subsidiary);

"(7) All other remaining property of the transferor (other than stock or securities of the transferor or of a corporation of

which the transferor is a subsidiary).

The manner and amount of the reduction to be applied to particular property within any of the categories described in paragraphs (1) to (7), inclusive, shall be determined under regulations prescribed by the Commissioner with the approval of the Secretary.

(d) Amendment of Section 373 (a).—Section 373 (a) is amended

to read as follows:

"(a) The term 'order of the Securities and Exchange Commission' means an order issued after May 28, 1938, by the Securities and Exchange Commission which requires, authorizes, permits, or approves transactions described in such order to effectuate the provisions of section 11 (b) of the Public Utility Holding Company Act of 1935, 49 Stat. 820 (U. S. C., title 15, sec. 79k (b)), which has become or becomes final in accordance with law."

(e) Amendment of Section 373 (e) (1).—Section 373 (e) (1) is

amended to read as follows:

"(1) Any consideration in the form of evidences of indebtedness owed by the transferor or a cancellation or assumption of debts or other liabilities of the transferor (including a continuance of encumbrances subject to which the property was transferred);".

(f) Amendment of Section 373 (e) (4).—Section 373 (e) (4) is

amended to read as follows:

"(4) Stock or securities which were acquired from a registered holding company or an associate company of a registered holding company which acquired such stock or securities after February 28, 1938, unless such stock or securities (other than obligations described as nonexempt property in paragraph (1), (2), or (3)) were acquired in obedience to an order of the Securities and Exchange Commission or were acquired with the authorization or approval of the Securities and Exchange Commission under any section of the Public Utility Holding Company Act of 1935, 49 Stat. 820 (U. S. C., title 15, sec. 79k (b));".

(g) Technical Amendment.—Section 371 (e) is amended by striking out "or (b)".

(h) Basis.—Section 113 (a) (17) is amended to read as follows: "(17) Property acquired in connection with exchanges and DISTRIBUTIONS IN OBEDIENCE TO CERTAIN ORDERS OF THE SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION.—If the property was acquired in a taxable year beginning before January 1, 1942, in any manner described in section 372 prior to its amendment by the Revenue Act of 1942, the basis shall be that prescribed in such section

53 Stat. 14, 45. 26 U. S. C. §§ 23 (m), 114 (b) (2), (3), (4). Ante, pp. 840, 841.

53 Stat. 102. 26 U. S. C., Supp. I, § 373 (a).

"Order of the Securities and Exchange Commission."

53 Stat. 102. 26 U. S. C. § 373 (e) (1).

53 Stat. 103. 26 U. S. C. § 373 (e) (4).

53 Stat. 100. 26 U. S. C. § 371 (e).

53 Stat. 43. 26 U. S. C. § 113 (a)

53 Stat. 101. 26 U. S. C. § 372. Ante, p. 882.

Ante, p. 882.

(prior to its amendment by such Act) with respect to such property. If the property was acquired in a taxable year beginning after December 31, 1941, in any manner described in section 372 (other than subsection (a) (2)) after its amendment by such Act, the basis shall be that prescribed in such section (after its amendment by such Act) with respect to such property."

(i) Cross Reference.—For exemption from stamp tax on certain transactions described in this section, see section 507 of this Act.

Stamp tax exemption. Post, p. 961.

"SEC. 172. TEMPORARY INCOME TAX ON INDIVIDUALS.

(a) The Internal Revenue Code is amended by inserting at the end 53 Stat. 4. 26 U. S. C., ch. 1; of Chapter 1 the following new subchapter: Supp. I, ch. 1.

"SUBCHAPTER D-VICTORY TAX ON INDIVIDUALS

"Part I—Rate and Computation of Tax

"SEC. 450, IMPOSITION OF TAX.

"There shall be levied, collected, and paid for each taxable year beginning after December 31, 1942, a victory tax of 5 per centum upon the victory tax net income of every individual (other than a nonresident alien subject to the tax imposed by section 211 (a)).

53 Stat. 75. 26 U. S. C. § 211 (a); Supp. I, § 211 (a). Ante, pp. 807, 861.

"SEC. 451. VICTORY TAX NET INCOME.

"(a) Definition.—The term 'victory tax net income' in the case of any taxable year means (except as provided in subsection (c)) the gross income for such year (not including gain from the sale or exchange of capital assets as defined in section 117, or interest allowed as a credit against net income under section 25 (a) (1) and (2), or amounts received as compensation for injury or sickness which are included in gross income by reason of the exception contained in section 22 (b) (5)) minus the sum of the following deductions:

"(1) Expenses.—The expenses allowable as a deduction by

section 23 (a) (1) and (2).

"(2) Interest.—Interest allowable as a deduction by section 23 (b), if the indebtedness in respect of which such interest is allowed was incurred in carrying on any trade or business, or was incurred for the production or collection of income, or for the management, conservation, or maintenance of property held for the production of income.

"(3) Taxes.—Amounts allowable as a deduction by section 23 (c), to the extent such amounts are paid or incurred in connection with the carrying on of a trade or business, or in connection with property used in the trade or business, or in connection with

property held for the production of income.

"(4) Losses.—Losses (other than losses from the sale or exchange of capital assets) allowable as a deduction under section 23 (e) (1), subject to the limitation provided in section 23 (h). "(5) BAD DEBTS.—The amount allowable by section 23 (k) (1).

"(6) Depreciation.—The amount allowable by section 23 (1).

"(7) Depletion.—The amount allowable by section 23 (m) and (n).

"(8) Pension trusts.—The amount allowable by section 23

(9). NET OPERATING LOSS.—The net operating loss deduction allowable by section 23 (s).

"(10) Amortization.—The amount allowable by section 23 (t). "(11) ALIMONY.—The amount allowable by section 23 (u).

53 Stat. 50. 26 U. S. C. § 117; Supp. I, §117. Ante, pp. 843–847. 53 Stat. 17. 26 U. S. C. § 25 (a) (2). Ante, pp. 811, 825. 53 Stat. 10. 26 U. S. C. § 22 (b) (5). Ante, pp. 811, 826. Ante, p. 819.

53 Stat. 12. 26 U. S. C. § 23 (b).

53 Stat. 12. 26 U. S. C., Supp. I, § 23 (c). Ante, pp. 806, 820, 857.

53 Stat. 13. 26 U. S. C. § 23 (e) (1), (h). Ante, p. 820. Ante, p. 819. 53 Stat. 14. 26 U. S. C. § 23 (m), (n). Ante, p. 863.

53 Stat. 867. 26 U. S. C. § 23 (s).

54 Stat. 998. 26 U. S. C. § 23 (t). Ante, p. 817.

"(12) Special deduction.—The amount allowable by section

"(13) Estates and trusts.—In the case of an estate or trust, the amount allowable by subsection (a) of section 162 in addition to the amounts allowable by subsections (b) and (c) of such

"(b) ITEMS NOT DEDUCTIBLE.—The deductions allowable by subsection (a) shall be subject to the limitations contained in section 24 and Supplement J and, in the case of nonresident aliens subject to the victory tax, shall be subject to the limitations contained in Supplement H.

(c) Supplement T Taxpayer.—If for any taxable year a taxpayer makes his return and pays his tax under Supplement T, the

term 'victory tax net income' means the gross income for such year.

"(d) Basis for Determining Loss.—The basis for determining the amount of deduction for losses sustained, to be allowed under paragraph (4) of subsection (a), and for bad debts, to be allowed under paragraph (5) of subsection (a), shall be the adjusted basis provided in section 113 (b) for determining the loss from the sale or other disposition of property.

"(e) Rule Applicable to Participants in a Common Trust Fund.—In the case of a participant in a common trust fund, he shall in respect of the common trust fund income include in computing his victory tax net income, whether or not distributed and whether or

not distributable, only his proportionate share of the ordinary net income or the ordinary net loss of the common trust fund, computed as provided in section 169 (d).

(f) RULE APPLICABLE TO PARTNERS.—In the case of an individual carrying on business in partnership, he shall in respect of the partnership income include in computing his victory tax net income, whether or not distribution is made to him, only his distributive share of the ordinary net income or the ordinary net loss of the partnership, computed as provided in section 183 (b).

"SEC. 452. SPECIFIC EXEMPTION.

"In the case of every individual there shall be allowed as a credit against the victory tax net income a specific exemption of \$624. In the case of a husband and wife filing a joint return under section 51 (b), if the victory tax net income of one spouse is less than \$624, the aggregate specific exemption of both spouses shall be limited to \$624 plus the victory tax net income of such spouse.

"SEC. 453. CREDIT AGAINST VICTORY TAX.

"(a) Allowance of Credit.—There shall be allowed as a credit against the victory tax for each taxable year:

"(1) The amount paid by the taxpayer during the taxable year as premiums on life insurance, in force on September 1, 1942, upon his own life, or upon the life of his spouse, or upon the life of any dependent of the taxpayer specified in section 25 (b) (2) (A); and the amount paid during the taxable year as premiums on life insurance which is a renewal or conversion of such life insurance in force on September 1, 1942, to the extent that such premiums do not exceed the premiums payable on such life insurance in force on September 1, 1942.

"(2) The amount by which the smallest amount of indebtedness of the taxpayer outstanding at any time during the period beginning September 1, 1942, and ending with the close of the preceding taxable year, exceeds the amount of indebtedness of

the taxpayer outstanding at the close of the taxable year.

53 Stat. 56. 26 U. S. C. § 120.

53 Stat. 66, 67. 26 U. S. C. § 162 (a), (c). Ante, p. 809.

53 Stat. 16, 79, 75. 26 U. S. C. §§ 24, 251, 252, 211-219; Supp. I, §§ 251, 211, 214. Ante, pp. 819, 826, 827, 828, 860, 861, 807, 808, 875.

55 Stat. 689. 26 U. S. C., Supp. I, §§ 400-404. Ante, pp. 803, 805.

53 Stat. 44. 26 U. S. C. § 113 (b). Ante, pp. 824, 827.

53 Stat. 69. 26 U. S. C. § 169 (d). Ante, p. 845.

Ante, p. 845.

53 Stat. 27. 26 U. S. C. § 51 (b).

55 Stat. 697. 26 U. S. C., Supp. I, § 25 (b) (2) (A). Ante, pp. 818, 828.

"Owned by the tax-

"Obligations of the U.S."

"Amount of obliga-tions of the U. S."

Infra.

Post, p. 892

53 Stat. 27. 26 U.S. C. § 51 (b).

53 Stat. 18; 55 Stat. 53 Stat. --, 697. 26 U. S. C. § 25 (b); Supp. I, § 25 (b). Ante, pp. 818, 827,

55 Stat. 689. 26 U. S. C., Supp. I, §§ 400-404. Ante, pp. 803, 805.

"(3) The amount by which the amount of obligations of the United States owned by the taxpayer on the last day of the taxable year exceeds the greater of (A) the amount of such obligations owned by the taxpayer on December 31, 1942, or (B) the highest amount of such obligations owned by the taxpayer on the last day of any preceding taxable year ending after December 31, 1942. As used in this paragraph (i) the term 'owned by the taxpayer' shall include the amount of the obligations owned solely by the taxpayer and one-half of the amount of the obligations owned jointly by the taxpayer with one other person, but shall not include such obligations acquired by the taxpayer by gift, or inheritance, or otherwise than by purchase; (ii) the term 'obligations of the United States' means such obligations of the United States as the Secretary may by regulations prescribe, and as are purchased in such manner and under such terms and conditions as he may specify; and (iii) the term 'amount of obligations of the United States' means the amount paid for such obligations.

"(b) LIMITATION ON CREDIT.—The amount of such credit for the taxable year shall not exceed the amount of the post war credit or

refund allowed by section 454 for such taxable year.

"SEC. 454. POST WAR CREDIT OR REFUND OF VICTORY TAX.

"(a) Allowance of Credit.—As soon as practicable after date of cessation of hostilities in the present war (as defined in section 475 (b)), the following amount of the victory tax paid for each taxable year beginning after December 31, 1942, shall be credited against any income tax or installment thereof then due from the taxpayer, and any balance shall be refunded immediately to the taxpayer:

"(1) In the case of a single person or a married person not living with husband or wife, 25 per centum of the victory tax

or \$500, whichever is the lesser.

"(2) In the case of the head of a family, 40 per centum of the victory tax or \$1,000, whichever is the lesser. In the case of a married person living with husband or wife where separate returns are filed by each spouse, 40 per centum of the victory tax or \$500, whichever is the lesser. In the case of a married person living with husband or wife where a separate return is filed by one spouse and no return is filed by the other spouse, or in the case of a husband and wife filing a joint return under section 51 (b), only one such credit shall be allowed and such credit shall not exceed 40 per centum of the victory tax or \$1,000, whichever is the lesser.

"(3) For each dependent specified in section 25 (b), excluding as a dependent, in the case of a head of a family, one who would be excluded under section 25 (b) (2) (B), 2 per centum of the victory tax or \$100, whichever is the lesser.

"(b) Change of Status.—If for any taxable year the status of the taxpayer (other than a taxpayer who makes his return and pays his tax under Supplement T) with respect to his marital relationship or with respect to his dependents, changed during the taxable year, the amount of the credit or refund provided by this section for such taxable year shall be apportioned, under rules and regulations prescribed by the Commissioner with the approval of the Secretary, in accordance with the number of months before and after such change. For the purpose of such apportionment a fractional part of a month shall be disregarded unless it amounts to more than half a month in which case it shall be considered as a month.

55 Stat. 689. 26 U. S. C., Supp. I, §§ 400-404.

Ante, pp. 803, 805.

Ante, p. 805.

Ante. p. 885.

"(c) Status of Supplement T Taxpayer.—If for any taxable year a taxpayer makes his return and pays his tax under Supplement T, for the purpose of the credit or refund provided by this section, his status for such year with respect to his marital relationship or with respect to his dependents shall be determined in accordance with the

provisions of section 401.

"(d) Period of Limitation.—No post war credit or refund of any part of the victory tax provided in this section shall be allowed or made after 7 years from the date of cessation of hostilities in the present war, unless claim for credit or refund is filed before the expiration of such date. No interest shall be allowed on such credits or refunds.

"(e) Limitation of Credit.—The post war credit or refund allowed by this section shall be reduced by the amount of any credit

allowed under section 453.

"SEC. 455. RETURNS.

"(a) Individual Returns.—Every individual having a gross income in excess of \$624 for the taxable year, shall make, under regulations prescribed by the Commissioner with the approval of the Secretary, a return, which shall contain or be verified by a written declaration that it is made under the penalties of perjury, stating specifically the items of his gross income and the deductions and

credits allowed under this subchapter.

"(b) Fiduciary Returns.—Every fiduciary (except a receiver appointed by authority of law in possession of part only of the property of an individual) shall make, under regulations prescribed by the Commissioner with the approval of the Secretary, a return under oath, for any individual, estate, or trust for which he acts, if the gross income of such individual, estate, or trust is in excess of \$624 for the taxable year, stating specifically the items of gross income and the deductions and credits allowed under this subchapter. The provisions of section 142 (b) shall be applicable with respect to any return required to be made under this subsection.

53 Stat. 60. 26 U.S.C. § 142 (b).

"SEC. 456. LIMITATION ON TAX.

"The tax imposed by section 450 (victory tax), computed without regard to the credits provided in sections 453, 454, and 466 (e), shall not exceed the excess of 90 per centum of the net income of the taxpayer for the taxable year over the tax imposed by sections 11 (normal tax) and 12 (surtax), computed without regard to the credits provided in sections 31, 32, and 466 (e).

Ante, pp. 884-886. Post, p. 890.

Ante, pp. 802, 846. 53 Stat. 5, 24. 26 U. S. C. §§ 12, 31, 32; Supp. I, § 12. Post, p. 890.

"Part II—Collection of Tax at Source on Wages

"SEC. 465. DEFINITIONS.

"As used in this part—

"(a) Pay-Roll Period.—The term 'pay-roll period' means a period for which a payment of wages is ordinarily made to the employee

by his employer.

"(b) Wages.—The term 'wages' means all remuneration (other than fees paid to a public official) for services performed by an employee for his employer, including the cash value of all remuneration paid in any medium other than cash; except that such term shall not include remuneration paid (1) for services performed as a member of the military or naval forces of the United States, other

Services excepted.

53 Stat. 1386. 26 U S. C. § 1426

53 Stat. 469. 26 U. S. C. § 3797 (a) (9).

Infra.

than pensions and retired pay, (2) for agricultural labor (as defined in section 1426 (h)), (3) for domestic service in a private home, local college club, or local chapter of a college fraternity or sorority, (4) for casual labor not in the course of the employer's trade or business, (5) for services as an employee of a nonresident alien individual, foreign partnership, or foreign corporation, if such individual, partnership, or corporation is not engaged in trade or business in the United States, (6) for services as an employee of a foreign government or any wholly owned instrumentality thereof, or (7) for services performed as an employee while outside the United States (as defined in section 3797 (a) (9)), unless the major part of the services performed during the calendar year by such employee for his employer are performed within the United States.

"(c) WITHHOLDING AGENT.—The term 'withholding agent' means any person required to withhold, collect, and pay the tax under

section 466.

"(d) EMPLOYEE.—The term employee menaces an emerge, or elected official of the United States, a State, Territory, or any political subdivision thereof, or the District of Columbia, or any political subdivision thereof, or the District of Columbia, or any one or more of the foregoing. The "(d) Employee.—The term 'employee' includes an officer, employee, agency or instrumentality of any one or more of the foregoing. term 'employee' also includes an officer of a corporation.

"(e) EMPLOYER.—The term 'employer' includes any person for whom an individual performs any service, of whatever nature, as

the employee of such person.

"SEC. 466. TAX COLLECTED AT SOURCE.

"(a) REQUIREMENT OF WITHHOLDING.—There shall be withheld, collected, and paid upon all wages of every person, to the extent that such wages are includible in gross income, a tax equal to 5 per centum of the excess of each payment of such wages over the withholding deduction allowable under this part. This subsection and subsection (c) shall not be applicable in any case provided for in section 143, except in the case of wages paid to residents of a contiguous country who enter and leave the United States at frequent intervals.

"(b) WITHHOLDING DEDUCTION.—
"(1) In computing the tax required to be withheld under subsection (a), there shall be allowed as a deduction against the wages paid for each pay-roll period an amount determined in accordance with the following schedule:

53 Stat. 60, 26 U. S. C. § 143; Supp. I, § 143. Ante, pp. 808, 860,

Pay-roll period	Withholding deduction
Weekly	\$12
Biweekly	24
Semimonthly	
Monthly	52
Quarterly	
Semiannually	
Annually	

If period less than one week.

Period not specifically provided for.

"(2) If a pay-roll period in respect of any wages is less than one week, the excess of the aggregate of the wages paid during each calendar week over the deduction allowed by this subsection for a weekly pay-roll period shall be used in computing the tax

required to be withheld.

"(3) If a pay-roll period in respect of any wages, or any other period with respect to which wages are paid, is not otherwise specifically provided for in this subsection, the deduction allowable against each payment of such wages shall be the deduction

allowable in the case of an annual pay-roll period divided by 365 and multiplied by the number of days in such period, including

Sundays and holidays.

"(4) In any case in which wages are paid by an employer without regard to any pay-roll period or other period, the deduction allowable against each payment of such wages shall be the deduction allowable in the case of an annual pay-roll period divided by 365 and multiplied by the number of days (including Sundays and holidays) which have elapsed since the date of the last payment of such wages by such employer during the calendar year, or the date of commencement of employment with such employer during such year, or January 1 of such year, whichever is the later.

"(5) The deduction allowable under this subsection in respect of any individual for any calendar year shall not exceed the total deduction which would have been allowable under paragraph (1) if the only pay-roll period of such individual had been an annual pay-roll period.

"(c) Wage Bracker Withholding.—
"(1) At the election of the employer, if his pay-roll period with respect to an employee is weekly, biweekly, semimonthly, or monthly, there shall be withheld, collected, and paid upon the wages of such employee a tax determined in accordance with the following tables, which shall be in lieu of the tax required to be withheld under subsection (a):

For weekly pay-roll period		For biweekly pay-roll period			
If the wages are over	But not over	The amount of tax to be withheld shall be	If the wages are over	But not over	The amount of tax to be withheld shall be
\$12	\$16	\$0 . 10	\$24	\$30	\$0. 10
16	20	. 30	30	40	. 50
20	24	. 50	40	50	1. 00
24	28	. 70	50	60	1. 50
28	32	. 90	60	70	2.00
32	36	1. 10	70	80	2. 50
36	40	1. 30	80	100	3 . 30
40	50	1. 60	100	120	4. 30
50	60	2. 10	120	140	5. 30
60	70	2. 60	140	160	6. 30
70	80	3. 10	160	180	7. 30
80	90	3 . 60	180	200	8. 30
90	100	4. 10	200	220	9. 30
100	110	4. 60	220	240	10. 30
110	120	5. 10	240	260	11. 30
120	130	5. 60	260	280	12. 3
130	140	6. 10	280	300	13. 3
140	150	6. 60	300	320	14. 3
150	160	7. 10	320	340 360	15. 30 16. 30
160	170 180	7. 60 8. 10	340 360	380	17. 3
170 180	190	8. 60	380	400	18. 3
190	200	9. 10	400	420	19. 3
200	200	\$9.40 plus 5%	420	440	20. 3
200		of the ex-	440	460	21. 3
		cess over	460	480	22. 3
		\$200.	480	500	23. 30
			500		\$23.80 plus 5 %
					of the exces
			11		over \$500.

Wages paid without regard to any period.

Limitation.

For semimonthly pay-roll period		For monthly pay-roll period			
If the wages are over	But not over	The amount of tax to be withheld shall be	If the wages are over	But not over	The amount of tax to be withheld shall be
\$26	\$30	\$0. 10	\$52	\$60	\$0. 20
30	40	. 40	60	80	. 90
40	50	. 90	80	100	1. 90
50	60	1. 40	100	120	2. 90
60	70	1. 90	120	140	3. 90
70	80	2. 40	140	160	4. 90
80	100	3. 20	160	200	6. 40
100	120	4. 20	200	240	8. 40
120	140	5. 20	240	280	10. 40
140	160	6. 20	280	320	12. 40
160	180	7. 20	320	360	14. 40
180	200	8. 20	360	400	16. 40
200	220	9. 20	400	440	18. 40
220	[240	[10. 20]	440	480	20. 40
240	260	11. 20	480	520	22. 40
260	280	12. 20	520	560	24. 40
280	300	13. 20	560	600	26. 40
300	320	14. 20	600	640	28. 40
320	340	15. 20	640	680	30. 40
340	360	16. 20	680	720	32. 40
360	380	17. 20	720	760	34. 40
380	400	18. 20	760	800	36. 40
400	420	19, 20	800	840	38. 40
420	440	20, 20	840	880	40. 40
440	460	21. 20	880	920	42. 40
460	480	22, 20	920	960	44. 40
480	500	23, 20	960	1, 000	46. 40
500		\$23.70 plus	1, 000		\$47.40 plus
	ļ	5% of the	(,	5% of the
		excess over			excess over
		\$500.	I		\$1,000.

"(d) Tax Paid by Recipient.—If any tax required under this part to be withheld and collected is paid by the recipient of the income, it shall not be re-collected from the withholding agent; but such payment shall in no case relieve the withholding agent from liability for interest or additions to the tax otherwise applicable in respect of

the tax imposed by this chapter.

"(e) Credit for Tax Withheld at Source.—The tax withheld and collected under this part shall not be allowed as a deduction either to the withholding agent or to the recipient of the income in computing net income; but the amount of the tax so withheld and collected shall be allowed as a credit against the tax imposed by this chapter upon the recipient of the income. Such credit shall be allowed first against the victory tax imposed by section 450 (adjusted for the credit allowed by section 453) and the excess of such credit, if any, over the victory tax, so adjusted, shall be allowed against the tax imposed by sections 11 and 12 or section 400, as the case may be.

"(f) REFUNDS.—Where there has been an overpayment of tax under this part, any refund or credit made under the provisions of section 322 shall be made to the recipient of the income; but, in any case in which such tax was not so withheld by the withholding agent, such refund or credit shall be made to the withholding agent.

"(g) INCLUDED AND EXCLUDED WAGES.—If the remuneration paid by an employer to an employee for services performed during onehalf or more of any pay-roll period constitutes wages, all the remuneration paid by such employer to such employee for such period shall be deemed to be wages; but if the remuneration paid by an employer to an employee for services performed during more than

Ante, pp. 884, 885.

Ante, pp. 802, 846, 803. 53 Stat. 5. 26 U. S. C. § 12; Supp. I, § 12. 53 Stat. 91. 26 U. S. C. § 322. Ante, pp. 876, 877; post, p. 893.

one-half of any such pay-roll period does not constitute wages, then none of the remuneration paid by such employer to such employee for such period shall be deemed to be wages.

"SEC. 467. WITHHOLDING AGENT.

"(a) Collection of Tax.—The tax required to be withheld by section 466 shall be collected by the person having control of the payment of such wages by deducting such amount from such wages as and when paid. As used in this subsection, the term 'person' includes officers and employees of the United States, or of a State, Territory, or any political subdivision thereof, or of the District of Columbia, or any agency or instrumentality of any one or more of the foregoing. "(b) Indemnification of Withholding Agent.—Every person

required to withhold and collect any tax under this part shall be liable for the payment of such tax, and shall not be liable to any person for

the amount of any such payment.

"(c) Adjustments.—If more or less than the correct amount of tax is withheld or paid for any quarter in any calendar year, proper adjustments, with respect both to the tax withheld or the tax paid, may be made in any subsequent quarter of such calendar year, without interest, in such manner and at such times as may be prescribed by regulations made by the Commissioner, with the approval of the Secretary.

"SEC. 468. RETURN AND PAYMENT BY WITHHOLDING AGENT.

"In lieu of the time prescribed in sections 53 and 56 for the return and payment of the tax imposed by this chapter, every person required to withhold and collect any tax under section 466 shall make a return and pay such tax on or before the last day of the month following the close of each quarter of each calendar year. Every such person shall include with the final return for the calendar year a duplicate copy of each receipt required to be furnished under section 469. Every such person shall also keep such records and render under oath such statements with respect to the tax so withheld and collected as may be required under regulations prescribed by the Commissioner, with the approval of the Secretary.

"SEC. 469. RECEIPTS.

"(a) Wages.—Every employer required to withhold and collect a tax in respect of the wages of an employee shall furnish to each such employee in respect of his employment during the calendar year, on or before January 31 of the succeeding year, or, if his employment is terminated before the close of such calendar year, on the day on which the last payment of wages is made, a written statement showing the period covered by the statement, the wages paid by the employer to such employee during such period, and the amount of the tax withheld and collected under this part in respect of such wages.

"(b) REGULATIONS.—The statements required to be furnished by this section shall be in lieu of the return required to be furnished by the employer with respect to his employee under section 147 and shall be furnished at such other times, shall contain such other information, and shall be in such form as the Commissioner, with

the approval of the Secretary, may by regulations prescribe.

"(c) Extension of Time.—The Commissioner, under such regulations as he may prescribe with the approval of the Secretary, may grant to any employer a reasonable extension of time (not in excess of 30 days) with respect to the statements required to be furnished to employees on the day on which the last payment of wages is made.

Ante, p. 888.

"Person."

53 Stat. 28, 31. 26 U. S. C. §§ 53, 56. Post, p. 893. Ante, p. 888.

Infra.

53 Stat. 64. 26 U. S. C. § 147; Supp. I, § 147. Ante, p. 828.

"SEC. 470. PENALTIES.

Ante, p. 891.

"(a) Penalties for Fraudulent Receipt or Failure to Furnish Receipt.—In lieu of any other penalty provided by law (except the penalty provided by subsection (b) of this section), any person required under the provisions of section 469 to furnish a receipt in respect of tax withheld pursuant to this part who wilfully furnishes a false or fraudulent receipt, or who wilfully fails to furnish a receipt in the manner, at the time, and showing the information required under section 469, or regulations prescribed thereunder, shall for each such failure, upon conviction thereof, be fined not more than \$1,000, or imprisoned for not more than one year, or both.

"(b) Additional Penalty.—In addition to the penalty provided by subsection (a) of this section, any person required under the provisions of section 469 to furnish a receipt in respect of tax withheld pursuant to this part who wilfully furnishes a false or fraudulent receipt, or who wilfully fails to furnish a receipt in the manner, at the time, and showing the information required under section 469, or regulations prescribed thereunder, shall for each such failure be

subject to a civil penalty of not more than \$50.

"(c) Fallure or Withholding Agent to File Return.—In case of any failure to make and file return required by this part, within the time prescribed by law or prescribed by the Commissioner in pursuance of law, unless it is shown that such failure is due to reasonable cause and not due to wilful neglect, the addition to the tax provided for in section 291 shall not be less than \$5.

Ante, p. 891.

53 Stat. 88. 26 U. S. C. § 291. Post, p. 893.

"Part III—Expiration Date and Definitions

"SEC. 475. DEFINITIONS.

"(a) NET INCOME.—When used in this title, where not otherwise distinctly expressed or manifestly incompatible with the intent thereof, the term 'net income' shall be construed to mean 'victory tax

net income' for the purposes of this subchapter.

"(b) Date of Cessation of Hostilities in the Present War.—As used in this subchapter, the term 'date of cessation of hostilities in the present war' means the date on which hostilities in the present war between the United States and the governments of Germany, Japan, and Italy cease, as fixed by proclamation of the President or by concurrent resolution of the two Houses of Congress, whichever date is earlier, or in case the hostilities between the United States and such governments do not cease at the same time, such date as may be so fixed as an appropriate date for the purposes of this subchapter.

"SEC. 476. EXPIRATION DATE.

"The taxes imposed by this subchapter shall not apply with respect to any taxable year commencing after the date of cessation of hostilities in the present war."

(b) Classification of Provisions.—Section 3 is amended by adding at the end thereof the following new paragraph:

"Subchapter D—Victory tax on individuals, divided into parts and

ections".

(c) RATES OF TAX ON CITIZENS OF CERTAIN FOREIGN COUNTRIES.—Section 103 is amended by striking out "and 362" and inserting "362, and 450"; and by striking out "or 362" and inserting "362, and 450".

53 Stat. 4. 26 U. S. O. § 3.

53 Stat. 36. 26 U. S. C. § 103. Ante, p. 870. (d) Foreign Tax Credit.—

Section 131 is further amended by adding at the end thereof

the following new subsection:

"(i) TAX WITHHELD AT SOURCE.—For the purposes of this supplement the tax imposed by this chapter shall be the tax computed without regard to the credit provided in section 32 and section 466 (e)."

(e) REFUNDS AND CREDITS .-

(1) Section 322 (a) is amended to read as follows:

"(a) `ÁUTHORIZATION.-

"(1) OVERPAYMENT.—Where there has been an overpayment of any tax imposed by this chapter, the amount of such overpayment shall be credited against any income, war-profits, or excess-profits tax or installment thereof then due from the taxpayer, and any balance shall be refunded immediately to the taxpayer. "(2) Excessive withholding.—Where the amount of the tax

withheld at the source under Part II of Subchapter D exceeds the tax imposed by this chapter (after allowance of the credits provided by sections 31, 32, and 453), the amount of such excess shall be credited against any income tax or installment thereof then due from the taxpayer, and any balance thereof shall be

refunded immediately to the taxpayer."

(2) Section 322 (e) is amended to read as follows:

"(e) PRESUMPTION AS TO DATE OF PAYMENT.—For the purposes of this section, any tax actually withheld and collected at the source under Part II of Subchapter D shall, in respect of the recipient of the income, be deemed to have been paid by him on the fifteenth day of the third month following the close of his taxable year in which such tax was so withheld and collected; except that in the case of a nonresident alien individual, it shall be deemed to have been paid by him on the fifteenth day of the sixth month following the close of his taxable year.
"(f) Tax Withheld at Source.—For refund or credit in case of

withholding agent, see sections 143 (f) and 466 (f)."

(f) Cross References .-

(1) PAYMENT OF TAX.—Section 56 (f) is amended to read as follows:

"(f) TAX WITHHELD AT SOURCE.—For requirement of withholding tax at source, see sections 143, 144, and Part II of Subchapter D."

(2) CREDITS AGAINST TAX.—The Internal Revenue Code is

amended by adding after section 33 the following new sections:

Ante, p. 858.

53 Stat. 24. 26 U. S. C. § 32. Ante, p. 890. 53 Stat. 91. 26 U. S. C. § 322 (a).

Ante, p. 887.

53 Stat. 24. 26 U. S. C. §§ 31, 32. Ante, p. 885.

53 Stat. 92. 26 U. S. C. § 322 (e).

Ante, p. 887.

53 Stat. 62. 26 U. S. C. § 143 (f). Ante, p. 890.

53 Stat. 32. 26 U.S.C. § 56 (f).

53 Stat. 60, 62. 26 U. S. C. § 143; Supp. I, §§ 143, 144. Ante, pp. 808, 860, 861. 887. 53 Stat. 24. 26 U. S. C. § 33.

"SEC. 34. CREDITS AGAINST VICTORY TAX.

"For credits against victory tax, see sections 453, 454, and 466 (e). Ante, pp. 885, 886,

"SEC. 35. CREDIT FOR TAX WITHHELD ON WAGES.

"For credit against the tax for tax withheld on wages, see section 466 (e)."

(3) Penalties.—Section 145 (d) is amended by inserting "(1)" before the first paragraph and by adding the following new paragraph:

"(2) For additional penalties for fraudulent receipts or failure to furnish receipts required by section 469, see section 470."

(4) MINIMUM PENALTY FOR FAILURE TO FILE RETURN.—Section 291 is amended by inserting "(a)" before the first paragraph and by adding the following new subsection:

Ante, p. 890.

53 Stat. 63. 26 U. S. C. § 145 (d). Ante, p. 836.

Ante, pp. 891, 892.

53 Stat. 88. 26 U. S. C. § 291.

Ante. p. 887 Ante. p. 892. Ante, pp. 821, 848.

"(b) For minimum addition to the tax for failure of withholding agent to make and file return required by Part II of Subchapter D, see section 470 (c)."

5) INTEREST ON OVERPAYMENTS.—Section 3771 is amended by

adding at the end thereof the following new subsection:

"(e) Tax Withheld at Source.—For date of payment in respect of tax withheld at source under Part II of Subchapter D, see section 322 (e)."

(g) Effective Date.—The provisions of this section shall take effect on January 1, 1943, and shall be applicable to all wages (as defined in Part II of Subchapter D) paid on or after such date.

Ante, p. 887.

Ante, p. 887. Ante, p. 893.

Part II—Personal Holding Companies

SEC. 181. RATES OF PERSONAL HOLDING COMPANY TAX.

Rate schedule. 53 Stat. 104. 26 U.S.C., Supp. I,

The rate schedule of section 500 (relating to tax on personal holding companies) is amended to read as follows:

"(1) 75 per centum of the amount thereof not in excess of

\$2,000; plus

(2) 85 per centum of the amount thereof in excess of \$2,000.".

SEC. 182. EXEMPTION OF CERTAIN CORPORATIONS FROM PERSONAL HOLDING COMPANY TAX.

(a) Exemption of Certain Loan and Investment Corporations.—Section 501 (b) (relating to exemptions from personal holding company tax) is amended to read as follows:

"(b) Exceptions.—The term 'personal holding company' does not

include-

"(1) A corporation exempt from taxation under section 101.

"(2) A bank as defined in section 104.
"(3) A life insurance company.

"(4) A surety company.

"(5) A foreign personal holding company as defined in section

"(6) A licensed personal finance company under State supervision, at least 80 per centum of the gross income of which is lawful interest received from individuals each of whose indebtedness to such company did not at any time during the taxable year exceed \$300 in principal amount, if such interest is not payable in advance or compounded and is computed only on unpaid

balances.

"(7) A loan or investment corporation, a substantial part of the business of which consists of receiving funds not subject to check and evidenced by installment or fully paid certificates of indebtedness or investment, and making loans and discounts, and the loans to a person who is a shareholder in such corporation during such taxable year by or for whom 10 per centum or more in value of its outstanding stock is owned directly or indirectly (including in the case of an individual, stock owned by the members of his family as defined in section 503 (a) (2)) outstanding at any time during such year do not exceed \$5,000 in principal

(b) TAXABLE YEARS TO WHICH AMENDMENT APPLICABLE.—The amendment made by this section shall be applicable to taxable years beginning after December 31, 1941, except that if a taxpayer, within the time and in the manner and subject to such regulations as the Commissioner with the approval of the Secretary prescribes, elects to have such amendments apply retroactively to all taxable years of the

53 Stat. 105. 26 U.S.C. § 501 (b).

53 Stat. 33. 26 U. S. C. § 101. Ante, pp. 836, 872. 53 Stat. 36. 26 U. S. C. § 104; Supp. I, § 104.

53 Stat. 92. 26 U. S. C. § 331.

53 Stat. 106. 26 U. S. C. § 503 (a) (2).

taxpayer beginning after December 31, 1938, and not beginning after December 31, 1941, such amendments shall be applicable to such taxable years.

SEC. 183, CONSOLIDATED INCOME.

Section 501 (c) is amended by inserting at the end thereof the following: "The preceding sentence shall apply only if the common parent corporation is a common parent of an affiliated group of railroad corporations which would be eligible to file consolidated returns under section 141 prior to its amendment by the Revenue Act of 1942.

53 Stat. 105. 26 U. S. C. § 501 (c).

53 Stat. 58. 26 U. S. C. § 141. Ante, p. 858.

SEC. 184. COMPUTATION OF UNDISTRIBUTED SUBCHAPTER A NET INCOME.

(a) Section 504 (relating to deductions from subchapter A net income) is amended by adding at the end thereof the following:

"(d) Amounts distributed before January 1, 1944, in redemption of preferred stock outstanding before January 1, 1934 (including any preferred stock issued after January 1, 1934, in lieu of such previously outstanding preferred stock) if such distributions are made by a corporation the aggregate of whose gross sales and gross receipts arising from manufacturing, commercial, processing, and service operations during the four-year period immediately before January 1, 1934, exceeded the aggregate of its gross receipts from dividends, interest, royalties, annuities, and gains from the sale or exchange of stock or securities during such period."

53 Stat. 107. 26 U. S. C. § 504; Supp. I, § 504. Ante, p. 829. Post, p. 896.

(b) The amendment made by this section shall be applicable to taxable years beginning after December 31, 1940.

SEC. 185. DEFICIENCY DIVIDENDS OF PERSONAL HOLDING COM-PANIES.

Section 506 (relating to credits and refunds in case of deficiency dividends) is amended by inserting at the end thereof the following new subsections:

53 Stat. 108. 26 U. S. C. § 506; Supp. I, § 506.

"(g) Rate for Taxable Years 1939, 1940, and 1941.—If the deficiency is established or determined for a taxable year which begins after December 31, 1939, and does not begin after December 31, 1941, the rates under subsections (a) and (b) used in determining the amount of the credit or refund shall be 71½ per centum in lieu of 65 per centum and 82½ per centum in lieu of 75 per centum.

"(h) Rate for Taxable Years After 1941.—If the deficiency is established or determined for a taxable year which begins after

"(h) RATE FOR TAXABLE YEARS AFTER 1941.—If the deficiency is established or determined for a taxable year which begins after December 31, 1941, the rates under subsections (a) and (b) used in determining the amount of the credit or refund shall be 75 per centum in lieu of 65 per centum and 85 per centum in lieu of 75 per centum."

SEC. 186. DISTRIBUTIONS BY PERSONAL HOLDING COMPANIES.

(a) Definition of Dividend.—

(1) AMENDMENT TO INTERNAL REVENUE CODE.—Section 115 (a) of the Internal Revenue Code (relating to definition of dividend) is amended by inserting at the end thereof the following new sentence: "Such term also means any distribution to its shareholders, whether in money or in other property, made by a corporation which, under the law applicable to the taxable year in which the distribution is made, is a personal holding company, or which, for the taxable year in respect of which the distribution

53 Stat. 46. 26 U. S. C. § 115 (a). Ante, p. 875.

53 Stat. 107, 108. 26 U.S. C. §§ 504 26 U.S. C. §§ 504 (c), 506; Supp. I, §§ 504 (c) 506. 506. Infra. Ante, p. 895; post, p. 52 Stat. 496.

52 Stat. 560, 561. Infra.

49 Stat. 1687.

53 Stat. 46; 52 Stat. 496; 49 Stat. 1687. 26 U.S.C. § 115 (b).

53 Stat. 107; 52 Stat. 560. 26 U. S. C. § 504 (c); Supp. I, § 504 (c). is made under section 504 (c) or section 506 or a corresponding provision of a prior income tax law, is a personal holding company under the law applicable to such taxable year."

(2) AMENDMENT TO REVENUE ACT OF 1938.—Section 115 (a) of the Revenue Act of 1938 (relating to definition of dividend) is amended by inserting at the end thereof the following new sentence: "Such term also means any distribution to its shareholders, whether in money or in other property, made by a corporation which, under the law applicable to the taxable year in which the distribution is made, is a personal holding company, or which, for the taxable year in respect of which the distribution is made under section 405 (c) or section 407 is a personal holding company under the law applicable to such taxable year."

(3) AMENDMENT TO REVENUE ACT OF 1936.—Section 115 (a) of the Revenue Act of 1936 (relating to definition of dividend) is amended by inserting at the end thereof the following new sentence: "Such term also means any distribution to its shareholders, whether in money or in other property, made by a corporation in a taxable year of the corporation beginning after December 31, 1936, which, for such year, is a personal holding company."

(b) Personal Holding Company Dividends Not Applied in REDUCTION OF BASIS.—Section 115 (b) (relating to source of distributions) of the Internal Revenue Code, the Revenue Act of 1938, and the Revenue Act of 1936, are amended by inserting at the end of such subsection the following new sentence: "The preceding sentence shall not apply to a distribution which is a dividend within the meaning of the last sentence of subsection (a)."

(c) DIVIDENDS PAID AFTER CLOSE OF TAXABLE YEAR.—Section 504 (c) of the Internal Revenue Code and section 405 (c) of the Revenue Act of 1938 (relating to credit for dividends paid after close of taxable year) are amended as follows:

(1) By amending subsection (c) (1) and (2) to read as follows:

"(c) Dividends paid after the close of the taxable year and before the 15th day of the third month following the close of the taxable year, if claimed under this subsection in the return, but only to the extent to which such dividends would have been includible in the computation of the basic surtax credit for the taxable year if distributed during such taxable year; but the amount allowed under this subsection shall not exceed either:

"(1) The undistributed Subchapter A net income for the taxable year computed without regard to this subsection; or";
(2) And by striking out "(3)" and inserting in lieu thereof

"(2)".

(d) Deficiency Dividends.—

(1) AMENDMENT OF INTERNAL REVENUE CODE.—The first sentence of section 506 (c) (1) is amended to read as follows: "For the purposes of this subchapter, the term 'deficiency dividends' means the amount of the dividends paid, on or after the date of the closing agreement or on or after the date the decision of the Board or the judgment becomes final, as the case may be, and prior to filing claim under subsection (d), which would have been includible in the computation of the basic surtax credit for the taxable year with respect to which the deficiency was asserted if distributed during such taxable year."

(2) AMENDMENT OF REVENUE ACT OF 1938.—The first sentence of section 407 (c) (1) of the Revenue Act of 1938 is amended to read as follows: "For the purposes of this title, the term 'deficiency dividends' means the amount of the dividends paid,

53 Stat. 109. 26 U. S. C. § 506 (c) (1). "Deficiency divi-

52 Stat. 562.

on or after the date of the closing agreement or on or after the date the decision of the Board or the judgment becomes final, as the case may be, and prior to filing claim under subsection (d), which would have been includible in the computation of the basic surtax credit for the taxable year with respect to which the deficiency was asserted if distributed during such taxable year."

(3) AMENDMENT OF REVENUE ACT OF 1936.—Title 1A of the Revenue Act of 1936, as amended (relating to surtax on personal holding companies), is further amended by adding at the end

thereof the following new section:

49 Stat. 1732.

"SEC. 361. DEFICIENCY DIVIDENDS.

"The provisions of section 407 of the Revenue Act of 1938, as amended by section 185 (d) (2) of the Revenue Act of 1942 shall be applicable with respect to a deficiency established or determined under this title for any taxable year beginning after December 31, 1936, and before January 1, 1938."

(e) Consent Dividends.—

(1) Section 28 (d) (1) of the Internal Revenue Code and section 28 (d) (1) of the Revenue Act of 1938 are amended to

read as follows:

"(1) Unless it files (in accordance with regulations prescribed by the Commissioner with the approval of the Secretary) with its return for such year, or within one year after the date of enactment of the Revenue Act of 1942, in the case of a corporation which is a personal holding company for the taxable year with respect to which it claims the benefits of this section, signed consents made under oath by persons who were shareholders, on the last day of the taxable year, of the corporation, of any class of consent stock; and".

(2) For the purposes of this section, section 28 of the Revenue Act of 1938, as amended by this subsection, shall be applicable with respect to a corporation for any taxable year beginning after December 31, 1936, and before January 1, 1938, for which it was, under the applicable law, a personal holding company, and to its shareholders. Such section 28 shall be applied as though the phrase "basic surtax credit" in subsection

(c) thereof were "dividends paid credit".

(f) Effective Date of Amendments.—The amendments made by subsections (a) to (e), inclusive, shall be effective as of the date of

enactment of the laws amended thereby.

(g) Retroactive Application.—The amendments made by subsections (a) to (d), inclusive, shall not apply with respect to any distribution, which is a dividend solely by reason of the last sentence of section 115 (a) of the applicable revenue law, made prior to the date of enactment of this Act by a corporation which, under the law applicable to the taxable year in which the distribution is made, is a personal holding company, or which, for the taxable year in respect of which it is made under section 504 (c) or section 506 or a corresponding provision of a prior income tax law, is a personal holding company under the law applicable to such taxable year, unless—

(1) The corporation (under regulations prescribed by the Commissioner with the approval of the Secretary) files, within one year after the date of the enactment of this Act, a claim for the benefit of this section on account of such distribution;

52 Stat. 561. Ante, p. 896.

53 Stat. 22; 52 Stat. 471. 26 U. S. C. § 28 (d) (1) and note.

52 Stat. 470.

26 U.S.C. § 115 (a) and note.

53 Stat. 107,108, 26 U. S. C. §§ 504 (c), 506; Supp. I, §§ 504 (c), 506. Ante, pp. 895, 896; post, p. 898. Filing of claim. Signed consents.

Payment.

26 U. S. C. §§ 143 (b), 144, and notes; Supp. I, §§ 143 (b), 144. Ante, pp. 808, 861.

53 Stat. 75, 78. 26 U. S. C. §§ 211(a), 231 (a); Supp. I, §§ 211 (a), 231 (a). Ante, pp. 807, 808, 861.

53 Stat. 462. 26 U. S. C. § 3761 and note. 52 Stat. 578.

53 Stat. 83. 26 U. S. C. § 272 (f) and note.

53 Stat. 108. 26 U. S. C. § 506; Supp. I, § 506. Ante, p. 895.

49 Stat. 1732; 52 Stat. 561; 53 Stat. 108.
26 U. S. C. § 505.
Ante, pp. 835, 846.

(2) Such claim is accompanied by signed consents made under oath by each person to whom the corporation made such distribution agreeing to the inclusion of the amount of such distribution to him in his gross income as a taxable dividend. If any such person is no longer in existence or is under disability then the consent may be made by his legal representative; and

(3) Each such consent filed is accompanied by cash, or such other medium of payment as the Commissioner may by regulations authorize, in an amount equal to the amount that would be required by section 143 (b) or 144 of the applicable revenue law to be deducted and withheld by the corporation if the amount of the distribution to the shareholder had been paid to the shareholder in cash as a dividend. The amount accompanying such consent shall be credited against the tax under the applicable revenue law imposed by section 211 (a) or 231 (a)

upon the shareholder.

(h) OVERPAYMENTS AND DEFICIENCIES.—If the refund or credit of any overpayment for any taxable year, to the extent resulting from the application of subsections (e) and (g) of this section is prevented on the date of the enactment of this Act or within one year from such date, then, notwithstanding any other provision of law or rule of law (other than this subsection and other than section 3761 of the Internal Revenue Code or section 3229 of the Revised Statutes, or such section as amended by section 815 of the Revenue Act of 1938, relating to compromises), such overpayment shall be refunded or credited in the same manner as in the case of an income tax erroneously collected if claim therefor is filed within one year from the date of the enactment of this Act. If the assessment or collection of any deficiency for any taxable year, to the extent resulting from the application of subsections (e) and (g) of this section, is prevented on the date of the filing of the shareholders' consents referred to in subsection (e) or on the date of filing of the claim referred to in subsection (g) (1) or within one year from the date of filing of such consents or claim, as the case may be, then, notwithstanding any other provision of law or rule of law, such deficiency shall be assessed and collected if assessment is made within one year from the date of the filing of such consents or claim, as the case may The failure of a shareholder to include in his gross income for the proper taxable year the amount specified in the consent made by him referred to in subsection (g) (2) shall have the same effect, with respect to the deficiency resulting therefrom, as is provided in section 272 (f) of the applicable revenue law with respect to a deficiency resulting from a mathematical error appearing on the face of the return.

(i) Additional Credit or Refund for Prior Years.—Section 506 of the Internal Revenue Code (relating to deficiency dividends) is amended by adding at the end thereof the following new subsection:

"(j) Additional Credit or Refund for Prior Taxable Year.—
"(1) Election to have a certain dividend considered as a deficiency dividend.—If a corporation was a personal holding company for any taxable year beginning after December 31, 1936, and prior to January 1, 1942, and its adjusted net income, Title 1A net income or Subchapter A net income, in the case of a tax imposed by Titles 1A of the Revenue Acts of 1936 and 1938, or Subchapter A of the Internal Revenue Code, as the case may be, exceeds the sum of (A) the earnings and profits accumulated after February 28, 1913, as of the beginning of the taxable year and (B) the earnings and profits of the taxable year (computed

as of the close of the taxable year without diminution by reason of any distributions made during the taxable year) and if prior to the date of enactment of the Revenue Act of 1942, the corporation paid all or any portion of the tax imposed by Title 1A or Subchapter A for any such taxable year or years then the corporation may elect, within six months after the date of enactment of the Revenue Act of 1942 to have the amount of a dividend paid within such six-month period considered as a deficiency dividend. Such election must be made by the filing of a claim (under regulations prescribed by the Commissioner with the approval of the Secretary) within such six-month period and after the payment of the dividend, specifying the taxable year or years with respect to which such dividend applies, setting forth the amount of the dividend to be apportioned to each taxable year, and claiming the benefit of this subsection by reason of such dividend.

claiming the benefit of this subsection by reason of such dividend.

"(2) Effect of Election.—If the corporation exercises the election authorized under paragraph (1) of this subsection—

"(A) The credit or refund shall be computed, and credited or refunded without interest, as provided in subsection (b) and at the rates provided therein or in subsection (g), as the case may be, but shall be subject to the limitations in subsection (f). In any case where a dividend is apportioned to more than one taxable year the credit or refund shall be determined for each taxable year on the basis of the amount of the dividend apportioned thereto; and

"(B) The dividends paid credit for the taxable year in which paid and for a prior taxable year or years shall be

determined as provided in subsection (c) (2)."

TITLE II—EXCESS PROFITS TAX

Part I-Excess Profits Tax Amendments

SEC. 201. TAXABLE YEARS TO WHICH AMENDMENTS APPLICABLE.

Except as otherwise expressly provided, the amendments made by this title shall be applicable only with respect to taxable years beginning after December 31, 1941.

SEC. 202. RATE OF EXCESS-PROFITS TAX.

Section 710 (a) (1) (relating to rate of excess-profits tax) is amended to read as follows:

"(1) General Rule.—There shall be levied, collected, and paid, for each taxable year, upon the adjusted excess-profits net income, as defined in subsection (b), of every corporation (except a corporation exempt under section 727) a tax equal to whichever of the following amounts is the lesser:

"(A) 90 per centum of the adjusted excess-profits net

income, or

"(B) an amount which when added to the tax imposed for the taxable year under Chapter 1 (other than section 102) equals 80 per centum of the corporation surtax net income, computed under section 15 or Supplement G, as the case may be, but without regard to the credit provided in section 26 (e) (relating to income subject to the tax imposed by this subchapter)."

54 Stat. 975. 26 U. S. C., Supp. I, § 710 (a) (1).

54 Stat. 988. 26 U. S. C. § 727. Post, pp. 908, 920.

53 Stat. 4, 35, 71. 26 U. S. C. §§ 1-396; Supp. I, ch. 1. Ante, pp. 802, 805, 821, 861, 867-875.

Ante, p. 806.

SEC. 203. CERTAIN FISCAL YEAR TAXPAYERS.

Ante, p. 899; post, p. 931.

(a) Computation of Tax for Year Ending in 1942.—Section 710 (a) (relating to imposition of excess-profits tax) is amended by in-

serting at the end thereof the following new paragraph:

"(3) Taxable years beginning in 1941 and ending after june

30, 1942.—In the case of a taxable year beginning in 1941 and ending after June 30, 1942, the tax shall be an amount equal to

"(A) that portion of a tentative tax under this subchapter, computed without regard to section 203 of the Revenue Act of 1942, which the number of days in such taxable year before July 1, 1942, bears to the total number of days in such taxable

year, plus

"(B) that portion of a tentative tax under this subchapter, computed as if the amendments made by sections 105 (c), 105 (d), 202, and 206 of the Revenue Act of 1942 were applicable to such taxable year, which the number of days in such taxable year after June 30, 1942, bears to the total number of days in such taxable year."

(b) TAXABLE YEARS TO WHICH AMENDMENT APPLICABLE.—The amendment made by this section shall be applicable to taxable years

beginning in 1941 and ending after June 30, 1942.

SEC. 204. TWO-YEAR CARRY-BACK OF UNUSED EXCESS PROFITS CREDIT.

55 Stat. 17. 26 U. S. C., Supp. I, § 710 (b) (3).

Ante, pp. 806, 899. Post, p. 903.

(a) TECHNICAL AMENDMENT.—Section 710 (b) (3), relating to the deduction of the excess profits credit carry-over, is amended by striking out "excess profits credit carry-over" and by inserting in lieu thereof "unused excess profits credit adjustment".

(b) CARRY-BACK OF UNUSED CREDIT.—Section 710 (c) (relating to the determination of the excess profits credit carry-over) is amended

to read as follows:

"(c) Unused Excess Profits Credit Adjustment.—
"(1) Computation of unused excess profits credit adjust-MENT.—The unused excess profits credit adjustment for any taxable year shall be the aggregate of the unused excess profits credit carry-overs and unused excess profits credit carry-backs to such

taxable year.

"(2) Definition of unused excess profits credit.—The term 'unused excess profits credit' means the excess, if any, of the excess profits credit for any taxable year beginning after December 31, 1939, over the excess profits net income for such taxable

year, computed on the basis of the excess profits credit applicable to such taxable year. For such purpose the excess profits credit and the excess profits net income for any taxable year beginning in 1940 shall be computed under the law applicable to taxable years beginning in 1941. The unused excess profits credit for a taxable year of less than twelve months shall be an amount which is such part of the unused excess profits credit determined under the first sentence of this paragraph as the number of days in the taxable year is of the number of days in the twelve months ending with the close of the taxable year.

"(3) Amount of unused excess profits credit carry-back and

"(A) Unused Excess Profits Credit Carry-Back.—If for any taxable year beginning after December 31, 1941, the taxpayer has an unused excess profits credit, such unused

55 Stat. 17. 26 U. S. C., Supp. I, § 710 (c).

"Unused excess profits credit."

excess profits credit shall be an unused excess profits credit carry-back for each of the two preceding taxable years, except that the carry-back in the case of the first preceding taxable year shall be the excess, if any, of the amount of such unused excess profits credit over the adjusted excess profits net income for the second preceding taxable year computed for such taxable year (i) by determining the unused excess profits credit adjustment without regard to such unused excess profits credit and (ii) without the deduction of the

specific exemption provided in subsection (b) (1).

"(B) Unused Excess Profits Credit Carry-Over.—If for any taxable year beginning after December 31, 1939, the taxpayer has an unused excess profits credit, such unused excess profits credit shall be an unused excess profits credit carryover for each of the two succeeding taxable years, except that the carry-over in the case of the second succeeding taxable year shall be the excess, if any, of the amount of such unused excess profits credit over the adjusted excess profits net income for the intervening taxable year computed for such intervening taxable year (i) by determining the unused excess profits credit adjustment without regard to such unused excess profits credit or to any unused excess profits credit carry-back, and (ii) without the deduction of the specific exemption provided in subsection (b) (1). For the purposes of the preceding sentence, the unused excess profits credit for any taxable year beginning after December 31, 1941, shall first be reduced by the sum of the adjusted excess profits net income for each of the two preceding taxable years (computed for each such preceding taxable year (i) by determining the unused excess profits credit adjustment without regard to such unused excess profits credit or to the unused excess profits credit for the succeeding taxable year, and (ii) without the deduction of the specific exemption provided in subsection (b) (1)).

"(4) No CARRY-BACK TO YEAR PRIOR TO 1941.—As used in this subsection, the term 'preceding taxable year' and the term 'preceding taxable years' do not include any taxable year beginning

prior to January 1, 1941."

(c) TAXABLE YEARS TO WHICH AMENDMENTS APPLICABLE.—The amendments made by this section shall be applicable only to taxable years beginning after December 31, 1940.

SEC. 205. COMPUTATION OF EXCESS PROFITS AND INVESTED CAPITAL OF INSURANCE COMPANIES.

(a) Section 710 (a) (relating to imposition of excess profits tax) is amended by inserting at the end thereof the following new para-

graph:

"(4) MUTUAL INSURANCE COMPANIES.—In the case of a mutual insurance company other than life or marine, if the gross amount received from interest, dividends, rents, and premiums (including deposits and assessments) is over \$75,000 but less than \$125,000, the tax imposed under this section shall be an amount which bears the same proportion to the amount ascertained under this section, computed without reference to this paragraph, as the excess over \$75,000 of such gross amount received bears to \$50,000."

Post, p. 902.

Post, p. 902.

Post, p. 902.

Ante, p. 900.

54 Stat. 976. 26 U. S. C. § 711 (a) (1); Supp. I, § 711 (a) (1).

Post, p. 903.
Deductions from normal tax net in-

Ante, p. 870.

54 Stat. 976, 26 U. S. C. § 711 (a) (2); Supp. I, § 711 (a) (2). Ante, p. 870. Post, p. 903.

Ante, p. 870.

Ante, p. 870. 54 Stat. 982. Supp. I, § 718.

54 Stat. 984. 26 U. S. C. § 719. Post, p. 936.

54 Stat. 986. 26 U. S. C. § 723.

54 Stat. 975. 26 U. S. C. § 710 (b) (1).

54 Stat. 989; 55 Stat. 31. - 26 U. S. C., Supp. I, § 729 (b) (2).

(b) Section 711 (a) (1) (relating to excess profits credit computed under income credit) is amended by inserting at the end thereof

the following new paragraph:

"(H) Life Insurance Companies.—In the case of a life insurance company, there shall be deducted from the normal tax net income, the excess of (1) the product of (i) the figure determined and proclaimed under section 202 (b) and (ii) the excess profits net income computed without regard to this subparagraph, over (2) the adjustment for certain reserves provided in section 202 (c)."
(c) Section 711 (a) (2) (relating to the excess profits credit com-

puted under invested capital credit) is amended by inserting at the

end thereof the following new subparagraph:

"(J) In the case of a life insurance company, there shall be deducted from the normal tax net income, 50 per centum of the excess of (1) the product of (i) the figure determined and proclaimed under section 202 (b) and (ii) the excess profits net income computed without regard to this subparagraph, over (2) the adjustment for certain reserves provided in section 202 (c)."

(d) Section 718 (relating to equity invested capital) is amended

by inserting at the end thereof the following new subsection:

"(f) The reserves of an insurance company shall not be included in computing equity invested capital under this section but shall be treated as borrowed capital as provided in section 719.

(e) Section 719 (a) (relating to borrowed capital) is amended by striking out the period at the end thereof and inserting a comma and the word "plus" and a comma and the following new paragraphs:

"(3) In the case of an insurance company, the mean of the amount of the pro rata unearned premiums determined at the

beginning and end of the taxable year, plus,

(4) In the case of a life insurance company, the mean of the amount of the adjusted reserves, and the mean of the amount of the reserves on insurance or annuity contracts (or contracts arising out of insurance or annuity contracts) which do not involve, at the time with reference to which the computation was made, life, health, or accident contingencies, determined at the beginning and end of the taxable year."

(f) Section 723 (relating to equity invested capital in special cases) is amended by designating the present section as subsection "(a)" and

by adding a new subsection to read as follows:

"(b) The equity invested capital of mutual insurance companies other than life, or marine, shall be the mean of the surplus, plus 50 per centum of the mean of all reserves required by law, both surplus and reserves being determined at the beginning and end of the taxable year. The surplus shall include all of the assets of the company other than reserves required by law."

(g) Specific Exemption and Returns of Interinsurers and

RECIPROCAL UNDERWRITERS.-

(1) Specific exemption.—Section 710 (b) (1) is amended by inserting before the semicolon at the end thereof a comma and the following: "and in the case of a mutual insurance company (other than life or marine) which is an interinsurer or reciprocal underwriter a specific exemption of \$50,000".

(2) Returns.—Section 729 (b) (2) is amended by inserting before the period at the end thereof the following: "or, in the case of a mutual insurance company (other than life or marine) which is an interinsurer or reciprocal underwriter, is not greater

than \$50,000".

SEC. 206. TECHNICAL AMENDMENTS MADE NECESSARY BY CHANGE IN BASE FOR CORPORATION TAX.

(a) Disallowance of Credit in Computing Excess-Profits Net INCOME.

(1) Section 711 (a) (1) (A) (relating to adjustment for taxes in computing excess profits net income under the income credit) is amended to read as follows:

"(A) Income Subject to Excess Profits Tax.—In computing such normal-tax net income the credit provided in section 26 (e) (relating to income subject to the tax imposed by this

subchapter) shall not be allowed;".

(2) Section 711 (a) (2) (C) (relating to adjustment for taxes in computing excess-profits net income under the invested capital

credit) is amended to read as follows:

"(C) Income Subject to Excess Profits Tax.—In computing such normal-tax net income the credit provided in section 26 (e) (relating to income subject to the tax imposed by this subchapter) shall not be allowed;".

(b) Rules for Computation of Charitable, Etc., Deductions in Computing Excess Profits Net Income Repealed.—

(1) Section 711 (a) (1) (G) (relating to the deduction for

charitable contributions, etc., in computing excess profits net income under the income credit) is repealed.

(2) Section 711 (a) (2) (I) (relating to the deduction for charitable contributions, etc., in computing excess profits net income under the invested capital method) is repealed.

55 Stat. 701. 26 U. S. C., Supp. I, § 711 (a) (1) (G).

54 Stat. 976. 26 U. S. C., Supp. I, § 711 (a) (1) (A).

Ante, p. 806.

Ante, p. 806.

54 Stat. 977. 26 U. S. C., Supp. I, § 711 (a) (2) (C).

55 Stat. 701. 26 U. S. C., Supp. I, § 711 (a) (2) (I).

SEC. 207. CAPITAL GAINS AND LOSSES IN THE COMPUTATION OF EXCESS PROFITS NET INCOME.

(a) Excess Profits Credit Computed Under Income Credit.—Sec-

tion 711 (a) (1) (B) is amended to read as follows:

"(B) Gains and Losses From Sales or Exchanges of Capital Assets.—There shall be excluded gains and losses from sales or exchanges of capital assets held for more than 6 months.

(b) Retirement of Long-Term Bonds.—Section 711 (a) (1) (C) is amended by striking out "eighteen months" and inserting in lieu thereof "6 months"

(c) Excess Profits Credit Computed Under Invested Capital CREDIT.—Section 711 (a) (2) (D) is amended to read as follows:

"(D) Gains and Losses From Sales or Exchanges of Capital Assets.—There shall be excluded gains and losses from sales or exchanges of capital assets held for more than 6 months.

(d) Retirement of Long-Term Bonds.—Section 711 (a) (2) (E) is amended by striking out "eighteen months" and inserting in lieu thereof "6 months".

(e) Taxable Years in Base Period.—Section 711 (b) (1) (B) is

amended to read as follows:

"(B) Gains and Losses From Sales or Exchanges of Capital Assets.—There shall be excluded gains and losses from sales or exchanges of capital assets held for more than 6 months."

(f) RETIREMENT OF LONG-TERM BONDS.—Section 711 (b) (1) (C) is amended by striking out "eighteen months" and inserting in lieu thereof "6 months".

(g) Capital Gains and Losses.—Section 711 (b) (2) is amended to read as follows:

"(2) Capital gains and losses.—For the purposes of this subsection the normal-tax net income and the special-class net

54 Stat. 976. 26 U. S. C. § 711 (a) (1) (B). Post, p. 904.

54 Stat. 976. 26 U. S. C. § 711 (a) (1) (C).

54 Stat. 977. 26 U. S. C. § 711 (a) (2) (D). Post, p. 904.

54 Stat. 977. 26 U. S. C. § 711 (a) (2) (E).

54 Stat. 978. 26 U. S. C. § 711 (b) (1) (B). Post, p. 904.

54 Stat. 978. 26 U. S. C. § 711 (b) (1) (C).

54 Stat. 979. 26 U. S. C. § 711 (b) (2).

53 Stat. 13, 50. 26 U. S. C. §§ 23 (g) (2), 117; Supp. I, § 117. Ante, pp. 821, 843, 844, 846, 847.

Ante, p. 844.

54 Stat. 985. 26 U. S. C. § 720 (c). income referred to in paragraph (1) shall be computed as if section 23 (g) (2), section 23 (k) (2), and section 117 were part of the revenue law applicable to the taxable year the excess profits net income of which is being computed, with the exception that the capital loss carry-over provided in subsection (e) (1) of section 117 shall be applicable to net capital losses for taxable years beginning after December 31, 1934. Such exception shall not apply for the purposes of computing the tax under this subchapter for any taxable year beginning before January 1, 1943."
(h) INADMISSIBLE ASSET RATIO.—Section 720 (c) is amended by

(h) INADMISSIBLE ASSET RATIO.—Section 720 (c) is amended by striking out "short-term capital gain" and inserting in lieu thereof "gain from the sale or exchange of a capital asset held for not more than 6 months".

SEC. 208. RETROACTIVE TREATMENT OF INVOLUNTARY CONVERSIONS AS CAPITAL TRANSACTIONS.

Ante, p. 903.

Effective with respect to taxable years beginning after December 31, 1939, but not beginning after December 31, 1941, the second sentence of section 711 (a) (1) (B), section 711 (a) (2) (D), and section 711 (b) (1) (B) is amended to read as follows: "There shall be excluded the excess of the recognized gains from the sale, exchange, or involuntary conversion (as a result of destruction in whole or in part, theft or seizure, or an exercise of the power of requisition or condemnation or the threat or imminence thereof) of property held for more than eighteen months which is of a character which is subject to the allowance for depreciation provided in section 23 (1) over the recognized losses from the sale, exchange, or involuntary conversion of such property. For the purposes of this subparagraph, section 117 (h) (1) and (2) shall apply in determining the period for which the taxpayer has held property which is of a character which is subject to the allowance for depreciation provided in section 23 (1)."

•

Ante, p. 819.

53 Stat. 52. 26 U. S. C. § 117 (h) (1), (2). Ante, p. 847.

SEC. 209. NONTAXABLE INCOME FROM EXEMPT EXCESS OUTPUT OF MINING AND TIMBER OPERATIONS AND FROM BONUS INCOME OF MINES, ETC.

Ante, p. 902.

(a) INCOME CREDIT.—Section 711 (a) (1) (relating to excess profits credit computed under income credit) is amended by inserting at the end thereof the following new subparagraph:

"(I) Nontaxable Income of Certain Industries With Depletable Resources.—In the case of a producer of minerals, or a producer of logs or lumber from a timber block, as defined in section 735, there shall be excluded nontaxable income from exempt excess output of mines and timber blocks and nontaxable bonus income provided in section 735."

Post, p. 905.

(b) INVESTED CAPITAL CREDIT.—Section 711 (a) (2) (relating to excess profits credit computed under invested capital credit) is amended by inserting at the end thereof the following new subparagraph:

Ante, p. 902.

"(K) Nontaxable Income of Certain Industries With Depletable Resources.—In the case of a producer of minerals, or a producer of logs or lumber from a timber block, as defined in section 735, there shall be excluded nontaxable income from exempt excess output of mines and timber blocks and nontaxable bonus income provided in section 735."

Post, p. 905.

56 STAT.]

(c) Nontaxable Income.—Subchapter E of Chapter 2 is amended by inserting after section 734 the following new section:

54 Stat. 975. 26 U. S. C. §§ 710-752; Supp. I, §§ 710-743. Post, p. 921.

Ante. p. 904.

"SEC. 735. NONTAXABLE INCOME FROM CERTAIN MINING AND TIM-BER OPERATIONS.

"(a) Definitions.—For the purposes of this section, section 711

(a) (1), and section 711 (a) (2) (K)—

"(1) PRODUCER.—The term 'producer' means a corporation which extracts minerals from a mineral property, or cuts logs from a timber block, in which an economic interest is owned by such corporation.

"(2) MINERAL UNIT.—The term 'mineral unit' means a unit of metal, coal, or nonmetallic substance in the minerals recovered

from the operation of a mineral property.

"(3) TIMBER UNIT.—The term 'timber unit' means a unit of

timber recovered from the operation of a timber block.

"(4) Excess output.—The term 'excess output' means the excess of the mineral units or the timber units for the taxable

year over the normal output.

"(5) NORMAL OUTPUT. The term 'normal output' means the average annual mineral units, or the average annual timber units, as the case may be, recovered in the taxable years beginning after December 31, 1935, and not beginning after December 31, 1939 (hereinafter called 'base period'), of the person owning the mineral property or the timber block (whether or not the taxpayer). The average annual mineral units or timber units shall be computed by dividing the aggregate of such mineral units or timber units for the base period by the number of months for which the mineral property or the timber block was in operation during the base period and by multiplying the amount so ascertained by twelve. In any case in which the taxpayer establishes, under regulations prescribed by the Commissioner with the approval of the Secretary, that the operation of any mineral property or any timber block is normally prevented for a specified period each year by physical events outside the control of the taxpayer, the number of months during which such mineral property or timber block is regularly in operation during a taxable year shall be used in computing the average annual mineral units, or timber units, instead of twelve. Any mineral property, or any timber block, which was in operation for less than six months during the base period shall, for the purposes of this section, be deemed not to have been in operation during the base period.

"(6) MINERAL PROPERTY.—The term 'mineral property' means a mineral deposit, the development and plant necessary for the extraction of the deposit, and so much of the surface of the land

as is necessary for purposes of such extraction.

"(7) MINERALS.—The term 'minerals' means ores of the metals, coal, and such nonmetallic substances as abrasives, asbestos, asphaltum, barytes, borax, building stone, cement rock, clay, crushed stone, feldspar, fluorspar, fuller's earth, graphite, gravel, gypsum, limestone, magnesite, marl, mica, mineral pigments, peat, potash, precious stones, refractories, rock phosphate, salt,

sand, silica, slate, soapstone, soda, sulphur, and talc.

"(8) TIMBER BLOCK.—The term 'timber block' means an operation unit existing as of December 31, 1941, which includes all the taxpayer's timber which would logically go to a single given point of manufacture, but shall not include any operation unit

acquired after December 31, 1941.

"Base period."

"(9) NORMAL UNIT PROFIT.—The term 'normal unit profit' means the average profit for the base period per mineral unit for such period, determined by dividing the net income with respect to minerals recovered from the mineral property (computed with the allowance for depletion computed in accordance with the basis for depletion applicable to the current taxable year) during the base period by the number of mineral units recovered from the mineral property during the base period.

"(10) ESTIMATED RECOVERABLE UNITS.—The term 'estimated recoverable units' means the estimated number of units of metal, coal, or nonmetallic substances in the estimated recoverable minerals from the mineral property at the end of the taxable year plus the excess output for such year. All estimates shall be subject to the approval of the Commissioner, the determinations of whom, for the purposes of this section, shall be final and conclusive.

"(11) Exempt excess output.—The term 'exempt excess output' for any taxable year means a number of units equal to the following percentages of the excess output for such year:

"100 per centum if the excess output exceeds 50 per centum of

the estimated recoverable units;
"95 per centum if the excess output exceeds 331/3 but not 50 per centum of the estimated recoverable units;

"90 per centum if the excess output exceeds 25 but not $33\frac{1}{3}$ per centum of the estimated recoverable units;

"85 per centum if the excess output exceeds 20 but not 25 per centum of the estimated recoverable units;

"80 per centum if the excess output exceeds 16% but not 20 per centum of the estimated recoverable units;

"60 per centum if the excess output exceeds 14% but not 16% per centum of the estimated recoverable units;

"40 per centum if the excess output exceeds $12\frac{1}{2}$ but not $14\frac{2}{7}$ per

centum of the estimated recoverable units; "30 per centum if the excess output exceeds 10 but not 12½ per

centum of the estimated recoverable units;

"20 per centum if the excess output exceeds 5 but not 10 per centum of the estimated recoverable units.

"(12) Unit Net income.—The term 'unit net income' means the amount ascertained by dividing the net income (computed with the allowance for depletion) from the coal or iron ore or the timber recovered from the coal mining property, iron mining property, or timber block, as the case may be, during the taxable year by the number of units of coal or iron ore, or timber, recovered from such property in such year.

"(b) NONTAXABLE INCOME FROM EXEMPT EXCESS OUTPUT.—
"(1) GENERAL RULE.—For any taxable year for which the excess output of mineral property which was in operation during the base period exceeds 5 per centum of the estimated recoverable units from such property, the nontaxable income from exempt excess output for such year shall be an amount equal to the exempt excess output for such year multiplied by the normal unit profit, but such amount shall not exceed the net income (computed with the allowance for depletion) attributable to the excess out-

put for such year.

"(2) Coal and iron mines.—For any taxable year, the nontaxable income from exempt excess output of a coal mining or iron mining property which was in operation during the base period shall be an amount equal to the excess output of such property for such year multiplied by one-half of the unit net income from such property for such year, or an amount determined under paragraph (1), whichever the taxpayer elects in accordance with regulations prescribed by the Commissioner with the approval of the Secretary.

"(3) TIMBER PROPERTIES.—For any taxable year, the nontaxable income from exempt excess output of a timber block which was in operation during the base period shall be an amount equal to the excess output of such property for such year multiplied by one-half of the unit net income from such property for

such year.

"(c) Nontaxable Bonus Income.—The term 'nontaxable bonus income' means the amount of the income derived from bonus payments made by any agency of the United States Government on account of the production in excess of a specified quota of a mineral product or of timber the exhaustion of which gives rise to an allowance for depletion under section 23 (m), but such amount shall not exceed the net income (computed with the allowance for depletion) attributable to the output in excess of such quota.

"(d) RULE IN CASE INCOME FROM EXCESS OUTPUT INCLUDES BONUS PAYMENT.—In any case in which the income attributable to the excess output includes bonus payments (as provided in subsection (c)), the taxpayer may elect, under regulations prescribed by the Commissioner with the approval of the Secretary, to receive either the benefits of subsection (b) or subsection (c) with respect to such income as is

attributable to excess output above the specified quota."

(d) Retroactive Exclusion of Nontaxable Bonus Income.—The amendments made by this section inserting section 711 (a) (1) (I), section 711 (a) (2) (K), and section 735 (c), to the extent that they relate to nontaxable bonus income, shall be applicable to taxable years beginning after December 31, 1940.

53 Stat. 14. 26 U. S. C. § 23 (m).

Ante, p. 904. Supra.

SEC. 210. NET OPERATING LOSS DEDUCTION ADJUSTMENT.

(a) Section 711 (a) (1) (relating to the excess profits credit computed under income credit) is amended by adding at the end thereof the following new subparagraph:

"(J) NET OPERATING LOSS DEDUCTION ADJUSTMENT.—The net

operating loss deduction shall be adjusted as follows:

"(i) In computing the net operating loss for any taxable year under section 122 (a), and the net income for any taxable year under section 122 (b), no deduction shall be allowed for any excess profits tax imposed by this subchapter, and, if the excess profits credit for such taxable year was computed under section 714, the deduction for interest shall be reduced by the amount of any reduction under paragraph (2) (B) for such taxable year; and

"(ii) In lieu of the reduction provided in section 122 (c), such reduction shall be in the amount by which the excess profits net income computed with the exceptions and limitations specified in section 122 (d) (1), (2), (3), and (4) and computed without regard to subparagraph (B), without regard to any credit for dividends received, and without regard to any credit for interest received provided in section 26 (a) exceeds the excess profits net income (computed without the net operating loss deduction)."

Ante, p. 904.

Ante, pp. 807, 847.

Post, p. 911.

Ante, pp. 807, 848.

53 Stat. 867. 26 U. S. C. § 122 (d) (1), (2), (3), (4). Ante, pp. 807, 844.

53 Stat. 18. 26 U.S.C. § 26 (a). Ante, p. 825. Ante, p. 904.

(b) Section 711 (a) (2) (relating to the excess profits credit computed under invested capital credit) is amended by adding at the end thereof the following new subparagraph:

"(L) NET OPERATING LOSS DEDUCTION ADJUSTMENT.—The net

operating loss deduction shall be adjusted as follows:

Ante, pp. 807, 847.

Post, p. 911.

Ante, pp. 807, 848.

53 Stat. 867. 26 U. S. C. § 122 (d) (1), (2), (3), (4). Ante, pp. 807, 844.

Ante, p. 825.

54 Stat. 975, 1018. 26 U. S. C. §§ 710-752; Supp. I, §§ 710-Ante, p. 899.

54 Stat. 976. 26 U. S. C., Supp. I, § 711 (a) (2) (A).

"(i) In computing the net operating loss for any taxable year under section 122 (a), and the net income for any taxable year under section 122 (b), no deduction shall be allowed for any excess profits tax imposed by this subchapter, and, if the excess profits credit for such taxable year was computed under section 714, the deduction for interest shall be reduced by the amount of any reduction under subparagraph (B) of this paragraph for such taxable year; and

"(ii) In lieu of the reduction provided in section 122 (c), such reduction shall be in the amount by which the excess profits net income computed with the exceptions and limitations provided in section 122 (d) (1), (2), (3), and (4) and computed without regard to subparagraph (D), without regard to any credit for dividends received, and without regard to any credit for interest received provided in section 26 (a) exceeds the excess profits net income (computed without the net operating loss deduction)."

(c) The amendments made by this section shall be effective as of the date of enactment of the Excess Profits Tax Act of 1940.

SEC. 211. CREDIT FOR DIVIDENDS RECEIVED IN COMPUTATION OF EXCESS PROFITS NET INCOME IN CONNECTION WITH INVESTED CAPITAL CREDIT.

(a) Section 711 (a) (2) (A) is amended to read as follows:

"(A) Dividends Received.—The credit for dividends received shall apply, without limitation, to all dividends on stock of all corporations, except that no credit for dividends received shall be allowed with respect to dividends (actual or constructive) on stock of foreign personal holding companies or dividends on stock which is not a capital asset."

(b) The amendment made by subsection (a) shall be effective as of

the date of enactment of the Excess Profits Tax Act of 1940.

54 Stat. 975, 1018. 26 U. S. C. §§ 710-752; Supp. I, §§ 710-Ante, p. 899.

54 Stat. 979, 987; 53 Stat. 79. 26 U. S. C. §§ 724, 251; Supp. I, §§ 712 (b), 251. Ante, pp. 828, 860,

54 Stat. 988. 26 U. S. C. § 727 (f).

SEC. 212. APPLICATION OF EXCESS PROFITS TAX TO CERTAIN FOR-EIGN CORPORATIONS.

(a) Section 712 (b) (relating to the excess profits credit of foreign corporations) and section 724 (relating to invested capital in the case of foreign corporations and corporations entitled to benefits of section 251) are amended by striking out "or having an office or place of business therein", wherever occurring therein and section 712 (b) is amended by striking out "or had an office or place of business therein".

(b) Section 727 (f) (relating to exempt corporations) is amended by striking out "and not having an office or place of business therein".

SEC. 213. EXCESS PROFITS NET INCOME PLACED ON ANNUAL BASIS.

(a) General Rule.—Section 711 (a) (3) (relating to taxable years of less than twelve months) is amended to read as follows:

"(3) Taxable year less than twelve months.—
"(A) General Rule.—If the taxable year is a period of less than twelve months the excess profits net income for such taxable year (referred to in this paragraph as the 'short taxable year') shall be placed on an annual basis by multiplying the amount thereof by the number of days in the twelve

54 Stat. 977. 26 U. S. C. § 711 (a) (3).

"Short taxable year."

months ending with the close of the short taxable year and dividing by the number of days in the short taxable year. The tax shall be such part of the tax computed on such annual basis as the number of days in the short taxable year is of the number of days in the twelve months ending with the

close of the short taxable year.

"(B) Exception.—If the taxpayer establishes its adjusted excess profits net income for the period of twelve months beginning with the first day of the short taxable year, computed as if such twelve-month period were a taxable year, under the law applicable to the short taxable year, and using the credits applicable in determining the adjusted excess profits net income for such short taxable year, then the tax for the short taxable year shall be reduced to an amount which is such part of the tax computed on such adjusted excess profits net income so established as the excess profits net income for the short taxable year is of the excess profits net income for such twelve-month period. The taxpayer (other than a taxpayer to which the next sentence applies) shall compute the tax and file its return without the application of this subparagraph. If, prior to one year from the date of the beginning of the short taxable year, the taxpayer has disposed of substantially all its assets, in lieu of the twelve-month period provided in the preceding provisions of this sub-paragraph, the twelve-month period ending with the close of the short taxable year shall be used. For the purposes of this subparagraph, the excess profits net income for the short taxable year shall not be placed on an annual basis as provided in subparagraph (A), and the excess profits net income for the twelve-month period used shall in no case be considered less than the excess profits net income for the short The benefits of this subparagraph shall not be taxable vear. allowed unless the taxpayer, at such time as regulations prescribed hereunder require, makes application therefor in accordance with such regulations, and such application, in case the return was filed without regard to this subparagraph, shall be considered a claim for credit or refund. The Commissioner, with the approval of the Secretary, shall prescribe such regulations as he may deem necessary for the application of this subparagraph."

(b) Taxable Years to Which Amendment Applicable.—The amendment made by this section shall be applicable to taxable years

beginning after December 31, 1939.

SEC. 214. INTEREST ON CERTAIN FEDERAL OBLIGATIONS.

(a) Computation of Income Deficit.—Section 713 (c) (relating

to definition of deficit) is amended to read as follows:

"(c) Deficit in Excess Profits Net Income.—For the purposes of this section the term 'deficit in excess profits net income' with respect to any taxable year means the amount by which the deductions plus the credit for dividends received and the credit provided in section 26 (a) (relating to interest on certain obligations of the United States and its instrumentalities) exceeded the gross income. For the purposes of this subsection in determining whether there was such an excess and in determining the amount thereof, the adjustments provided in section 711 (b) (1) shall be made."

(b) Cross References.—For amendments to Supplement A on computation of base period income in case of certain reorganizations,

see section 228 of this Act.

55 Stat. 19. 26 U. S. C., Supp. I, § 713 (c).

Ante, p. 825.

54 Stat. 977. 26 U. S. C. § 711 (b) (1); Supp. I, § 711 (b) (1). Ante, pp. 903, 904. Post, p. 923.

SEC. 215. BASE PERIOD NET INCOME OF LOWEST YEAR IN BASE PERIOD.

55 Stat. 20. 26 U. S. C., Supp. I, § 713 (e) (1).

Section 713 (e) (1) (relating to exclusion of deficit year from computation of average base period net income) is amended to read as follows:

"(1) By computing the aggregate of the excess profits net income for each of the taxable years of the taxpayer in the base period, reduced by the sum of the deficits in excess profits net income for each of such years. If the excess profits net income (or deficit in excess profits net income) for one taxable year in the base period divided by the number of months in such taxable year is less than 75 per centum of the aggregate of the excess profits net income (reduced by deficits in excess profits net income) for the other taxable years in the taxpayer's base period divided by the number of months in such other taxable years (herein called 'average monthly amount') the amount used for such one year under this paragraph shall be 75 per centum of the average monthly amount multiplied by the number of months in such one year, and the year increased under this sentence shall be the year the increase in which will produce the highest average base period net income;".

SEC. 216. CAPITAL REDUCTION IN CASE OF MEMBERS OF CON-TROLLED GROUP.

54 Stat. 981; 55 Stat. 21. 26 U.S.C., Supp. 1,

Section 713 (g) (relating to adjustments in excess profits credit on account of capital changes) is amended by adding at the end thereof

the following new paragraph:

"(5) If, on any day of the taxable year, the taxpayer and any one or more other corporations are members of the same controlled group, then the daily capital reduction of the taxpayer for such day shall be increased by whichever of the following amounts is the lesser:

> "(A) The aggregate of the adjusted basis (for determining loss upon sale or exchange) of stock in such other corporation (or if more than one, in such other corporations) acquired by the taxpayer after the beginning of the taxpayer's first taxable year under this subchapter, minus the aggregate of the adjusted basis (for determining loss upon sale or exchange) of stock in such other corporation (or if more than one, in such other corporations) disposed of by the taxpayer prior to such day and after the beginning of the taxpayer's first taxable year under this subchapter; or

> "(B) The excess of the aggregate of the adjusted basis (for determining loss upon sale or exchange) of stock in all domestic corporations and of obligations described in section 22 (b) (4), held by the taxpayer at the beginning of such day over the aggregate of the adjusted basis (for determining loss upon sale or exchange) of stock in all domestic corporations and of obligations described in section 22 (b) (4), held by the taxpayer at the beginning of its first taxable year

under this subchapter.

If any stock or obligations described in subparagraph (A) or (B) was disposed of prior to such day, its basis shall be determined under the law applicable to the year in which so disposed of. The excluded capital of the taxpayer for such day shall be reduced by the amount by which the taxpayer's daily capital reduction for such day is increased under this paragraph. As used in this paragraph, a controlled group means one or more chains of corporations connected through stock ownership with a

Ante, p. 811.

common parent corporation if (i) more than 50 per centum of the total combined voting power of all classes of stock entitled to vote, or more than 50 per centum of the total value of shares of all classes of stock, of each of the corporations (except the common parent corporation) is owned directly by one or more of the other corporations and (ii) the common parent corporation owns directly more than 50 per centum of the total combined voting power of all classes of stock entitled to vote, or more than 50 per centum of the total value of shares of all classes of stock, of at least one of the other corporations."

SEC. 217. INVESTED CAPITAL CREDIT.

Section 714 is amended to read as follows:

54 Stat. 981. 26 U. S. C., Supp. I § 714.

54 Stat. 982. 26 U. S. C. § 715.

"SEC. 714. EXCESS PROFITS CREDIT-BASED ON INVESTED CAPITAL.

"The excess profits credit, for any taxable year, computed under this section, shall be the amount shown in the following table:

"If the invested capital for the taxable year, determined under section 715, is:

Not over \$5,000,000_ Over \$5,000,000, but not over \$10,000,000.

\$10,000,000, Over but not over \$200,000,000. Over \$200,000,000_

The credit shall be:

8% of the invested capital. \$400,000, plus 7% of the excess over \$5,000,000.

\$750,000, plus 6% of the excess over \$10,000,000. \$12,150,000, plus 5% of the excess over \$200,000,000."

SEC. 218. BASIS OF PROPERTY PAID IN.

The last two sentences of section 718 (a) (2) (relating to property paid in) are amended to read as follows: "If the property was disposed of before such taxable year, such basis shall be determined under the law applicable to the year of disposition, but without regard to the value of the property as of March 1, 1913. If the property was disposed of before March 1, 1913, its basis shall be considered to be its fair market value at the time paid in. If the unadjusted basis of the property is a substituted basis, such basis shall be adjusted, with respect to the period before the property was paid in, by an amount equal to the adjustments proper under section 115 (1) for determining earnings and profits;".

54 Stat. 982. 26 U. S. C. § 718 (a) (2).

Ante, p. 841.

SEC. 219. DEFICIT IN EARNINGS AND PROFITS OF ANOTHER CORPO-RATION.

(a) Addition to Equity Invested Capital of Transferee.—Section 718 (a) is amended by inserting at the end thereof the following

new paragraph:

"(7) Deficit in earnings and profits of another corpora-TION.—In the case of a transferee, as defined in subsection (c) (5), an amount, determined under such paragraph, equal to the portion of the deficit in earnings and profits of a transferor attributable to property received previously to such day."

(b) REDUCTION OF EQUITY INVESTED CAPITAL OF TRANSFEROR.—Section 718 (b) is amended by inserting at the end thereof the follow-

ing new paragraph:

"(5) DEFICIT IN EARNINGS AND PROFITS TRANSFERRED TO ANOTHER corporation.—In the case of a transferor, as defined in subsection (c) (5), an amount, determined under such paragraph, equal to the portion of the deficit in earnings and profits of the transferor attributable to property transferred previously to such day."

54 Stat. 982. 26 U.S.C. § 718 (a); Supp. I, § 718 (a).

Post. p. 912.

54 Stat. 983. 26 U. S. C. § 718 (b).

Post. p. 912.

54 Stat. 984. 26 U. S. C. § 718 (c); Supp. I, § 718 (c). (c) EARNINGS AND PROFITS OF TRANSFEROR AND TRANSFEREE.—Section 718 (c) (relating to rules for determining invested capital) is amended by inserting at the end thereof the following new paragraph:

"(5) Deficit in earnings and profits—Earnings and profits of transferor and transferee.—If a corporation (hereinafter called 'transferor') transfers substantially all its property to another corporation formed to acquire such property (hereinafter called 'transferee'), if—

"(A) the sole consideration for the transfer of such property is the transfer to the transferor or its shareholders of all the stock of all classes (except qualifying shares) of the transferee. (In determining whether the transfer is solely for stock, the assumption by the transferee of a liability of the transferor or the fact that the property acquired is subject to a liability shall be disregarded);

"(B) the basis of the property, in the hands of the transferee, for the purposes of this subsection, is determined by reference to the basis of the property in the hands of the

transferor;

"(C) the transferor is forthwith completely liquidated in pursuance of the plan under which the acquisition of the property is made: and

property is made; and
"(D) immediately after the liquidation the shareholders

of the transferor own all such stock;

for the purposes of this subchapter, in computing the equity invested capital for any day after the date of the acquisition of the property, the earnings and profits or deficit in earnings and profits of the transferee and the transferor shall be computed as if, immediately before the beginning of the taxable year in which such transfer occurs, the transferee had been in existence and sustained a recognized loss, and the transferor had realized a recognized gain, equal to the portion of the deficit in earnings and profits of the transferor attributable to such property."

(d) Taxable Years to Which Amendments Applicable.—The amendments made by this section shall be applicable to taxable years

beginning after December 31, 1939.

SEC. 220. AMORTIZABLE BOND PREMIUM ON CERTAIN GOVERNMENT · OBLIGATIONS.

54 Stat. 985. 26 U. S. C. § 720 (d).

Ante, p. 911.

Ante, pp. 822, 811.

The first sentence of section 720 (d) (relating to increase in excess profits net income where Government obligations treated as admissible assets) is amended to read as follows: "If the excess profits credit for any taxable year is computed under section 714, the tax-payer may in its return for such year elect to increase its normal-tax net income for such taxable year by an amount equal to the amount of the interest on, reduced by the amount of the amortizable bond premium under section 125 attributable to, all obligations held during the taxable year which are described in section 22 (b) (4) any part of the interest from which is excludible from gross income or allowable as a credit against net income."

SEC. 221. ABNORMALITIES IN INCOME IN TAXABLE PERIOD.

55 Stat. 22, 23. 26 U. S. C., Supp. I, § 721 (c), (d). (a) Rule for Computations.—Section 721 (c) and (d) (relating to computation of tax in case of abnormalities in income in the taxable period) is amended to read as follows:

"(c) Computation of Tax for Current Taxable Year.—The tax under this subchapter for the taxable year, in which the whole of such

abnormal income would without regard to this section be includible,

shall not exceed the sum of:

"(1) The tax under this subchapter for such taxable year computed without the inclusion in gross income of the portion of the net abnormal income which is attributable to any other taxable

"(2) The aggregate of the increase in the tax under this subchapter for the taxable year (computed under paragraph (1)) and for each previous taxable year which would have resulted if, for each previous taxable year to which any portion of such net abnormal income is attributable, an amount equal to such portion had been included in the gross income for such previous taxable

year.
"(d) Computation of Tax for Future Taxable Year.—The amount of the net abnormal income attributable to any future taxable year shall, for the purposes of this subchapter, be included in the gross

income for such taxable year.

"(1) The tax under this subchapter for such future taxable year

shall not exceed the sum of—

"(A) the tax under this subchapter for such future taxable year computed without the inclusion in gross income of the portion of such net abnormal income which is attributable to

such year, and

"(B) the decrease in the tax under this subchapter for the previous taxable year in which the whole of such abnormal income would, without regard to this section, be includible which resulted by reason of the computation of such tax for such previous taxable year under the provisions of subsection (c); but the amount of such decrease shall be diminished by the aggregate of the increases in the tax under this subchapter for the future taxable year as computed under subparagraph (A) and for the taxable years intervening between such previous taxable year and such future taxable year which have resulted because of the inclusion of the portions of such net abnormal income attributable to such intervening years in the gross income for such intervening years.

"(2) If, in the application of subsection (c), net abnormal income from more than one taxable year is attributable to any future taxable year, paragraph (1) of this subsection shall be applied with respect to such future taxable year in the order of the taxable years from which the net abnormal income is attributable beginning with the earliest, as if the portion of the net abnormal income from each such year was the only amount so attributable to such future taxable year, and (except in the case of the portion for the earliest previous taxable year) as if the tax under this subchapter for the future taxable year was the tax determined under paragraph (1) with respect to the portion

for the next earlier previous taxable year.

"(3) If in the application of paragraph (1) to any future taxable year it is determined that the decrease in tax computed under paragraph (1) (B) with respect to the net abnormal income, a portion of which is included in the gross income for the future taxable year, does not exceed the aggregate of the increases in tax computed under paragraph (1) (B) with respect to such net abnormal income, then the portions of such net abnormal income attributable to taxable years subsequent to such future taxable year shall not be included in the gross income for such subsequent taxable years. For the purpose of computing the tax under this subchapter for a taxable year subsequent to

the future taxable year, the portion of net abnormal income attributable to the future taxable year shall not be included in the gross income for such future taxable year to the extent that the inclusion of such portion of net abnormal income in the gross income for such future taxable year did not result in an increase in tax for such future taxable year by reason of the provisions of paragraph (1).

"(e) Application of Section.—This section shall be applied only for the purpose of computing the tax under this subchapter as provided in subsections (c) and (d), and shall have no effect upon the computation of base period net income. For the purposes of sub-

sections (c) and (d)—

"(1) Net abnormal income means the aggregate of the net

abnormal income of all classes for one taxable year.

"(2) Under regulations prescribed by the Commissioner with the approval of the Secretary, the tax under this subchapter for previous taxable years shall be computed as if the portions of net abnormal income for each previous taxable year for which the tax was computed under this section were included in the gross income for the other previous taxable years to which such portions were attributable.

"(3) If both subsections (c) and (d) are applicable to any current taxable year, subsection (d) shall be applied without regard to subsection (c), and subsection (c) shall be applied as if the tax under this subchapter, except for subsection (c), was the tax computed under subsection (d) and as if the gross income and the other amounts necessary to determine the adjusted excess profits net income were those amounts which would result

in the tax computed under subsection (d).

"(f) Abnormal Income From Exploration, Etc.—If by reason of taking into account, in determining constructive average base period net income under section 722, exploration, discovery, prospecting, research, or development of tangible property, patents, formulae, or processes, or any combination of the foregoing, extending over a period of more than 12 months, such constructive average base period net income is higher than it would be without such taking into account, only such portion of the income in the taxable year resulting from such activity which is of a class described in subsection (a) (2) (C) as is attributable to another taxable year under this subchapter shall be deemed attributable to a year other than the taxable year."

(b) TAXABLE YEARS TO WHICH AMENDMENTS APPLICABLE.—The amendments made by this section shall be applicable with respect to

taxable years beginning after December 31, 1939.

SEC. 222. RELIEF PROVISIONS.

54 Stat. 986. 26 U.S.C., Supp. I, § 722.

Infra.

(a) General Relief.—Section 722 is amended to read as follows:

"SEC. 722. GENERAL RELIEF—CONSTRUCTIVE AVERAGE BASE PERIOD NET INCOME.

"(a) General Rule.—In any case in which the taxpayer establishes that the tax computed under this subchapter (without the benefit of this section) results in an excessive and discriminatory tax and establishes what would be a fair and just amount representing normal earnings to be used as a constructive average base period net income for the purposes of an excess profits tax based upon a comparison of normal earnings and earnings during an excess profits tax period, the tax shall be determined by using such constructive average base period net

income in lieu of the average base period net income otherwise determined under this subchapter. In determining such constructive average base period net income, no regard shall be had to events or conditions affecting the taxpayer, the industry of which it is a member, or taxpayers generally occurring or existing after December 31, 1939, except that, in the cases described in the last sentence of section 722 (b) (4) and in section 722 (c), regard shall be had to the change in the character of the business under section 722 (b) (4) or the nature of the taxpayer and the character of its business under section 722 (c) to the extent necessary to establish the normal earnings to be used as the constructive average base period net income.

"(b) TAXPAYERS USING AVERAGE EARNINGS METHOD.—The tax computed under this subchapter (without the benefit of this section) shall be considered to be excessive and discriminatory in the case of a taxpayer entitled to use the excess profits credit based on income pursuant to section 713, if its average base period net income is an inadequate

standard of normal earnings because-

"(1) in one or more taxable years in the base period normal production, output, or operation was interrupted or diminished because of the occurrence, either immediately prior to, or during the base period, of events unusual and peculiar in the experience of such taxpayer,

"(2) the business of the taxpayer was depressed in the base period because of temporary economic circumstances unusual in the case of such taxpayer or because of the fact that an industry of which such taxpayer was a member was depressed by reason of temporary economic events unusual in the case of such industry,

"(3) the business of the taxpayer was depressed in the base period by reason of conditions generally prevailing in an industry of which the taxpayer was a member, subjecting such taxpayer to

"(A) a profits cycle differing materially in length and

amplitude from the general business cycle, or

"(B) sporadic and intermittent periods of high production and profits, and such periods are inadequately repre-

sented in the base period,

"(4) the taxpayer, either during or immediately prior to the base period, commenced business or changed the character of the business and the average base period net income does not reflect the normal operation for the entire base period of the business. If the business of the taxpayer did not reach, by the end of the base period, the earning level which it would have reached if the taxpayer had commenced business or made the change in the character of the business two years before it did so, it shall be deemed to have commenced the business or made the change at such earlier time. For the purposes of this subparagraph, the term 'change in the character of the business' includes a change in the operation or management of the business, a difference in the products or services furnished, a difference in the capacity for production or operation, a difference in the ratio of nonborrowed capital to total capital, and the acquisition before January 1, 1940, of all or part of the assets of a competitor, with the result that the competition of such competitor was eliminated or diminished. Any change in the capacity for production or operation of the business consummated during any taxable year ending after December 31, 1939, as a result of a course of action to which the taxpayer was committed prior to January 1, 1940, or any acquisition before May 31, 1941, from a competitor engaged

Infra. Post, p. 916.

54 Stat. 980. 26 U. S. C. § 713; Supp. I, § 713. Ante, pp. 909, 910; post, p. 931. Unusual and peculiar events affecting operation.

Temporary economic circumstances of unusual character.

Prevailing conditions in an industry.

Change in character

Business adversely affected by other fac-

54 Stat. 980.
26 U. S. C. § 713;
Supp. I, § 713.
Ante, pp. 909, 910;
post, p. 931.
54 Stat. 982.
26 U. S. C. § 718;
Supp. I, § 718.
Ante, pp. 902, 911,
912.
Post, p. 936.

55 Stat. 21. 26 U. S. C., Supp. I, § 713 (g). Ante, p. 910. Post, p. 930.

Post, p. 917.

in the dissemination of information through the public press, of substantially all the assets of such competitor employed in such business with the result that competition between the tax-payer and the competitor existing before January 1, 1940, was eliminated, shall be deemed to be a change on December 31, 1939, in the character of the business, or

"(5) of any other factor affecting the taxpayer's business which may reasonably be considered as resulting in an inadequate standard of normal earnings during the base period and the application of this section to the taxpayer would not be inconsistent with the principles underlying the provisions of this subsection, and with the conditions and limitations enumerated therein.

"(c) Invested Capital Corporations, Etc.—The tax computed under this subchapter (without the benefit of this section) shall be considered to be excessive and discriminatory in the case of a taxpayer, not entitled to use the excess profits credit based on income pursuant to section 713, if the excess profits credit based on invested capital is an inadequate standard for determining excess profits, because—

"(1) the business of the taxpayer is of a class in which intan-

"(1) the business of the taxpayer is of a class in which intangible assets not includible in invested capital under section 718 make important contributions to income,

"(2) the business of the taxpayer is of a class in which capital

is not an important income-producing factor, or

"(3) the invested capital of the taxpayer is abnormally low. In such case for the purposes of this subchapter, such taxpayer shall be considered to be entitled to use the excess profits credit based on income, using the constructive average base period net income determined under subsection (a). For the purposes of section 713 (g) and section 743, the beginning of the taxpayer's first taxable year under this subchapter shall be considered to be that date after which capital additions and capital reductions were not taken into account for the purposes of this subsection.

"(d) Application for Relief Under This Section.—The taxpayer shall compute its tax, file its return, and pay its tax under this subchapter without the application of this section, except as provided in section 710 (a) (5). The benefits of this section shall not be allowed unless the taxpayer, not later than six months after the date prescribed by law for the filing of its return, or if the application relates to a taxable year beginning after December 31, 1939, but not beginning after December 31, 1941, within six months after the date of the enactment of the Revenue Act of 1942, makes application therefor in accordance with regulations to be prescribed by the Commissioner with the approval of the Secretary, except that if the Commissioner in the case of any taxpayer with respect to the tax liability of any taxable year—

"(1) issues a preliminary notice proposing a deficiency in the tax imposed by this subchapter such taxpayer may, within ninety days after the date of such notice make such application, or

"(2) mails a notice of deficiency (A) without having previously issued a preliminary notice thereof or (B) within ninety days after the date of such preliminary notice, such taxpayer may claim the benefits of this section in its petition to the Board or in an amended petition in accordance with the rules of the Board.

If the application is not filed within six months after the date prescribed by law for the filing of the return, or if the application relates to a taxable year beginning after December 31, 1939, but not beginning after December 31, 1941, within six months after the date of the enactment of the Revenue Act of 1942, the operation of this section shall not reduce the tax otherwise determined under this subchapter by an

amount in excess of the amount of the deficiency finally determined under this subchapter without the application of this section. If a constructive average base period net income has been determined under the provisions of this section for any taxable year, the Commissioner may, by regulations approved by the Secretary, prescribe the extent to which the limitations prescribed by this subsection may be waived for the purpose of determining the tax under this subchapter for a subsequent taxable year.

"(e) Rules for Application of Section.—For the purposes of this

section-

"(1) the tax imposed by this subchapter shall be the tax before the allowance of the foreign tax credit pursuant to section 729 (c)

and (d);

"(2) in the case of a taxpayer, the average base period net income of which is computed under Supplement A, for the period for which the income of any other person is included in the computation of the average base period net income of the taxpayer, the taxpayer shall be treated as if such other person's business were a part of the business of the taxpayer.

"(f) MINING CORPORATIONS.—In the case of a taxpayer to which section 711 (a) (1) (I) or section 711 (a) (2) (K) applies, if its constructive average base period net income is established under this section, there shall also be determined a fair and just amount to be used as normal output and normal unit profit for the purposes of

section 735."

(b) Deferment of Payment of Tax.—Section 710 (a) is amended

by inserting at the end thereof the following new paragraph:

"(5) Deferment of payment in case of abnormality.—If the adjusted excess profits net income (computed without reference to section 722) for the taxable year of a taxpayer which claims on its return, in accordance with regulations prescribed by the Commissioner with the approval of the Secretary, the benefits of section 722, is in excess of 50 per centum of its normal tax net income for such year, computed without the credit provided in section 26 (e) (relating to adjusted excess profits net income), the amount of tax payable at the time prescribed for payment may be reduced by an amount equal to 33 per centum of the amount of the reduction in the tax so claimed. For the purposes of section 271, if the tax payable is the tax so reduced, the tax so reduced shall be considered the amount shown on the return."

(c) Review of Abnormalities by a Division of the Board.—Section 732 (relating to review of abnormalities by the Board) is amended by

inserting at the end thereof the following new subsection:

"(d) Review by Special Division of Board.—The determinations and redeterminations by any division of the Board involving any question arising under section 721 (a) (2) (C) or section 722 shall be reviewed by a special division of the Board which shall be constituted by the Chairman and consist of not less than three members of the Board. The decisions of such special division shall not be reviewable by the Board, and shall be deemed decisions of the Board."

(d) Installment Basis and Other Taxpayers.—Subchapter E of Chapter 2 is amended by inserting after section 735 the following new

section:

"SEC. 736. RELIEF FOR INSTALLMENT BASIS TAXPAYERS AND TAX-PAYERS WITH INCOME FROM LONG-TERM CONTRACTS.

"(a) Election to Accrue Income.—In the case of any taxpayer computing income from installment sales under the method provided

54 Stat. 989. 26 U.S.C. § 729 (c), (d).

54 Stat. 991. 26 U. S. C. §§ 740-744; Supp. I, §§ 740-743. *Post*, pp. 920, 923, 925, 930.

Ante, p. 904.

Ante, p. 905. Ante, p. 901.

Ante, p. 914.

Ante, p. 806.

53 Stat. 82. 26 U. S. C. § 271.

55 Stat. 26. 26 U. S. C., Supp. I, § 732.

55 Stat. 22. 26 U. S. C., Supp. I, §§ 721 (a) (2) (C). Ante, p. 914.

Ante, p. 905.

53 Stat. 24. 26 U. S. C. § 44 (a).

by section 44 (a), if such taxpayer establishes, in accordance with regulations prescribed by the Commissioner with the approval of the Secretary, that the average volume of credit extended to purchasers on the installment plan in the four taxable years preceding the first taxable year beginning after December 31, 1941, was more than 125 per centum of the volume of such credit extended to such purchasers in the taxable year, or the average outstanding installment accounts receivable at the end of each of the four taxable years preceding the first taxable year beginning after December 31, 1941, was more than 125 per centum of the amount of such accounts receivable at the end of the taxable year, or if the taxpayer was not in existence for four previous taxable years, the taxable years during which the taxpayer was in existence, in either case including only such years for which the income was computed under the method provided in section 44 (a), it may elect, in its return for the taxable year, for the purposes of the tax imposed by this subchapter, to compute, in accordance with regulations prescribed by the Commissioner with the approval of the Secretary, its income from installment sales on the basis of the taxable period for which such income is accrued, in lieu of the basis provided by section 44 (a). Except as hereinafter provided, such election shall be irrevocable when once made and shall apply also to all subsequent taxable years, and the income from installment sales for each taxable year before the first year with respect to which the election is made but beginning after December 31, 1939, shall be adjusted for the purposes of this subchapter to conform to such election. In making such adjustments, no amount shall be included in computing excess profits net income for any excess profits tax taxable year on account of installment sales made in taxable years beginning before January If the taxpayer establishes, in accordance with regulations prescribed by the Commissioner with the approval of the Secretary, that in a taxable year subsequent to the year with respect to which an election has been made under the preceding provisions of this subsection it would not be eligible to elect such accrual method, the taxpayer may in accordance with such regulations elect in its return for such year to abandon such accrual method. Such election shall be irrevocable when once made and shall preclude any further elections under this subsection. For the taxable year for which the latter election is made and subsequent taxable years, income shall be computed in accordance with section 44 (c)."

53 Stat. 25. 26 U. S. C. § 44 (e).

"(b) Election on Long-Term Contracts.—In the case of any taxpayer computing income from contracts the performance of which requires more than 12 months, if it is abnormal for the taxpayer to derive income of such class, or, if the taxpayer normally derives income of such class but the amount of such income of such class includible in the gross income of the taxable year is in excess of 125 per centum of the average amount of the gross income of the same class for the four previous taxable years, or, if the taxpayer was not in existence for four previous taxable years, the taxable years during which the taxpayer was in existence, it may elect, in its return for such taxable year for the purposes of this subchapter, or in the case of a taxable year the return for which was filed prior to the date of the enactment of the Revenue Act of 1942, within 6 months after the date of the enactment of such Act, to compute, in accordance with regulations prescribed by the Commissioner with the approval of the Secretary, such income upon the percentage of completion method of accounting. Such election shall be made in accordance with such regulations and shall be irrevocable when once made and shall apply to all other contracts, past, present, or future, the performance of which required or requires more than 12 months. The

net income of the taxpayer for each year prior to that with respect to which the election is made shall be adjusted for the purposes of this subchapter, including the computation of excess profits net income in each taxable year of the base period under section 711 (b), to conform to such election but for purposes of chapter 1, the tax imposed by this subchapter for any prior taxable year on account of the adjustment required by this subsection shall be considered a part of the tax imposed by this subchapter for the taxable year in which such income is, without regard to this subsection, includible in gross Income described in this subsection shall not be considered abnormal income under section 721.

"(c) Adjustment on Account of Change.—If an adjustment specified in subsection (a) or subsection (b), as the case may be, is, with respect to any taxable year, prevented, on the date of the election by the taxpayer under subsection (a) or subsection (b), as the case may be, or within two years from such date, by any provision or rule of law (other than this section and other than section 3761, relating to compromises), such adjustment shall nevertheless be made if in respect of the taxable year for which adjustment is sought a notice of deficiency is mailed or a claim for refund is filed, as the case may be, within two years after the date such election is made. If at the time of the mailing of such notice of deficiency or the filing of such claim for refund, the adjustment is so prevented, then the amount of the adjustment authorized by this subsection shall be limited to the increase or decrease in the tax imposed by Chapter 1 and this subchapter previously determined for such taxable year which results solely from the effect of subsection (a), or subsection (b), as the case may be, and such amount shall be assessed and collected, or credited or refunded, in the same manner as if it were a deficiency or an overpayment, as the case may be, for such taxable year and as if on the date of such election, two years remain before the expiration of the period of limitation upon assessment or the filing of claim for refund for the taxable year. The tax previously determined shall be ascertained in accordance with section 734 (d). The amount to be assessed and collected under this subsection in the same manner as if it were a deficiency or to be refunded or credited in the same manner as if it were an overpayment, shall not be diminished by any credit or set-off based upon any item, inclusion, deduction, credit, exemption, gain or loss, other than one resulting from the effect of subsection (a) or subsection (b), as the case may be. Such amount, if paid, shall not be recovered by a claim or suit for refund, or suit for erroneous refund based upon any item, inclusion, deduction, credit, exemption, gain or loss, other than one resulting from the effect of subsection (a) or subsection (b), as the case may be."

(e) RETROACTIVE APPLICATION OF PROVISIONS RELATIVE TO GENERAL

Relief and Income From Long-Term Contracts.

(1) The amendments made by this section to section 722 shall be applicable with respect to taxable years beginning after

December 31, 1939.

(2) Subsection (b) of section 736 and so much of subsection (c) as is applicable thereto shall be applicable only with respect to taxable years beginning after December 31, 1941, except that. if a taxpayer, within six months after the date of enactment of this Act and in accordance with regulations prescribed by the Commissioner with the approval of the Secretary, elects to have such subsections apply retroactively to all taxable years beginning after December 31, 1939, such amendments shall also be applicable to such taxable years.

54 Stat. 977.
26 U. S. C. § 711 (b);
Supp. I, § 711 (b).
Ante, pp. 903, 904.
53 Stat. 4,
26 U. S. C. §§ 1-396;
Supp. I, §§ 4-404.
Ante, p. 802.

54 Stat. 986. 26 U. S. C., Supp. I, Ante, p. 912.

53 Stat. 462. 26 U. S. C. § 3761.

53 Stat. 4. 26 U. S. C. §§ 1-396; Supp. I, §§ 4-404. Ante p. 802.

Post, p. 922.

Ante, p. 914.

Ante, p. 918; supra.

55 Stat. 22. 26 U. S. C., Supp. I, § 721 (a) (2) (B).

(f) Technical Amendment.—Section 721 (a) (2) (B) (relating to abnormalities on account of long-term contracts) shall not apply with respect to any taxable year beginning after December 31, 1941.

SEC. 223. EXEMPT CORPORATIONS.

54 Stat. 988. 26 U. S. C. § 727.

(a) Not Exempt if Consolidated Returns Filed.—So much of section 727 as reads "The following corporations shall be exempt from the tax imposed by this subchapter" is amended to read as follows: "The following corporations, except a member of an affiliated group of corporations filing consolidated returns under section 141, shall be exempt from the tax imposed by this subchapter".

Ante. p. 858.

54 Stat. 988. 26 U.S.C. § 725 (b).

(b) Personal Service Corporation Not Exempt if Consolidated RETURN FILED.—Section 725 (b) (relating to exemption of personal service corporations) is amended by inserting at the end thereof the following new sentence: "Such corporation shall not be exempt for such year if it is a member of an affiliated group of corporations filing consolidated returns under section 141."

Ante, p. 858.

54 Stat. 988. 26 U.S.C. § 727 (c), Ante, pp. 878, 879.

(c) Exemption of Regulated Investment Companies.—Section 727 (c) and (d) (relating to exemption of certain investment companies from excess profits tax) are amended to read as follows:

"(c) Regulated investment companies as defined in section 361 without the application of section 361 (b) (4)."

SEC. 224. EXCESS PROFITS TAX RETURNS.

55 Stat. 30. 26 U. S. C., Supp. I, § 729 (b) (1). 55 Stat. 29, 30. 26 U. S. C., Supp. I, §§ 712 (c), 741 (b).

(a) Section 729 (b) (1) (relating to double computation on returns) is repealed.

(b) Sections 712 (c) and 741 (b) (relating to disclaimer of excess

profits credit) are repealed.

(c) The amendments made by this section shall be applicable with respect to taxable years beginning after December 31, 1939.

SEC. 225. CONSOLIDATED RETURNS.

54 Stat. 989. 26 U. S. C. § 730; Supp. I, § 730.

(a) Section 730 Not Applicable.—Section 730 (relating to consolidated excess profits tax returns) shall not apply with respect to any taxable year beginning after December 31, 1941. (b) Cross Reference.—Section 729 (b) (relating to returns) is

55 Stat. 30. 26 U. S. C., Supp. I, § 729 (b). Ante, p. 902. Ante, p. 858.

amended by adding at the end thereof the following new paragraph: "(3) Consolidated returns.—For provisions relating to con-

solidated returns, see section 141."

SEC. 226. EXEMPTION FROM TAX OF MINING OF CERTAIN STRATEGIC MINERALS.

54 Stat. 975, 989. 26 U. S. C. §§ 710– 752; Supp. I, §§ 710– 743.

(a) Exemption.—Subchapter E of Chapter 2 is amended by inserting after section 730 the following new section:

"SEC. 731. CORPORATIONS ENGAGED IN MINING OF STRATEGIC MIN-ERALS.

"In the case of any domestic corporation engaged in the mining of antimony, chromite, manganese, nickel, platinum, quicksilver, sheet mica, tantalum, tin, tungsten, or vanadium, the portion of the adjusted excess profits net income attributable to such mining in the United States shall be exempt from the tax imposed by this subchapter. The tax on the remaining portion of such adjusted excess profits net income shall be an amount which bears the same ratio to the tax computed without regard to this section as such remaining portion bears to the entire adjusted excess profits net income."

(b) Taxable Years to Which Amendment Applicable.—The amendment made by this section shall be applicable to taxable years

beginning after December 31, 1940.

SEC. 227. AMENDMENTS TO SECTION 734.

(a) In General.—Section 734 is amended to read as follows:

55 Stat. 27. 26 U.S.C., Supp. I, § 734.

"SEC. 734. ADJUSTMENT IN CASE OF POSITION INCONSISTENT WITH PRIOR INCOME TAX LIABILITY.

"(a) Definitions.—For the purposes of this section—

"(1) TAXPAYER.—The term 'taxpayer' means any person subject

to a tax under the applicable revenue Act.

"(2) INCOME TAX.—The term 'income tax' means an income tax imposed by Chapter 1 or Chapter 2A of this title; Title I and Title IA of the Revenue Acts of 1938, 1936, and 1934; Title I of the Revenue Acts of 1932 and 1928; Title II of the Revenue Acts of 1926 and 1924; Title II of the Revenue Acts of 1921 and 1918; Title I of the Revenue Act of 1917; Title I of the Revenue Act of 1916; or section II of the Act of October 3, 1913; a war profits or excess profits tax imposed by Title III of the Revenue Acts of 1921 and 1918; or Title II of the Revenue Act of 1917; or an income, war profits, or excess profits tax imposed by any of the foregoing provisions, as amended or supplemented.

"(3) PRIOR TAXABLE YEAR.—A taxable year beginning after December 31, 1939, shall not be considered a prior taxable year.

"(4) The term 'predecessor of the taxpayer' means—

"(A) A person which is a component corporation of the

taxpayer within the meaning of section 740; and

"(B) A person which on April 1, 1941, or at any time thereafter, controlled the taxpayer. The term 'controlled' as herein used shall have the same meaning as 'control' under section 112 (h), and

"(C) Any person in an unbroken series ending with the taxpayer if subparagraph (A) or (B) would apply to the

relationship between the parties.

"(b) CIRCUMSTANCES OF ADJUSTMENT.—
"(1) If—
"(A) in determining at any time the tax of a taxpayer under this subchapter an item affecting the determination of the excess profits credit is treated in a manner inconsistent with the treatment accorded such item in the determination of the income-tax liability of such taxpayer or a predecessor

for a prior taxable year or years, and
"(B) the treatment of such item in the prior taxable year or years consistently with the determination under this subchapter would effect an increase or decrease in the amount of the income taxes previously determined for such taxable year

or years, and

(C) on the date of such determination of the tax under this subchapter correction of the effect of the inconsistent treatment in any one or more of the prior taxable years is prevented (except for the provisions of section 3801) by the operation of any law or rule of law (other than section 3761, relating to compromises),

then the correction shall be made by an adjustment under this If in a subsequent determination of the tax under this subchapter for such taxable year such inconsistent treatment is not adopted, then the correction shall not be made in connection

with such subsequent determination.

"(2) Such adjustment shall be made only if there is adopted in the determination a position maintained by the Commissioner (in case the net effect of the adjustment would be a decrease in the income taxes previously determined for such year or years) or by

53 Stat. 4, 104. 26 U. S. C. §§ 1-396, 500-511; Supp. I, §§ 4-404, 500-506. Ante, pp. 802, 894.

Post. p. 923

"Controlled."

53 Stat. 40. 26 U. S. C. § 112 (h).

53 Stat. 471. 26 U. S. C. § 3801. 53 Stat. 462. 26 U. S. C. § 3761.

Position inconsist-ent with prior treat-ment.

the taxpayer with respect to whom the determination is made (in case the net effect of the adjustment would be an increase in the income taxes previously determined for such year or years) which position is inconsistent with the treatment accorded such item in the prior taxable year or years which was not correct under the law

applicable to such year.

"(3) Burden of proof.—In any proceeding before the Board or any court the burden of proof in establishing that an inconsistent position has been taken (A) shall be upon the Commissioner, in case the net effect of the adjustment would be an increase in the income taxes previously determined for the prior taxable year or years, or (B) shall be upon the taxpayer, in case the net effect of the adjustment would be a decrease in the income taxes previously determined for the prior taxable year or years.

"(c) METHOD AND EFFECT OF ADJUSTMENT.—

"(1) The adjustment authorized by subsection (b), in the amount ascertained as provided in subsection (d), if a net increase shall be added to, and if a net decrease shall be subtracted from, the tax otherwise computed under this subchapter for the taxable year with respect to which such inconsistent

position is adopted.

"(2) If more than one adjustment under this section is made because more than one inconsistent position is adopted with respect to one taxable year under this subchapter, the separate adjustments, each an amount ascertained as provided in subsection (d), shall be aggregated, and the aggregate net increase or decrease shall be added to or subtracted from the tax otherwise computed under this subchapter for the taxable year with respect to which such inconsistent positions are adopted.

"(3) If all the adjustments under this section, made on account of the adoption of an inconsistent position or positions with respect to one taxable year under this subchapter, result in an aggregate net increase, the tax imposed by this subchapter shall in no case be less than the amount of such aggregate net increase.

"(4) If all the adjustments under this section, made on account of the adoption of an inconsistent position or positions with respect to a taxable year under this subchapter (hereinafter in this paragraph called the current taxable year), result in an aggregate net decrease, and the amount of such decrease exceeds the tax imposed by this subchapter (without regard to the provisions of this section) for the current taxable year, such excess shall be subtracted from the tax imposed by this subchapter for each succeeding taxable year, but the amount of the excess to be so subtracted shall be reduced by the reduction in tax for intervening taxable years which has resulted from the subtraction of such excess from the tax imposed for each such year.

"(d) ASCERTAINMENT OF AMOUNT OF ADJUSTMENT.—In computing the amount of an adjustment under this section there shall first be ascertained the amount of the income taxes previously determined for each of the prior taxable years for which correction is prevented. The amount of each such tax previously determined for each such taxable year shall be (1) the tax shown by the taxpayer, or by the predecessor, upon the return for such prior taxable year, increased by the amounts previously assessed (or collected without assessment) as deficiencies, and decreased by the amounts previously abated, credited, refunded, or otherwise repaid in respect of such tax; or (2) if no amount was shown as the tax by such taxpayer or such predecessor

upon the return, or if no return was made by such taxpayer or such predecessor, then the amounts previously assessed (or collected without assessment) as deficiencies, but such amounts previously assessed, or collected without assessment, shall be decreased by the amounts previously abated, credited, refunded, or otherwise repaid in respect of such tax. There shall then be ascertained the increase or decrease in each such tax previously determined for each such year which results solely from the treatment of the item consistently with the treatment accorded such item in the determination of the tax liability under this subchapter. To the increase or decrease so ascertained for each such tax for each such year there shall be added interest thereon computed as if the increase or decrease constituted a deficiency or an overpayment, as the case may be, for such prior taxable year. interest shall be computed to the fifteenth day of the third month following the close of the excess profits tax taxable year with respect to which the determination is made. There shall be ascertained the difference between the aggregate of such increases, plus the interest attributable to each, and the aggregate of such decreases, plus the interest attributable to each, and the net increase or decrease so ascertained shall be the amount of the adjustment under this section with respect to the inconsistent treatment of such item.

"(e) Interest in Case of Net Increase or Decrease.—

"(1) If an adjustment under this section results in a net decrease, or more than one adjustment results in an aggregate net decrease, the portion of such net decrease or aggregate net decrease, as the case may be, subtracted from the tax which represents interest shall be included in gross income of the taxable year in which falls the date prescribed for the payment of the tax under this subchapter.

"(2) If an adjustment under this section results in a net increase, or more than one adjustment results in an aggregate net increase, the portion of such net increase or aggregate net increase, as the case may be, which represents interest shall be allowed as a deduction in computing net income for the taxable year in which falls the date prescribed for the payment of the tax under this

 ${\bf subchapter."}$

(b) TAXABLE YEARS TO WHICH APPLICABLE.—The amendments made by subsection (a) shall apply with respect to taxable years beginning after December 31, 1939.

SEC. 228. RULES FOR INCOME CREDIT IN CONNECTION WITH CERTAIN EXCHANGES.

(a) AMENDMENTS TO SECTION 740.—Section 740 is amended to read as follows:

54 Stat. 991. 26 U. S. C. § 740; Supp. I, § 740.

"SEC. 740. DEFINITIONS.

"For the purposes of this Supplement—

"(a) Acquiring Corporation.—The term 'acquiring corporation' means—

"(1) A corporation which has acquired—

"(A) substantially all the properties of another corporation and the whole or a part of the consideration for the transfer of such properties is the transfer to such other corporation of all the stock of all classes (except qualifying shares) of the corporation which has acquired such properties, or

of the corporation which has acquired such properties, or "(B) substantially all the properties of another corporation and the sole consideration for the transfer of such prop-

erties is the transfer to such other corporation of voting stock of the corporation which has acquired such properties, or

"(C) before October 1, 1940, properties of another corporation solely as paid-in surplus or a contribution to capital in respect of voting stock owned by such other corporation, or

"(D) substantially all the properties of a partnership in an exchange to which section 112 (b) (5), or so much of section 112 (c) or (e) as refers to section 112 (b) (5), or to which a corresponding provision of a prior revenue law, is or was applicable.

For the purposes of subparagraphs (B) and (C) in determining whether such voting stock or such paid-in surplus or contribution to capital is the sole consideration, the assumption by the acquiring corporation of a liability of the other, or the fact that property acquired is subject to a liability, shall be disregarded. Subparagraph (B) or (C) shall apply only if the corporation transferring such properties is forthwith completely liquidated in pursuance of the plan under which the acquisition is made, and the transaction of which the acquisition is a part has the effect of a statutory merger or consolidation.

merger or consolidation.

"(2) A corporation which has acquired property from another corporation in a transaction with respect to which gain or loss was not recognized under section 112 (b) (6) of Chapter 1 or a cor-

responding provision of a prior revenue law;

"(3) A corporation the result of a statutory merger of two or more corporations; or

"(4) A corporation the result of a statutory consolidation of two or more corporations.

"(b) Component Corporation.—The term 'component corporation' means—

"(1) In the case of a transaction described in subsection (a)

(1), the corporation which transferred the assets;

"(2) In the case of a transaction described in subsection (a)

(2), the corporation the property of which was acquired;
"(3) In the case of a statutory merger, all corporations merged,

except the corporation resulting from the merger; or

"(4) In the case of a statutory consolidation, all corporations consolidated, except the corporation resulting from the consolidation: or

(5) In the case of a transaction specified in subsection (a) (1)

(D), the partnership whose properties were acquired.

"(c) INCOME OF CERTAIN COMPONENT CORPORATIONS NOT INCLUDED.—For the purposes of section 712, section 742, and section 743 in the case of a corporation which is a component corporation in a transaction

described in subsection (a)—

"(1) Except as provided in paragraph (2), for the purpose of computing, for any taxable year beginning after December 31, 1941, the excess profits credit of such component corporation or of an acquiring corporation of which the acquiring corporation in such transaction is not a component, except in the application of sections 713 (f) and 742 (h) (other than the limitation on the amount of average base period net income or Supplement A average base period net income, as the case may be, determined thereunder), no account shall be taken of the excess profits net income of such component corporation for any period before the day after such transaction, or of the excess profits net income for any period before the day after such transaction of its component corporations in any transaction before such transaction, and no

53 Stat. 37, 39. 26 U. S. C. § 112 (b) (5), (c), (e).

53 Stat. 38. 26 U. S. C. § 112 (b)

54 Stat. 979. 26 U. S. C. § 712; Supp. I, § 712. Ante, pp. 908, 920. Post, pp. 931, 925,

55 Stat. 20. 26 U. S. C., Supp. I, § 713 (f). Post, p. 929. account shall be taken of the capital addition or capital reduction of such component corporation either immediately before such transaction or for any prior period, or of the capital addition or capital reduction either immediately before such transaction or for any prior period of its component corporations in any trans-

action before such transaction. "(2) In case such transaction occurred in a taxable year of such component corporation beginning after December 31, 1941, for the purpose of computing the excess profits credit of such component corporation for such taxable year, the amount of its average base period net income or Supplement A average base period net income, as the case may be, shall be limited to an amount which bears the same ratio to such average base period net income or Supplement A average base period net income, as the case may be (computed without regard to this paragraph but with the application of paragraph (1) in case of a prior transaction described in subsection (a) with respect to such component cor-

days in such taxable year before the day after such transaction bears to the total number of days in such taxable year. For the purposes of section 742, in the case of a corporation which is a component corporation in a transaction described in subsection (a), in computing for any taxable year the Supplement A average base

poration or a component corporation thereof), as the number of

period net income of the acquiring corporation in such transaction or of a corporation of which such acquiring corporation becomes a component corporation, no account shall be taken of the excess profits net income of such component corporation for any period beginning with

the day after such transaction.

(d) In the case of a taxpayer which is an acquiring corporation the base period shall be the four calendar years 1936 to 1939, both inclusive, except that, if the taxpayer became an acquiring corporation prior to September 1, 1940, the base period shall be the same as that applicable to its first taxable year ending in 1941.

"(e) Base Period Years.—In the case of a taxpayer which is an acquiring corporation its base period years shall be the four successive twelve-month periods beginning on the same date as the beginning

of its base period.

"(f) Existence of Acquiring Corporation.—For the purposes of section 712 (a), if any component corporation of the taxpayer was in existence before January 1, 1940, the taxpayer shall be considered

to have been in existence before such date.

"(g) Component Corporations of Component Corporations.—If a corporation is a component corporation of an acquiring corporation, under subsection (b) or under this subsection, it shall (except for the purposes of section 742 (d) (1) and (2) and section 743 (a) (1), (2), and (3)) also be a component corporation of the corporation of which such acquiring corporation is a component corporation.

"(h) Sole Proprietorship.—For the purposes of sections 740 (a) (1) (D), 740 (b) (5), and 742 (g), a business owned by a sole proprietorship shall be considered a partnership."

(b) Repeal of Section 741 (a).—Section 741 (a) is repealed. (c) Amendments to Section 742.—Section 742 is amended to read as follows:

"SEC. 742. SUPPLEMENT A AVERAGE BASE PERIOD NET INCOME.

"In the case of a taxpayer which is an acquiring corporation, its average base period net income (for the purpose of the credit comInfra

Infra.

54 Stat. 979. 26 U. S. C., Supp. I, § 712 (a).

Post, pp. 927, 930.

Ante, p. 924. Post, p. 929.

55 Stat. 30. 26 U. S. C., Supp. I, § 741 (a). 54 Stat. 992. 26 U. S. C. § 742; Supp. I, § 742.

54 Stat. 980. 26 U. S. C. § 713; Supp. I, § 713. Ante, pp. 909, 910. Post, p. 931.

puted under section 713) shall be the amount computed under section 713 or the amount of its Supplement A average base period net income, whichever is the greater. The Supplement A average base period net income shall be the amount computed without regard to subsection (h) of this section or computed under subsection (h) of this section, whichever is the greater. The Supplement A average base period net income shall be computed as follows:

"(a) By ascertaining with respect to each of its base period years—"(1) The amount of its and each of its component corporation's excess profits net income for each of its and such component corporation's taxable years beginning with or within such base period year; or, in the case of each such taxable year of the taxpayer or of such component corporation, as the case may be, in which the deductions plus the credit for dividends received and the credit provided in section 26 (a) (relating to interest on certain obligations of the United States and its instrumentalities) exceeded the gross income, the amount of such

excess

"(2) (A) The aggregate of the amounts of excess profits net income ascertained under paragraph (1); (B) the aggregate of the excesses ascertained under paragraph (1); and (C) the difference between the aggregates found under clause (A) and clause (B). If the aggregate ascertained under clause (A) is greater than the aggregate ascertained under clause (B), the difference shall for the purposes of subsection (b) be designated a plus amount', and if the aggregate ascertained under clause (B) is greater than the aggregate found under clause (A), the difference shall for the purposes of subsection (b) be designated a 'minus amount'.

If, in the case of the taxpayer or any component corporation of the taxpayer, one and only one taxable year of the taxpayer or such component corporation, as the case may be, begins with or within such base period year and such taxable year is less than twelve months, the amount of the excess profits net income, or the amount of such excess of deductions plus the credit for dividends received and the credit provided in section 26 (a) (relating to interest on certain obligations of the United States and its instrumentalities) over gross income, as the case may be, for such taxable year, shall be placed on an annual basis in the same manner as is provided in section 711 (a) (3). If more than one taxable year of the taxpayer or such component corporation, as the case may be, begins with or within such base period year, the aggregate of the amounts of excess profits net income minus the aggregate of the excesses of deductions plus the credit for dividends received and the credit provided in section 26 (a) (relating to interest on certain obligations of the United States and its instrumentalities) over gross income, or the aggregate of such excesses minus the aggregate of the amounts of excess profits net income, as the case may be, for such taxable years shall be adjusted to such extent as the Commissioner, under regulations prescribed by him with the approval of the Secretary, prescribes as necessary in order that such base period year shall reflect income for a period of twelve months. For the purposes of this section, a taxable year of a component corporation beginning within the base period which also begins with or within the taxable year of the acquiring corporation in which the acquisition occurred, or which also begins with or within the same base period year with which or within which began such taxable year of the acquiring corporation, shall be considered a taxable year of the acquiring corporation,

53 Stat. 18. 26 U. S. C. § 26 (a). Ante, p. 825.

53 Stat. 18. 26 U. S. C. § 26 (a), Ante, p. 825.

Ante, p. 908.

and such taxable year shall be considered to have begun in the base period year with which or within which such taxable year of the acquiring corporation began.

(b) By adding the plus amounts ascertained under subsection (a)

(2) for each year of the base period; and

"(1) If the tax under this subchapter is being computed for a taxable year not beginning after December 31, 1941, by subtracting from such sum, if for two or more years of the basis period there was a minus amount, the sum of the minus amounts, exclud-

ing the greatest; or

(2) If the tax under this subchapter is being computed for a taxable year beginning after December 31, 1941, by subtracting from such sum the sum of the minus amounts. If the amount used under the preceding sentence for the lowest year is less than 75 per centum of the sum of the plus amounts reduced by the sum of the minus amounts for the other years in the base period divided by three, the amount which shall be used for such lowest year shall be 75 per centum of the amount last ascertained.

"(c) By dividing the amount ascertained under subsection (b) by

four.

"(d) In no case shall the average base period net income be less than zero. In the case of a taxpayer which becomes an acquiring corporation in any taxable year beginning after December 31, 1939, if, on September 11, 1940, and at all times until the taxpayer became an acquiring corporation-

"(1) the taxpayer owned not less than 75 per centum of each class of stock of each of the qualified component corporations involved in the transaction in which the taxpayer became an

acquiring corporation; or

(2) one of the qualified component corporations involved in the transaction owned not less than 75 per centum of each class of stock of the taxpayer, and of each of the other qualified component

corporations involved in the transaction,

the average base period net income of the taxpayer shall not be less than (A) the average base period net income of that one of its qualified component corporations involved in the transaction the average base period net income of which is greatest, or (B) the average base period net income of the taxpayer computed without regard to the base period net income of any of its qualified component corporations involved in the transaction. As used in this subsection, the term 'qualified component corporation' means a component corporation which was in existence on the date of the beginning of the taxpayer's base period. "(e) For the purposes of subsection (a) (1) of this section-

"(1) If neither the taxpayer corporation nor any of its component corporations was actually in existence on December 31, 1936, the excess profits net income of each such corporation for each base period year at no time during which any of such corporations was actually in existence, shall (except in the case of a corporation which became a component corporation of its acquiring corporation before the beginning of the acquiring corporation's first taxable year which began in 1940) be an amount equal to 8 per centum of the excess of-

"(A) in the case of any such corporation to which paragraph (2) is not applicable, the daily invested capital of such corporation for the first day of its first taxable year under this subchapter beginning in 1940 over "(B) an amount equal to the same percentage of such

daily invested capital as would be applicable under section

54 Stat. 985. 26 U. S. C. § 720; Supp. I, § 720. Ante, pp. 904, 912.

54 Stat. 985. 26 U. S. C. § 720; Supp. I, § 720. Ante, pp. 904, 912.

53 Stat. 18. 26 U. S. C. § 26 (a). Ante, p. 825.

54 Stat. 977. 26 U. S. C. § 711 (b) (1); Supp. I, § 711 (b) (1). Ante, pp. 903, 904.

720 in reduction of the average invested capital of such corporation for the last taxable year beginning in 1939 if such section had been applicable to such year (computed as if the admissible and inadmissible assets of any other such corporation with respect to which it became, in such taxable year, an acquiring corporation, had been held by it).

"(2) In case the transaction by which a corporation became a component corporation of its acquiring corporation occurred in the last taxable year of such component corporation beginning in 1939 but on a day in a taxable year of such acquiring corporation beginning in 1940, the excess profits net income of such component corporation for each base period year described in paragraph (1) shall be an amount equal to 8 per centum of the excess of—

"(A) the daily invested capital of such component cor-

poration for such day, over

"(B) an amount equal to the same percentage of such daily invested capital as would be applicable under section 720 in reduction of the average invested capital of such component corporation for the twelve-month period ending with the preceding day if such twelve-month period constituted a taxable year and such section had been applicable to such taxable year.

"(3) In case any corporation described in paragraph (1) owned stock in any other such corporation on the first day of such owning corporation's first taxable year under this subchapter beginning in 1940, the amounts computed under subparagraphs (A) and (B) of paragraphs (1) and (2) with respect to such corporations shall be adjusted, under regulations prescribed by the Commissioner with the approval of the Secretary, to such extent as may be necessary to prevent the excess profits net income of such corporations for the base period years described in paragraph (1) from reflecting money or property having been paid in by either of such corporations to the other for stock or as paid-in surplus or as a contribution to capital, or from reflecting stock of either having been paid in for stock of the other or as paid-in surplus or as a contribution to capital. For the purposes of this paragraph, stock in either such corporation which has in the hands of the other corporation a basis determined with reference to the basis of stock previously acquired by the issuance of such other corporation's own stock shall be deemed to have been paid in for the stock of such other corporation.

"(4) In determining whether, for any taxable year, the deductions plus the credit for dividends received and the credit provided in section 26 (a) (relating to interest on certain obligations of the United States and its instrumentalities) exceeded the gross income, and in determining the amount of such excess, the adjust-

ments provided in section 711 (b) (1) shall be made.

"(f) (1) If, after December 31, 1935—

"(A) the taxpayer acquired stock in another corporation, and thereafter such other corporation became a component

corporation of the taxpayer, or "(B) a corporation (hereinafter called 'first corporation') acquired stock in another corporation (hereinafter called 'second corporation'), and thereafter the first and second corporations became component corporations of the taxpayer,

then to the extent that the consideration for such acquisition was not the issuance of the taxpayer's or first corporation's, as the case may be, own stock, the Supplement A average base period net income of the taxpayer shall be reduced, and the transferred capital addition and reduction adjusted, in respect of the income and capital addition and reduction of the corporation whose stock was so acquired and in respect of the income and capital addition and reduction of any other corporation which at the time of such acquisition was connected directly or indirectly through stock ownership with the corporation whose stock was so acquired and which thereafter became a component corporation of the taxpayer, in such amounts and in such manner as shall be determined in accordance with regulations prescribed by the Commissioner with the approval of the Secretary. For the purposes of this paragraph, stock which has, in the hands of the taxpayer or first corporation, as the case may be, a basis determined with reference to the basis of stock previously acquired by the issuance of the taxpayer's or first corporation's, as the case may be, own stock, shall be considered as having been acquired in consideration of the issuance of the taxpayer's or first corporation's, as the case may be, own stock.

"(2) If during the taxable year for which tax is computed under this subchapter the taxpayer acquires assets in a transaction which constitutes it an acquiring corporation, the amount includible under subsection (a), attributable to such transaction, shall be limited to an amount which bears the same ratio to the amount computed without regard to this subsection as the number of days in the taxable year after such transaction bears to the total number of days in such

taxable year.

"(g) In the case of a partnership which is a component corporation by virtue of section 740 (b) (5), the computations required by this Supplement shall be made, under rules and regulations prescribed by the Commissioner with the approval of the Secretary, as if such partnership had been a corporation. For the purpose of such computations, in making the adjustment for income taxes required by section 711 (b) (1) (A), the partnership so regarded as a corporation shall be considered as having distributed all its net income as a dividend.

"(h) Increased Earnings in Last Half of Base Period.—
"(1) General rule.—The Supplement A average base period net income determined under this subsection shall be computed by ascertaining for each half of the base period the sum of the plus amounts determined under subsection (a) reduced if for any year in such half a minus amount was determined by the minus amount for such year. If the amount ascertained for the second half exceeds the amount ascertained for the first half, the Supplement A average base period net income shall be the sum, divided by two, of the amount so ascertained for the second half plus one-half of such excess, except that it shall not exceed the largest plus amount determined under subsection (a) with respect

to any base period year.

"(2) Limitation on amount includible for certain taxable YEARS ENDING AFTER MAY 31, 1940.—For the purposes of this subsection the excess profits net income of any corporation for any taxable year beginning in 1939 and ending after May 31, 1940,

shall in no case exceed an amount computed as follows:

"(A) By reducing the excess profits net income by an amount which bears the same ratio thereto as the number of Ante, p. 924.

54 Stat. 977. 26 U. S. C. § 711 (b) (1) (A); Supp. I, § 711 (b) (1) (A).

months after May 31, 1940, bears to the total number of

months in such taxable year; and

"(B) By adding to the amount ascertained under subparagraph (A) an amount which bears the same ratio to the excess profits net income for the last preceding taxable year as such number of months after May 31, 1940, bears to the number of months in such preceding year. The amount added under this subparagraph shall not exceed the amount of the excess profits net income for such last preceding taxable year

"(Č) If the number of months in such preceding taxable year is less than such number of months after May 31, 1940, by adding to the amount ascertained under subparagraph (B) an amount which bears the same ratio to the excess profits net income for the second preceding taxable year as the excess of such number of months after May 31, 1940, over the number of months in such preceding taxable year bears to the number of months in such second preceding taxable year.

54 Stat. 994. 26 U. S. C. § 743; Supp. I, § 743.

(d) Amendments to Section 743.—Section 743 is amended to read as follows:

"SEC. 743. NET CAPITAL CHANGES.

"(a) TAXPAYER USING THIS SUPPLEMENT.—For the purposes of section 713 (g), if the transaction which constitutes the taxpayer an acquiring corporation occurs in a taxable year of the taxpayer which Ante, p. 910. begins after December 31, 1939, and the taxpayer's average base period Ante, p. 925. net income is computed under section 742, the following rules shall apply in computing the daily capital addition and reduction of the

taxpayer for each day after such transaction:

"(1) The transferred capital addition or reduction of the component corporation shall be treated as if it were a capital addition

or reduction, as the case may be, of the taxpayer.

"(2) The transferred capital addition of the component corporation shall be its daily capital addition as of the time immediately before the transaction (computed under section 713 (g) but without regard to its reduction under the fourth sentence of paragraph (3) on account of excluded capital, but with the application of paragraph (6) of this subsection).

"(3) The transferred capital reduction of the component corporation shall be its daily capital reduction as of the time immediately before the transaction (computed under section 713 (g) but with the application of paragraph (7) of this sub-

section)

"(4) In computing the daily capital addition of the taxpayer, money or property paid in to the taxpayer by any of its component corporations, and property consisting of stock in any such component corporation paid in by shareholders of such component corporation, shall be disregarded.

"(5) In computing the daily capital reduction of the taxpayer, distributions by the taxpayer to any of its component corporations not out of earnings and profits shall be disregarded.

"(6) In computing the transferred capital addition of the component corporation, money or property paid in to such component corporation by the taxpayer or any other component corporation and property consisting of stock in the taxpayer or any other component corporation paid in by shareholders of the taxpayer or other component corporation, shall be disregarded.

55 Stat. 21. 26 U.S.C., Supp. I, § 713 (g).

"(7) In computing the transferred capital reduction of the component corporation, distributions by such component corporation to the taxpayer or any other component corporation shall be disregarded.

"(8) The daily capital addition of the taxpayer to which any amount is added under paragraph (1) shall be the amount thereof computed before its reduction under the fourth sentence

of section 713 (g) (3) on account of excluded capital.

"(b) Rule Where Acquiring Corporation Is Component of Tax-PAYER.—In cases where an acquiring corporation is a component of the taxpayer, and the transaction which constitutes such corporation an acquiring corporation occurs in a taxable year of such corporation which begins after December 31, 1939, for the purpose of determining the daily capital addition or reduction of the taxpayer the above rules shall be applied in a similar manner to determine the daily capital addition or reduction of such acquiring corporation for each day after such transaction.

(e) Amendments to Excess Profits Tax Made Necessary by

AMENDMENTS TO SUPPLEMENT A .-

(1) Cross-reference.—Section 712 (relating to allowance of excess profits credit) is amended by inserting at the end thereof the following new subsection:

"(d) Special Rule in Connection With Certain Reorganiza-TIONS.—For the existence of taxpayer through component corpora-

tion, see section 740 (f)."

(2) TECHNICAL AMENDMENT.—Section 713 (a) (1) (A) (relation of the distribution of the as follows:

"(A) 95 per centum of the average base period net

income,".

(f) Taxable Years to Which Amendments Applicable.—The amendments made by this section shall be applicable only to the computation of the tax for taxable years beginning after December 31, 1941, except that (1) the last sentence of section 740 (c), as added by subsection (a) of this section shall be applicable to the computation of the tax for all taxable years beginning after December 31, 1939, and (2) if a taxpayer, within the time and in the manner and subject to such regulations as the Commissioner with the approval of the Secretary prescribes, elects to have such amendments (except those which by their terms are limited to taxable years beginning after December 31, 1941, and except that referred to in clause (1)) apply retroactively to all taxable years of the taxpayer beginning after December 31, 1939, such amendments shall also be applicable to the computation of the tax for taxable years beginning after December 31, 1939.

SEC. 229. TERMINATION OF SUPPLEMENT B.

(a) Retroactive Repeal of Section 752.—

(1) Section 752 (relating to highest bracket amount) is repealed as of the date of enactment of the Second Revenue

(2) Section 710 (a) (2) (relating to application of highest bracket amount in computing tax) is repealed as of the date of enactment of the Second Revenue Act of 1940.

(b) Sections 750 and 751 (relating to determination of property paid in, etc., in certain cases) shall not apply with respect to any 751. taxable year beginning after December 31, 1941.

55 Stat. 21. 26 U. S. C., Supp. I, § 713 (g) (3).

55 Stat. 29. 26 U. S. C., Supp. I, § 712. Ante, pp. 908, 920.

Ante, p. 925.

Ante, p. 925.

54 Stat. 995. 26 U. S. C. § 752.

54 Stat. 975. 26 U. S. C., Supp. I, § 710 (a) (2).

54 Stat. 994, 995. 26 U. S. C. §§ 750,

SEC. 230. INVESTED CAPITAL IN CONNECTION WITH CERTAIN EX-CHANGES AND LIQUIDATIONS.

54 Stat. 975. 26 U. S. C. §§ 710-752; Supp. I, §§ 710-Ante, p. 899.

(a) Exchanges and Liquidations.—Chapter 2E is amended by inserting at the end thereof the following new Supplement:

"Supplement C—Invested Capital in Connection With Certain Exchanges and Liquidations

"SEC. 760. EXCHANGES.

"(a) Definitions, Etc.—For the purposes of this section—

"(1) 'EXCHANGE', 'TRANSFEROR', AND 'TRANSFEREE'.—The term 'exchange' means a transaction by which one corporation (hereinafter called 'transferee') receives property of another corpora-tion (hereinafter called 'transferor') and the basis of the property received, in the hands of the transferee, for the purposes of section 718 (a) is determined by reference to the basis in the hands of the transferor.

"(2) DETERMINATION OF BASIS OF PROPERTY RECEIVED.—The basis, in the hands of the transferee, of the property of the transferor received by the transferee upon the exchange shall be de-

termined in accordance with section 718 (a). "(b) Rule.—In the application of section 718 (a) to a transferee upon an exchange in determining the amount paid in for stock of the transferee, or as paid-in surplus or as a contribution to capital of the transferee, in connection with such exchange, only an amount shall be deemed to have been so paid in equal to the excess of the basis in the hands of the transferee of the property of the transferor received by the transferee upon the exchange over the sum of-

"(1) The amount of any liability of the transferor assumed upon the exchange and of any liability subject to which such

property was so received, plus

"(2) The amount of any liability of the transferee (not arising out of any liability described in paragraph (1)) constituting

consideration for the property so received, plus

"(3) The aggregate of the amount of any money and the fair market value of any other property (other than such stock and other than property described in paragraphs (1) and (2)) trans-

ferred to the transferor.

"(c) REDUCTION IN DAILY INVESTED CAPITAL.—In the application of section 717 to a transferee upon an exchange, the daily invested capital for any day after such exchange shall be reduced by an amount equal to the amount by which the sum of the amounts specified in paragraphs (1), (2), and (3) of subsection (b) exceeds the basis in the hands of the transferee of the property of the transferor received upon the exchange.

"SEC. 761. INVESTED CAPITAL ADJUSTMENT AT THE TIME OF TAX-FREE INTERCORPORATE LIQUIDATIONS.

"(a) Definition of Intercorporate Liquidation.—As used in this section, the term 'intercorporate liquidation' means the receipt (whether or not after December 31, 1941) by a corporation (hereinafter called the 'transferee') of property in complete liquidation of another corporation (hereinafter called the 'transferor') to which

"(1) the provisions of section 112 (b) (6), or the corresponding provision of a prior revenue law, is applicable or "(2) a provision of law is applicable prescribing the nonrecognition of gain or loss in whole or in part upon such receipt

54 Stat. 982. 26 U. S. C. § 718 (a); Supp. I, § 718 (a). Ante, p. 911.

54 Stat. 982. 26 U. S. C. § 717.

53 Stat. 38. 26 U. S. C. § 112 (b) (6).

(including a provision of the regulations applicable to a consolidated income or excess profits tax return but not including section 112 (b) (7), (9), or (10) or a corresponding provision of a prior revenue law),

but only if none of such property so received is a stock or a security in a corporation the stock or securities of which are specified in the law applicable to the receipt of such property as stock or securities permitted to be received (or which would be permitted to be received if they were the sole consideration) without the recognition of gain.

"(b) Definition of Plus Adjustment and Minus Adjustment.—

For the purposes of this section—

"(1) Plus adjustment.—The term 'plus adjustment' means the amount, with respect to an intercorporate liquidation, determined to be equal to the amount by which the aggregate of the amount of money received by the transferee in such intercorporate liquidation, and of the adjusted basis at the time of such receipt of all property (other than money) so received, exceeds the sum of—
"(A) the aggregate of the adjusted basis of each share of

stock with respect to which such property was received; such adjusted basis of each share to be determined immediately prior to the receipt of any property in such liquidation with

respect to such share, and

"(B) the aggregate of the liabilities of the transferor assumed by the transferee in connection with the receipt of such property, of the liabilities (not assumed by the transferee) to which such property so received was subject, and of any other consideration (other than the stock with respect to which such property was received) given by the transferee for such property so received.

"(2) MINUS ADJUSTMENT.—The term 'minus adjustment' means the amount, with respect to an intercorporate liquidation, deter-

mined to be equal to the amount by which the sum of—
"(A) the aggregate of the adjusted basis of each share of stock with respect to which such property was received; such adjusted basis of each share to be determined immediately prior to the receipt of any property in such liquidation with

respect to such share, and

"(B) the aggregate of the liabilities of the transferor assumed by the transferee in connection with the receipt of such property, of the liabilities (not assumed by the transferee) to which such property so received was subject, and of any other consideration (other than the stock with respect to which such property was received) given by the transferee for such property so received

exceeds the aggregate of the amount of the money so received and of the adjusted basis, at the time of receipt, of all property (other

than money) so received.

"(3) Rules for application of paragraphs (1) and (2).—In determining the plus adjustment or minus adjustment with respect to any share, the computation shall be made in the same manner as is prescribed in paragraphs (1) and (2) of this subsection, except that there shall be brought into account only that part of each item which is determined to be attributable to such share.

"(c) Rules for the Application of This Section.—
"(1) Stock having cost basis.—The property received by a transferee in an intercorporate liquidation attributable to a share of stock having in the hands of the transferee a basis determined to be a cost basis, shall be considered to have, for the purposes of Ante. p. 838.

subsection (b), an adjusted basis at the time so received deter-

mined as follows:

"(A) The aggregate of the property (other than money) held by the transferor at the time of the acquisition by the transferee of control of the transferor (or, if such share was acquired after the acquisition of such control, at the time of the acquisition of such share, or, if such control was not acquired, at the time immediately prior to the receipt of any property in the intercorporate liquidation in respect of such share) shall be deemed to have an aggregate basis equal to the amount obtained by (i) multiplying the amount of the adjusted basis at such time of such share in the hands of the transferee by the aggregate number of share units in the transferor at such time (the interest represented by such share being taken as the share unit), and (ii) adjusting for the amount of money on hand and the liabilities of the transferor at such time.

"(B) The basis which property of the transferor is deemed to have under subparagraph (A) at the time therein specified shall be used in determining the basis of property subsequently acquired by the transferor the basis of which is determined with reference to the basis of property specified in

subparagraph (A).

"(C) The basis which property of the transferor is deemed to have under subparagraphs (A) and (B) at the time therein specified shall be used in determining all subsequent adjust-

ments to the basis of such property.

"(D) The property so received by the transferee shall be deemed to have, at the time of its receipt, the same basis it is deemed to have under the foregoing provisions of this paragraph in the hands of the transferor, or in the case of property not specified in subparagraph (A) or (B), the same basis it would have had in the hands of the transferor.

"(E) Only such part of the aggregate property received by the transferee in the intercorporate liquidation as is attributable to such share shall be considered as having the adjusted basis which property is deemed to have under sub-

paragraphs (A), (B), (C), and (D) of this paragraph. "(2) Basis of stock not a cost basis.—The property received by a transferee in an intercorporate liquidation attributable to a share of stock having in the hands of the transferee a basis determined to be a basis other than a cost basis shall, for the purposes of subsection (b), be considered to have, at the time of its receipt, the basis it would have had had the first sentence of section

113 (a) (15) been applicable.

"(3) DEFINITION OF CONTROL —As used in this subsection, the term 'control' means the ownership of stock possessing at least 80 per centum of the total combined voting power of all classes of stock entitled to vote and the ownership of at least 80 per centum of the total number of shares of all other classes of stock (except nonvoting stock which is limited and preferred as to dividends), but only if in both cases such ownership continues until the completion of the intercorporate liquidation.

"(d) Adjustment of Equity Invested Capital.—If property is received by the transferee in an intercorporate liquidation, in computing the equity invested capital of the transferee for any day following the completion of such intercorporate liquidation-

"(1) with respect to any share of stock in the transferor having in the hands of the transferee, immediately prior to the receipt

53 Stat. 43. 26 U. S C. § 113 (a) (15).

of any property in such intercorporate liquidation, a basis determined to be a cost basis, the earnings and profits or deficit in earnings and profits of the transferee shall be computed as if on the day following the completion of such intercorporate liquidation the transferee had realized a recognized gain equal to the amount of the plus adjustment in respect of such share, or had sustained a recognized loss equal to the amount of the minus

adjustment in respect of such share;
"(2) with respect to any share of stock in the transferor having in the hands of the transferee, immediately prior to the receipt of any property in such intercorporate liquidation, a basis determined to be a basis other than a cost basis, there shall be treated as an amount includible in the sum specified in section 718 (a) the amount of the plus adjustment with respect to such share, or as an amount includible in the sum specified in section 718 (b) the amount of the minus adjustment with respect to such share.

"(e) INVESTED CAPITAL BASIS.—The adjusted basis which property received by the transferee in an intercorporate liquidation is considered to have under the provisions of subsection (c) at the time of its receipt shall be thereafter treated as the adjusted basis, in lieu of the adjusted basis otherwise prescribed, in computing any amount, determined by reference to the basis of such property in the hands of the transferee, entering into the computation of the invested capital of the transferee, or of any other corporation the computation of the invested capital of which is determined by reference to the basis of

such property in the hands of the transferee.

"(f) STATUTORY MERGERS AND CONSOLIDATIONS.—If a corporation owns stock in another corporation and such corporations are merged or consolidated in a statutory merger or consolidation, then for the purposes of this section and section 718 such stock shall be considered to have been acquired (in such statutory merger or consolidation) by the corporation resulting from the statutory merger or consoli-dation, and the properties of such other corporation attributable to such stock to have been received by such resulting corporation as a transferee from such other corporation as a transferor in an intercorporate liquidation.

"(g) Determinations.—

"(1) Regulations.—Any determination which is required to be made under this section (including determinations in applying this section in cases where there is a series of transferees of the property and cases where the stock of the transferor is acquired by the transferee from another corporation, and the determinations of the basis and adjusted basis which property or items thereof have or are considered to have) shall be made in accordance with regulations which shall be prescribed by the Commissioner with the approval of the Secretary. If the transferor or the transferee is a foreign corporation, the provisions of this section shall apply to such extent and under such conditions and limitations as may be provided in such regulations.

"(2) APPLICATION TO LIQUIDATION EXTENDING OVER LONG PERIOD.— The Commissioner is authorized to prescribe rules similar to those provided in this section with respect to the days within the period beginning with the date on which the first property is received in the intercorporate liquidation and ending with the day of its completion; and the extent to which, and the conditions and limitations under which, such rules are to be applicable."

54 Stat. 982, 983. 26 U. S. C. § 718 (a), (b); Supp. I, § 718 (a). Ante, p. 911.

54 Stat. 982. 26 U. S. C. § 718; Supp. I, § 718. Ante, pp. 902, 911, 912. Post, p. 936.

54 Stat. 984. 26 U.S.C. § 718 (d).

Ante, p. 932. 54 Stat. 984. 26 U. S. C. § 719 (a) (1).

54 Stat. 982. 26 U. S. C., Supp. I, § 718 (a) (5). 54 Stat. 983. 26 U. S. C. § 718 (b) (4).

54 Stat. 984. 26 U.S.C. § 718 (c) (4).

Ante, p. 932.

Supra.

54 Stat. 982, 983, 984. 26 U. S. C. § 718 (b) (4), (c) (4); Supp. I, § 718 (a) (5). (b) Technical Amendment.—

(1) Section 718 (d) is amended to read as follows:

"(d) For special rules affecting computation of property paid in for stock in connection with certain exchanges and liquidations, see Supplement C."

(2) Section 719 (a) (1) is amended by striking out ", and not including indebtedness described in section 751 (b) relating to

certain exchanges".

(c) Previous Rules Terminated.—Section 718 (a) (5) (relating to increase in equity invested capital on account of gain on tax-free liquidation), section 718 (b) (4) (relating to reduction in equity invested capital on account of loss on tax-free liquidation), and section 718 (c) (4) (relating to property paid in for stock on merger or consolidation) shall not apply with respect to any taxable year

beginning after December 31, 1941.

(d) Optional Retroactivity of Amendments to 1940 and 1941.—The amendments made by this section, inserting section 760 and section 761, shall also be applicable in the computation of the tax for all taxable years beginning after December 31, 1939, if the taxpayer, within the time and in the manner and subject to such regulations as the Commissioner, with the approval of the Secretary, prescribes, elects to have either or both of such amendments apply. For any taxable year for which the provisions of section 760 are applied retroactively, the amendment made by subsection (b) (2) of this section to section 719 (a) (1) shall also apply. In case the provisions of section 761 are applied retroactively, the provisions of section 718 (a) (5), section 718 (b) (4), and section 718 (c) (4) shall not apply in such computations.

Part II-Post-War Refund of Excess Profits Tax

SEC. 250. POST-WAR REFUND OF EXCESS PROFITS TAX.

Ante, p. 932.

Subchapter E of Chapter 2 is amended by inserting at the end thereof the following new Part:

"Part III—Post-War Refund of Excess Profits Tax

"SEC. 780. POST-WAR REFUND OF EXCESS PROFITS TAX.

Credit to taxpayer's

"(a) In General.—The Secretary of the Treasury is authorized and directed to establish a credit to the account of each taxpayer subject to the tax imposed under this subchapter, for each taxable year ending after December 31, 1941 (except in the case of a taxable year beginning in 1941 and ending before July 1, 1942), and not beginning after the date of cessation of hostilities in the present war, of an amount equal to 10 per centum of the tax imposed under this subchapter for each such taxable year. For the purposes of this part, in the case of a taxpayer whose tax is determined under section 710 (a) (3), the term "tax imposed under this subchapter" means the excess of the tax imposed by such section 710 (a) (3) over the tax that would be imposed if such section 710 (a) (3) were not applicable.

"(b) APPLICATION OF CREDIT TO PURCHASE OF BONDS.—Within three months after the payment of the amount of the excess profits tax shown on the return for a taxable year to which subsection (a) applies, if the payment is made before three months before the date of maturity of bonds for such year under subsection (c), there shall be issued to and in the name of the taxpayer bonds of the United States in an aggregate amount equal to 10 per centum of the tax paid in respect of which a

Ante, p. 900. "Tax imposed under this subchapter." credit is provided under subsection (a), and the credit established under subsection (a) for such taxable year is hereby made available

for the purchase of such bonds.

(c) Terms and Maturity of Bonds.—The bonds provided for in subsection (a) shall be issued under the authority and subject to the provisions of the Second Liberty Bond Act, as amended, and the purposes for which bonds may be issued under such Act are extended to include the purposes for which bonds are required to be issued under this section. Such bonds shall bear no interest, shall be nonnegotiable, and shall not be transferable by sale, exchange, assignment, pledge, hypothecation, or otherwise, on or before the date of cessation of hostilities in the present war, but after said date, such bonds shall be negotiable, and may be sold, exchanged, pledged, assigned, hypothecated, or otherwise transferred, without restriction, and shall be redeemable (at the option of the United States) in whole or in part upon three months' notice. Such bonds for any taxable year to which this section applies shall mature on the last day of that calendar year, beginning after the date of cessation of hostilities in the present war, which is shown in the following table to be applicable to such bonds for such year:

40 Stat. 288. 31 U. S. C. § 774 (2). Ante, p. 189.

Bonds purchased with the credit for any taxable year beginning	Calendar year (beginning after cessation of hostili- ties) on last day of which bonds mature
Within the calendar year 1941 or 1942	2nd
Within the calendar year 1943	3rd
Within the calendar year 1944	4th
After December 31, 1944	5th

"(d) Exemption of Proceeds From Tax.—The proceeds of any such

bond upon redemption shall not be included in gross income.

"(e) Date of Cessation of Hostilities in the Present War.—As used in this section, the term 'date of cessation of hostilities in the present war' means the date on which hostilities in the present war between the United States and the governments of Germany, Japan, and Italy cease, as fixed by proclamation of the President or by concurrent resolution of the two Houses of Congress, whichever date is earlier, or in case the hostilities between the United States and such governments do not cease at the same time, such date as may be so fixed as an appropriate date for the purposes of this section.

"SEC. 781. SPECIAL RULES FOR APPLICATION OF SECTION 780.

"(a) Effect of Deficiencies.—If a deficiency in respect of the excess profits tax for any taxable year for which a credit is provided in section 780 (a) is paid by the taxpayer before three months before the date of maturity of the bonds for such year, an amount of such credit equal to 10 per centum of the excess of the tax imposed by this subchapter on the basis of which the deficiency was determined, over the tax imposed by this subchapter as previously computed and paid shall be available, as provided in section 780 (b), for the purchase of bonds as provided under such section, and there shall be issued to the taxpayer bonds under such section in an amount equal to such excess and with the same maturity as in the case of bonds issued with respect to the taxable year with respect to which the deficiency is determined.

"(b) Effect of Refunds.—If an overpayment of the tax imposed by this subchapter for any taxable year for which a credit is provided in section 780 (a) is refunded or credited to the taxpayer under the internal revenue laws, the credit, if any, provided in such section then existing in favor of the taxpayer shall be reduced by an amount equal to 10 per centum of the excess of the tax imposed by this subAnte, p. 936

Ante. p. 936.

chapter on the basis of which such tax (in respect of which the internal revenue refund or credit was made) was previously computed and paid, over the tax imposed by this subchapter as determined in connection with the determination of the amount of the overpayment. In such a case, if such credit provided in section 780 (a) is less than the amount by which it is required to be reduced, or if there is no such credit then existing in favor of the taxpayer, the excess of such amount over the amount of such credit, if any, shall be carried forward as a charge against the taxpayer to be applied in reduction of a subsequent credit under section 780 (a); and if no such subsequent credit is made in favor of the taxpayer, the amount of such charge (without interest) shall be paid by the taxpayer to the United States or the amount of bonds previously issued to the taxpayer under section 780 (b) shall be adjusted on account of such charge.

"(c) Tax Payments After Cut-off Date.—In the case of a payment of the tax imposed by this subchapter shown on the return for any taxable year for which a credit is provided in section 780 (a), or the payment of a deficiency in respect of such tax for any such taxable year, after the date prescribed in section 780 (b) or 781 (a) but before the date of maturity of the bonds with respect to such taxable year under section 780 (c), the amount of the credit under section 780 (a) for such taxable year attributable to such payment shall, so far as practicable, be available, as provided in section 780 (b), for the purchase of bonds as provided under such section, and, so far as practicable, there shall be issued to the taxpayer bonds under such section with the same maturity as bonds issued with respect to such taxable year. To the extent that it is not practicable to issue bonds against such amount of the credit, the taxpayer shall be paid in cash. In case after the date of maturity of the bonds of any taxable year under section 780 (c) there is any credit under section 780 (a) remaining in favor of the taxpayer, attributable to such year, such remainder shall be paid to the taxpayer in cash. No amount of any payment made under this subsection to a taxpayer shall be included

in gross income.

"(d) Limitation.—The credit under section 780 (a) for any taxable year shall not be greater than the excess of the amount of the tax paid under this subchapter to the United States (and not credited or refunded under the internal revenue laws) in respect of such year over the amount of tax which would be payable to the United States if the excess profits tax rate were 81 per centum, or if the limitation of section 710 is applicable if the amount determined under such

section were reduced by 10 per centum.

"SEC. 782. REGULATIONS.

"The Secretary of the Treasury is authorized to prescribe, from time to time, such rules and regulations as may be necessary to carry out the preceding provisions of this Part.

"SEC. 783. CREDIT FOR DEBT RETIREMENT.

"(a) General Rule.—An amount equal to 40 per centum of the amounts paid during the taxable year in repayment of the principal of indebtedness shall, at the election of the taxpayer made in its return for such year, be allowed as a credit against the tax for such year imposed by this subchapter.

"(b) Limitations.—The credit under subsection (a) with respect to any taxable year shall in no event exceed whichever of the fol-

lowing amounts is the lesser-

"(1) An amount equal to 10 per centum of the tax imposed under this subchapter for the taxable year.

Ante, p. 936.

Ante, p. 936.

54 Stat. 975. 26 U. S. C. § 710; Supp. I, § 710. Ante, pp. 899-902, 917, 931.

"(2) An amount equal to 40 per centum of the amount by which the smallest amount of indebtedness during the period beginning September 1, 1942, and ending with the close of the preceding taxable year exceeds the amount of indebtedness as of the close of the taxable year.

"(3) In case such taxable year begins in 1942 prior to September 2, 1942, and ends after September 1, 1942, an amount equal to 40 per centum of the amount by which the amount of indebtedness as of September 1, 1942, exceeds the amount of indebtedness

as of the close of the taxable year.

"(4) In case such taxable year begins in 1941 or ends before

September 1, 1942, zero.

No interest shall be allowed or paid by the United States on account of any overpayment of tax attributable to any credit allowed under this section.

"(c) REDUCTION OF CREDIT AND OF BONDS OUTSTANDING UNDER Section 780.—If a credit is allowed for debt repayment in a taxable year pursuant to this section, the amount of such credit or refund shall be deducted from the credit under section 780 (a) and the amount of bonds issued under section 780 shall, to the extent necessary, be correspondingly adjusted.

"(d) Definition of Indebtedness.—For the purposes of this section the term 'indebtedness' means any indebtedness of the taxpayer or for which the taxpayer is liable evidenced by a bond, note, debenture, bill of exchange, certificate, or other evidence of indebtedness, mortgage,

or deed of trust."

TITLE III—CAPITAL STOCK AND DECLARED VALUE EXCESS PROFITS TAXES

SEC. 301. CAPITAL STOCK TAX.

(a) Technical Amendment.—Section 1200 (a) and (b) (relating to rate of capital stock tax) are amended by striking out the word "adjusted" wherever occurring therein.

(b) Annual Declaration of Value.—Section 1202 (relating to declaration of value) is amended to read as follows:

53 Stat. 169. 26 U. S. C., Supp. I, § 1200 (a), (b).

Ante. p. 936.

53 Stat. 169. 26 U. S. C. § 1202; Supp. I, § 1202.

"SEC. 1202. DECLARED VALUE.

"(a) Declaration of Value.—The declared value shall be the value as declared by the corporation in its return for the year (which declaration of value cannot be amended). The value declared by the corporation in its return shall be as of the close of its last income-tax taxable year ending with or prior to the close of the capital stock tax taxable year (or as of the date of organization in the case of a corporation having no income-tax taxable year ending with or prior to

the close of such declaration year).

"(b) CREDIT FOR CHINA TRADE ACT CORPORATIONS.—For the purpose of the tax imposed by section 1200 there shall be allowed in the case of a corporation organized under the China Trade Act, 1922, 42 Stat. 849 (U. S. C., 1940 ed., title 15, ch. 4), as a credit against the declared value of its capital stock, an amount equal to the proportion of such declared value which the par value of the shares of stock of the corporation, owned on the last day of the taxable year by (1) persons resident in China, the United States, or possessions of the United States, and (2) individual citizens of the United States or China wherever resident, bears to the par value of the whole number of shares of stock of the corporation outstanding on such date. For the purposes of this subsection shares of stock of a corporation

53 Stat. 169. 26 U. S. C., Supp. I, § 1200.

"China."

53 Stat. 171. 26 U. S. C., Supp. I, § 1203 (b) (2). Ante, p. 762.

53 Stat. 169. 26 U. S. C. §§ 1200– 1207; Supp. I, §§ 1200– 1203. Ante, p. 762.

53 Stat. 111. 26 U. S. C., Supp. I, § 600.

53 Stat. 111. 26 U. S. C. § 601. Infra. shall be considered to be owned by the person in whom the equitable right to the income from such shares is in good faith vested; and as used in this subsection the term 'China' shall have the same meaning as when used in the China Trade Act, 1922."

(c) Returns.—The last sentence of section 1203 (b) (2) (relating to extensions of time for filing capital stock tax returns) is amended to read as follows: "With respect to the years ended June 30, 1941, and June 30, 1942, the extension may be for not more than ninety

days."

(d) Prior Returns Effective.—If a return for the year ended June 30, 1942, is filed under Chapter 6 of the Internal Revenue Code, without regard to the amendment thereof as made by this Act, the adjusted declared value reported by the corporation on such return (whether or not correct) shall constitute the declared value for the purposes of such Chapter 6, as amended by this Act, unless a different value is declared on a subsequent return for such year received within

the prescribed filing period.

(e) Effective Date.—This section shall be effective only with respect to the year ended June 30, 1942, and succeeding years.

SEC. 302. DECLARED VALUE EXCESS-PROFITS TAX.

(a) TECHNICAL AMENDMENTS.—

(1) Section 600 (relating to rate of declared value excess profits tax) is amended by striking out the word "adjusted" wherever occurring therein.

(2) Section 601 (relating to declared value) is amended by striking out the word "adjusted" wherever occurring therein.

(b) EFFECTIVE DATE.—This section shall be effective only with respect to income-tax taxable years ending after June 30, 1942, and succeeding years.

SEC. 303. DECLARED VALUE EXCESS-PROFITS TAX FOR TAXABLE YEARS OF LESS THAN TWELVE MONTHS.

53 Stat. 111. 26 U. S. C. § 601. Supra. 53 Stat. 111. 26 U. S. C. §§ 600-604; Supp. I, §§ 600, 602. (a) Section 601 (relating to the adjusted declared value) is

amended by striking out the last sentence thereof.

(b) Subchapter B of Chapter 2 is amended by inserting after section 604 the following new section:

"SEC. 605. INCOME-TAX TAXABLE YEAR OF LESS THAN TWELVE MONTHS.

"(a) General Rule.—If the income-tax taxable year is a period of less than twelve months on account of a change in the accounting period of the taxpayer, the net income determined under section 602 for such income-tax taxable year (referred to in this section as the 'short taxable year') shall be placed on an annual basis by multiplying the amount thereof by the number of days in the twelve months ending with the close of the short taxable year and dividing by the number of days in the short taxable year. The tax shall be such part of the tax computed on such annual basis as the number of days in the short taxable year is of the number of days in the twelve months ending with the close of the short taxable year.

"(b) Exception.—If the taxpayer establishes the amount of the tax under section 600 for the period of twelve months beginning with the first day of the short taxable year, computed as if such twelve-month period were an income-tax taxable year, under the law applicable to the short taxable year, and using the adjusted declared value applicable in determining the tax for such short taxable year, then

53 Stat. 111. 26 U. S. C., Supp. I, § 600.

Supra.

Post, p. 941.

the tax determined under subsection (a) for the short taxable year shall be reduced to an amount which is such part of the tax computed for the twelve-month period as the net income for the short taxable year is of the net income established for such twelve-month period. The taxpayer (other than a taxpayer to which the next sentence applies) shall compute the tax and file its return without the application of this subsection. If, prior to one year from the date of the beginning of the short taxable year, the taxpayer has disposed of substantially all its assets, in lieu of the twelve-month period provided in the preceding provision of this subsection, the twelve-month period ending with the close of the short taxable year shall be used. For the purposes of this subsection, the net income for the short taxable year shall not be placed on an annual basis under the provisions of subsection (a), and the net income for the twelve-month period used shall in no case be considered less than the net income for the short taxable year. The benefits of this subsection shall not be allowed unless the taxpayer, at such time as regulations prescribed hereunder require, makes application therefor in accordance with such regulations, and such application, in the case of a taxpayer required to file return without regard to this subsection, shall be considered a claim for credit or refund. The Commissioner, with the approval of the Secretary, shall prescribe such regulations as he may deem necessary for the application of this subsection."

(c) Taxable Years to Which Amendments Applicable.—The amendments made by this section shall be applicable to taxable years

beginning after December 31, 1939.

SEC. 304. TECHNICAL AMENDMENTS MADE NECESSARY BY CHANGE IN BASE FOR CORPORATION TAX.

Section 602 (relating to net income for purposes of the declared value excess-profits tax) is amended to read as follows:

53 Stat. 111. 26 U. S. C., Supp. I, § 602.

"SEC. 602. NET INCOME.

"For the purposes of this subchapter the net income shall be the same as the net income for income tax purposes for the year in respect of which the tax under section 600 is imposed, computed without the deduction of the tax imposed by section 600, but with a credit against net income equal to the credit for dividends received provided in section 26 (b) of Chapter 1."

53 Stat. 111. 26 U. S. C., Supp. I, § 600. Ante, p. 940. 63 Stat. 19. 26 U. S. C. § 26 (b). Ante, p. 807.

TITLE IV—ESTATE AND GIFT TAXES

Part I—Estate Tax

SEC. 401. ESTATES TO WHICH AMENDMENTS APPLICABLE,

Except as otherwise expressly provided, the amendments made by this Part shall be applicable only with respect to estates of decedents dying after the date of the enactment of this Act.

SEC. 402. COMMUNITY INTERESTS.

(a) Transfers of Community Property in Contemplation of Death, Etc.—Section 811 (d) (relating to revocable transfers) is amended by adding at the end thereof the following new paragraph:

"(5) Transfers of community property in contemplation of death, etc.—For the purposes of this subsection and subsection (c), a transfer of property held as community property by the

53 Stat. 121. 26 U. S. C. § 811 (d). decedent and surviving spouse under the law of any State, Territory, or possession of the United States, or any foreign country, shall be considered to have been made by the decedent, except such part thereof as may be shown to have been received as compensation for personal services actually rendered by the surviving spouse or derived originally from such compensation or from separate property of the surviving spouse."

53 Stat. 122. 26 U. S. C. § 811 (e).

(b) GENERAL RULE.—Section 811 (e) (relating to joint interests) is amended as follows:

(1) By striking out "(e) Joint Interests.—" and inserting in lieu thereof

"(e) JOINT AND COMMUNITY INTERESTS.—

"(1) Joint interests.—".

(2) By inserting at the end thereof the following new para-

graph:

(2) COMMUNITY INTERESTS.—To the extent of the interest therein held as community property by the decedent and surviving spouse under the law of any State, Territory, or possession of the United States, or any foreign country, except such part thereof as may be shown to have been received as compensation for personal services actually rendered by the surviving spouse or derived originally from such compensation or from separate property of the surviving spouse. In no case shall such interest included in the gross estate of the decedent be less than the value of such part of the community property as was subject to the decedent's power of testamentary disposition."

(c) Cross Reference.—For treatment of life insurance acquired with community property, see amendment to section 811 (g) made

by section 404 of this Act.

SEC. 403. POWERS OF APPOINTMENT.

53 Stat. 122. 26 U. S. C. § 811 (f).

Post, p. 944.

(a) General Rule.—Section 811 (f) (relating to powers of

appointment) is amended to read as follows:

"(f) Powers of Appointment.—

"(1) In General.—To the extent of any property (A) with respect to which the decedent has at the time of his death a power of appointment, or (B) with respect to which he has at any time exercised or released a power of appointment in contemplation of death, or (C) with respect to which he has at any time exercised or released a power of appointment by a disposition intended to take effect in possession or enjoyment at or after his death, or by a disposition under which he has retained for his life or any period not ascertainable without reference to his death or for any period which does not in fact end before his death (i) the possession or enjoyment of, or the right to the income from, the property, or (ii) the right, either alone or in conjunction with any person, to designate the persons who shall possess or enjoy the property or the income therefrom; except in case of a bona fide sale for an adequate and full consideration in money or money's worth.

"(2) Definition of Power of Appointment.—For the purposes of this subsection the term 'power of appointment' means any power to appoint exercisable by the decedent either alone or in

conjunction with any person, except

"(A) a power to appoint within a class which does not include any others than the spouse of the decedent, spouse of the creator of the power, descendants of the decedent or his spouse, descendants (other than the decedent) of the creator of the power or his spouse, spouses of such descendants, donees described in section 812 (d), and donees described in section 861 (a) (3). As used in this subparagraph, the term 'descendant' includes adopted and illegitimate descendants, and the term 'spouse' includes former spouse; and

spouse; and

"(B) a power to appoint within a restricted class if the decedent did not receive any beneficial interest, vested or contingent, in the property from the creator of the power or thereafter acquire any such interest, and if the power is not exercisable to any extent for the benefit of the decedent, his estate, his creditors, or the creditors of his estate.

If a power to appoint is exercised by creating another power to appoint, such first power shall not be considered excepted under subparagraph (A) or (B) from the definition of power of appointment to the extent of the value of the property subject to such second power to appoint. For the purposes of the preceding sentence the value of the property subject to such second power to appoint shall be its value unreduced by any precedent or subse-

quent interest not subject to such power to appoint.

"(3) Date of existence of power.—For the purposes of this subsection the power of appointment shall be considered to exist on the date of the decedent's death even though the exercise of the power is subject to a precedent giving of notice or even though the exercise of the power takes effect only on the expiration of a stated period after its exercise, whether or not on or before the date of the decedent's death notice has been given or the power has been exercised."

(b) Deductions for Charitable, Etc., Use.—

(1) AMENDMENT TO SECTION \$12 (d).—Section 812 (d) (relating to deduction in case of estates of citizens or residents) is amended by inserting after the first sentence the following new sentence: "Property includible in the decedent's gross estate under section 811 (f) received by a done described in this subsection shall, for the purposes of this subsection, be considered a bequest of such decedent."

(2) AMENDMENT TO SECTION 861 (a) (3).—Section 861 (a) (3) (relating to deduction in case of estates of nonresidents not citizens) is amended by inserting after the first sentence the following new sentence: "Property includible in the decedent's gross estate under section 811 (f) received by a donee described in this paragraph shall, for the purposes of this paragraph, be considered a bequest of such decedent."

(c) LIABILITY OF RECIPIENT OF PROPERTY OVER WHICH DECEDENT HAD POWER OF APPOINTMENT.—Section 826 (relating to collection of unpaid tax) is amended by adding at the end thereof the following

new subsection:

"(d) Liability of Recipient of Property Over Which Decedent Had Power of Appointment.—Unless the decedent directs otherwise in his will, if any part of the gross estate upon which the tax has been paid consists of the value of property included in the gross estate under section 811 (f), the executor shall be entitled to recover from the person receiving such property by reason of the exercise, nonexercise, or release of a power of appointment such portion of the total tax paid as the value of such property bears to the sum of the net estate and the amount of the exemption allowed in computing the net estate, determined under section 935 (c), or section 861, as the case may be. If there is more than one such person the executor shall be entitled to recover from such persons in the same ratio."

53 Stat. 124, 130. 26 U. S. C. §§ 812 (d), 861 (a) (3). Infra. Post, pp. 949, 950.

53 Stat. 124. 26 U. S. C. § 812 (d). Post, p. 949.

Ante, p. 942.

53 Stat. 130. 26 U. S. C. § 861 (a) (3). Post, pp. 949, 950.

Ante, p. 942.

53 Stat. 127. 26 U. S. C. § 826. Post, p. 945.

Ante, p. 942.

53 Stat. 142. 26 U. S. C. § 935 (c). Post, p. 951. 53 Stat. 129. 26 U. S. C. § 861; Supp. I, § 861. Post, pp. 946-951.

(d) Powers With Respect to Which Amendments Not Appli-CABLE.

(1) The amendments made by this section shall not apply with respect to a power to appoint, created on or before the date of the enactment of this Act, which is other than a power exercisable in favor of the decedent, his estate, his creditors, or the creditors of his estate, unless such power is exercised after the date of the enactment of this Act.

(2) The amendments made by this section shall not become applicable with respect to a power to appoint created on or before the date of enactment of this Act, which is exercisable in favor of the decedent, his estate, his creditors, or the creditors of his estate, if at such date the donee of such power is under a legal disability to release such power, until six months after the termination of such legal disability. For the purposes of the preceding sentence, an individual in the military or naval forces of the United States shall, until the termination of the present war, be considered under a legal disability to release a power to appoint.

(3) The amendments made by this section shall not apply with respect to any power to appoint created on or before the date of the enactment of this Act if it is released before January 1, 1943, or within the time limited by paragraph (2) in cases to which such paragraph is applicable; or if the decedent dies before January 1, 1943, or within the time limited by paragraph (2) in cases to which such paragraph is applicable, and such power is

not exercised.

SEC. 404. PROCEEDS OF LIFE INSURANCE.

53 Stat. 122. 26 U.S.C. § 811 (g).

Post, p. 1054.

(a) General Rule.—Section 811 (g) (relating to life insurance) is amended to read as follows:

"(g) PROCEEDS OF LIFE INSURANCE.—
"(1) RECEIVABLE BY THE EXECUTOR.—To the extent of the amount receivable by the executor as insurance under policies upon the life of the decedent.

"(2) Receivable by other beneficiaries.—To the extent of the amount receivable by all other beneficiaries as insurance under policies upon the life of the decedent (A) purchased with premiums, or other consideration, paid directly or indirectly by the decedent, in proportion that the amount so paid by the decedent bears to the total premiums paid for the insurance, or (B) with respect to which the decedent possessed at his death any of the incidents of ownership, exercisable either alone or in conjunction with any other person. For the purposes of clause (A) of this paragraph, if the decedent transferred, by assignment or otherwise, a policy of insurance, the amount paid directly or indirectly by the decedent shall be reduced by an amount which bears the same ratio to the amount paid directly or indirectly by the decedent as the consideration in money or money's worth received by the decedent for the transfer bears to the value of the policy at the time of the transfer. For the purposes of clause (B) of this paragraph, the term incident of ownership' does not include a reversionary interest.

"(3) Transfer not a gift.—The amount receivable under a

policy of insurance transferred, by assignment or otherwise, by the decedent shall not be includible under paragraph (2) (A) if the transfer did not constitute a gift, in whole or in part, under Chapter 4, or, in case the transfer was made at a time when Chapter 4 was not in effect, would not have constituted a gift, in

26 U. S. C. §§ 1000– 1031; Supp. I, § 1001. Post, pp. 952–954.

whole or in part, under such chapter had it been in effect at such time.

"(4) Community property.—For the purposes of this subsection, premiums or other consideration paid with property held as community property by the insured and surviving spouse under the law of any State, Territory, or possession of the United States, or any foreign country, shall be considered to have been paid by the insured, except such part thereof as may be shown to have been received as compensation for personal services actually rendered by the surviving spouse or derived originally from such compensation or from separate property of the surviving spouse; and the term 'incidents of ownership' includes incidents of ownership possessed by the decedent at his death as manager of the community."

(b) Liability of Life Insurance Beneficiaries.—Section 826 (c) (relating to apportionment of liability of beneficiaries) is amended to read as follows:

"(c) Liability of Life Insurance Beneficiaries.—Unless the decedent directs otherwise in his will, if any part of the gross estate upon which tax has been paid consists of proceeds of policies of insurance upon the life of the decedent receivable by a beneficiary other than the executor, the executor shall be entitled to recover from such beneficiary such portion of the total tax paid as the proceeds of such policies bear to the sum of the net estate and the amount of the exemption allowed in computing the net estate, determined under section 935 (c). If there is more than one such beneficiary the executor shall be entitled to recover from such beneficiaries in the same ratio."

(c) DECEDENTS TO WHICH AMENDMENTS APPLICABLE.—The amendments made by subsection (a) shall be applicable only to estates of decedents dying after the date of the enactment of this Act; but in determining the proportion of the premiums or other consideration paid directly or indirectly by the decedent (but not the total premiums paid) the amount so paid by the decedent on or before January 10, 1941, shall be excluded if at no time after such date the decedent possessed an incident of ownership in the policy.

SEC. 405. DEDUCTIONS NOT ALLOWABLE IN EXCESS OF CERTAIN PROPERTY OF ESTATE.

(a) General Rule.—Section 812 (b) (relating to estate tax deductions) is amended by inserting after the second sentence the following new sentences: "There shall be disallowed the amount by which the deductions specified in paragraphs (1), (2), (3), (4), and (5) exceed the value, at the time of the decedent's death, of property subject to claims. For the purposes of this section the term 'property subject to claims' means property includible in the gross estate of the decedent which, or the avails of which, would, under the applicable law, bear the burden of the payment of such deductions in the final adjustment and settlement of the estate; and, for the purposes of this definition, the value of the property shall be reduced by the amount of the deduction under the next sentence attributable to such property."

(b) PRIOR TAXED PROPERTY.—The second sentence of the second paragraph of section 812 (c) (relating to deduction for prior taxed property) is amended to read as follows: "The deduction under this subsection shall be reduced by an amount which bears the same ratio to the amounts allowed as deductions under subsections (a) and (d) and the amounts of general claims allowed as deductions under subsection (b) as the amount otherwise deductible under this subsection

"Incidents of ownership."

53 Stat. 128. 26 U. S. C. § 826 (c). Post, p. 951.

53 Stat. 142. 26 U. S. C. § 935 (c). Post, p. 951.

53 Stat. 123. 26 U. S. C. § 812 (b). Post, p. 947.

"Property subject to claims."

53 Stat. 124. 26 U. S. C., Supp. I, § 812 (c). Post, pp. 947, 948. bears to property subject to general claims. If the property includible in the gross estate to which the deduction under this subsection is attributable is not wholly property subject to general claims-

"(1) before the application of the preceding sentence, the amount of the deduction under this subsection shall be reduced by that part of such amount as the value, at the time of the decedent's death, of such property (to which such deduction is attributable) subject to claims but not to general claims is of the value, at the time of the decedent's death, of such property, and

"(2) in the application of the preceding sentence in reducing the balance, if any, of such deduction, the amount otherwise deductible under this subsection shall be only that part of such amount otherwise deductible (determined without regard to clause (1) of this paragraph) as the value, at the time of the decedent's death, of such property (to which such deduction is attributable) subject to general claims is of the value, at the time of the dece-

dent's death, of such property.

For the purposes of the two preceding sentences and this sentence, 'general claims' are the amounts allowed as deductions under subsection (b) which, under the applicable law, in the final adjustment and settlement of the estate may be enforced against any property subject to claims, as defined in subsection (b), and 'property subject to general claims' is the value, at the time of the decedent's death, of property subject to claims, as defined in subsection (b), reduced by the value, at the time of the decedent's death, of that part of such property against which amounts allowed as deductions under subsection (b) which are not general claims may be enforced, under the applicable law, in the final adjustment and settlement of the estate."

(c) Prior Taxed Property of Nonresidents Not Citizens.—The next to the last sentence of section 861 (a) (2) (relating to deduction for prior taxed property of nonresidents not citizens of the United States) is amended to read as follows: "The deduction under this paragraph shall be reduced by an amount which bears the same ratio to the amounts allowed as deductions under paragraphs (3) and (4) and the amount of general claims allowed as deduction under paragraph (1) of this subsection as the amount otherwise deductible under this paragraph bears to property subject to general claims. If the property includible in the gross estate to which the deduction under the paragraph is attributable is not wholly property subject to general claims-

> "(A) before the application of the preceding sentence, the amount of the deduction under this paragraph shall be reduced by that part of such amount as the value, at the time of the decedent's death, of such property (to which such deduction is attributable) subject to claims but not to general claims is of the value, at the time of the decedent's death,

of such property, and

"(B) in the application of the preceding sentence in reducing the balance, if any, of such deduction, 'the amount otherwise deductible under this paragraph' shall be only that part of such amount otherwise deductible (determined without regard to subparagraph (A)) as the value, at the time of the decedent's death, of such property (to which such deduction is attributable) subject to general claims is of the value, at the time of the decedent's death, of such property.

For the purposes of the two preceding sentences and this sentence, 'general claims' are the amounts allowed as deductions under paragraph (1) of this subsection which, under the applicable law, in the final adjustment and settlement of the estate may be enforced against

53 Stat. 130, 26 U. S. C., Supp. I, § 861 (a) (2). Post, p. 948.

that part of any property subject to claims, as defined in subsection (b) of section 812 which at the time of the decedent's death is in the United States, and 'property subject to general claims' is the value, at the time of the decedent's death, of such property subject to claims, reduced by the value, at the time of the decedent's death, of that part of such property subject to claims against which amounts allowed as deductions under paragraph (1) of this subsection which are not general claims may be enforced, under the applicable law, in the final adjustment and settlement of the estate."

53 Stat. 123. 26 U. S. C. § 812 (b). Ante, p. 945. Infra.

SEC. 406. CHARITABLE PLEDGES.

(a) Pledges in Case of Citizens.—Section 812 (b) (relating to deductions in computing net estate) is amended by inserting before the period at the end of the second sentence thereof the following: "; except that in any case in which any such claim is founded upon a promise or agreement of the decedent to make a contribution or gift to or for the use of any donee described in subsection (d) for the purposes specified therein, the deduction for such claim shall not be so limited, but shall be limited to the extent that it would be allowable as a deduction under subsection (d) if such promise or agreement constituted a bequest".

53 Stat. 123. 26 U. S. C. § 812 (b). Ante, p. 945.

(b) Pledges by Nonresidents Not Citizens.—Section 861 (a) (1) (relating to deductions in computing net estate) is amended to read

as follows:

"(1) Expenses, losses, indeptedness, and taxes.—That proportion of the deductions specified in section 812 (b) (other than the deductions described in the following sentence) which the value of such part bears to the value of his entire gross estate, wherever situated. Any deduction allowable under section 812 (b) in the case of a claim against the estate which was founded upon a promise or agreement but was not contracted for an adequate and full consideration in money or money's worth shall be allowable under this paragraph to the extent that it would be allowable as a deduction under paragraph (3) if such promise or agreement constituted a bequest."

53 Stat. 123. 26 U. S. C. § 812 (b). Ante, p. 945; supra.

SEC. 407. DEDUCTION ON ACCOUNT OF PROPERTY PREVIOUSLY TAXED.

(a) Amendments to Internal Revenue Code Provisions Relating TO PROPERTY PREVIOUSLY TAXED.—

(1) The first paragraph of section 812 (c) is amended to read

as follows:

"(c) PROPERTY PREVIOUSLY TAXED.—An amount equal to the value of any property (1) forming a part of the gross estate situated in the United States of any person who died within five years prior to the death of the decedent, or (2) transferred to the decedent by gift within five years prior to his death, where such property can be identified as having been received by the decedent from the donor by gift, or from such prior decedent by gift, bequest, devise, or inheritance, or which can be identified as having been acquired in exchange for property so received. Property includible in the gross estate of the prior decedent under section 811 (f) and property included in total gifts of the donor under section 1000 (c) received by the decedent described in this subsection shall, for the purposes of this subsection, be considered a bequest of such prior decedent or gift of such donor. This deduction shall be allowed only where a gift tax imposed under Chapter 4, or under Title III of the Revenue Act of 1932, 47 Stat. 245, or an estate tax imposed under this chapter or any prior Act of

53 Stat. 124. 26 U. S. C., Supp. I, § 812 (c). Ante, p. 945; post, p. 948.

Ante, p. 942. Post. p. 952.

53 Stat. 144. 26 U. S. C. §§ 1000-1031; Supp. I, § 1001. Post, pp. 952-954.

Congress, was finally determined and paid by or on behalf of such donor, or the estate of such prior decedent, as the case may be, and only in the amount finally determined as the value of such property in determining the value of the gift, or the gross estate of such prior decedent, and only to the extent that the value of such property is included in the decedent's gross estate, and only if in determining the value of the net estate of the prior decedent no deduction was allowable under this subsection, section 861 (a) (2), or the corresponding provisions of any prior Act of Congress, in respect of the property or property given in exchange therefor.'

(2) The first sentence of the second paragraph of section 812

(c) is amended to read as follows: "Where a deduction was allowed of any mortgage or other lien in determining the gift tax, or the estate tax of the prior decedent, which was paid in whole or in part prior to the decedent's death, then the deduction allowable under this subsection shall be reduced by the

amount so paid."
(3) The first two sentences of section 861 (a) (2) are amended

to read as follows:

"(2) Property previously taxed.—An amount equal to the value of any property (A) forming a part of the gross estate situated in the United States of any person who died within five years prior to the death of the decedent, or (B) transferred to the decedent by gift within five years prior to his death, where such property can be identified as having been received by the decedent from the donor by gift, or from such prior decedent by gift, bequest, devise, or inheritance, or which can be identified as having been acquired in exchange for property so received. Property includible in the gross estate of the prior decedent under section 811 (f) and property included in total gifts of the donor under section 1000 (c) received by the decedent described in this paragraph shall, for the purposes of this paragraph, be considered a bequest of such prior decedent or gift of such donor. This deduction shall be allowed only where a gift tax imposed under Chapter 4, or under Title III of the Revenue Act of 1932, 47 Stat. 245, or an estate tax imposed under this chapter or any prior Act of Congress, was finally determined and paid by or on behalf of such donor, or the estate of such prior decedent, as the case may be, and only in the amount finally determined as the value of such property in determining the value of the gift, or the gross estate of such prior decedent, and only to the extent that the value of such property is included in that part of the decedent's gross estate which at the time of his death is situated in the United States, and only if in determining the value of the net estate of the prior decedent no deduction was allowable under this paragraph, section 812 (c), or the corresponding provisions of any prior Act of Congress, in respect of the property or property given in exchange therefor."

(b) AMENDMENTS TO REVENUE ACT OF 1926 RELATING TO PROPERTY

PREVIOUSLY TAXED.-

(1) The second sentence of section 303 (a) (2) of the Revenue Act of 1926, as amended, is amended by striking out "this" following "estate tax imposed under" and inserting in lieu thereof "the Revenue Act of 1932"

(2) The second sentence of section 303 (b) (2) of the Revenue Act of 1926, as amended, is amended by striking out "this" following "estate tax imposed under" and inserting in lieu thereof "the Revenue Act of 1932".

53 Stat. 130. 26 U. S. C., Supp. I, § 861 (a) (2). Ante, p. 946; infra.

53 Stat. 124. 26 U. S. C., Supp. I, § 812 (c). Ante, pp. 945, 947.

53 Stat. 130. 26 U. S. C., Supp. I, § 861 (a) (2). Ante, p. 946.

Ante, p. 942. Post, p. 952.

53 Stat. 144. 26 U. S. C. §§ 1000– 1031; Supp. I, § 1001. Post, pp. 952–954.

53 Stat. 124. 26 U. S. C., Supp. I, § 812 (c). Ante, pp. 945, 947.

44 Stat. 9.

44 Stat. 72.

47 Stat. 169. 44 Stat. 73.

(c) EFFECTIVE DATES.—

(1) The amendments made by subsection (a) (1) shall be applicable to estates of decedents dying after the date of enactment of this Act, except that the reference therein to "an estate tax imposed under his chapter or any prior Act of Congress," shall be applicable with respect to estates of decedents dying after February 10, 1939.

(2) The amendment made by subsection (a) (2) shall be applicable with respect to estates of decedents dying after

February 10, 1939.

(3) The amendments made by subsection (a) (3) shall be applicable to estates of decedents dying after the date of enactment of this Act, except that the reference therein to "an estate tax imposed under this chapter or any prior Act of Congress," shall be applicable with respect to estates of decedents dying after February 10, 1939.

(4) The amendments made by subsection (b) shall be applicable with respect to estates of decedents dying after the date

of enactment of the Revenue Act of 1932.

(d) Overpayments.—If the refund or credit of any overpayment to the extent resulting from the application of subsections (a), (b), and (c) of this section, is prevented on the date of enactment of this Act or within one year from such date, then, notwithstanding any other provision of law or rule of law (other than this subsection of this section and other than section 3761 of the Internal Revenue Code or section 3229 of the Revised Statutes, or such section as amended by section 815 of the Revenue Act of 1938, relating to compromises), such overpayment shall be refunded or credited in the same manner as in the case of an estate tax erroneously collected if claim therefor is filed within one year from the date of enactment of this Act.

47 Stat. 169.

53 Stat. 462. 26 U. S. C. § 3761. 52 Stat. 578.

SEC. 408. DEDUCTION FOR DISCLAIMED LEGACIES PASSING TO CHARITIES.

(a) DEDUCTION IN CASE OF CITIZENS AND RESIDENTS.—The first sentence of section 812 (d) (relating to the deduction for charitable, etc., bequests) is amended by inserting after "The amount of all bequests, legacies, devises, or transfers" the following: "(including the interest which falls into any such bequest, legacy, devise, or transfer as a result of an irrevocable disclaimer of a bequest, legacy, devise, transfer, or power, if the disclaimer is made prior to the date prescribed for the filing of the estate tax return)".

(b) Deduction in Case of Nonresidents Not Citizens.—The first sentence of section 861 (a) (3) (relating to the deduction for charitable, etc., bequests) is amended by inserting after "The amount of all bequests, legacies, devises, or transfers" the following: "(including the interest which falls into any such bequest, legacy, devise, or transfer as a result of an irrevocable disclaimer of a bequest, legacy, devise, transfer, or power, if the disclaimer is made prior to the date

prescribed for the filing of the estate tax return)".

(c) Estates With Respect to Which Amendments Applicable.— The amendments made by this section shall be applicable to estates of decedents dying after February 10, 1939.

SEC. 409. DENIAL OF DEDUCTION ON BEQUEST TO CERTAIN PROPA-GANDA ORGANIZATIONS.

(a) CITIZENS AND RESIDENTS.—Section 812 (d) (relating to deduction for bequests, etc., to charity) is amended by inserting before the 53 Stat. 124. 26 U. S. C. § 812 (d). Ante, p. 943; infra.

53 Stat. 130. 26 U. S. C. § 861 (a) (3). Ante, p. 943; post, p. 950.

53 Stat. 124. 26 U. S. C. § 812 (d). Ante, p. 943; supra.

period at the end of the first sentence the following: ", and no substantial part of the activities of such trustee or trustees, or of such fraternal society, order, or association, is carrying on propaganda, or otherwise attempting, to influence legislation?

53 Stat. 130. 26 U.S.C. § 861 (a) (3). Ante, pp. 943, 949.

(b) Nonresidents Not Citizens.—Section 861 (a) (3) (relating to deduction for bequests, etc., to charity) is amended by inserting before the period at the end of the first sentence the following: ", and no substantial part of the activities of such trustee or trustees, or of such fraternal society, order, or association, is carrying on propaganda, or otherwise attempting, to influence legislation,

SEC. 410. PRIORITY OF CREDIT FOR LOCAL DEATH TAXES.

53 Stat. 125. 26 U. S. C. § 813 (a) (1).

(a) AMENDMENT TO CREDIT FOR 1924 GIFT TAX.—Section 813 (a) (1) (relating to credit for estate tax of gift tax paid under 1924 Act) is amended by inserting after "subchapter" where it occurs the second time the following: "(after deducting from such tax the credit provided by section 813 (b))".

Infra.

(b) Amendment to Credit for 1932 and Chapter 4 Gift Tax.-

53 Stat. 125. 26 U. S. C., Supp. I, § 813 (a) (2) (A). Supra; infra.

Section 813 (a) (2) (A) (relating to credit for estate tax of gift tax paid under 1932 Act or Chapter 4) is amended by inserting after "860" where it occurs the second time the following: "(after deducting from such tax the credits provided by section 813 (a) (1) and (b))

53 Stat. 125. 26 U. S. C., Supp. I, § 813 (b).

(c) 80 PER CENTUM LIMIT ON LOCAL DEATH TAX COMPUTED BEFORE ALLOWANCE OF GIFT TAX CREDIT.—Section 813 (b) (relating to credit for local estate, succession, legacy, and inheritance taxes) is amended by striking out "(after deducting from such tax the credits provided by section 813 (a) (2))" and inserting in lieu thereof "(before deducting from such tax the credits provided by section 813 (a) (1) and (2))".

53 Stat. 125. 26 U. S. C. § 813 (a) (1); Supp. I, § 813 (a)

Supra.

SEC. 411. LIABILITY OF CERTAIN TRANSFEREES.

53 Stat. 128. 26 U.S.C. § 827 (b).

(a) Imposition of Liability.—Section 827 (b) is amended to read as follows:

53 Stat. 120-122. 26 U. S. C. § 811 (b), (c), (d), (e). Ante, pp. 941, 942, 944.

"(b) LIABILITY OF TRANSFEREE, ETC.—If the tax herein imposed is not paid when due, then the spouse, transferee, trustee, surviving tenant, person in possession of the property by reason of the exercise, nonexercise, or release of a power of appointment, or beneficiary, who receives, or has on the date of the decedent's death, property included in the gross estate under section 811 (b), (c), (d), (e), (f), or (g), to the extent of the value, at the time of the decedent's death, of such property, shall be personally liable for such tax. Any part of such property sold by such spouse, transferee, trustee, surviving tenant, person in possession of property by reason of the exercise, nonexercise, or release of a power of appointment, or beneficiary, to a bona fide purchaser for an adequate and full consideration in money or money's worth shall be divested of the lien provided in section 827 (a) and a like lien shall then attach to all the property of such spouse, transferee, trustee, surviving tenant, person in possession, or beneficiary, except any part sold to a bona fide purchaser for an adequate and full consideration in money or money's worth.

53 Stat. 128. 26 U. S. C. § 827 (a),

(b) Definition of Transferee.—Section 900 (e) is amended to read as follows:

53 Stat. 138, 26 U.S.C. § 900 (e).

"(e) DEFINITION OF 'TRANSFEREE'.—As used in this section, the term 'transferee' includes heir, legatee, devisee, and distributee, and includes a person who, under section 827 (b), is personally liable for any part of the tax."

Ѕирта.

SEC. 412. EXEMPTION OF ESTATES OF NONRESIDENTS NOT CITIZENS.

(a) Exemption.—Section 861 (a) (relating to deductions in case of estates of nonresidents not citizens) is amended by inserting at the end thereof the following new paragraph:

"(4) Exemption.—An exemption of \$2,000."

(b) TECHNICAL AMENDMENT WITH RESPECT TO PROPERTY PREVIOUSLY Taxed.—For technical amendment with respect to property previously taxed, see section 405 (c) of this Act.

(c) Returns.—Section 864 (a) (1) (relating to returns of executors of estates of nonresidents not citizens) is amended to read as follows:

"(1) RETURNS BY EXECUTOR.—In the case of the estate of every nonresident not a citizen of the United States any part of whose gross estate situated in the United States exceeds the amount of the specific exemption provided in section 861 (a) (4), the executor shall make a return under oath in duplicate, setting forth (A) the value of that part of the gross estate of the decedent situated in the United States at the time of his death; (B) the deductions allowed under section 861; (C) the value of the net estate of the decedent as defined in section 861; (D) the tax paid or payable thereon; or such part of such information as may at the time be ascertainable and such supplemental data as may be necessary to establish the correct tax.

53 Stat. 129. 26 U.S. C. § 861 (a); Supp. I, § 861 (a). Ante, pp. 943, 949, 950.

Ante, p. 946. 53 Stat. 131. 26 U. S. C. § 864 (a) (1).

Supra.

53 Stat. 129. 26 U. S. C. § 861; Supp. I, § 861. Ante, pp. 943, 946-951.

SEC. 413. PERIOD FOR FILING PETITION EXTENDED IN CERTAIN CASES.

(a) Period Extended.—Section 871 (a) (1) (relating to period for filing petition with Board of Tax Appeals) is amended by inserting at the end thereof the following new sentence: "If the notice is addressed to an executor outside the States of the Union and the District of Columbia, the period specified in this paragraph shall be one hundred and fifty days in lieu of ninety days."

(b) Effective Date.—The amendment made by this section shall

be applicable with respect to notices of deficiency mailed after the

date of the enactment of this Act.

53 Stat. 132. 26 U. S. C. § 871 (a) (1).

SEC. 414. SPECIFIC EXEMPTION.

(a) Amount of Exemption.—Section 935 (c) (relating to the exemption for the purposes of the additional estate tax) is amended by striking out "\$40,000" and inserting in lieu thereof "\$60,000".

(b) TECHNICAL AMENDMENT.—The first sentence of section 826 (c) (relating to liability of life insurance beneficiaries) is amended by striking out ", in excess of \$40,000,".

53 Stat. 142. 26 U.S.C. § 935 (c).

53 Stat. 128. 26 U. S. C. § 826 (c). Ante, p. 945.

SEC. 415. OVERPAYMENT FOUND BY BOARD.

The second sentence of section 912 (relating to overpayment found by the Board of Tax Appeals) is amended by striking out "or the filing of the petition" and inserting in lieu thereof "or the mailing of the notice of deficiency".

53 Stat. 139, 26 U.S.C. § 912.

Part II—Gift Tax

SEC. 451. GIFTS TO WHICH AMENDMENTS APPLICABLE.

Except as otherwise expressly provided, the amendments made by this Part shall be applicable only with respect to gifts made in the calendar year 1943, and succeeding calendar years.

SEC. 452. POWERS OF APPOINTMENT.

53 Stat. 144. 26 U.S.C. § 1000.

(a) GENERAL RULE.—Section 1000 (relating to imposition of gift tax) is amended by inserting at the end thereof the following new

"(c) Powers of Appointment.—An exercise or release of a power of appointment shall be deemed a transfer of property by the individual possessing such power. For the purposes of this subsection the term 'power of appointment' means any power to appoint exercisable by an individual either alone or in conjunction with any person,

except

"(1) a power to appoint within a class which does not include any others than the spouse of such individual, spouse of the creator of the power, descendants of such individual or his spouse, descendants (other than such individual) of the creator of the power or his spouse, spouses of such descendants, donees described in section 1004 (a) (2), and donees described in section 1004 (b). As used in this paragraph, the term 'descendant' includes adopted and illegitimate descendants, and the term 'spouse' includes former spouse; and

"(2) a power to appoint within a restricted class if such individual did not receive any beneficial interest, vested or contingent, in the property from the creator of the power or thereafter acquire any such interest, and if the power is not exercisable to any extent for the benefit of such individual, his estate, his

creditors, or the creditors of his estate.

If a power to appoint is exercised by creating another power to appoint, such first power shall not be considered excepted under paragraph (1) or (2) from the definition of power of appointment to the extent of the value of the property subject to such second power to appoint. For the purposes of the preceding sentence the value of the property subject to such second power to appoint shall be its value unreduced by any precedent or subsequent interest not subject to such power to appoint."

(b) Powers With Respect to Which Amendments Not Appli-

CABLE.

(1) The amendments made by this section shall not apply with respect to a power to appoint, created on or before the date of enactment of this Act, which is other than a power exercisable in favor of the donee of the power, his estate, his creditors, or the creditors of his estate, unless such power is exercised after

the date of enactment of this Act.

(2) The amendments made by this section shall not become applicable with respect to a power to appoint created on or before the date of enactment of this Act, which is exercisable in favor of the donee of the power, his estate, his creditors, or the creditors of his estate, if at such date the donee of such power is under a legal disability to release such power, until six months after the termination of such legal disability. For the purposes of the preceding sentence, an individual in the military or naval forces of the United States shall, until the termination of the present war, be considered under a legal disability to release a power to appoint.

(c) Release on or Before January 1, 1943.—

(1) A release of a power to appoint before January 1, 1943, shall not be deemed a transfer of property by the individual possessing such power.

(2) This subsection shall apply to all calendar years prior to

1943.

53 Stat. 147. 26 U. S. C. § 1004 (a) (2), (b).

Post, p. 1054.

Ante, p. 952.

53 Stat. 146. 26 U. S. C. § 1003 (b) (2).

SEC. 453. GIFTS OF COMMUNITY PROPERTY.

Section 1000 (relating to tax on gifts) is amended by inserting at

the end thereof the following new subsection:

"(d) COMMUNITY PROPERTY.—All gifts of property held as community property under the law of any State, Territory, or possession of the United States, or any foreign country shall be considered to be the gifts of the husband except that gifts of such property as may be shown to have been received as compensation for personal services actually rendered by the wife or derived originally from such compensation or from separate property of the wife shall be considered to be gifts of the wife."

SEC. 454. EXCLUSION FROM NET GIFTS REDUCED.

Section 1003 (b) (2) (relating to exclusion of gifts) is amended to read as follows:

"(2) GIFTS AFTER 1938 AND PRIOR TO 1943.—In the case of gifts (other than gifts in trust or of future interests in property) made to any person by the donor during the calendar year 1939 and subsequent calendar years prior to 1943, the first \$4,000 of such gifts to such person shall not, for the purposes of subsection (a), be included in the total amount of gifts made

during such year.

"(3) GIFTS AFTER 1942.—In the case of gifts (other than gifts of future interests in property) made to any person by the donor during the calendar year 1943 and subsequent calendar years, the first \$3,000 of such gifts to such person shall not, for the purposes of subsection (a), be included in the total amount of gifts made during such year."

SEC. 455. SPECIFIC EXEMPTION OF GIFTS REDUCED.

That part of section 1004 which precedes paragraph (2) of subsection (a) is amended to read as follows:

53 Stat. 146. 26 U. S. C. § 1004.

"SEC. 1004. DEDUCTIONS.

"In computing net gifts for the calendar year 1942 and preceding calendar years, there shall be allowed (except as otherwise provided in paragraph (1) of subsection (a)) such deductions as are provided for under the gift tax laws applicable to the years in which the gifts were

"In computing net gifts for the calendar year 1943 and subsequent calendar years, there shall be allowed as deductions:

"(a) RESIDENTS.—In the case of a citizen or resident-

"(1) Specific exemption.—An exemption of \$30,000, less the aggregate of the amounts claimed and allowed as specific exemption in the computation of gift taxes for the calendar year 1932 and all calendar years intervening between that calendar year and the calendar year for which the tax is being computed under the laws applicable to such years. This exemption shall be applied in all computations in respect of the calendar year 1942 and previous calendar years for the purpose of computing the tax for the calendar year 1943 or any calendar year thereafter."

SEC. 456. PERIOD FOR FILING PETITION EXTENDED IN CERTAIN CASES.

(a) Period Extended.—Section 1012 (a) (1) (relating to period for filing petition with Board of Tax Appeals) is amended by inserting at the end thereof the following new sentence: "If the notice is addressed

53 Stat. 149. 26 U.S.C. § 1012 (a) (1).

to a donor outside the States of the Union and the District of Columbia, the period specified in this paragraph shall be one hundred and fifty days in lieu of ninety days."

(b) Effective Date.—The amendment made by this section shall be applicable with respect to notices of deficiency mailed after the date of

the enactment of this Act.

SEC. 457. OVERPAYMENT FOUND BY BOARD.

53 Stat. 157. 26 U. S. C. § 1027 (d).

The second sentence of section 1027 (d) (relating to overpayment found by the Board of Tax Appeals) is amended by striking out "or the filing of the petition" and inserting in lieu thereof "or the mailing of the notice of deficiency".

SEC. 458. DEFINITION OF PROPERTY IN UNITED STATES.

53 Stat. 157. 26 U. S. C. § 1030 (b).

(a) Technical Amendment to Definition.—Section 1030 (b) is

amended to read as follows:

"(b) Property Within the United States.—Stock in a domestic corporation owned and held by a nonresident not a citizen of the United States shall be deemed property situated within the United States."

(b) Effective Date of Amendment.—The amendment made by

this section shall be effective as of February 10, 1939.

TITLE V—AMENDMENTS TO PRIOR REVENUE ACTS AND MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS

SEC. 501. ADDITIONAL CREDITS FOR UNDISTRIBUTED PROFITS TAX.

49 Stat. 1656.

(a) Amendments to the Revenue Act of 1936.—

(1) Section 14 (a) (2) of the Revenue Act of 1936 (relating to definition of undistributed net income) is amended to read

as follows:

"(2) The term 'undistributed net income' means the adjusted net income minus the sum of (A) the dividend paid credit provided in section 27, (B) the credit provided in section 26 (c) relating to restrictions on payment of dividends, (C) except in cases where section 26 (c) (1) is applicable, the deficit credit provided in section 26 (f), and (D) the redemption credit provided in section 26 (g)."

(2) Section 26 (c) of the Revenue Act of 1936 (relating to credits of corporations) is amended by amending the heading to read as follows: "(c) RESTRICTIONS ON PAYMENT OF DIVIDENDS.—";

and by amending paragraph (3) to read as follows:

"(3) Deficit corporations.—In the case of a corporation having a deficit in accumulated earnings and profits as of the close of the preceding taxable year, the amount of such deficit, if the corporation is prohibited by a provision of a law or of an order of a public regulatory body from paying dividends during the existence of a deficit in accumulated earnings and profits, and if such provision was in effect prior to May 1, 1936.

"(4) DOUBLE CREDIT NOT ALLOWED.—If more than one of the credits provided in the foregoing paragraphs (1), (2), and (3) apply, then the paragraph which allows the greatest credit shall be applied; and, if the credit allowable under each paragraph is the same, only one of such paragraphs shall be applied."

(3) Section 26 of the Revenue Act of 1936 (relating to credits of corporations) is amended by adding at the end thereof the following new subsections:

49 Stat. 1665, 1664.

49 Stat. 1664. Post, p. 955.

49 Stat. 1664.

49 Stat. 1664.

"(f) Deficit Credit.—The amount by which the adjusted net income exceeds the sum of (1) the earnings and profits accumulated after February 28, 1913, as of the beginning of the taxable year, and (2) the earnings and profits of the taxable year (computed as of the close of the taxable year without diminution by reason of any distributions made during the taxable year). For the purposes of this subsection, earnings and profits of the taxable year shall be computed without diminution by the amount of the tax imposed under section 14, 102, 103, or 351 for such taxable year; and earnings and profits accumulated after February 28, 1913, as of the beginning of the taxable year, shall be diminished on account of the tax under section 14, 102, 103, or 351 for any previous taxable year only by the amount of such tax as computed under the amendments made by section 501 of the Revenue Act of 1942.

"(g) Stock Redemption Credit.—An amount equal to the portion of the recognized gain, realized within the taxable year and prior to March 3, 1936, from the sale or other disposition of a capital asset, which, pursuant to a contract, was distributed prior to such date to shareholders in redemption in whole or in part of preferred stock and which is not otherwise allowable as a credit under any

other provision of this section or section 27."

(b) Effective Date of Amendments.—The amendments made by subsection (a) shall be effective as of the date of the enactment of

the Revenue Act of 1936.

(c) Overpayments.—If the refund or credit of any overpayment for any taxable year, to the extent resulting from the application of this section, is prevented on the date of the enactment of this Act or within one year from such date, then, notwithstanding any other provision of law or rule of law (other than this subsection and other than section 3761 of the Internal Revenue Code or section 3229 of the Revised Statutes, or such section as amended by section 815 of the Revenue Act of 1938, relating to compromises), such overpayment shall be refunded or credited in the same manner as in the case of an income tax erroneously collected under the Revenue Act of 1936, if claim therefor is filed within one year from the date of the enactment of this Act.

49 Stat. 1655, 1676, 1677, 1732.

49 Stat. 1665.

49 Stat. 1648.

53 Stat. 462. 26 U. S. C. § 3761. 52 Stat. 578.

49 Stat. 1648.

SEC. 502. STAMP TAX ON CERTAIN INSURANCE POLICIES.

(a) Imposition of Tax.—Section 1804 (relating to stamp tax on policies issued by foreign insurers) is amended to read as follows:

53 Stat. 197. 26 U. S. C., Supp. I, § 1804

"SEC. 1804. INSURANCE POLICIES.

"(a) Insurance Policies Other Than Life, and Indemnity, Fidelity, or Surety Bonds.—On each policy of insurance (other than life), indemnity, fidelity, or surety bond, or certificate, binder, covering note, receipt, memorandum, cablegram, letter, or other instrument by whatever name called whereby a contract of insurance or an obligation of the nature of an indemnity, fidelity, or surety bond is made, continued, or renewed against, or with respect to, hazards, risks, losses, or liabilities wholly or partly within the United States, if issued to or for, or in the name of, a domestic corporation or partnership, or an individual resident of the United States, if issued to or for, or in the name of, a foreign corporation, foreign partnership, or nonresident individual, engaged in a trade or business within the United States, and if the insurer is a nonresident alien individual, or a foreign partnership, or a foreign corporation, and if such policy or other instrument is not signed or countersigned by an officer or agent of the insurer

Ante. p. 867.

in a State, Territory, or District of the United States within which such insurer is authorized to do business, a tax of 4 cents on each

dollar, or fractional part thereof, of the premium charged.

"(b) LIFE INSURANCE, SICKNESS, AND ACCIDENT POLICIES, AND ANNUITY CONTRACTS.—On each policy of insurance or annuity contract, or certificate, binder, covering note, receipt, memorandum, cablegram, letter, or other instrument by whatever name called whereby a contract of insurance or an annuity contract is made, continued, or renewed with respect to the life or hazards to the person of a citizen or resident of the United States, if the insurer is a nonresident alien individual, or a foreign partnership, or a foreign corporation, unless such policy or other instrument is signed or countersigned by an officer or agent of the insurer in a State, Territory, or District of the United States within which such insurer is authorized to do business, or unless the insurer is subject to tax under section 201, a tax of 1 cent on each dollar or fractional part thereof, of the premium charged.

"(c) Reinsurance.—On each policy of reinsurance, certificate, binder, covering note, receipt, memorandum, cablegram, letter or other instrument by whatever name called whereby a contract of reinsurance is made, continued, or renewed against, or with respect to, any of the hazards, risks, losses, or liabilities covered by contracts described in subsections (a) and (b) of this section if the reinsurer is a nonresident alien individual, or a foreign partnership, or a foreign partnership, and if such adjoint a thesis of the section is a section of the eign corporation, and if such policy or other instrument is not signed or countersigned by an officer or agent of the reinsurer in a State, Territory, or District of the United States within which such reinsurer is authorized to do business, a tax of 1 cent on each dollar, or

fractional part thereof, of the premium charged.

"(d) When used in this section—
"(1) The term 'indemnity, fidelity, or surety bond' includes any bond for indemnifying any person who shall have become bound or engaged as surety, and any bond for the due execution or performance of any contract, obligation, or requirement, or the duties of any office or position, and to account for money received by virtue thereof, where a premium is charged for the

execution of such bond.

"(2) The term 'insurer' includes any person who shall become bound by an obligation of the nature of an indemnity, fidelity, or surety bond, where a premium is charged for the execution of such obligation."

(b) PAYMENTS TO WHICH AMENDMENTS APPLICABLE.—The amendments made by this section shall apply to the making, continuing, or renewal of contracts occurring on or after the first day of the first month which begins more than 10 days after the date of the enactment of this Act.

SEC. 503. SUIT AGAINST COLLECTOR BAR IN OTHER SUITS.

53 Stat. 465. 26 U. S. C. § 3772; Supp. I, § 3772.

Section 3772 (relating to suits) is amended by inserting at the end

thereof the following new subsection:

"(d) Suits Against Collector a Bar.—A suit against a collector (or former collector) or his personal representative for the recovery of any internal revenue tax alleged to have been erroneously or illegally assessed or collected, or of any penalty claimed to have been collected without authority, or of any sum alleged to have been excessive or in any manner wrongfully collected shall be treated as if the United States had been a party to such suit in applying the doctrine of res judicata in all suits instituted after June 15, 1942, in respect of any internal revenue tax, and in all proceedings in the Board and on review of decisions of the Board where the petition to the Board was filed after such date."

SEC. 504. CHANGE OF NAME OF BOARD OF TAX APPEALS.

(a) THE TAX COURT OF THE UNITED STATES.—Effective on the day after the date of enactment of this Act, section 1100 (relating to status of Board of Tax Appeals) is amended by inserting at the end thereof the following new sentence: "The Board shall be known as The Tax Court of the United States and the members thereof shall be known as the presiding judge and the judges of The Tax Court of the United States."

(b) Powers, Tenure, Etc., Unchanged.—The jurisdiction, powers, and duties of The Tax Court of the United States, its divisions and its officers and employees, and their appointment, including the designation of its officers, and the immunities, tenure of office, powers, duties, rights, and privileges of the presiding judge and judges of The Tax Court of the United States shall be the same as by existing law provided in the case of the Board of Tax Appeals. The Commissioner shall continue to be represented by the same counsel in the same manner before the Court as he has heretofore been represented in proceedings before the Board of Tax Appeals and the taxpayer shall continue to be represented in accordance with rules of practice prescribed by the Court. No qualified person shall be denied admission to practice before such Court because of his failure

to be a member of any profession or calling.

(c) References.—All references in any statute (except this section), or in any rule, regulation, or order, to the "Board of Tax Appeals" or to the "Board" when used in the sense of "Board of Tax Appeals", or to the "member", "members", or "chairman" thereof shall be considered to be made to The Tax Court of the United States, the judge, judges, and presiding judge thereof, respectively.

SEC. 505. REQUIREMENT OF FILING NOTICE OF LIEN.

Section 3672 (a) (relating to requirement of filing notice of lien for taxes) is amended to read as follows:

"(a) INVALIDITY OF LIEN WITHOUT NOTICE.—Such lien shall not be valid as against any mortgagee, pledgee, purchaser, or judgment creditor until notice thereof has been filed by the collector—

"(1) Under state or territorial laws.—In the office in which the filing of such notice is authorized by the law of the State or Territory in which the property subject to the lien is situated, whenever the State or Territory has by law authorized the filing of such notice in an office within the State or Territory; or

"(2) WITH CLERK OF DISTRICT COURT.—In the office of the clerk of the United States district court for the judicial district in which the property subject to the lien is situated, whenever the State or Territory has not by law authorized the filing of such notice in an office within the State or Territory; or

"(3) WITH CLERK OF DISTRICT COURT OF THE UNITED STATES FOR THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA.—In the office of the clerk of the District Court of the United States for the District of Columbia, if the property subject to the lien is situated in the District of Columbia."

SEC. 506. MISCELLANEOUS AMENDMENTS TO STAMP TAX PROVI-SIONS.

(a) Bonds, Etc., Issued by Receiver.—Section 1801 (relating to stamp tax on issuance of corporate obligations) is amended by inserting at the end thereof the following new sentence: "Obligations described in this section issued by any receiver, trustee in bankruptcy, assignee, or other person, having custody of property, or charge of 53 Stat. 158. 26 U. S. C. § 1100.

53 Stat. 449. 26 U.S. C. § 3672 (a).

the affairs, of any corporation, shall, for the purposes of this chapter, be deemed to be issued by the corporation."

(b) Transfers by Operation of Law.-

53 Stat. 196. 26 U. S. C., Supp. I, § 1802.

(1) Section 1802 (relating to the stamp tax on sales and transfers of capital stock) is amended by inserting at the end thereof the following new subsection:

"(c) Transfers by Operation of Law.—No delivery or transfer under subsection (b) not otherwise exempt shall be exempt because effected by operation of law. The tax under such subsection shall not be imposed upon any delivery or transfer-

"(1) From a decedent to his executor or administrator.

"(2) From a minor to his guardian, or from a guardian to his ward upon attaining majority.

"(3) From an incompetent to his committee or similar legal representative, or from a committee or similar legal representative to a former incompetent upon removal of disability.

"(4) From a bank, trust company, financial institution, insurance company, or other similar entity, or nominee, custodian, or trustee therefor, to a public officer or commission, or person designated by such officer or commission or by a court, in the taking over of its assets, in whole or part, under State or Federal law regulating or supervising such institutions, nor upon redelivery or retransfer by any such transferee or successor thereto.

"(5) From a bankrupt or person in receivership due to insolvency to the trustee in bankruptcy or receiver, from such receiver to such trustee, or from such trustee to such receiver, nor upon redelivery or retransfer by any such transferee or successor

"(6) From a transferee under paragraphs (1) to (5), inclusive, to his successor acting in the same capacity, or from one such

successor to another.

"(7) From a foreign country or national thereof to the United States or any agency thereof, or to the government of any foreign country, directed pursuant to the authority vested in the President by section 5 (b) of the Trading with the Enemy Act (40 Stat. 415), as amended by the First War Powers Act (55 Stat. 838).

"(8) From trustees to surviving, substituted, succeeding, or

additional trustees of the same trust.

"(9) Upon the death of a joint tenant or tenant by the entire-

ties, to the survivor or survivors.

No exemption shall be granted under this subsection unless the delivery or transfer is accompanied by a certificate setting forth such facts as the Commissioner, with the approval of the Secretary, may by regulation prescribe."

(2) Section 3481 (relating to sales and transfers of bonds) is amended by inserting at the end thereof the following new

subsection:

"(b) Transfers by Operation of Law.—No delivery or transfer under subsection (a) not otherwise exempt shall be exempt because effected by operation of law. The tax under subsection (a) shall not be imposed upon any delivery or transfer-

"(1) From a decedent to his executor or administrator.
"(2) From a minor to his guardian, or from a guardian to his

ward upon attaining majority.

"(3) From an incompetent to his committee or similar legal representative, or from a committee or similar legal representative to a former incompetent upon removal of disability.

12 U.S. C., Supp. I, § 95a.

53 Stat. 424. 26 U. S. C. § 3481; Supp. I, § 3481. Post, p. 960.

"(4) From a bank, trust company, financial institution, insurance company, or other similar entity, or nominee, custodian, or trustee therefor, to a public officer or commission, or person designated by such officer or commission or by a court, in the taking over of its assets, in whole or part, under State or Federal law regulating or supervising such institutions, nor upon redelivery or retransfer by any such transferee or successor thereto.

"(5) From a bankrupt or person in receivership due to insolvency to the trustee in bankruptcy or receiver, from such receiver to such trustee, or from such trustee to such receiver, nor upon redelivery or retransfer by any such transferee or successor

thereto.

"(6) From a transferee under paragraphs (1) to (5), inclusive, to his successor acting in the same capacity, or from one such

successor to another.

"(7) From a foreign country or national thereof to the United States or any agency thereof, or to the government of any foreign country, directed pursuant to the authority vested in the President by section 5 (b) of the Trading with the Enemy Act (40 Stat. 415), as amended by the First War Powers Act (55 Stat. 838).

"(8) From trustees to surviving, substituted, succeeding, or

additional trustees of the same trust.

"(9) Upon the death of a joint tenant or tenant by the entireties,

to the survivor or survivors.

No exemption shall be granted under this section unless the delivery or transfer is accompanied by a certificate setting forth such facts as the Commissioner, with the approval of the Secretary, may by regulation prescribe."

(c) Stamp Tax Exemption of Cooperative Banks, Etc.—Section 1808 (c) (relating to exemption from stamp tax of stocks and bonds of building and loan associations, etc.) is amended by inserting after the words "building and loan associations" a comma and the words "savings and loan associations, cooperative banks, and homestead associations".

(d) Stamp Tax Exemption of Railroad and Corporate Reorganizations in Bankruptcy, Etc.—Section 1808 (e) and (f) (relating to exemption of railroad and corporate reorganizations) are amended to read as follows:

to read as follows:

"(e) Corporate Reorganizations and Reorganization of Rail-Roads.—The provisions of section 1801, 1802, and 1821 (b) of this chapter and the provisions of sections 3481 and 3482 of Chapter 31 shall not apply to the issuance, transfer or exchange of securities, or the making, delivery or filing of conveyances to make effective any plan of reorganization or adjustment—

"(1) confirmed under the Act entitled 'An Act to establish a uniform system of bankruptcy throughout the United States',

approved July 1, 1898, as amended,

(2) approved in an equity receivership proceeding in a court involving a railroad corporation, as defined in section 77 (m) of such Act, or

"(3) approved in an equity receivership proceeding in a court involving a corporation, as defined in section 106 (3) of such Act, if the issuance, transfer, or exchange of securities, or the making, delivery or filing of instruments of transfer or conveyances, occurs within five years from the date of such confirmation or approval."

12 U.S.C., Supp. I, § 95a.

53 Stat. 200. 26 U.S.C. § 1808 (c).

53 Stat. 200. 26 U. S. C. § 1808 (e), (f).

53 Stat. 195, 196, 202.
26 U. S. C. § 1821
(b); Supp. I, §§ 1801,
1802.

Ante, pp. 957, 958.
53 Stat. 424, 425.
26 U. S. C. § 3481;
Supp. I, §§ 3481, 3482.

Ante, p. 958; post,
p. 960.
30 Stat. 544.
11 U. S. C. § 1 et seq.

Ante, pp. 377, 787.

47 Stat. 1481. 11 U.S.C. § 205 (m).

52 Stat. 883. 11 U. S. C. § 506 (3), 53 Stat. 200. 26 U.S.C. § 1808 (g).

53 Stat. 195, 196, 202. 26 U. S. C. § 1821, (b); Supp. I, §§ 1801, 1802.

Ante, pp. 957, 958. 53 Stat. 424, 425. 26 U. S. C. § 3481; Supp. I, §§ 3481, 3482.

Ante, pp. 958; infra.

Ante, p. 883.

Provise.

53 Stat. 196, 68. 26 U. S. C. § 169 (a); Supp. I, § 1802 (a). Ante, pp. 824, 845.

53 Stat. 200. 26 U.S.C. § 1809 (a).

53 Stat. 424. 26 U. S. C. § 3481 (a); Supp. I, § 3481 (a).

Ante, p. 957.

Ante, p. 958.

Ante. p. 959.

Ante, p. 959,

52 Stat. 903.

(e) Exemptions in Connection With Certain Orders of the Securities and Exchange Commission and in the Case of Common Trust Funds.—Section 1808 (g) (cross reference) is amended by striking out "(g)" and inserting in lieu thereof "(h)" and by inserting immediately before such subsection the following new subsections:

"(f) ORDERS OF THE SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION.—The provisions of sections 1801, 1802, and 1821 (b) of this chapter and the provisions of sections 3481 and 3482 of Chapter 31 shall not apply to the issuance, transfer, or exchange of securities, or making or delivery of conveyances, to make effective any order of the Securities and Exchange Commission as defined in section 373 (a) of Chapter 1: Provided, That (1) the order of the Securities and Exchange Commission in obedience to which such issuance, transfer, or exchange of securities, or conveyances are made recites that such issuance, transfer, or exchange, or conveyances are necessary or appropriate to effectuate the provisions of section 11 (b) of the Public Utility Holding Company Act of 1935, 49 Stat. 820 (U. S. C., Title 15, sec. 79k (b)), (2) such order specifies and itemizes the securities and other property which are ordered to be issued, transferred, exchanged, or conveyed, and (3) such issuance, transfer, or exchange, or conveyance is made in obedience to such order.

"(g) Common Trust Funds.—The provisions of section 1802 (a) shall not apply to the issue of shares or certificates of a common trust

fund, as defined in section 169."

(f) Exemption of United States, Etc., From Stamp Tax.—Section 1809 (a) (relating to persons liable for payment of stamp tax) is amended by inserting at the end thereof the following new sentence: "The United States or any agency or instrumentality thereof shall not be liable for the tax with respect to an instrument to which it is a party, and affixing of stamps thereby shall not be deemed payment for the tax, which may be collected by assessment from any other party liable therefor."

(g) Transfer of Bonds on Reorganization Taxable.—Section 348I (a) (relating to imposition of transfer tax) is amended by striking out: "Provided further, That the tax shall not be imposed on deliveries or transfers of bonds in connection with a reorganization (as defined in section 112 of the Revenue Act of 1932, 47 Stat. 196) if any of the gain or loss from the exchange or distribution involved in the delivery or transfer is not recognized under the income tax law applicable to the year in which the delivery or transfer is made:".

(h) Transfers, Etc., With Respect to Which Amendments

APPLICABLE.—

(1) The amendment of section 1801 by subsection (a) of this section shall be applicable to obligations issued after the date of the enactment of this Act.

(2) Section 1802 (c) and section 3481 (b) added by subsection (b) of this section shall be applicable to deliveries and transfers on or after the thirtieth day after the date of the enactment of this Act.

(3) The amendment of section 1808 (c) made by subsection (c) of this section shall be applicable to stocks and bonds issued or

transferred after the date of the enactment of this Act.

(4) The amendment of section 1808 (e) and (f) made by subsection (d) of this section shall be applicable to the issuance, transfer, or exchange of securities, or the making, delivery, or filing of conveyances, after December 31, 1941, in the case of the amendment of section 1808 (e), and after the date of the enactment of this Act, in the case of the amendment of section 1808 (f). Section 267 of the National Bankruptcy Act (U. S. C.,

Title 11, section 667) and any other provision of Federal law insofar as it confers exemption from stamp tax with respect to the issuance, transfer, or exchange of securities, or the making, delivery, or filing of conveyances, after five years from the date of confirmation or approval of the plan of reorganization or adjustment, shall be inapplicable to the issuance, transfer, or exchange of securities, or the making, delivery, or filing of conveyances, after the date of the enactment of this Act.

(A) Section 1808 (f) added by subsection (e) of this section shall be applicable to the issuance, transfer, or exchange of securities, or the making or delivery of conveyances, after

the date of the enactment of this Act.

(B) Section 1808 (g) as added by subsection (e) of this section shall be applicable to shares and certificates issued after

the date of the enactment of this Act.

(6) The amendment of section 1809 (a) made by subsection (f) of this section shall be applicable to instruments to which the United States or any agency or instrumentality thereof becomes a party after the date of the enactment of this Act.

(7) The amendment of section 3481 (a) made by subsection (g) of this section shall be applicable to deliveries or transfers

after the date of the enactment of this Act.

SEC. 507. TIME FOR PERFORMING CERTAIN ACTS POSTPONED BY REASON OF WAR.

(a) AMENDMENTS TO THE INTERNAL REVENUE CODE.—The Internal Revenue Code is amended by inserting after section 3803 the following new sections:

55 Stat. 184. 26 U. S. C., Supp. I, § 3803.

Ante, p. 960.

Ante, p. 960

Ante, p. 960.

Ante. D. 960.

"SEC, 3804. TIME FOR PERFORMING CERTAIN ACTS POSTPONED BY REASON OF WAR.

"(a) Individuals.—The period of time after December 6, 1941, during which an individual is continuously outside the Americas (if such period is longer than ninety days), and the next ninety days thereafter, shall be disregarded in determining, under the internal revenue laws, in respect of any tax liability (including any interest, penalty, additional amount, or addition to the tax) of such individual-

"(1) Whether any of the following acts was performed within

the time prescribed therefor:

"(A) filing any return of income, estate, or gift tax (except income tax withheld at source and income tax imposed by Chapter 9 or any law superseded thereby);

(B) payment of any income, estate, or gift tax (except income tax withheld at source and income tax imposed by Chapter 9 or any law superseded thereby) or any installment thereof or of any other liability to the United States in respect thereof;

(C) filing a petition with the Board of Tax Appeals for redetermination of a deficiency, or for review of a decision

rendered by the Board;

"(D) allowance of a credit or refund of any tax;

"(E) filing a claim for credit or refund of any tax;

"(F) bringing a suit upon any such claim for credit or refund;

"(G) assessment of any tax;

"(H) giving or making any notice or demand, for the payment of any tax, or with respect to any liability to the United States in respect of any tax;

53 Stat. 175. 26 U. S. C. §§ 1400– 1611; Supp. I, ch. 9. Post, p. 981.

"(I) collection, by the Commissioner or the collector, by distraint or otherwise, of the amount of any liability in

respect of any tax;

"(J) bringing suit by the United States, or any officer on its behalf, in respect of any liability in respect of any tax;

"(K) any other act required or permitted under the internal revenue laws specified in regulations prescribed under this section by the Commissioner with the approval of the Secretary;

"(2) The amount of any credit or refund (including interest). "(b) OTHER TAXPAYERS AND OTHER CIRCUMSTANCES.—In any case to which subsection (a) does not apply in which it is determined by the Commissioner, under regulations prescribed by him with the approval of the Secretary, that-

"(1) By reason of an individual being outside the Americas, or "(2) By reason of any locality (within or without the Americas) being an area of enemy action or being an area under the control of the enemy, as determined by the Commissioner, or

"(3) By reason of an individual in the military or naval forces of the United States being outside the States of the Union and

the District of Columbia, it is impossible or impracticable to perform any one or more of the acts specified in subsection (a), then in determining, under the internal-revenue laws whether such act was performed within the time prescribed therefor, in respect of any tax liability (including any interest, penalty, additional amount, or addition to tax) affected by the failure to perform such act within such time, and in determining the amount of any credit or refund (including interest) affected by such failure, there shall be disregarded such period after December

6, 1941, as may be prescribed by such regulations.

"(c) Limitation on Time To Be Disregarded.—The period of time disregarded under this section shall not extend beyond whichever

of the following dates is the earlier:

"(1) the fifteenth day of the third month following the month in which the present war with Germany, Italy, and Japan is

terminated, as proclaimed by the President; or

"(2) in the case of an individual with respect to whom a period of time is disregarded under this section, the fifteenth day of the third month following the month in which an executor, administrator, or a conservator of the estate of such individual qualifies.

"(d) Exceptions.—
"(1) Tax in jeopardy; bankruptcy and receiverships; and TRANSFERRED ASSETS.—Notwithstanding the provisions of subsection (a) or (b), any action or proceeding authorized by section 146 (regardless of the taxable year for which the tax arose), 273, 274, 311, 872, 900, 1013, 1015, 1025, or 3660, as well as any other action or proceeding authorized by law in connection therewith, may be taken, begun, or prosecuted. In any other case in which the Commissioner determines that collection of the amount of any assessment would be jeopardized by delay, the provisions of subsections (a) and (b) shall not operate to stay collection of such amount by distraint or otherwise as authorized by law. There shall be excluded from any amount assessed or collected pursuant to this paragraph the amount of interest, penalty, additional amount, and addition to the tax, if any, in respect of the period disregarded under subsection (a) or (b). In any case to which this paragraph relates, if the Commissioner or collector is required to give any notice to or make any demand upon any per-

53 Stat. 63, 84, 86, 90, 133, 137, 151, 152, 155, 448.
26 U. S. C. §§ 146, 273, 274, 311, 872, 900, 1013, 1015, 1025, 3660. Ante, p. 950.

son, such requirement shall be deemed to be satisfied if the notice or demand is prepared and signed, in any case in which the address of such person last known to the Commissioner or collector is in an area for which United States post offices under instructions of the Postmaster General are not, by reason of the war, accepting mail for delivery at the time the notice or demand is signed. In such case the notice or demand shall be deemed to have been

given or made upon the date it is signed.

"(2) ACTION TAKEN BEFORE ASCERTAINMENT OF RIGHT TO BENEFITS.—The assessment or collection of any internal revenue tax or of any liability to the United States in respect of any internal revenue tax, or any action or proceeding by or on behalf of the United States in connection therewith, may be made, taken, begun, or prosecuted in accordance with law, without regard to the provisions of subsection (a) or (b), unless prior to such assessment, collection, action, or proceeding it is ascertained that the person concerned is entitled to the benefits of subsection (a) or (b).

"(3) Expiration of period of limitations prior to enactment of this section.—This section shall not operate to extend the time for performing any act specified in subsection (a) (1) (G), (H), (I), or (J) if such time under the law in force prior to the date of enactment of this section expired prior to such date.

"(e) Definitions.—For purposes of this section—

"(1) AMERICAS.—The term 'Americas' means North, Central, and South America (including the West Indies but not Green-

land), and the Hawaiian Islands.

"(2) When individual ceases to be outside americas or WITHIN AN AREA OF ENEMY ACTION.—For the purpose of determining whether any act specified in subsection (a) (1) (G), (H), (I), or (J) was performed within the time prescribed therefor, if any period of time is disregarded under this section by reason of any individual being outside the Americas or within an area of enemy action or control, such individual shall not, if he returns to the Americas or leaves such area after the date of enactment of this section, be deemed to have returned to the Americas or ceased to be within such area before the date upon which the Commissioner receives from such individual a notice thereof in such form as the Commissioner, with the approval of the Secretary, shall by regulations prescribe. A similar rule shall be applied in the case of a member of the military or naval forces of the United States with respect to whom a period of time is disregarded under this section by reason of being outside the States of the Union and the District of Columbia.

"(3) When executor, administrator, or conservator qualifies.—For the purpose of determining whether any act specified in subsection (a) (1) (G), (H), (I), or (J) was performed within the time prescribed therefor, the month in which an executor, administrator, or conservator qualifies, if he qualifies after the date of enactment of this section, shall be deemed to be the month in which the Commissioner receives from him a notice thereof in such form as the Commissioner, with the approval of the Secretary, shall by regulations

prescribe.

"SEC. 3805. INCOME TAX DUE DATES POSTPONED IN CASE OF CHINA TRADE ACT CORPORATIONS.

"In the case of any taxable year beginning after December 31, 1940, no Federal income tax return of, or payment of any Federal income tax by, any corporation organized under the China Trade Act, 1922

Ante, pp. 961, 962.

Ante, pp. 961, 962

(42 Stat. 849, U. S. C., Title 15, chapter 4), shall become due until the fifteenth day of the sixth month following the month in which the present war with Germany, Italy, and Japan is terminated, as proclaimed by the President. Such due date is prescribed subject to the power of the Commissioner to extend the time for filing such return or paying such tax, as in other cases."

(b) EFFECT OF AMENDMENTS UPON PERIODS FIXED UNDER LAWS

OTHER THAN INTERNAL REVENUE CODE.—

(1) Public Law 490, seventy-seventh congress.—The amendments made by this section shall not be construed to shorten any period fixed under the provisions of section 13 or 14 of the Act approved March 7, 1942 (Public Law 490—77th Congress), within which any act may be done, except that any action or proceeding authorized under section 3804 (d) (1) of the Internal Revenue Code, as well as any other action or proceeding authorized by law in connection therewith, may be taken, begun, or prosecuted without regard to the period so fixed.

(2) Soldiers' and sailors' civil relief act of 1940.—

(A) The amendments made by this section shall not be construed to shorten any period fixed under the provisions of section 513 of the Soldiers' and Sailors' Civil Relief Act of 1940 within which any act may be done, except that any action or proceeding authorized under section 3804 (d) (1) of the Internal Revenue Code, as well as any other action or proceeding authorized by law in connection therewith, may be taken, begun, or prosecuted without regard to the period so fixed.

(B) Article II of the Soldiers' and Sailors' Civil Relief Act of 1940, as amended, is amended by adding at the end

thereof the following new section:

"Sec. 207. Section 205 of this Act shall not apply with respect to any period of limitation prescribed by or under the internal revenue

laws of the United States."

(c) Retroactive Effect.—The provisions of sections 3804 and 3805, as added by subsection (a) of this section, shall be effective as if they were enacted on December 7, 1941; except that the phrase "date of enactment of this section", when used in subsections (d) (3) and (e) (2) and (3) of section 3804, means the date of enactment of this Act. Any amount of interest, penalty, additional amount, or addition to the tax otherwise allowable as a refund or credit under the internal-revenue laws (including sections 3805 and 3804, except subsection (d) (2)) may be refunded or credited without regard to section 3804 (d) (2). No interest shall be allowed or paid by the United States upon any amount refunded or credited by reason of this subsection.

SEC. 508. MITIGATION OF EFFECT OF RENEGOTIATION OF WAR CONTRACTS OR DISALLOWANCE OF REIMBURSEMENT.

Chapter 38 is amended by inserting at the end thereof the following new section:

"SEC. 3806. MITIGATION OF EFFECT OF RENEGOTIATION OF WAR CONTRACTS OR DISALLOWANCE OF REIMBURSEMENT.

"(a) REDUCTION FOR PRIOR TAXABLE YEAR.—

"(1) Excessive profits eliminated for prior taxable year.— In the case of a contract with the United States or any agency thereof, or any subcontract thereunder, which is made by the tax-payer, if a renegotiation is made in respect of such contract or subcontract and an amount of excessive profits received or accrued under such contract or subcontract for a taxable year (herein-

Ante. pp. 146, 147.

Ante, p. 962.

54 Stat. 1190. 50 U. S. C., app. § 573. Ante, p. 962.

Ante, p. 771.

Ante, p. 770.

Ante, pp. 961, 963.

53 Stat. 467. 26 U. S. C. §§ 3790– 3801; Supp. I, §§ 3802, 3803. Ante, pp. 961, 963. after referred to as 'prior taxable year') is eliminated and, in a taxable year ending after December 31, 1941, the taxpayer is required to pay or repay to the United States or any agency thereof the amount of excessive profits eliminated or the amount of excessive profits eliminated is applied as an offset against other amounts due the taxpayer, the part of the contract or subcontract price which was received or was accrued for the prior taxable year shall be reduced by the amount of excessive profits eliminated. For the purposes of this section—

"(A) The term 'renegotiation' includes any transaction which is a renegotiation within the meaning of section 403 of the Sixth Supplemental National Defense Appropriation Act (Public 528, 77th Cong., 2d Sess.) or such section, as amended, any modification of one or more contracts with the United States or any agency thereof, and any agreement with the United States or any agency thereof in respect of one or more such contracts or subcontracts thereunder.

"(B) The term 'excessive profits' includes any amount which constitutes excessive profits within the meaning assigned to such term by subsection (a) of section 403 of the Sixth Supplemental National Defense Appropriation Act (Public 528, 77th Cong., 2d Sess.), as amended by the Revenue Act of 1942, any part of the contract price of a contract with the United States or any agency thereof, any part of the subcontract price of a subcontract under such a contract, and any profits derived from one or more such contracts or subcontracts.

"(C) The term 'subcontract' includes any purchase order or agreement which is a subcontract within the meaning assigned to such term by subsection (a) of section 403 of the Sixth Supplemental National Defense Appropriation Act (Public 528, 77th Cong., 2d Sess.), as amended by the

Revenue Act of 1942.

"(2) Reduction of Reimbursement for prior taxable year.— In the case of a cost-plus-a-fixed-fee contract between the United States or any agency thereof and the taxpayer, if an item for which the taxpayer has been reimbursed is disallowed as an item of cost chargeable to such contract and, in a taxable year beginning after December 31, 1941, the taxpayer is required to repay the United States or any agency thereof the amount disallowed or the amount disallowed is applied as an offset against other amounts due the taxpayer, the amount of the reimbursement of the taxpayer under the contract for the taxable year in which the reimbursement for such item was received or was accrued (hereinafter referred to as 'prior taxable year') shall be reduced by the amount disallowed.

by the amount disallowed.

"(3) Deduction disallowed.—The amount of the payment, repayment, or offset described in paragraph (1) or paragraph (2) shall not constitute a deduction for the year in which paid

or incurred.

"(4) Exception.—The foregoing provisions of this subsection shall not apply in respect of any contract if the taxpayer shows to the satisfaction of the Commissioner that a different method of accounting for the amount of the payment, repayment, or disallowance clearly reflects income, and in such case the payment, repayment, or disallowance shall be accounted for with respect to the taxable year provided for under such method, which for the purposes of subsections (b) and (c) shall be considered a prior taxable year.

"Renegotiation."

Ante, p. 245; post, p. 982.

"Excessive profits."

Post, p. 982.

"Subcontract."

Post, p. 982.

"(b) Credit Against Repayment on Account of Renegotiation OR ALLOWANCE.

"(1) General rule.—There shall be credited against the amount of excessive profits eliminated the amount by which the tax for the prior taxable year under Chapter 1, Chapter 2A, Chapter 2D, and Chapter 2E, is decreased by reason of the application of paragraph (1) of subsection (a); and there shall be credited against the amount disallowed the amount by which the tax for the prior taxable year under Chapter 1, Chapter 2A, Chapter 2D, and Chapter 2E, is decreased by reason of the application of paragraph

53 Stat. 471, 462. 26 U. S. C. §§ 3801, 3761.

53 Stat. 4, 104, 112: 54 Stat. 975. 26 U. S. C. §§ 1–396, 500–511, 700–706, 710–752; Supp. I, chs. 1, 2A, 2D, 2E. Ante, pp. 802, 894, 899.

(2) of subsection (a).

"(2) CREDIT FOR BARRED YEAR.—If at the time of the payment, repayment, or offset described in paragraph (1) or paragraph (2) of subsection (a), refund or credit of tax under Chapter 1, Chapter 2A, Chapter 2D, or Chapter 2E, for the prior taxable year, is prevented (except for the provisions of section 3801) by any provision of the internal-revenue laws other than section 3761, or by rule of law, the amount by which the tax for such year under such chapters is decreased by the application of paragraph (1) or paragraph (2) of subsection (a) shall be computed under this paragraph. There shall first be ascertained the tax previously determined for the prior taxable year. The amount of the tax previously determined shall be (Å) the tax shown by the taxpayer upon his return for such taxable year, increased by the amounts previously assessed (or collected without assessment) as deficiencies, and decreased by the amounts previously abated, credited, refunded, or otherwise repaid in respect of such tax; or (B) if no amount was shown as the tax by such taxpayer upon his return, or if no return was made by such taxpayer, then the amounts previously assessed (or collected without assessment) as deficiencies, but such amounts previously assessed, or collected without assessment, shall be decreased by the amounts previously abated, credited, refunded, or otherwise repaid in respect of such There shall then be ascertained the decrease in tax previously determined which results solely from the application of paragraph (1) or paragraph (2) of subsection (a) to the prior taxable year. The amount so ascertained, together with any amounts collected as additions to the tax or interest, as a result of paragraph (1) or paragraph (2) of subsection (a) not having been applied to the prior taxable year shall be the amount by which such tax is decreased.

"(3) Interest.—In determining the amount of the credit under this subsection no interest shall be allowed with respect to the amount ascertained under paragraph (1) or paragraph (2); except that if interest is charged by the United States or the agency thereof on account of the disallowance for any period before the date of the payment, repayment, or offset, the credit shall be increased by an amount equal to interest on the amount ascertained under either such paragraph at the same rate and for the period (prior to the date of the payment, repayment, or offset)

as interest is so charged.

"(c) CREDIT IN LIEU OF OTHER CREDIT OR REFUND.—If a credit is allowed under subsection (b) with respect to a prior taxable year no other credit or refund under the internal-revenue laws founded on the application of subsection (a) shall be made on account of the amount allowed with respect to such taxable year. If the amount allowable as a credit under subsection (b) exceeds the amount allowed under such subsection, the excess shall, for the purposes of the internalrevenue laws relating to credit or refund of tax, be treated as an overpayment for the prior taxable year which was made at the time the payment, repayment, or offset was made."

SEC. 509. AMENDMENT TO THE PUBLIC SALARY TAX ACT OF 1939.

(a) Exemption of Certain Compensation for Period Before 1939.—Section 203 of the Public Salary Tax Act of 1939 is amended by designating the present language contained therein as subsection (a) and by adding at the end thereof a new subsection to read as follows:

"(b) Any amount of income tax (including interest, additions to tax, and additional amounts) for taxable years beginning after December 31, 1938, to the extent attributable to compensation for personal service rendered in a taxable year beginning prior to January 1, 1939 (other than compensation received as a pension, retirement pay, or similar allowance), as an officer or employee of a State. or any political subdivision thereof, or any agency or instrumentality of any one or more of the foregoing-

"(1) shall not be assessed; and

"(2) if assessed, the assessment shall be abated and any amount collected in pursuance of such assessment shall be credited or refunded in the same manner as in the case of an income tax

erroneously collected,

if the Commissioner of Internal Revenue, under regulations prescribed by him with the approval of the Secretary of the Treasury, finds that assessment of such tax, or disallowance of a claim for credit or refund, except for Title I of this Act, would result in the application of the doctrines in the cases of Helvering against Therrell (303 U. S. 218), Helvering against Gerhardt (304 U. S. 405), and Graves et al. against New York ex rel O'Keefe (306 U. S. 466), extending the classes of officers and employees subject to Federal taxation."
(b) Effective Date of Amendment.—The amendment made by

this section shall be effective as of the date of enactment of the Public

Salary Tax Act of 1939.

SEC. 510. ABOLITION OF BOARD OF REVIEW AND TRANSFER OF JURISDICTION TO BOARD OF TAX APPEALS.

(a) Effective as of the close of business on December 31, 1942, the Board of Review, established under section 906 (b) of the Revenue Act of 1936, is hereby abolished and the jurisdiction vested in said Board of Review is hereby transferred to and vested in the Board of Tax Appeals.

(b) Section 906 (b) of the Revenue Act of 1936 is amended to read

as follows:

"(b) The Board shall have jurisdiction in proceedings under this section to review the allowance or disallowance of the Commissioner of a claim for refund, and to determine the amount of refund due any claimant with respect to such claim. The Commissioner shall make refund of any such amount determined by a decision of the Board which has become final."

(c) All proceedings pending in the said Board of Review on December 31, 1942, shall be deemed pending in and be transferred forthwith to the Board of Tax Appeals, and shall be proceeded with and disposed of by the Board of Tax Appeals as if originally begun

therein.

(d) All journals, dockets, books, files, records, and property, including office equipment of the said Board of Review, shall be transferred to the Board of Tax Appeals.

53 Stat. 576. 26 U. S. C. § 22 note.

53 Stat. 574, 577.

49 Stat. 1748. 7 U. S. C. § 648 (b). Ante, p. 957.

49 Stat. 1747. 7 U. S. C. § 644.

49 Stat. 1749. 7 U. S. C. § 648 (c).

(e) Section 902 of the Revenue Act of 1936 (relating to conditions on allowance of refunds) is amended by striking out "Board of Review" and inserting in lieu thereof "Board of Tax Appeals (hereinafter referred to as the 'Board')".

(f) (1) Section 906 (c) (relating to allowance of claim for refund

and nature of hearing) is amended to read as follows:

"(c) The allowance or disallowance of the Commissioner of a claim for refund under this section shall be final, unless within ninety days (not counting Sunday or a legal holiday in the District of Columbia as the ninetieth day) after the date of mailing by registered mail by the Commissioner of notice that a claim for refund of any such amount has been disallowed, in whole or in part, the claimant files a petition with the Board requesting a hearing on the merits of his claim, in whole or in part. Upon the filing of any such petition the claimant shall be entitled to a hearing as provided herein. Notice and opportunity to be heard shall be given to the claimant and the Commissioner. notice is addressed to a person outside the States of the Union and the District of Columbia, the period specified in this subsection shall be one hundred and fifty days in lieu of ninety days."

(2) The amendment made by this subsection, insofar as applicable to the date for filing the petition, shall not apply if the Commissioner has prior to January 1, 1943, mailed notice by registered mail that the

claim for refund has been disallowed in whole or in part.

(g) Section 906 (d) (relating to conduct of hearing) is amended

to read as follows:

"(d) Each such hearing shall be conducted by a division of the Board and shall be open to the public. The proceedings in such hearings shall be conducted in accordance with such rules of practice and procedure (other than rules of evidence) as the Board may prescribe, and in accordance with the rules of evidence applicable in courts of equity of the District of Columbia. The claimant and the Commissioner shall be entitled to be represented by counsel, to have witnesses subpensed, and to examine and cross-examine witnesses. The division shall have authority to administer oaths, examine witnesses, rule on questions of procedure and the admissibility of evidence, and to require by subpena, signed by any member of the Board, the attendance and testimony of witnesses, and the production of all necessary returns, books, papers, records, correspondence, memoranda, and other evidence, from any place in the United States at any designated place of hearing, and to require the taking of a deposition by any designated individual competent to administer oaths. Any witness summoned or whose deposition is taken pursuant to this section shall receive the same fees and mileage as witnesses in the courts of the United States. Such fees and mileage and the expenses of taking any such deposition shall be paid as

follows:

"(1) Witnesses for Commissioner.—In the case of witthe Secretary out of any moneys appropriated for the collection of internal-revenue taxes, and may be made in advance.

"(2) Other Witnesses.—In the case of any other witnesses, such payments shall be made, subject to rules prescribed by the Board, by the party at whose instance the witness appears or the deposition is taken."

49 Stat. 1749. 7 U.S.C. § 648 (d).

56 STAT.]

(h) Section 906 (e) (relating to findings of fact and decision) is

amended to read as follows:

"(e) After the conclusion of the hearing a report and a decision thereon shall be made as quickly as practicable by the division The report of the division shall become conducting such hearing. the report of the Board within thirty days after such report by the division, unless within such period the chairman has directed that such report shall be reviewed by the Board. Any preliminary action by a division which does not form the basis for the entry of the final decision shall not be subject to review by the Board except in accordance with such rules as the Board may The report of a division shall not be a part of the record in any case in which the chairman directs that such report shall be reviewed by the Board. It shall be the duty of the Board and of each division to include in its report upon any proceeding its findings of fact or opinion or memorandum opinion. Board shall report in writing all its findings of fact, opinions, and memorandum opinions. A decision of the Board (except a decision dismissing a proceeding for lack of jurisdiction) shall be held to be rendered upon the date that an order specifying the amount of the refund, or that no refund is due, is entered in the records of the Board. If the Board dismisses a proceeding for lack of jurisdiction, an order to that effect shall be entered in the records of the Board and the decision of the Board shall be held to have been rendered upon the date of such entry.

(i) Section 906 (f) (relating to costs and fees) is amended to read

as follows:

"(f) The Board is authorized to fix a fee, not in excess of the fee fixed by law to be charged and collected therefor by the clerks of the district courts, for comparing, or for preparing and comparing, a transcript of the record, or for copying any record, entry, or other paper and the comparison and certification thereof."

(j) Section 906 (g) (relating to appeals) is amended to read as

follows:

"(g) A decision of the Board rendered after January 1, 1943. may be reviewed by a circuit court of appeals or the United States Court of Appeals for the District of Columbia, if a petition for such review is filed by either the claimant or the Commissioner within three months after the decision is rendered. Such decision may be reviewed by the circuit court of appeals for the circuit in which the claimant resides, or has his principal place of business, or, if none, by the United States Court of Appeals for the District of Columbia: Provided, however, that in any event such decision may be reviewed by any circuit court of appeals or the United States Court of Appeals for the District of Columbia which may be designated by the Commissioner and the claimant by stipulation in writing. Such courts shall have exclusive jurisdiction to affirm the decision of the Board, or to modify or reverse such decision, if it is not in accordance with law, with or without demanding the cause for a rehearing as justice may require. The judgments of such courts shall be final, subject to review by the Supreme Court of the United States upon certification or certiorari as provided in sections 239 and 240 of the Judicial Code as amended. Such courts are authorized to adopt rules for the filing of petitions for review, preparation of the record for review, and the conduct of the

49 Stat. 1749. 7 U.S.C. § 648 (e).

49 Stat. 1750. 7 U. S. C. § 648 (f).

49 Stat. 1750. 7 U. S. C. § 648 (g).

Proviso.

36 Stat. 1157. 28 U. S.C. §§ 346, 347.

53 Stat. 163. 26 U.S.C. § 1140.

49 Stat. 1750. 7 U. S. C. § 648 (g). proceedings on review. A decision of the Board rendered after January 1, 1943 shall become final in the same manner that decisions of the Board become final under section 1140 of the Internal Revenue Code."

(k) Saving Provisions.—Section 906 (g) of the Revenue Act of 1936, as in effect prior to the date of enactment of the Revenue Act of 1942, shall remain in effect as to petitions to review decisions of the Board of Review rendered prior to January 1, 1943, but shall not, if any case involving any such petition is remanded for futher proceedings in the Board of Tax Appeals, remain in effect with respect to any further proceedings in such case.

(1) This section shall take effect on January 1, 1943.

SEC. 511. DEFINITION OF MILITARY OR NAVAL FORCES OF THE UNITED STATES.

53 Stat. 470. 26 U. S. C. § 3797 (a) (15).

Section 3797 (a) (15) is amended to read as follows:

"(15) MILITARY OR NAVAL FORCES OF THE UNITED STATES.—The term 'military or naval forces of the United States' includes the Marine Corps, the Coast Guard, the Army Nurse Corps, Female, the Women's Army Auxiliary Corps, the Navy Nurse Corps, Female, and the Women's Reserve branch of the Naval Reserve."

SEC. 512. JOINT COMMITTEE ON INTERNAL REVENUE TAXATION—POWER TO OBTAIN DATA.

53 Stat. 503. 26 U. S. C. §§ 5010, 5011.

Chapter 48 (relating to joint committee) is amended by adding at the end thereof the following new section:

"SEC. 5012. ADDITIONAL POWERS TO OBTAIN DATA.

"(a) The Joint Committee on Internal Revenue Taxation or the Chief of Staff of such Joint Committee, upon approval of the Chairman or Vice-Chairman, is authorized to secure directly from the Bureau of Internal Revenue (including the Assistant General Counsel for the Bureau of Internal Revenue), or directly from any executive department, board, bureau, agency, independent establishment or instrumentality of the Government, information, suggestions, data, estimates and statistics, for the purpose of making investigations, reports and studies relating to internal revenue taxation.

"(b) The Bureau of Internal Revenue (including the Assistant General Counsel for the Bureau of Internal Revenue), executive departments, boards, bureaus, agencies, independent establishments and instrumentalities are authorized and directed to furnish such information, suggestions, data, estimates and statistics directly to the Joint Committee on Internal Revenue Taxation or to the Chief of Staff of such Joint Committee, upon request made pursuant to this

section."

TITLE VI—EXCISE TAXES

SEC. 601. EFFECTIVE DATE OF THIS TITLE.

Post, p. 985.

This title shall take effect on the first day of the first month which begins more than 10 days after the date of the enactment of this Act.

SEC. 602. DISTILLED SPIRITS.

55 Stat. 708. 26 U.S.C., Supp. I, § 2800 (a) (1).

(a) RATE ON DISTILLED SPIRITS.—Section 2800 (a) (1) is amended by striking out "\$4" and inserting in lieu thereof "\$6".

55 Stat. 708. 26 U. S. C., Supp. I, § 2800 (a) (3). (b) RATE ON IMPORTED PERFUMES CONTAINING ALCOHOL.—Section 2800 (a) (3) is amended by striking out "\$4" and inserting in lieu thereof "\$6".

(c) DRAWBACK ON DISTILLED SPIRITS.—The third paragraph of section 2887 is amended by striking out "\$4" and inserting in lieu thereof "\$6".

(d) Floor Stocks Tax.—Section 2800 is amended by inserting at

the end thereof the following new subsection:

"(j) 1942 Floor Stocks Tax.—

"(1) Tax.—Upon all distilled spirits upon which the internalrevenue tax imposed by law has been paid, and which on the effective date of Title VI of the Revenue Act of 1942, are held and intended for sale or for use in the manufacture or production of any article intended for sale, there shall be levied, assessed, collected, and paid a floor stocks tax of \$2 on each proof-gallon, and a proportionate tax at a like rate on all fractional parts of such

proof-gallon.

"(2) Returns.—Under such regulations as the Commissioner with the approval of the Secretary shall prescribe, every person required by paragraph (1) to pay any floor stocks tax shall, on or before the end of the thirtieth day following the effective date of Title VI of the Revenue Act of 1942 make a return and shall, on or before the first day of the third month following such effective date, pay such tax. Payment of the tax shown to be due may be extended to a date not later than the first day of the tenth month following the effective date of Title VI of the Revenue Act of 1942, upon the filing of a bond for payment thereof in such form and amount and with such surety or sureties as the Commissioner, with the approval of the Secretary, may prescribe.

"(3) Laws applicable.—All provisions of law, including penalties, applicable in respect of internal-revenue taxes on distilled spirits shall, insofar as applicable and not inconsistent with this subsection, be applicable in respect of the floor stocks tax imposed hereunder. For the purposes of this subsection the term 'distilled spirits' shall include products produced in such manner that the person producing them is a rectifier within the meaning

of section 3254 (g)."

(e) Exemption of Imported Alcohol for Industrial Purposes.—
(1) Amendment to internal revenue code.—Part II of Subchapter C of Chapter 26 (relating to industrial alcohol) is amended by inserting at the end thereof the following new section:

53 Stat. 392. 26 U. S. C. § 3254 (g).

53 Stat. 357. 26 U. S. C. §§ 3100-3124.

"SEC. 3125. IMPORTATION OF ALCOHOL FOR INDUSTRIAL PURPOSES.

"(a) Importation Without Payment of Internal Revenue Tax.-Under regulations to be prescribed by the Commissioner, with the approval of the Secretary, and subject from the time of its withdrawal from customs custody to all the applicable provisions of this part, alcohol of 160 proof, or greater, may be imported into the United States and be withdrawn, in bond, from customs custody, without payment of the internal-revenue tax imposed by section 2800 upon the act of importing such alcohol, for transfer to industrial alcohol plants, alcohol bonded warehouses, and denaturing plants for redistillation or denaturation and withdrawal, or withdrawal without redistillation or denaturation, tax free or tax paid, as the case may be, for all the purposes authorized by this part. If such alcohol is withdrawn from the said industrial alcohol plants, alcohol bonded warehouses, or denaturing plants for beverage purposes, there shall be paid upon such withdrawal an additional tax equal to the duty which would have been paid had such spirits been imported for beverage purposes, less the duty already paid thereon.

53 Stat. 298. 26 U. S. C. § 2800; Supp. I, § 2800. Ante, p. 970; supra.

55 Stat. 708. 26 U. S. C. § 2887; Supp. I, § 2887. 53 Stat. 298. 26 U. S. C. § 2800; Supp I, § 2800.

Ante, p. 970.

Ante, p. 970.

Ante, p. 970.

"(b) WITHDRAWAL TAX FREE FOR USE OF UNITED STATES.—Alcohol may be withdrawn from customs custody by the United States or any governmental agency thereof for its own use, free of internal-revenue tax, under such regulations as may be prescribed.'

(2) Effective date of subsection.—Notwithstanding section 601, this subsection shall take effect on the day following the date

of enactment of this Act.

(f) Drawback if Distilled Spirits Used for Certain Purposes.-53 Stat. 388. 26 U. S. C. § 3250; Supp. I, § 3250. Section 3250 (relating to taxation of distilled spirits) is amended by inserting at the end thereof the following new subsection:

"(1) Manufacturers or Producers of Designated Nonbeverage

"(1) In general.—Any person using distilled spirits produced in a domestic registered distillery or industrial alcohol plant and fully tax-paid in the manufacture or production of medicines, medicinal preparations, food products, flavors, or flavoring extracts which are unfit for beverage purposes and are sold or otherwise transferred for use for other than beverage purposes upon payment of a special tax per annum, shall be eligible for drawback as hereinafter provided for.

"(2) Such special tax per annum shall be graduated in amount as follows: (a) for total annual withdrawals not exceeding 25 proof gallons, \$25 per annum; (b) for total annual withdrawals not exceeding 50 proof gallons, \$50 per annum; (c) for total annual withdrawals of 50 proof gallons or more, \$100 per annum. "(3) Requirements.—Such person shall register annually with the Commissioner; keep such books and records as may be

necessary to establish the fact that distilled spirits purchased by him and fully tax-paid were used in the manufacture or production of medicines, medicinal preparations, food products, flavors, or flavoring extracts which were unfit for use for beverage purposes; and shall be subject to such rules and regulations in relation thereto as the Commissioner, with the approval of the Secretary, shall prescribe to secure the Treasury of the United States

against frauds.

"(4) Investigative powers of commissioner.—The Commissioner, for the purpose of ascertaining the correctness of any claim filed under this subsection is authorized, by any officer or employee of the Bureau of Internal Revenue, including the field service, designated by him for that purpose, to examine any books, papers, records, or memoranda bearing upon the matters required to be alleged in the claim, and may require the attendance of the person filing the claim or of any officer or employee of such person, or the attendance of any other person having knowledge in the premises, and may take his testimony with reference to any matter covered by the claim, with power to administer oaths to such person or persons.

"(5) Drawback.—A drawback at the rate of \$3.75 on each proof gallon shall be allowed on distilled spirits tax-paid and used as provided in this subsection and be due and payable quarterly upon filing of a proper claim with the Commissioner. No claim under this subsection shall be allowed unless filed with the Commissioner within the three months next succeeding the

quarter for which the drawback is claimed."

SEC. 603. FERMENTED MALT LIQUORS.

53 Stat. 365. 26 U.S.C., Supp. I, § 3150 (a).

(a) RATE ON FERMENTED MALT LIQUORS.—Section 3150 (a) is amended by striking out "\$6" and inserting in lieu thereof "\$7".

(b) FLOOR STOCKS TAX.—Section 3150 is amended by inserting at the end thereof the following new subsection:

"(e) 1942 Floor Stocks Tax.—
"(1) Tax.—Upon all fermented malt liquors upon which the internal-revenue tax imposed by law has been paid, and which on the effective date of Title VI of the Revenue Act of 1942 are held by any person and intended for sale there shall be levied, assessed, collected, and paid a floor stocks tax at a rate of \$1 per barrel of 31 gallons.

"(2) Returns.—Under such regulations as the Commissioner with the approval of the Secretary shall prescribe, every person required by paragraph (1) to pay any floor stocks tax shall, on or before the end of the thirtieth day following the effective date of Title VI of the Revenue Act of 1942 make a return and shall, on or before the first day of the third month following such effective date, pay such tax. Payment of the tax shown to be due may be extended to a date not later than the first day of the tenth month following the effective date of Title VI of the Revenue Act of 1942, upon the filing of a bond for payment thereof in such form and amount and with such surety or sureties as the Commissioner, with the approval of the Secretary, may prescribe.

"(3) Laws applicable.—All provisions of law, including pen-

alties, applicable in respect of the taxes imposed by subsection (a) shall, insofar as applicable and not inconsistent with this subsection, be applicable with respect to the floor stocks tax

imposed by this subsection."

SEC. 604. WINES.

(a) RATE ON STILL WINES.—Section 3030 (a) (1) (A) is amended by striking out "8 cents" and inserting in lieu thereof "10 cents"; by striking out "30 cents" and inserting in lieu thereof "40 cents"; and by striking out "65 cents" and inserting in lieu thereof "\$1.00".

(b) RATE ON SPARKLING WINES, LIQUEURS, CORDIALS, ETC.—Section 3030 (a) (2) is amended by striking out "7 cents" and inserting in lieu thereof "10 cents"; and by striking out "3½ cents" and inserting in lieu thereof "5 cents".

(c) Floor Stocks.—Subchapter F of Chapter 26 is amended by inserting at the end thereof the following new section:

"SEC. 3193, 1942 FLOOR STOCKS TAX ON WINES.

"(a) Floor Stocks Tax.—Upon all wines upon which the internalrevenue tax imposed by law has been paid, and which on the effective date of Title VI of the Revenue Act of 1942 are held and intended for sale or for use in the manufacture or production of an article intended for sale, there shall be levied, assessed, collected, and paid a floor stocks tax at rates equal to the increases in rates of tax made applicable to such articles by section 604 of the Revenue Act of 1942.

(b) Returns.—Under such regulations as the Commissioner with the approval of the Secretary shall prescribe, every person required by subsection (a) to pay any floor stocks tax shall, on or before the end of the thirtieth day following the effective date of Title VI of the Revenue Act of 1942 make a return and shall, on or before the first day of the third month following such effective date, pay such tax. Payment of the tax shown to be due may be extended to a date not later than the first day of the tenth month following the effective date of Title VI of the Revenue Act of 1942, upon the filing of a bond for

53 Stat. 365. 26 U. S. C. Supp. I, § 3150. § 3150;

Ante, p. 970.

Ante, p. 970.

55 Stat. 709. 26 U. S. C., Supp. I, § 3030 (a) (1) (A).

55 Stat. 709. 26 U. S. C., Supp. I, § 3030 (a) (2). Ante, p. 218.

54 Stat. 525. 26 U. S. C. §§ 3190, 3191; Supp. I, §§ 3190, 3192.

Ante, p. 970.

payment thereof in such form and amount and with such surety or sureties as the Commissioner, with the approval of the Secretary, may

prescribe.

53 Stat. 347. 26 U. S. C. § 3030 (a); Supp. I, § 3030 (a). Ante, pp. 218, 973.

"(c) Laws Applicable.—All provisions of law, including penalties, applicable in respect of the taxes imposed by section 3030 (a) shall, insofar as applicable and not inconsistent with this subsection, be applicable with respect to the floor stocks tax imposed by subsection (a)."

SEC. 605. CIGARS AND CIGARETTES.

53 Stat. 219, 26 U. S. C. § 2000 (c) (1),

(a) Rates on Cigars.—Section 2000 (c) (1) is amended to read

"(c) Cigars and Cigarettes.—Upon cigars and cigarettes manufactured in or imported into the United States, which are sold by the manufacturer or importer, or removed for consumption or sale, there shall be levied, collected, and paid the following taxes:

"(1) Cigars.—On cigars of all descriptions made of tobacco,

or any substitute therefor, and weighing not more than three

pounds per thousand, 75 cents per thousand;

"On cigars made of tobacco, or any substitute therefor, and weighing more than three pounds per thousand, if manufactured or imported to retail at not more than 2½ cents each, \$2.50 per thousand:

"If manufactured or imported to retail at more than 2½ cents

each and not more than 4 cents each, \$3.00 per thousand; "If manufactured or imported to retail at more than 4 cents each and not more than 6 cents each, \$4.00 per thousand:

"If manufactured or imported to retail at more than 6 cents

each and not more than 8 cents each, \$7.00 per thousand;

"If manufactured or imported to retail at more than 8 cents each and not more than 15 cents each, \$10.00 per thousand;

"If manufactured or imported to retail at more than 15 cents each and not more than 20 cents each, \$15.00 per thousand;

"If manufactured or imported to retail at more than 20 cents

each, \$20.00 per thousand.

"Whenever in this subsection reference is made to cigars manufactured or imported to retail at not over a certain price each, then in determining the tax to be paid regard shall be had to the

ordinary retail price of a single cigar in its principal market."
(b) Rates on Cigarettes.—Section 2000 (c) (2) is amended by striking out "\$3.25" and inserting in lieu thereof "\$3.50" and by striking out "\$7.80" and inserting in lieu thereof "\$8.40".

(c) Floor Stocks Tax.—Section 2000 is amended by inserting at the end thereof the following new subsection:

"(e) 1942 Floor Stocks Tax.—
"(1) Tax.—Upon large cigars (weighing more than three pounds per thousand) and all cigarettes subject to tax under this section, which on the effective date of Title VI of the Revenue Act of 1942 are held by any person for sale, there shall be levied, assessed, collected, and paid a floor stocks tax at a rate equal to the increase in rate of tax made applicable to such articles by

the Revenue Act of 1942.

"(2) Returns.—Every person required by this subsection to pay any floor stocks tax shall, on or before the end of the month next following the month in which Title VI of the Revenue Act of 1942 takes effect, under such regulations as the Commissioner with the approval of the Secretary shall prescribe, make a return and pay such tax, except that in the case of such articles held

55 Stat. 707. 26 U.S.C., Supp. I, § 2000 (c) (2).

53 Stat. 219. 26 U. S. C. § 2000; Supp. I, § 2000. Supra.

Ante. p. 970.

Ante, p. 970.

by manufacturers and importers, the Commissioner may collect the tax with respect to all or part of such articles by means of stamps rather than return, and in such case may make an assessment against such manufacturer or importer having cigar and cigarette tax stamps on hand on the effective date of Title VI of the Revenue Act of 1942, for the difference between the amount paid for such stamps and the increased rates imposed by the Revenue Act of 1942.

"(3) Laws applicable.—All provisions of law, including penalties, applicable in respect of the taxes imposed by section 2000, shall, insofar as applicable and not inconsistent with this subsection, be applicable with respect to the floor stocks tax

imposed by this subsection."

(d) One-eighth Ounce Differences Above Two Ounces and Not ABOVE THREE OUNCES PERMITTED IN PACKAGING OF TOBACCO AND Snuff.—Section 2100 (a) (1) (relating to permissible packages for tobacco and snuff) is amended by striking out "with a difference between each package and the one next smaller of one-eighth of an ounce up to and including two ounces" and inserting in lieu thereof "with a difference between each package and the one next smaller of oneeighth of an ounce up to and including three ounces"

(e) Exportation of Cigarette Papers and Tubes Free of Internal Revenue Tax.—Section 2197 (b) (relating to tax-free exportation of tobacco) is amended by striking out "or cigarettes" and inserting in

lieu thereof "cigarettes, or cigarette papers or tubes".

53 Stat. 228. 26 U. S. C. § 2100 (a) (1).

53 Stat. 246. 26 U. S. C. § 2197

SEC. 606. TELEPHONE, TELEGRAPH, ETC.

(a) Rates of Tax.—Section 3465 is amended to read as follows:

53 Stat. 422. 26 U. S. C. § 3465; Supp. I, § 3465.

"SEC. 3465. IMPOSITION AND RATE OF TAX.

"(a) There shall be imposed:
"(1) TELEPHONE AND TELEGRAPH, ETC.—

"(A) On the amount paid within the United States for each telephone or radio telephone message or conversation for which the toll charge is more than 24 cents, a tax equal to 20 per centum of the amount so paid. If a bill is rendered the taxpayer for the services described in this subparagraph, the amount upon which the tax shall be based shall be the sum of all such charges included in the bill, and the tax shall not be based upon the charge for each item, separately,

included in the bill.

"(B) On the amount paid within the United States for each telegraph, cable, or radio dispatch or message a tax equal to 15 per centum of the amount so paid, except that in the case of each international telegraph, cable, or radio dispatch or message the rate shall be 10 per centum. If a bill is rendered the taxpayer for the services described in this subparagraph, the amount upon which the tax at each of the rates in this subparagraph shall be based shall be the sum of all such charges at that rate included in the bill, and the tax shall not be based upon the charge for each item, separately, included in the bill.

"If the tax under subparagraph (A) or (B) is paid by inserting coins in coin-operated telephones, the tax shall be computed to the nearest multiple of 5 cents, except that where the tax is midway between multiples of 5 cents, the next higher multiple shall apply. Only one payment of a tax imposed by subparagraph (A) or (B)

shall be required notwithstanding the lines or stations of one or more persons are used in the transmission of such dispatch, message, or conversation.

"(2) Leased wires, etc.—

"(A) A tax equivalent to 15 per centum of the amount paid for leased wire, teletypewriter, or talking circuit special service, but not including an amount paid for leased wire, teletypewriter, or talking circuit special service used exclusively in rendering a service taxable under subparagraph (B).

"(B) A tax equivalent to 5 per centum of the amount paid for any wire and equipment service (including stock quotation and information services, burglar alarm or fire alarm service, and all other similar services, but not including service described in subparagraph (A)).

"The tax shall apply under this paragraph whether or not the

wires or services are within a local exchange area.

"(3) Local telephone service.—A tax equivalent to 10 per centum of the amount paid by subscribers for local telephone service and for any other telephone service in respect of which a tax is not payable under paragraph (1) or (2). Amounts paid for the installation of instruments, wires, poles, switchboards, apparatus, and equipment shall not be considered amounts paid for service. Service paid for by inserting coins in coin-operated telephones available to the public shall not be subject to the tax imposed by this paragraph, except that where such coin-operated telephone service is furnished for a guaranteed amount, the amounts paid under such guarantee plus any fixed monthly or other periodic charge shall be subject to the tax.

"(b) This section shall not apply to the amount paid for so much of the service described in paragraph (2) of subsection (a) as is utilized in the conduct, by a common carrier or telephone or telegraph company or a radio broadcasting station or network, of its business

as such.

(b) Effective Date of Amendments.-

(1) The amendments to section 3465 (a) (1) made by subsection (a) shall be applicable only with respect to the period begin-

ning with the effective date of this title.

(2) The amendments to section 3465 (a) (2) and (3) made by subsection (a) shall apply only to amounts paid pursuant to bills rendered after the effective date of this title for service for which no previous bill was rendered. Where bills rendered after the effective date of this title include charges for services previously rendered, the amendments shall not apply to such service as was rendered more than two months before the effective date of this title, and the provisions of section 3465 in effect at the time such prior service was rendered shall be applicable to the amounts paid for such service.

SEC. 607. PHOTOGRAPHIC APPARATUS.

55 Stat. 717. 26 U.S. C., Supp. I, § 3406 (a) (4).

Ante, p. 975.

Section 3406 (a) (4) is amended to read as follows:

"(4) Photographic apparatus.—Cameras (except cameras weighing more than four pounds exclusive of lens and accessories) and lenses, photographic apparatus and equipment, and any apparatus or equipment designed especially for use in the taking of photographs or motion pictures or in developing, printing, or enlarging photographs or motion pictures, 25 per centum; unexposed photographic films (including motion picture films but not including X-ray film), photographic plates and sensitized paper, 15 per centum."

SEC. 608. LUBRICATING OILS.

Section 3413 (relating to tax on lubricating oils) is amended by striking out "4½ cents" and inserting in lieu thereof "6 cents".

55 Stat. 707. 26 U. S. C., Supp. I, § 3413.

SEC. 609. TRANSPORTATION OF PERSONS.

(a) Increase in Rate.—Section 3469 (a) (relating to tax on transportation of persons) and section 3469 (c) (relating to tax on seats or berths) are amended by striking out "5 per centum" and inserting in lieu thereof "10 per centum."

55 Stat. 721. 26 U. S. C., Supp. I, § 3469 (a), (c).

(b) Exemption of Members of Armed Forces of United Nations FROM TAX ON TRANSPORTATION OF PERSONS, ETC.—Section 3469 (f) (2) (relating to exemptions from the tax on transportation of persons) is amended by inserting after the words "uniform of the United States" a comma and the following: "or to members of the military or naval forces of any of the other United Nations traveling in uniform of such nation,".

55 Stat. 722. 26 U. S. C., Supp. I, § 3469 (f) (2).

SEC. 610. ORGANS UNDER CONTRACT BEFORE OCTOBER 1, 1941.

The tax under section 3404 (d) of the Internal Revenue Code shall not apply to the sale of an organ sold under a bona fide written contract entered into before October 1, 1941, and tax paid with respect to the sale of an organ under such a contract may be refunded, subject to the provisions of section 3443 (d) of the Internal Revenue Code.

55 Stat. 713. 26 U. S. C., Supp. I, § 3404 (d).

53 Stat. 417. 26 U.S. C. § 3443 (d).

SEC. 611. TERMINATION OF CERTAIN EXCISE TAXES.

The taxes imposed by the following provisions shall not apply to the sale, by the manufacturer, producer, or importer, after the effective date of this Title, of the articles taxable under such provisions:

(a) Section 3406 (a) (5) of the Internal Revenue Code (relating

to tax on electric signs).

(b) Section 3406 (a) (7) of the Internal Revenue Code (relating to tax on rubber articles).

(c) Section 3406 (a) (8) of the Internal Revenue Code (relating to tax on washing machines).

(d) Section 3406 (a) (9) of the Internal Revenue Code (relating to tax on optical equipment).

55 Stat. 717.
26 U. S. C., Supp. I,
§ 3406 (a) (5).
55 Stat. 717.
26 U. S. C., Supp. I,
§ 3408 (a) (7).
55 Stat. 717.
26 U. S. C., Supp. I,
§ 3406 (a) (8).
55 Stat. 717.
26 U. S. C., Supp. I,
§ 3406 (a) (9).

SEC. 612. AFFIXING OF CIGARETTE STAMPS IN FOREIGN COUNTRIES.

Section 2112 (c) (relating to requirement of affixing cigarette stamps) is amended by inserting at the end thereof the following new sentence: "If the government of a foreign country permits the revenue stamps of such country to be affixed in the United States to cigarettes manufactured in the United States and imported into such foreign country, then, if cigarettes manufactured in such foreign country are imported into the United States from such foreign country, the importer may, under such rules and regulations as the Commissioner with the approval of the Secretary of the Treasury may prescribe, have the United States revenue stamps attached to such cigarettes in such foreign country." 53 Stat. 232. 26 U. S. C. § 2112 (c).

SEC. 613. EXEMPTION OF INSIGNIA, ETC., USED IN CONNECTION WITH UNIFORMS OF THE ARMED FORCES FROM JEWELRY TAX.

jewelry tax) is amended to read as follows: "The tax imposed by this \$2400. \$2400. surgical instruments, to watches designed especially for use by the

blind, to frames or mountings for spectacles or eye-glasses, to a fountain pen or smokers' pipe if the only parts of the pen or the pipe which consist of precious metals are essential parts not used for ornamental purposes, or to buttons, insignia, cap devices, chin straps, and other devices prescribed for use in connection with the uniforms of the armed forces of the United States."

SEC. 614. REFRIGERATORS, REFRIGERATING APPARATUS, AND AIR-CONDITIONERS.

53 Stat. 412. 26 U. S. C., Supp. I, § 3405.

Section 3405 is amended to read as follows:

"SEC. 3405. TAX ON MECHANICAL REFRIGERATORS AND SELF-CONTAINED AIR-CONDITIONING UNITS.

"There shall be imposed on the following articles (including in each case parts or accessories therefor sold on or in connection with the sale thereof) sold by the manufacturer, producer, or importer a tax equivalent to 10 per centum of the price for which sold:

"(a) Refrigerators.—Household type refrigerators (for single or

"(a) Refrigerators.—Household type refrigerators (for single or multiple cabinet installations) having, or being primarily designed for use with, a mechanical refrigerating unit operated by electricity,

gas, kerosené, or gasoline.

"(b) Refrigerating Apparatus.—Cabinets, compressors, condensers, evaporators, expansion units, absorbers, and controls for, or suitable for use as parts of or with, household type refrigerators of the kind described in subsection (a) except when sold as component parts of complete refrigerators or refrigerating or cooling apparatus "(c) Air-Conditioners.—Self-contained air-conditioning units."

SEC. 615. EXEMPTION OF CERTAIN CASH REGISTERS.

55 Stat. 717. 26 U. S. C., Supp. I, § 3406 (a) (6). Section 3406 (a) (6) (relating to tax on business and store machines) is amended by inserting after "cash registers" the following: ", except cash registers of the type used in registering over-the-counter retail sales".

SEC. 616. EXEMPT TRANSPORTATION OF OIL BY PIPE LINE.

53 Stat. 421. 26 U. S. C. § 3460; Supp. I, § 3460.

Section 3460 (relating to tax on transportation of oil by pipe line) is amended by adding at the end thereof the following new subsection: "(c) Exempt Transportation.—For the purposes of this section, the term 'transportation' shall not include any movement through lines of pipe within the premises of a refinery, a bulk plant, a terminal, or a gasoline plant, if such movement is not a continuation of a taxable transportation. The crossing of rights-of-way, streets, highways, railroads, levees, or narrow bodies of water, in connection with such a movement, shall not of itself constitute such movement as being 'transportation'."

SEC. 617. COIN-OPERATED AMUSEMENT AND GAMING DEVICES.

55 Stat. 722. 26 U. S. C., Supp. I, § 3267 (a) (2), (3).

55 Stat. 723. 26 U. S. C., Supp. I, § 3267 (b). (a) Increase in Rate on Gambling Devices.—Section 3267 (a) (2) and (3) (relating to rate of tax on gambling devices) is amended by striking out "\$50" and inserting in lieu thereof "\$100".

(b) Definition.—Section 3267 (b) is amended to read as follows:

"(b) Definition.—As used in this Part, the term 'coin-operated and the second second

(b) Definition.—Section 3267 (b) is amended to read as follows: "(b) Definition.—As used in this Part, the term 'coin-operated amusement and gaming devices' means (1) any amusement or music machine operated by means of the insertion of a coin, token, or similar object, and (2) so-called 'slot' machines which operate by means

of insertion of a coin, token, or similar object and which, by application of the element of chance, may deliver, or entitle the person playing or operating the machine to receive, cash, premium, merchandise, or tokens. The term does not include bona fide vending machines in which are not incorporated gaming or amusement features. For the purposes of this section, a vending machine operated by means of the insertion of a 1 cent coin, which, when it dispenses a prize, never dispenses a prize of a retail value of, or entitles a person to receive a prize of a retail value of, more than 5 cents, and if the only prize dispensed is merchandise and not cash or tokens shall be classified under clause (1) and not under clause (2)."

(c) Effective Date of Amendments.—The amendments made by

this section shall be first applicable as follows:

(1) In the case of machines the rate of tax on which is in-

creased, to the year beginning July 1, 1943.

(2) In the case of machines not subject to tax prior to such amendments, no tax shall be payable with respect to any period before the effective date of this title.

(3) In the case of machines if the limitation on the amount of the prize dispensed is 5 cents, to the year beginning July 1, 1942.

SEC. 618. SALE UNDER CHATTEL MORTGAGE.

(a) Retail Sales Taxes.—Section 2405 (relating to tax where article sold under installment or conditional sale contract) is amended by striking out "or (c) a conditional sale" and inserting in lieu thereof the following: "(c) a conditional sale, or (d) a chattel mortgage arrangement wherein it is provided that the sales price shall be paid in installments."

55 Stat. 719. 26 U. S. C., Supp. I, § 2405.

(b) Manufacturers' Sales Taxes Generally.—Section 3441 (c) (1) (relating to tax where articles are sold under installment or conditional sales contracts) is amended by striking out "or (C) a conditional sale" and inserting in lieu thereof "(C) a conditional sale, or (D) a chattel mortgage arrangement wherein it is provided that the sales price shall be paid in installments".

55 Stat. 715. 26 U. S. C., Supp. I, § 3441 (c) (1).

SEC. 619. REPEAL OF CERTAIN PROVISIONS RELATING TO MIXED FLOUR.

Chapter 18 and Part IV of Subchapter A of Chapter 27 are repealed.

53 Stat. 260, 382. 26 U. S. C. §§ 2380-2390, 3215-3217.

SEC. 620. TRANSPORTATION OF PROPERTY.

(a) Chapter 30 is amended by inserting at the end thereof the following new subchapter:

53 Stat. 421. 26 U. S. C. §§ 3460-3474; Supp. I, ch. 30.

"Subchapter E-Transportation of Property

"SEC. 3475. TRANSPORTATION OF PROPERTY.

"(a) Tax.—There shall be imposed upon the amount paid within the United States after the effective date of this section for the transportation, on or after such effective date, of property by rail, motor vehicle, water, or air from one point in the United States to another, a tax equal to 3 per centum of the amount so paid, except that, in the case of coal, the rate of tax shall be 4 cents per short ton. Such tax shall apply only to amounts paid to a person engaged in the business of transporting property for hire, including amounts paid to a freight forwarder, express company, or similar person, but not including

amounts paid by a freight forwarder, express company, or similar person for transportation with respect to which a tax has previously been paid under this section. In the case of property transported from a point without the United States to a point within the United States the tax shall apply to the amount paid within the United States for that part of the transportation which takes place within the United States. The tax on the transportation of coal shall not apply to the transportation of coal with respect to which there has been a previous taxable transportation.

"(b) Exemption of Government Transportation.—The tax imposed under this section shall not apply to amounts paid by or to the United States or any agency or instrumentality of the United

States for the transportation of property.

"(c) Returns and Payment.—The tax imposed by this section shall be paid by the person making the payment subject to the tax. Each person receiving any payment specified in subsection (a) shall collect the amount of the tax imposed from the person making such payment, and shall, on or before the last day of each month, make a return, under oath, for the preceding month, and pay the taxes so collected to the collector in the district in which his principal place of business is located, or if he has no principal place of business in the United States, to the collector at Baltimore, Maryland. Such returns shall contain such information and be made in such manner as the Commissioner with the approval of the Secretary may by regulations prescribe.

"(d) Extensions of Time.—The Commissioner may extend the time for making returns and paying the taxes collected, under such rules and regulations as he shall prescribe with the approval of the Secretary, but no such extension shall be for more than ninety days.

"(e) REGISTRATION.—Every person engaged in the business of transporting property for hire, including freight forwarders, express companies, and similar persons, shall, on or before the sixtieth day after the effective date of this section, or within sixty days after first engaging in the business of transportation of property for hire, register his name and his place or places of business with the collector in the district in which is located the principal place of business of such person. Every such person who fails to register within the period specified shall be guilty of a misdemeanor and upon conviction thereof shall be fined not more than \$50."

(b) Technical Amendment.—Section 3471 (a) and (b) are amended by striking out "or Subchapter C" wherever occurring therein

and inserting in lieu thereof "Subchapter C, or Subchapter E".

(c) Effective Date of Section.—The amendments made by this section shall take effect on the first day of the first month which begins more than thirty days after the date of the enactment of this Act.

SEC. 621. EXEMPTION FROM PROCESSING TAX OF PALM OIL USED IN MANUFACTURE OF IRON OR STEEL PRODUCTS.

53 Stat. 266. 26 U. S. C § 2477.

53 Stat. 423; 55 Stat.

53 Stat. 423; 55 Stat. 722.
26 U. S. C. § 3471 (a), (b); Supp. I, § 3471 (a).

Section 2477 (relating to definition of first domestic processing) is amended to read as follows:

"SEC. 2477. FIRST DOMESTIC PROCESSING DEFINED.

"For the purposes of this chapter, the term first domestic processing' means the first use in the United States, in the manufacture or production of an article intended for sale, of the article with respect

to which the tax is imposed, but does not include the use of palm oil in the manufacture of iron or steel products, or tin plate or terne plate, or any subsequent use of palm oil residue resulting from the manufacture of iron or steel products, or tin plate or terne plate.'

SEC. 622. CABARET TAX.

Section 1700 (e) (1) (relating to rate of cabaret tax) is amended to read as follows:

53 Stat. 190. 26 U. S. C., Supp. I, § 1700 (e) (1).

"(1) Rate.—A tax equivalent to 5 per centum of all amounts paid for admission, refreshment, service, or merchandise, at any roof garden, cabaret, or other similar place furnishing a public performance for profit, by or for any patron or guest who is entitled to be present during any portion of such performance. The term 'roof garden, cabaret, or other similar place' shall include any room in any hotel, restaurant, hall, or other public place where music and dancing privileges or any other entertainment, except instrumental or mechanical music alone, are afforded the patrons in connection with the serving or selling of food, refreshment, or merchandise. A performance shall be regarded as being furnished for profit for purposes of this section even though the charge made for admission, refreshment, service, or mer-chandise is not increased by reason of the furnishing of such performance. No tax shall be applicable under subsection (a) (1) on account of an amount paid with respect to which tax is imposed under this subsection,"

SEC. 623. SALE AND USE OF TOILET PREPARATIONS BY BEAUTY PAR-LORS, ETC.

Section 2402 (b) is amended to read as follows:

"(b) BEAUTY PARLORS, ETC.—For the purposes of subsection (a), the sale of any article described in such subsection to any person operating a barber shop, beauty parlor, or similar establishment for use in the operation thereof and not for resale, shall be considered a sale at retail. The use in such operation of any article described in subsection (a) purchased by such person on or after the effective date of section 622 of the Revenue Act of 1942 for resale, shall be considered a sale at retail by such person at the time the article is first set apart for such use and at a price equivalent to the amount paid by him for the article.'

55 Stat. 718. 26 U. S. C., Supp. 1, § 2402 (b).

TITLE VII—SOCIAL SECURITY TAXES

SEC. 701. AUTOMATIC INCREASE IN 1943 RATE NOT TO APPLY,

(a) Clauses (1) and (2) of section 1400 of the Federal Insurance Contributions Act (Internal Revenue Code, sec. 1400) are amended to read as follows:

53 Stat. 175. 26 U. S. C. § 1400 (1), (2).

"(1) With respect to wages received during the calendar years 1939, 1940, 1941, 1942, and 1943, the rate shall be 1 per centum.

"(2) With respect to wages received during the calendar years 1944 and 1945, the rate shall be 2 per centum."
(b) Clauses (1) and (2) of section 1410 of such Act (Internal

Revenue Code, sec. 1410) are amended to read as follows:

"(1) With respect to wages paid during the calendar years 1939, 1940, 1941, 1942, and 1943, the rate shall be 1 per centum.

"(2) With respect to wages paid during the calendar years 1944 and 1945, the rate shall be 2 per centum."

53 Stat. 176. 26 U. S. C. § 1410 (1), (2).

TITLE VIII—RENEGOTIATION OF WAR CONTRACTS

SEC. 801. RENEGOTIATION OF WAR CONTRACTS.

Sixth Supplemental National Defense Ap-propriation Act, 1942, amendments.

Ante. p. 245. "Department."

"Secretary."

"Renegotiate" and "renegotiation."

"Excessive profits."

"Subcontract."

"Article."

"Contract" and

Contracts in excess of \$100,000.
Provisions to be inserted. Ante, p. 245. Post, p. 985.

(a) Subsections (a), (b), and (c) of section 403 of the Sixth Supplemental National Defense Appropriation Act (Public 528, 77th Cong., 2d Sess.), are amended to read as follows:

"Sec. 403. (a) For the purposes of this section-

"(1) The term 'Department' means the War Department, the Navy Department, the Treasury Department, and the Maritime Commission, respectively.

"(2) In the case of the Maritime Commission, the term 'Secre-

tary' means the Chairman of such Commission.

"(3) The terms 'renegotiate' and 'renegotiation' include the refixing by the Secretary of the Department of the contract price.

"(4) The term 'excessive profits' means any amount of a con-

tract or subcontract price which is found as a result of renego-

tiation to represent excessive profits.

"(5) The term 'subcontract' means any purchase order or agreement to perform all or any part of the work, or to make or furnish any article, required for the performance of another contract or subcontract. The term 'article' includes any material, assembly, machinery, equipment, or other personal part, property.

"For the purposes of subsections (d) and (e) of this section, the term 'contract' includes a subcontract and the term 'con-

tractor' includes a subcontractor.

"(b) Subject to subsection (i), the Secretary of each Department is authorized and directed to insert in any contract for an amount in excess of \$100,000 hereafter made by such Department-

"(1) a provision for the renegotiation of the contract price at a period or periods when, in the judgment of the Secretary, the profits can be determined with reasonable certainty;

"(2) a provision for the retention by the United States from amounts otherwise due the contractor, or for the repayment by him to the United States, if paid to him, of any excessive profits not eliminated through reductions in the contract price, or other-

wise, as the Secretary may direct;

"(3) a provision requiring the contractor to insert in each subcontract for an amount in excess of \$100,000 made by him under such contract (i) a provision for the renegotiation by such Secretary and the subcontractor of the contract price of the subcontract at a period or periods when, in the judgment of the Secretary, the profits can be determined with reasonable certainty, (ii) a provision for the retention by the contractor for the United States of the amount of any reduction in the contract price of any subcontract pursuant to its renegotiation hereunder, or for the repayment by the subcontractor to the United States of any excessive profits from such subcontract paid to him and not eliminated through reductions in the contract price or otherwise, as the Secretary may direct, and (iii) a provision for relieving the contractor from any liability to the subcontractor on account of any amount so retained by the contractor or repaid by the subcontractor to the United States, and (iv) in the discretion of the Secretary, a provision requiring any subcontractor to insert in any subcontract made by him under such subcontract, provisions corresponding to those of subparagraphs (3) and (4) of this subsection (b); and

"(4) a provision for the retention by the United States from amounts otherwise due the contractor, or for repayment by him to the United States, as the Secretary may direct, of the amount of any reduction in the contract price of any subcontract under such contract, which the contractor is directed, pursuant to clause (3) of this subsection, to withhold from payments otherwise due the subcontractor and actually unpaid at the time the contractor receives such direction.

"The provision for the renegotiation of the contract price, in the discretion of the Secretary, (i) may fix the period or periods when or within which renegotiation shall be had; and (ii) if in the opinion of the Secretary the provisions of the contract or subcontract are otherwise adequate to prevent excessive profits, may provide that renegotiation shall apply only to a portion of the contract or subcontract or shall not apply to performance during a specified period or periods and may also provide that the contract price in effect during any such period or periods shall not be subject to renegotiation.

"(c) (1) Whenever, in the opinion of the Secretary of a Department, the profits realized or likely to be realized from any contract with such Department, or from any subcontract thereunder whether or not made by the contractor, may be excessive, the Secretary is authorized and directed to require the contractor or subcontractor to renegotiate the contract price. When the contractor or subcontractor holds two or more contracts or subcontracts the Secretary in his discretion, may renegotiate to eliminate excessive profits on some or all of such contracts and subcontracts as a group without separately renegotiating the contract price of each contract or subcontract.

"(2) Upon renegotiation, the Secretary is authorized and directed to eliminate any excessive profits under such contract or subcontract (i) by reductions in the contract price of the contract or subcontract, or by other revision in its terms; or (ii) by withholding, from amounts otherwise due to the contractor or subcontractor, any amount of such excessive profits; or (iii) by directing a contractor to withhold for the account of the United States, from amounts otherwise due to the subcontractor, any amount of such excessive profits under the subcontract; or (iv) by recovery from the contractor or subcontractor, through repayment, credit or suit, of any amount of such excessive profits actually paid to him; or (v) by any combination of these methods, as the Secretary deems desirable. The Secretary may bring actions on behalf of the United States in the appropriate courts of the United States to recover from such contractor or subcontractor, any amount of such excessive profits actually paid to him and not withheld or eliminated by some other method under this subsection. The surety under a contract or subcontract shall not be liable for the repayment of any excessive profits thereon. All money recovered by way of repayment or suit under this subsection shall be covered into the Treasury as miscellaneous receipts.

"(3) In determining the excessiveness of profits realized or likely to be realized from any contract or subcontract, the Secretary shall recognize the properly applicable exclusions and deductions of the character which the contractor or subcontractor is allowed under Chapter 1 and Chapter 2E of the Internal Revenue Code. In determining the amount of any excessive profits to be eliminated hereunder the Secretary shall allow the contractor or subcontractor credit for Federal income and excess profits taxes as provided in section 3806 of the Internal Revenue

Code.

Contracts involving excessive profits.

Ante, p. 245.

Elimination of excessive profits.

Determination of excessiveness of profits.

53 Stat. 4; 54 Stat. 975. 26 U. S. C. §§ 1-396, 710-752; Supp. I, §§ 4-404, 710-743. Ante, pp. 802, 899. Ante, p. 964. Agreements for elimination of excessive profits.

Filing of statements of actual costs of production.

Applicability.

Ante, p. 982; post, p. 985. "(4) Upon renegotiation pursuant to this section, the Secretary may make such final or other agreements with a contractor or subcontractor for the elimination of excessive profits and for the discharge of any liability for excessive profits under this section, as the Secretary deems desirable. Such agreements may cover such past and future period or periods, may apply to such contract or contracts of the contractor or subcontractor, and may contain such terms and conditions, as the Secretary deems advisable. Any such agreement shall be final and conclusive according to its terms; and except upon a showing of fraud or malfeasance or a wilful misrepresentation of a material fact, (i) such agreement shall not be reopened as to the matters agreed upon, and shall not be modified by any officer, employee, or agent of the United States; and (ii) such agreement and any determination made in accordance therewith shall not be annulled, modified, set aside, or disregarded in any suit, action, or proceeding.

"(5) Any contractor or subcontractor who holds contracts or subcontracts, to which the provisions of this section are applicable, may file with the Secretaries of all the Departments concerned statements of actual costs of production and such other financial statements for any prior fiscal year or years of such contractor or subcontractor, in such form and detail, as the Secretaries shall prescribe by joint regulation. Within one year after the filing of such statements, or within such shorter period as may be prescribed by such joint regulation, the Secretary of a Department may give the contractor or subcontractor written notice, in form and manner to be prescribed in such joint regulation, that the Secretary is of the opinion that the profits realized from some or all of such contracts or subcontracts may be excessive, and fixing a date and place for an initial conference to be held within sixty days thereafter. If such notice is not given and renegotiation commenced by the Secretary within such sixty days the contractor or subcontractor shall not thereafter be required to renegotiate to eliminate excessive profits realized from any such contract or subcontract during such fiscal year or years and any liabilities of the contractor or subcontractor for excessive profits realized during such period shall be thereby discharged.

"(6) This subsection (c) shall be applicable to all contracts and subcontracts hereafter made and to all contracts and subcontracts heretofore made, whether or not such contracts or subcontracts contain a renegotiation or recapture clause, unless (i) final payment pursuant to such contract or subcontract was made prior to April 28, 1942, or (ii) the contract or subcontract provides otherwise pursuant to subsection (b) or (i), or is exempted under subsection (i), of this section 403, or (iii) the aggregate sales by the contractor or subcontractor, and by all persons under the control of or controlling or under common control with the contractor or subcontractor, under contracts with the Departments and subcontracts thereunder do not exceed, or in the opinion of the Secretary concerned will not exceed, \$100,000 for the fiscal year of such con-

tractor or subcontractor.

"No renegotiation of the contract price pursuant to any provision therefor, or otherwise, shall be commenced by the Secretary more than one year after the close of the fiscal year of the contractor or subcontractor within which completion or termination of the contract or subcontract, as determined by the Secretary, occurs."

(b) Subsection (f) of section 403 of the Sixth Supplemental National Defense Appropriation Act (Public 528, 77th Cong., 2d Sess.), is amended to read as follows:

Ante, p. 246.

"(f) Subject to any regulations which the President may prescribe for the protection of the interests of the Government, the authority and discretion herein conferred upon the Secretary of each Department may be delegated in whole or in part by him to such individuals or agencies as he may designate in his Department, or in any other Department with the consent of the Secretary of that Department, and he may authorize such individuals or agencies to make further delegations of such authority and discretion."

(c) Section 403 of the Sixth Supplemental National Defense

Appropriation Act (Public 528, 77th Cong., 2d Sess.), is amended by

adding at the end thereof the following subsections:

"(i) (1) The provisions of this section shall not apply to—
"(i) any contract by a Department with any other department, bureau, agency, or governmental corporation of the United States or with any Territory, possession, or State or any agency thereof or with any foreign government or any agency thereof; or

"(ii) any contract or subcontract for the product of a mine, oil or gas well, or other mineral or natural deposit, or timber, which has not been processed, refined, or treated beyond the first form or state suitable for industrial use; and the Secretaries are authorized by joint regulation, to define, interpret, and apply this exemption.

"(2) The Secretary of a Department is authorized, in his discretion, to exempt from some or all of the provisions of this

section-

"(i) any contract or subcontract to be performed outside of the territorial limits of the continental United States or

in Alaska;

"(ii) any contracts or subcontracts under which, in the opinion of the Secretary, the profits can be determined with reasonable certainty when the contract price is established, such as certain classes of agreements for personal services, for the purchase of real property, perishable goods, or commodities the minimum price for the sale of which has been fixed by a public regulatory body, of leases and license agreements, and of agreements where the period of performance under such contract or subcontract will not be in excess of thirty days; and

"(iii) a portion of any contract or subcontract or performance thereunder during a specified period or periods, if in the opinion of the Secretary, the provisions of the contract are

otherwise adequate to prevent excessive profits.

The Secretary may so exempt contracts and subcontracts both indi-

vidually and by general classes or types.

"(j) Nothing in sections 109 and 113 of the Criminal Code (U. S. C., title 18, secs. 198 and 203) or in section 190 of the Revised Statutes (U. S. C., title 5, sec. 99) shall be deemed to prevent any person appointed by the Secretary of a Department for intermittent and temporary employment in such Department, from acting as counsel, agent, or attorney for prosecuting any claim against the United States: *Provided*, That such person shall not prosecute any claim against the United States (1) which arises from any matter directly connected with which such person is employed, or (2) during the period such person is engaged in intermittent and temporary employment in a Department."

(d) The amendments made by this section shall be effective as of

April 28, 1942.

Approved, October 21, 1942, 4.30 p. m.

Delegation of authority.

Ante, pp. 245, 246,

Exceptions.

Exemptions.

Prosecution of claims against U.S.

Proviso.